
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of  

the Audit Committee 

on Wednesday, 8 December 2021, at 6.30 p.m. 

in the Lowther Room, Kendal Town Hall 

 
 

Committee Membership 
 

Councillors 
 

Stephen Coleman (Chairman) 

Tracy Coward (Vice-Chairman) 

Pete Endsor 

Kevin Holmes 

Kevin Lancaster 

Matt Severn 

 

 
 
Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”. 
 
Note – Due to the ongoing Covid-19 Pandemic, any Members of the public who wish to 
Attend to observe the meeting, are required to contact 
committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk  , at least 24 hours before the meeting. 
 
Tuesday, 30 November 2021 
 
Linda Fisher, Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) 
 
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Inge Booth 

 

Telephone: 01539 793190 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/
mailto:committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  MINUTES  5 - 10 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 23 September 2021. 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 
 
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

4  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public. 

 

5  AUDIT COMMITTEE 2021/22 WORK PROGRAMME (DECEMBER 2021)  11 - 14 

 To consider progress against the Committee’s 2021/22 Work Programme.  

6  EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21   

 To consider the External Auditors Annual Report for South Lakeland District 
Council for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (report to follow).  

 

7  INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2021/22  15 - 66 

 To consider a summary of progress in completing the Internal Audit Annual Plan 
in 2021/22. 

 

8  2021/22 ACCOUNTING POLICES  67 - 90 

 To consider the proposed accounting policies to be adopted for the 2021/22 
financial year. 

 

9  DECISION TO OPT-IN TO THE NATIONAL SCHEME FOR AUDIT 
APPOINTMENTS  

91 - 100 

 To consider the appointment of external auditors, if required, for the period 
covering the accounts from 1 April 2023. 

 



10  REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES  101 - 104 

 To consider the results of a review of Financial Procedure Rules.  

11  ANNUAL REVIEW OF ANTI-FRAUD POLICY & ACTIVITY  105 - 156 

 To consider the results of the Audit Committee’s annual review of the Council’s 
Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy (Appendix 7 to follow). 

 

12  RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  157 - 170 

 To consider the Strategic Risk Register.  

13  AUDIT COMMITTEE RISK REGISTER  171 - 182 

 To consider the updated Audit Committee Risk Register.  

14  REVIEW OF LOCAL CODE OF GOVERNANCE AND GOVERNANCE 
UPDATE  

183 - 268 

 To consider the results of the review of the Council’s Local Code of 
Governance and to update on the progress in implementing the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) action plan. 

 

PART II   

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number) 

There are no items in this part of the agenda. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



7 
23.09.2021 Audit Committee 
 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Audit Committee held in the Lowther 
Room, Kendal Town Hall, on Thursday, 23 September 2021, at 6.30 p.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

 Stephen Coleman (Chairman) 
Tracy Coward (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Giles Archibald 
Kevin Holmes 

 

Kevin Lancaster 
Matt Severn 

 

  
 

No apologies for absence were received . 
 

Officers 
 

Linda Fisher Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) 

Julia Krier Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist 

Adam Moffatt Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist 

Claire Read Finance Specialist 

Simon Rowley Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Helen Smith Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

 
Also in attendance were Hebe Dyson (External Audit), Peter Harrison (Internal Audit 
Manager) and Gareth Kelly (External Audit Manager). 
 

AUD/12 MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes 
of the meeting of the Committee held on 29 July 2021. 
 

AUD/13 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were raised. 
 

AUD/14 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
There were no excluded items on the agenda. 
 

AUD/15 AUDIT COMMITTEE 2021/22 WORK PROGRAMME (SEPTEMBER 2021)  
 
The Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) introduced the 2021/22 Work 
Programme.  Four items contained within the Programme had been delayed until the 
December 2021 meeting: Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity; Review of 
Whistleblowing Policy; Audit Committee Risk Register; and Customer Connect Business 
Case Final Report. 
 
The Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) proposed moving the 18 November 
2021 Audit Committee meeting to December to provide more time to prepare the reports. 

Page 5

Item No.2



8 
23.09.2021 Audit Committee 
 

 

Member’s requested that any decision on the date of the rescheduled meeting be made in 
conjunction with the Chairman. 
 
Members expressed their thanks to the Finance Team for their work, stating that the 
feedback from Internal and External Auditors had been positive. 
 
Following a question on the impact of Local Government Reorganisation on Internal and 
External Auditors and any conflict of interest that may arise, the Finance Lead Specialist 
(Section 151 Officer) agreed to review the concern with Public Sector Audit Appointments 
(PSAA) and feedback to the Chair. 
 
RESOLVED – That progress against the Audit Committee’s 2021/22 Work Programme be 
noted. 
 

AUD/16 INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2021/22 (SEPTEMBER 2021)  
 
Peter Harrison, Internal Audit, introduced the Internal Audit Progress Report 2021/22 
which provided a summary of the progress against the Internal Audit Annual Plan as at 
September 2021.  He referred to a typographical error in Recommendation (1) of the 
report and explained that progress related only to 2021/22 and not 2020/21 as indicated. 
 
Following approval of the Internal Audit Plan by the Committee in April 2021, three 
assurance reviews had been finalised, with fieldwork underway on a further three reviews. 
 
Mr Harrison presented the executive summaries of the three audits which had been 
completed in the period which were contained in Appendix 2 to the report. 
 
The report highlighted the review of Contract Management had resulted in an assessment 
of reasonable assurance, with two important action points having been identified.  
Members of the Audit Committee raised concern regarding two important actions in the 
report related to no tenders or quotations for the purchase of curtains related to the 
Kendal Town Hall refurbishment. In response to a query raised on whether the 
constitution and procurement policy had been followed, both the Legal, Governance and 
Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) and the Finance Lead Specialist (Section 
151 Officer) informed Members that it had not. Members requested an explanation from 
the Operational Lead (Delivery and Commercial Services) at the next meeting. 
 
The review of Procurement had resulted in an assessment of reasonable assurance, with 
four important and one routine action points having been identified.  The Finance Lead 
Specialist (Section 151 Officer) informed Members that the Contract Procedure Rules had 
been under review with a number of amendments being made before going to Council for 
approval. 
 
The review of Debtors had resulted in an assessment of substantial assurance, with just 
one routine action point having been identified. Members thanked Officers for their hard 
work and expressed how pleased they were to see substantial assurance in this area.  
 
Internal Audit had also assessed the extent to which previous internal audit 
recommendations had been implemented. The key issue identified was that, although 
there had been some slippage, most recently due to Covid-19, recommendations 
continued to be implemented.  Of the 47 recommendations contained within the report, 
28% had been implemented.  Of the 33 recommendations that remained outstanding, 
70% were due to slippage beyond the original implementation date and 30% were 
because the original implementation date had not yet arrived.  Due to the reorganisation 

Page 6



9 
23.09.2021 Audit Committee 
 

 

measures under the ongoing Local Government Reform, one recommendation was no 
longer applicable and, therefore, would not be implemented. 
 
Following a request from Members, Mr Harrison agreed to provide a clearer explanation of 
the anticipated benefits of the Customer Connect Programme. The Director of Customer 
and Commercial Services informed Members that this topic had been considered and a 
report would be brought to Cabinet and Council to update Members on the project. 
 
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:- 
 
(1) the progress achieved in 2021/22 in delivering the Audit Plan and the outcomes of 

completed audit reviews, as set out in Appendix 1 to the report;  
 
(2) the audit reports, as set out in Appendix 2 to the report; and 
 
(3) the status of outstanding recommendations contained within the follow up report, 

as set out in Appendix 3 to the report. 
 

AUD/17 AUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
2020/21  
 
Copies of Appendices 2, 4 and 5 to the report, which were marked “to follow” on the 
Agenda, had been circulated to Members on 22 September 2021 alongside an updated 
Appendix 1. 
 
The Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) introduced the audited Statement of 
Accounts and Annual Governance Statement for 2020/21.  The unaudited Statement of 
Accounts had been approved and published by the Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 
Officer) on 21 June 2021 allowing the opportunity for the general public to raise 
objections, questions and comments and had been reported to the Committee on 29 July 
2021.  There was a statutory deadline of 30 September 2021 for publication of the 
2020/21 Statement of Accounts or as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt of the 
Audit Opinion. 
 
The Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) informed Members of a number of 
amendments which had been identified in the updated Appendix 1 which was circulated 
before the meeting and that the letter of representation had been adjusted. The report 
proposed that the Chairman be authorised to resign the statement of accounts and sign 
the letter of representation once the amendments had been made. 
 
Following a question from Members regarding the lack of any scores of 4 being given in 
appendix 3, the Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) informed Members that the 
report had been done on an exception basis, in reality only the scores of two and three 
were shown but when assessed, 77% of the lines had scored four. Members suggested 
that this be highlighted in a footer in the report. 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the following be approved:- 
 

(a) the Statement of Accounts for 2020/21; and 
(b) the Letter of Representation; 

 
(2) the Chairman be authorised to:- 

Page 7



10 
23.09.2021 Audit Committee 
 

 

 
(a) sign the letter of representation and the Statement of Accounts on behalf of 
the Committee; and 
(b) re-sign the Statement of Accounts in the event of further amendments 
following the final audit findings report; and 

 
(3) the following be noted:- 
 

(a) the Annual Governance Statement Action Plan; and 
(b) the External Audit Action Plan. 

 

AUD/18 EXTERNAL AUDIT OPINION ON ACCOUNTS - AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT  
 
Copies of the report, which was marked “to follow” on the Agenda, had been circulated to 
Members on 22 September 2021. 
 
Gareth Kelly, External Audit presented the Audit Findings report.  The report presented 
the observations arising from the audit that were significant to the responsibility of those 
charged with governance to oversee the financial reporting process, as required by 
International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260. 
 
It was pointed out that External Audit had not yet completed all of the Value for Money 
work and so were not in a position to issue their Auditor’s Annual Report.  They expected 
to issue their Annual Report by the end of December 2021, which was in line with the 
National Audit Office’s revised deadline.  As part of the work, External Audit had 
considered whether there were any risks of significant weakness in the Council’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
To date, they had not identified any weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements. 
 
External Audit had substantially completed their audit of the Council’s financial statements 
and, subject to outstanding queries being resolved, anticipated issuing an unqualified 
audit opinion following this meeting. 
 
During discussion on the item, Members raised a question regarding the trend in 
increasing Audit Fees; the Finance Specialist (Deputy Section 151 Officer) informed 
Members that this was due to additional work due to Value for Money which were new 
auditing standards. In addition, the Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 
highlighted that a basic fee is charged and that any additional work being undertaken 
increased the fee overall. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Audit Findings made by the External Auditors for the year ending 
31 March 2021 be noted and received. 
 

AUD/19 EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT AND UPDATE (SEPTEMBER 2021)  
 
This item was withdrawn from the Agenda. 
 

AUD/20 OTHER SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL ISSUES  
 
The Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) informed the Committee of updated 
timescales for local government funding over the coming years. She highlighted that the 
Government Spending Review was due to take place in October and that the Local 
Government Settlement was expected in December. In addition Members were advised 

Page 8



11 
23.09.2021 Audit Committee 
 

 

that a change to Business Rates was expected in 2022 to come into force the following 
year.  
 
The Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) notified Members that Cumbria CFOs 
had met on a regular basis concerning Local Government Reorganisation and were 
preparing a paper on the principles of how costs would be disaggregated moving into the 
new authority. 
 
RESOLVED – That the verbal update be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 7.59 p.m. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



23/09/2021 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2021/22 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 1 of 4 

 Lead Officer 29 July 2021 23 Sept 2021 8 Dec 2021 21 April 2022 

Committee Administration  

Committee Terms of Reference Inge Booth √    

Set work programme for coming year Helen Smith    √ 

Review progress against work programme  Helen Smith √ √ √ √ 

Training – to be arranged as necessary 
outside meetings  

Helen Smith As needed As needed As needed As needed 

Chair’s Audit Committee Annual Report:  Helen Smith/Chair    
√ (referral to 

Council):  

Private Meeting – Internal and External Audit Inge Booth  √   

External Audit 

Annual Audit Letter Gareth Kelly   √ (2020/21)  

Grant Certification Report (Housing Benefits) Gareth Kelly    √ (2020/21) 

Opinion Audit Plan Gareth Kelly √ (2020/21)    

Audit Fee Letter  Gareth Kelly √ (2020/21)    

External Auditor Update Gareth Kelly √ √ √ √ 

P
age 11

Item
 N

o.5



23/09/2021 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2021/22 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 2 of 4 

 

 Lead Officer July 2021 Sept 2021 Dec 2021   April 2022 

Internal Audit      

Internal Audit Annual Plan  (including review 
of Internal Audit Charter) 

Peter Harrison    2022/23 √ 

Annual Internal Audit Report Peter Harrison 2020/21√   2021/22 √ 

2020/21 Internal Audit Plan Progress, 
Individual Internal Audit Reports and 
Recommendation Follow Up Report 

Peter Harrison √ √ √ √ 

Review effectiveness of Internal Audit Helen Smith   √ √ 

Accounts 

Approve the 2020/21 draft Statement of 
Accounts 

Helen Smith √    

Approve the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts, 
Annual Governance Statement and Action 
Plan 

Sign letter of representation 

Helen Smith  
√ (update 
report to 
follow) 

  

2020/21 Statement of Accounts - Receive 
external auditor’s opinion on Accounts (Audit 
Findings Report & Financial Resilience 
Report) 

Gareth Kelly  
√ (report to 

follow) 
  

Review Accounting Policies for 2021/22 
Statement of Accounts 

Claire Read   √   

P
age 12



23/09/2021 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2021/22 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 3 of 4 

 Lead Officer July 2021 Sept 2021 Dec 2021   April 2022 

Regulatory Framework      

Decision to Opt-in to the National Scheme for 
Audit Appointments 

Helen Smith   √  

Review Annual Governance Statement for 
inclusion in the Statement of Accounts Report 

Helen Smith 
Arrange sub-

group  
   

Contribute to review of Constitution Helen Smith   √  

Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity Helen Smith 
Delay to Sept 

2021 
√ √  

Review Whistleblowing Policy (Bi-annual) Helen Smith  √ √ √ 

Review of Performance and Risk 
Management Framework 

Simon McVey    √ 

Review of Operational Risks above the line of 
risk tolerance  

Simon McVey 
 

  √ 

Audit Committee Risk Register Helen Smith 
Delay to Sept 

2021 
√ √  

Strategic Risk Register Simon McVey √  √  

Review Local Code of Governance   
Helen Smith/Linda 

Fisher 
  √  

Review Audit Committee’s effectiveness Helen Smith   √ √ 

P
age 13



23/09/2021 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2021/22 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 4 of 4 

 

Financial Issues 

Customer Connect Business Case & Updates Simon McVey  Final Report Final Report Final Report 

Update of significant financial issues not 
covered elsewhere on the agenda 

Helen Smith As required 

 

P
age 14



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 8th December 2021 

Internal Audit Progress Report 2021/22  
 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Peter Harrison – Internal Audit Manager (Regional Managing Director, 
TIAA Limited) 

Wards: Corporate Issue 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 This report provides a summary of the progress in delivering the Internal Audit Annual 
Plan in 2021/22. It provides the Committee with assurance through the individual 
internal audit reports for work carried out to date. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 Members of the Audit Committee are asked to note: 

 The progress achieved in 2020/21 and 2021/22 in completing the Audit Plan and 
the outcomes of completed audit reviews set out in Appendix 1. 

 The attached audit reports at Appendix 2. 

 Summary progress achieved in implementing recommendations from previous 
internal audit reviews set out in Appendix 3. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 
Local Government Act. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the 
Council undertakes an effective Internal Audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, internal control and governance processes, taking into account the 
Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS). 

3.2 Internal Audit is responsible for providing independent assurance to the Council’s 
senior management and to the Audit Committee on the systems of governance, risk 
management and internal control. 

3.3 It is management’s responsibility to establish and maintain internal control systems 
and to ensure that resources are properly applied, risks appropriately managed and 
that outcomes are achieved. Management is responsible for the system of internal 
control and should set in place policies and procedures to ensure that controls are 
operating effectively. 

4.0 Progress against the 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan 

Page 15

Item No.7



4.1   The Internal Audit Plan was approved by the Committee in April 2021.  

4.2 The progress report at Appendix 1 provides the Committee with a summary of the 
position as at September 2021. 

4.3 At this stage, four 2021/22 internal audit reports have been finalised since the last 
meeting of this Committee, with one draft report being issued and fieldwork underway 
on a further review.  

5.0 Audit reports completed in the period 

5.1 Appendix 2 contains the executive summaries of the four audits completed in the 
period: 

 Information Governance; 

 Treasury Management; 

 Customer Connect – My Account; and 

 ICT Cyber Maturity.  

The objective of the ICT Cyber Maturity work was to assess the Cyber Security Maturity 
(CSM) of South Lakeland District Council as an informative piece of work; we have not 
provided an assurance rating in relation to this review.  

6.0 Follow up of internal audit recommendations 

6.1 The latest summary position relating to the implementation of outstanding 
recommendations is set out in Appendix 3.   

7.0 Alternative Options 

7.1 There are no alternative options; the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that 
the Council undertakes an effective Internal Audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its 
risk management, internal control and governance processes, taking into account the 
Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS). 

8.0 Links to Council Priorities 

8.1 Internal Audit provides independent assurance on the Council’s arrangements for 
governance, risk management and internal control in support of delivery of the 
Council’s strategic priorities. 

9.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

9.1 There are no direct financial implications to this report.  

Human Resources 

9.2 There are no direct staffing implications arising from this report. 

Legal 

9.3 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

9.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No      

9.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this 
report relates to a review of corporate governance and is considered to have no Health, 
Social, Economic and Environmental impacts. 

Page 16



Equality and Diversity 

9.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No      

9.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this 
report relates to a review of corporate governance and is considered to have no 
Equality and Diversity impacts. 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Council does not comply 
with legislative requirements as 
laid out under the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015. 

The Council does not 
receive adequate 
assurance over the internal 
control environment.   

Regular progress reporting 
to senior management and 
Audit Committee each 
quarter. 

Contact Officer 

Peter Harrison, Director, TIAA Limited. 

07970 376542 

peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Internal Audit Progress Report 

2 Audit Report – Executive Summaries 

2a. Information Governance; 

2b. Treasury Management; 

2c. Customer Connect – My Account; and 

2d. ICT Cyber Maturity.  

3 Summary Follow Up position 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Not applicable Not Applicable 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services N/A 

Section 151 Officer 24/11/2021 

Monitoring Officer N/A 

SMT N/A 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Finance Lead Specialist 24/11/2021 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Page 17



Circulated to Date sent 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 08/12/2021 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 18



 

 
 

 
 

Internal Audit 
 

November 2021 

 

 

 
 

APPENDIX 1 

APPEND IX 1 

 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council 

 Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) Report  

 2021/22 

FINAL 

P
age 19



 

 

 
 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) Report 

 

 

Page 1 
 

Summary Internal Controls Assurance 

Introduction 

1. This summary report provides the Audit Committee with an update on the emerging Governance, Risk and Internal Control related issues and the progress of our work at South 

Lakeland District Council as at 29th November 2021.  

Emerging Governance, Risk and Internal Control Related Issues 

2. In our recent ‘Post-Lockdown Working Practices Briefing’, we explored the results of our survey of clients to ascertain how organisations are planning to deliver some of their 

functions going forward. We asked a number of questions regarding Audit Committee meetings and their effectiveness since the pandemic started and gained thoughts on how 

these will take place once restrictions are eased. 

The experience of remotely held Audit Committees meetings has been positive with the majority of respondents recording no change in or increased attendance, efficiency and 

engagement at meetings. 

Post Lockdown Audit Committee Attendance 

 

P
age 20



 

 

 
 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) Report 

 

 

Page 2 
 

 Audits completed since the last SICA report to the Audit Committee 

3. The table below sets out details of audits finalised since the previous meeting of the Audit Committee. 

Audits completed since previous SICA report 

  Key Dates Number of Recommendations 

Review Evaluation Draft issued Responses Received Final issued 1 2 3 OEM 

Information Governance Reasonable 22/10/2021 03/11/2021 04/11/2021 - 2 6 1 

Treasury Management Reasonable 04/11/2021 26/11/2021 29/11/2021 - 1 2 - 

Customer Connect – My Account Reasonable 29/09/2021 N/A 29/11/2021 - 3 - 1 

ICT Cyber Maturity N/A 27/10/2021 24/11/2021 24/11/2021 - - - - 

4. There are no issues arising from these findings which would require the annual Head of Audit Opinion to be qualified. 

Progress against the 2021/22 Annual Plan 

5. Our progress against the Annual Plan for 2021/22 is set out in Appendix A. 

Changes to the Annual Plan 2021/22 

6. There are no changes proposed to the Annual Plan at this time.  

Progress in actioning priority 1 recommendations 

7. We have made no Priority 1 recommendations (i.e. fundamental control issue on which action should be taken immediately) since the previous SICA.  

Frauds/Irregularities 

8. We have not been advised of any frauds or irregularities in the period since the last SICA report was issued. 

Other Matters 

9. We have issued a number of briefing notes and fraud digests, shown in Appendix B, since the previous SICA report.  

Responsibility/Disclaimer 

10. This report has been prepared solely for management's use and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written consent. The matters 

raised in this report not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. No responsibility to any third party 

is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any duty of care to any other party who may receive 

this report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is caused by their reliance on our report. 

--------------- 

P
age 21



 

 

 
 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) Report 

 

 

Page 3 
 

Appendix A 

Progress against Annual Plan 

System 
Planned 

Quarter 
Current Status Comments Audit Committee 

Flood Relief Scheme 1 Planned Start Date 14th February 2022 Review deferred due to staff availability April 2022 

Cyber Maturity 1 Complete Final Report Issued December 2021 

Contract Management 1 Complete Final Report Issued September 2021 

Licensing – Taxis 1 Planned Start Date 8th February 2022 Review deferred at request of the client April 2022 

Procurement 2 Complete Final Report Issued September 2021 

Customer Connect – My Account 2 Complete Final Report Issued December 2021 

Information Governance 2 Complete Final Report Issued December 2021 

Debtors 2 Complete Final Report Issued September 2021 

Covid-19 Grant Schemes 2 Draft Report Issued  April 2022 

Budgetary Control 3 Fieldwork in Progress  April 2022 

Treasury Management 3 Complete Final Report Issued December 2021 

Administration of Grants 3 Planned Start Date 22nd March 2022  April 2022 

Housing Benefits 4 Planned Start Date 4th January 2022  April 2022 

Follow Up 1 - 4 Ongoing Next report to December Committee All 

KEY: 

 

 To be commenced   Site work commenced   Draft report issued   Final report issued 

P
age 22



 

 

 
 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) Report 

 

 

Page 4 
 

Appendix B 

Briefings on developments in Governance, Risk and Control 

TIAA produces regular briefing notes to summarise new developments in Governance, Risk and Control which may have an impact on our clients. These are shared with clients and made 

available through our Online Client Portal. A summary list of those CBNs issued in the last three months which may be of relevance to South Lakeland District Council is given below. Copies 

of any CBNs are available on request from your local TIAA team. 

Summary of recent Client Briefing Notes (CBNs) 

CBN Ref Subject Status TIAA Comments 

CBN - 21030 VMWare Vulnerabilities 

 
Action Required 

All organisations running the VMWare virtualisation software need to install the latest 

version as soon as practicable to address the vulnerability. 

CBN - 21035 
NCSC Launches Scam Website Reporting 

Service 

 

Action Required 

For Information only. 

CBN - 21036 Debt Management Vulnerability Toolkit 

 

Action Required 

For Information only. 

CBN - 21039 UK Finance Confirm Fraud Losses Rise by 30% 

 

Action Required 

For Information only. Boards and Governing Bodies to note the changing nature of fraud, 

and in particular, the increase in Authorised Push Payment (APP) fraud. 

P
age 23



 

 

 
 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) Report 

 

 

Page 5 
 

CBN Ref Subject Status TIAA Comments 

CBN - 21042 Fraudulent Emails and Purchase Orders 

 

Action Required 

Procurement teams and suppliers to your organisation should be made aware of this scam. 

CBN - 21044 
Guidance to Prevent use of Vehicles as 

Weapons in Terror Attacks 

 
Action required where applicable 

Audit Committees and Boards/Governing Bodies are advised to assess their arrangements 

in light of the risks if applicable and take appropriate remedial action. 

 

P
age 24



 November 2021 

 

 

 

 

 Internal Audit  

  FINAL  

   APPENDIX 2a  

 South Lakeland District Council    

 Assurance Review of Information Governance    

 2021/22    

     

 

P
age 25



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Information Governance 
Page 1 

 

 

Executive Summary 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT  KEY STRATEGIC FINDINGS 

 

 

 

A robust framework is in place to describe South Lakeland District Council's 

Data Protection arrangements. 

 

During the Covid-19 pandemic, regular meetings of the Information 

Governance Group have not taken place. 

 

Full annual reviews of the Record of Processing Activities and Information 

Asset Register are required. 

 

A Data Protection training needs analysis is required to verify the 

effectiveness of current training and identify roles that would benefit from 

specialist training. 
 

ASSURANCE OVER KEY STRATEGIC RISK / OBJECTIVE  GOOD PRACTICE IDENTIFIED 

7 - Information Management is not effective 

 

 

The DPO attends team meetings across the Council, on request or as a result 

of data breaches or near misses, to provide bespoke training to teams as 

required.  

 

The DPO enhances his knowledge of data protection topics through a 

network of fellow Data Protection Officers and enrolment on certified 

training courses. 
 

   

SCOPE  ACTION POINTS 

The review considered the arrangements in place for managing information, including in 

line with the UK GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018. This review forms part of the 

rolling three-year programme of key financial and governance audits. 

 

Urgent Important Routine Operational 

0 2 6 1 

 

P
age 26



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Information Governance 

Page 2 

 

Assurance - Key Findings and Management Action Plan (MAP) 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

2 Directed An Information Governance Group is in place 

to monitor ongoing data protection / 

information governance issues. The Group, 

however, has not met in over 18 months. 

Regular meetings of the Information 

Governance Group be reintroduced.  

2 Agree – quarterly meetings of SLDC 

Information Governance Board to be 

reintroduced. 

31/12/21 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

4 Directed Figures provided from the Human Resources 

Team indicate that 223 officers of the Council 

have completed the GDPR e-learning since 

2018. The total headcount is currently, based 

on figures held by the DPO, 392. This equates 

to 57%. Whilst 119 of the total headcount are 

employed as Streetscene Operatives, the ICO 

expects an all-staff data protection and 

information governance training programme. 

To ensure all staff have an appropriate 

level of data protection awareness, 

appropriate mandatory training be put 

in place for all staff with attendance 

recorded. 

2 Agree with recommendations – linked 

to Information and Cyber Security Audit 

Recommendations - current e-learning 

package to be reviewed in light of new 

staff roles - notably Customer Contact 

and Case Management roles. Consult 

and seek recommendations from 

Corporate Learning & Development 

Team. Resources to be made available, 

and a training package to be developed 

and used as part of a regular cycle of 

training for staff. [SUPERCEDES 

OUTSTANDING 2019/20 DATA 

PROTECTION COMPLIANCE 

RECOMMENDATION 31/12/2020]. 

01/04/22 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

P
age 27



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Information Governance 

Page 3 

 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

1 Directed An Information Governance Framework - 

Structure document details the hierarchy of 

documentation and how individual data 

protection policies, procedures, protocols 

and other documentation link together. For 

clarity, whilst the Data Protection Policy 

includes a list of complimentary documents, 

this information should also be presented 

within the Data Protection Policy. 

The overarching Data Protection Policy 

be updated to include the hierarchy of 

documentation to highlight supporting 

guidance, protocols, procedures and 

policies. 

3 Agree – Data Protection Policy to be 

updated to include the hierarchy of 

documentation across all data 

protection and information governance 

framework documents. 

31/12/21 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

3 Directed All staff are required to complete data 

protection training on induction with annual 

refresher training, however, no specialised 

training is in place for roles that would benefit 

from additional training due to their 

additional Data Protection / Information 

Governance responsibilities within the 

organisation. A Data Protection training 

needs analysis is required to identify these 

roles and appropriate training should be 

delivered. 

A Data Protection training needs 

analysis be undertaken to identify roles 

that would benefit from additional 

training due to their additional Data 

Protection / Information Governance 

responsibilities and appropriate 

training be delivered. 

3 Agree with recommendations – linked 

to Information and Cyber Security Audit 

Recommendations - current e-learning 

package to be reviewed in light of new 

staff roles - notably Customer Contact 

and Case Management roles. Consult 

and seek recommendations from 

Corporate Learning & Development 

Team. Resources to be made available, 

and a training package to be developed 

and used as part of a regular cycle of 

training for staff. [SUPERCEDES 

OUTSTANDING 2019/20 DATA 

PROTECTION COMPLIANCE 

RECOMMENDATION (31/12/2020) 

01/04/22 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

P
age 28



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Information Governance 

Page 4 

 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

5 Directed The ICO requires that organisations maintain 

records of processing activities (RoPA). SLDC 

has a formal, documented RoPA based on a 

data mapping exercise and an Information 

Asset Register (IAR). An Information Data 

Audit document details the roles, 

responsibilities and ownership with the RoPA 

and IAR owned by the Senior Information Risk 

Owner (SIRO), the DPO responsible for the 

maintenance and review of the RoPA and IAR 

and Information Asset Owners (IAO) 

responsible for the maintenance of their 

assets within the IAR. The document states 

"The DPO and IAO should ensure the RoPA 

and IAR are reviewed annually." It has been 

over 12 months since a formal review of the 

RoPA and IAR has taken place. 

The review and maintenance of the 

RoPA and IAR be conducted annually as 

stated in the Information Data Audit 

procedure. 

3 Agree – current RoPA and IAR to be 

reviewed. Procedural documentation to 

be established to ensure annual review 

and maintenance is stated and 

implemented. 

01/04/22 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

P
age 29



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Information Governance 

Page 5 

 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

6 Directed A key principle of the UK GDPR is personal 

data is processed securely by means of 

‘appropriate technical and organisational 

measures’, the ‘security principle’, and a 

general description of technical and 

organisational security measures should be 

included within processing documentation. 

SLDC's RoPA includes a column for Security 

Measures, however, this identifies the system 

the data is held on, not the security measures 

in place. These measures should be 

documented. 

A general description of technical and 

organisational security measures be 

included within SLDC's processing 

documentation.   

3 Agree – current RoPA to be reviewed. 

Procedural documentation to be 

established to ensure annual review 

and maintenance is stated and 

implemented. 

01/04/22 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

7 Delivery It is noted that of 44 Subject Access Requests 

received, 12 exceeded the one month 

response time from receipt required under 

the UK GDPR. Organisations may extend the 

time limit by a further two months if the 

request is complex or a number of requests 

are received from the individual. Whilst the 

Council issues apologies to affected data 

subjects, it should be ensured that requests 

are complied with within the required 

timescales or, where the request is complex, 

an extension is agreed with the data subject 

as failure to respond within the timescales 

may result in complaints to the ICO. 

Subject Access Requests be completed 

within the required one month 

timescale or an extension agreed. 

3 Agree – Subject Access Request 

protocol and procedures to be updated 

in line with recommendation. 

31/12/21 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

P
age 30



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Information Governance 

Page 6 

 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

8 Delivery Informally, the Monitoring Officer and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer provide coverage 

of the DPO's duties when he is unavailable, 

however, this is not documented.  

The responsibility for cover of the 

DPO's duties when unavailable be 

delegated and documented. 

3 Agree – DPO delegated duties to be 

documented. Details to be approved 

through SLDC Information Governance 

Board. 

01/04/22 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

 

P
age 31



   

 

   

ADVISORY NOTE 

Operational Effectiveness Matters need to be considered as part of management review of procedures. 

South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Information Governance 

Page 7 

 

Operational - Effectiveness Matter (OEM) Action Plan 
 

Ref Risk Area Finding Suggested Action Management Comments 

1 Directed The establishment of data protection 

'champions' across the Council should be 

considered to facilitate the flow of good 

practice and communication between the 

DPO and the subject matter experts to give 

the required oversight across the Council. 

Consideration be given to the designation of data 

protection 'champions' across the Council to 

facilitate the flow of good practice and 

communication between the DPO and the subject 

matter experts which would enhance oversight 

across the Council. 

Agree – as part of IAR review and re-establishment of Information 

Governance Board establish a working group of data protection champions 

across Council services and job families in line with Customer Connect 

commitments. Develop a network of subject matter experts from regulatory 

and discretionary service provision in line with established ‘Bitesize’ learning 

opportunities. Work with Learning and Development and HR to establish 

these events to also feed in to the strategic Information Governance Board 

programme. 

 P
age 32



 

 November 2021 

 

 

 

 

 Internal Audit  

  FINAL  

   APPENDIX 2b  

 South Lakeland District Council    

 Assurance Review of Treasury Management    

 2021/22    

     

 

P
age 33



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Treasury Management 
Page 1 

 

 

Executive Summary 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT  KEY STRATEGIC FINDINGS 

 

 

 

From testing performed, the Council was seen to be compliant with its 

legislative and regulatory requirements relating to treasury management. 

 

Risks are regularly monitored and reported, with the Operational Risk 

Register detailing the expected risks applicable to treasury management. 

 

The contract for treasury management advice ended on 31st March 2021 and 

has not been formally extended to cover the ongoing service provision. 

 

Good quality reports help ensure that reporting requirements are in 

compliance with the CIPFA Code and the Council's adopted Treasury 

Management Practices. 
 

ASSURANCE OVER KEY STRATEGIC RISK / OBJECTIVE  GOOD PRACTICE IDENTIFIED 

6 - Medium Term Financial Planning – delivery of a balanced budget 

 

 

The Constitution outlines key requirements of the Council's treasury 

management operations. The Council was seen to be compliant with these 

requirements. 

 

Written procedures support the Council's treasury management function, 

reflect current arrangements and provide sound guidance for making 

investment decisions. 
 

   

SCOPE  ACTION POINTS 

The review considered the treasury management arrangements including loans and 

investment activity. This review forms part of the rolling three-year programme of key 

financial and governance audits. 

 

Urgent Important Routine Operational 

0 1 2 0 

 

P
age 34



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Treasury Management 

Page 2 

 

Assurance - Key Findings and Management Action Plan (MAP) 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

3 Delivery Treasury Management Practice 11, Use of 

External Service Providers, states that the 

Council will use external consultants to 

provide specialist advice in the field of 

treasury management. The Council has a 

contract for treasury management advice 

with Link Treasury Services Limited dated 27th 

February 2018 for three years commencing 

1st April 2018 with two permitted extensions 

of one year. Paragraph B1.2 states that if the 

Council intends to take up the option to 

extend, Link shall be notified in writing prior 

to the commencement of the extension. If no 

such notification is issued, the contract shall 

automatically expire on 31st March 2021. No 

such written notification was evidenced. The 

Council continues to receive services from 

Link as detailed within the contract. 

The contract with Link Treasury 

Services Limited, which ended on 31st 

March 2021, be formally extended to 

cover the ongoing service provision. 

2 This was overlooked during a busy 

period.  The contract will be formally 

extended as soon as possible. 

31/12/21 Finance Lead 

Specialist 

P
age 35



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Treasury Management 

Page 3 

 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

1 Directed On the Fund Management page of the 

Council's website are links to the Treasury 

Management Framework 2018/19 to 

2022/23 and the Treasury Management 

Strategy 2020/21 to 2024/25. On the Policies 

and Plans page is a link to the Treasury 

Management Framework 2018/19 to 

2022/23. These documents no longer remain 

current. 

Links from the Council's Fund 

Management web page and the 

Policies and Plans web page to the 

Treasury Management Framework and 

the Treasury Management Strategy be 

kept up-to-date. 

3 Updated and duplicate copies deleted. Implemented Finance Lead 

Specialist 

2 Directed Section 7 of the CIPFA Code, Treasury 

Management Practices (TMPs), recommends 

adopting its 12 listed TMPs. Paragraph 11.3 of 

the Council's Treasury Management Strategy 

2021/22 to 2025/26 states that staff follow 

TMPs approved by the Finance Lead Specialist 

and S151 Officer. From a review of the TMPs 

provided by the Finance Specialist and 

Deputy S151 Officer, it was found that, whilst 

the TMPs have been adopted as 

recommended, several details need to be 

brought up-to-date including, for example: 

legislation; contractual arrangements; and 

institutions referenced within the TMPs. 

The Council's Treasury Management 

Practices be updated and then 

reviewed periodically. 

3 Will be included as part of the approval 

process for the 2022/23 Treasury 

Management Strategy to be considered 

by Council in February 2022. 

22/02/22 Finance 

Specialist 

(Deputy S151 

Officer) 

 

P
age 36



   

 

   

ADVISORY NOTE 

Operational Effectiveness Matters need to be considered as part of management review of procedures. 

South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Treasury Management 

Page 4 

 

Operational - Effectiveness Matter (OEM) Action Plan 
 

Ref Risk Area Finding Suggested Action Management Comments 

No Operational Effectiveness Matters were identified. 

 

P
age 37



 

 November 2021 

 

 

 

 

 Internal Audit  

  FINAL  

   APPENDIX 2c  

 South Lakeland District Council    

 Assurance Review of Customer Connect – ‘My Account’    

 2021/22    

     

 

P
age 38



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Customer Connect – ‘My Account’ 
Page 1 

 

 

Executive Summary 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT  KEY STRATEGIC FINDINGS 

 

 

 

There is no overarching project plan for the ongoing roll-out of the on-line 

forms used within My Account, so that overall timescales and resource 

requirements can be established for the project.  

 

Privacy Impact Assessments (PIA) for both My account and the underlying 

ESB platform have not been completed.  

 
Arrangements for system(s) ownership have yet to be formally agreed. 

 

ASSURANCE OVER KEY STRATEGIC RISK / OBJECTIVE  GOOD PRACTICE IDENTIFIED 

Failure of strategic My Account project. 

Costs exceed budget provision or identified savings not delivered. 

 

 

An Agile system development methodology has been adopted for the roll-

out of on-line forms. 

 

Working arrangements were resilient during the Covid-19 pandemic. On-line 

forms were developed, supporting the delivery of millions of pounds in 

business grant funding. 
 

   

SCOPE  ACTION POINTS 

This review was carried forward from 2020/21.The review considered the implementation 

of the ‘My Account’ module following its roll-out during 2020/21 as part of the Customer 

Connect programme.  

 

Urgent Important Routine Operational 

0 3 0 1 

 

P
age 39



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Customer Connect – ‘My Account’ 

Page 2 

 

Assurance - Key Findings and Management Action Plan (MAP) 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

1 Directed There is no overarching project plan for the 

ongoing roll-out of forms used within My 

Account to enable the on-line availability of 

the Council's business processes. The 

timescales and resources required, including 

the need for staff from service areas to 

undertake testing etc., are therefore not 

readily available, nor can they be monitored. 

The on-going development and roll-out of My 

Account should also be prioritised within an 

overall SLDC IT Strategy / programme 

portfolio. 

A project plan be compiled for the 

ongoing roll-out of My Account on-line 

forms and processes. 

The development of transaction 

streams within My Account be 

prioritised within an overall SLDC 

project / programme portfolio. 

 

Note: This recommendation will need 

to be viewed in the context of the 

proposed Local Government 

Reorganisation in Cumbria. 

2    

2 Directed Privacy Impact Assessments (PIAs) have not 

been completed for the My Account project 

or for the underlying ESB platform. These 

assessments are a statutory requirement 

relating to Data Protection legislation. 

Privacy Impact Assessments be 

completed for My Account and the ESB 

technology platform including any 

other related or interfacing systems. 

2    

P
age 40



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Customer Connect – ‘My Account’ 

Page 3 

 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

3 Directed Arrangements for system(s) ownership have 

yet to be formally agreed. This is particularly 

important as responsibilities for business 

processes and arrangements are managed by 

officers across the Council and infrastructure 

management arrangements are shared with 

Eden District Council. 

The arrangements for system(s) 

ownership and information / system 

security be agreed and formalised.  

This could be based around a hierarchy 

of responsibilities including the 

retention of the RAPID, ‘Design 

Authority’ decision making process. 

2    

 

P
age 41



   

 

   

ADVISORY NOTE 

Operational Effectiveness Matters need to be considered as part of management review of procedures. 

South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Customer Connect – ‘My Account’ 

Page 4 

 

Operational - Effectiveness Matter (OEM) Action Plan 
 

Ref Risk Area Finding Suggested Action Management Comments 

1 Delivery There are no Key Performance Indicators 

(KPIs) relevant to this audit. There is, 

however, an opportunity for the Council to 

consider the cost effectiveness of its project 

/ system development arrangements by 

comparing the results achieved by their 

partner, Eden DC, who have not used an Agile 

approach to system development and the 

roll-out of on-line forms.  

Consideration be given to including a review of the 

relative merits of the SLDC and Eden DC approaches 

to the roll out of forms. This may best be undertaken 

during the compilation of the proposed SLDC project 

portfolio and approach to Local Government 

Reorganisation in Cumbria. 

 

P
age 42



 

 

 November 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

ICT Audit 

FINAL 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 2d 

 

 
 

South Lakeland District Council 

 Cyber Security Maturity Assessment 

 

2021/22 

 

In Confidence 
 

Restricted Circulation 

P
age 43



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Cyber Security Maturity Assessment  
Page 1 

 

Cyber Security Maturity Assessment 
 

Introduction 

1. Organisations are facing an increasing risk of Cyber incidents and Cyber-crime. A key step to reducing the risk and protecting organisations in this area is understanding the maturity 

of your organisation in terms of how Cyber risks are managed. The data within this report is derived from supporting management with a self-assessment of their maturity in the 

following 10 recognised areas of Cyber Security: 

 Risk Management Regime;  Secure Configuration; 

 Network Security;  Managing User Privileges; 

 User Education and Awareness;  Incident Management; 

 Malware Prevention;  Home and mobile working; 

 Removable Media Controls;  Monitoring. 

2. In assessing maturity, the current maturity level for each of the 10 areas has been identified and management’s aspirations and appetite for improvement to manage and mitigate 

risk have been ascertained. This work was carried out in October 2021as part of the Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22. 

3. TIAA’s Cyber Maturity model is based on the traditional maturity model, and comprises of levels 0-5 as described below: 

Level Status Description 

0 Incomplete The process is not implemented or fails to achieve its process purpose. At this level, there is little or no evidence of any systematic achievement 

of the process purpose. 

1 Performed Direction has been given by formal policy statements in this area covering expectations for management and operation. 

2 Managed The process stated in the policy is now implemented in a managed fashion, and its Cyber Security functionalities are formally addressed with 

procedure and processes in place. 

3 Established The managed process is now implemented using a formal procedure that is capable of achieving its Cyber Security outcomes. 

4 Predictable The established process can now be put into action and tested thoroughly for better outcome. 

5 Optimising The predictable process is continuously improved according to how cyber threats change and how business needs change. 
 

  

P
age 44



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Cyber Security Maturity Assessment  
Page 2 

 

Summary 

4. The review noted that management rated South Lakeland District Council’s dependency on information technology as high and recognised that cyber-crime was a significant risk. 

Management considered that untreated cyber risks were at a medium level. It was noted that the organisation had not invested significantly in improving cyber security measures 

in the last 12 months. 

5. The Council has not experienced any cyber incidents within the last 12 months. The most significant incident was an exploited unpatched security vulnerability. This incident had 

a low impact on the organisation and recovery was achieved within two hours. 

6. TIAA’s maturity assessment is summarised in the radar diagram below. Significant gaps of 2 or more maturity steps exist between the aspirational level of maturity and the assessed 

level for the following process areas: Cyber Governance Arrangements, Risk Management Regime, Network Security, User Education & Awareness, Removable Media Controls, 

Secure Configuration, Incident Management, Monitoring and Home & Mobile Working. 

  

0

1

2

3

4

5

Cyber Governance Arrangements

Risk Management Regime

Network Security

User Education & Awareness

Malware Prevention

Removable Media ControlsSecure Configuration

Managing User Privileges

Incident Management

Monitoring

Home & Mobile Working

Cyber Assurance Maturity Assessment
Assessed Level (2020-21)

Organisation Maturity
Appetite

P
age 45



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Cyber Security Maturity Assessment  
Page 3 

 

7. Where gaps have been identified management should consider TIAA’s maturity improvement recommendations within this report (summarised at Appendix A) to further control 

and mitigate cyber risks.  

Release of Report 

8. The table below sets out the history of this report. 

Stage Issued Response Received 

Audit Planning Memorandum: 1st July 2021 1st July 2021 

Draft Report: 27th October 2021 24th November 2021 

Final Report: 24th November 2021  

 

P
age 46



 

 

 

 

Internal Audit 
 

November 2021 

 

   

 

APPENDIX 3 

 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council 

 Follow Up Review 

 2021/22 

FINAL 

P
age 47



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 1 

 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 

1. This follow up review by TIAA established the management action that has been taken in respect of the recommendations arising from the internal audit reviews listed below at 

South Lakeland District Council. The review was carried out in November 2021. 

Review Year Date Presented to Audit Committee 

Follow-up – September 2021 2021/22 23/09/2021 

Contract Management 2021/22 23/09/2021 

Procurement 2021/22 23/09/2021 

Debtors 2021/22 23/09/2021 

Key Findings & Action Points 

2. The follow up review considered whether the management action taken addresses the control issues that gave rise to the recommendations. The implementation of these 

recommendations can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatement or loss. From the work carried out the following evaluations of the progress of 

the management actions taken to date have been identified. 

Evaluation Number of Recommendations 

Implemented 15 

Outstanding 24 

Considered but not Implemented 2 

Not Implemented - 

P
age 48



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 2 

 

3. The key issue identified is that although there has been some slippage, most recently due to COVID-19 and Local Government Reform, recommendations continue to be 

implemented. Of the 41 recommendations in this report, 37% have either been implemented or have been superseded by substantially similar recommendations on more recent 

reports. Of the 24 recommendations that remain outstanding, 79% are due to slippage beyond the original implementation date and 21% are because the original implementation 

date has not yet arrived. Two Priority 3 recommendations were considered but will not be implemented. 

Scope and Limitations of the Review  

4. The review considered the progress made in implementing the recommendations made in the previous internal audit reports and established the extent to which management 

has taken the necessary actions to address the control issues that gave rise to the internal audit recommendations. 

5. The responsibility for a sound system of internal controls rests with management and work performed by internal audit should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and 

weaknesses that may exist. Neither should internal audit work be relied upon to identify all circumstances of fraud or irregularity, should there be any, although the audit 

procedures have been designed so that any material irregularity has a reasonable probability of discovery. Even sound systems of internal control may not be proof against collusive 

fraud. 

6. For the purposes of this review reliance was placed on management to provide internal audit with full access to staff and to accounting records and transactions and to ensure the 

authenticity of these documents. 

Disclaimer 

7. The matters raised in this report are only those that came to the attention of the auditor during the course of our work and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all 

the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. This report has been prepared solely for management's use and must not be recited or referred to in whole 

or in part to third parties without our prior written consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other 

purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any duty of care to any other party who may receive this report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of 

whatsoever nature, which is caused by their reliance on our report. 

Release of Report 

8. The table below sets out the history of this report. 

Date draft report issued: 19th November 2021 

Date management responses rec’d: 26th November 2021 

Date final report issued: 26th November 2021 

Date revised final report issued: 29th November 2021 

  

P
age 49



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 3 

 

Executive Summary 

Follow Up 

9. Management representations were obtained on the action taken to address the recommendations and limited testing has been carried out to confirm these management 

representations. The following matters were identified in considering the recommendations that have not been fully implemented: 

10. Follow-up – September 2021 

Audit title Insurance Audit year 2017/18 Priority 2 

Recommendation A periodic reconciliation be performed between the system operated by Fleet and the claims system maintained by the Insurance Team to help 

ensure that all motor insurance work is properly claimed. 

Initial management 

response 

We will work with Fleet to carry out reconciliations and will monitor the effectiveness of these. 

Responsible Officer/s Operational Lead Delivery and 

Commercial Services 

Original implementation 

date 

30/01/2018 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/12/2020 

31/03/2021 

Latest Update The Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services had previously advised that the recommendation remains on track to meet its new 

implementation date. No further update was received during this review. 

New implementation date 31/12/2021 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 

 

P
age 50



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 4 

 

Audit title Licensing – Premises & Clubs Audit year 2017/18 Priority 2 

Recommendation The Statement of Licensing Policy be amended to reflect the current application routes. 

Initial management 

response 

The policy is set by statutory guidance from the Home Office, underpinning this there is an EU service provision directive requiring on line 

applications and payments. The current IT suppliers do not provide this capability and we have already recognised this as a significant weakness in 

the current system and is one of the main IT requirements in the new IT solution. This is a key finding of the gap analysis. Due to the work involved 

and the cost we propose action is deferred until the new IT product is delivered. 

Responsible Officer/s Principal Specialist (Health & 

Environment) 

Original implementation 

date 

31/12/2018 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/12/2020 

31/10/2021 

Latest Update The Principal Specialist (Health & Environment) advised that a revised implementation timetable is being sought from the IT team. A new 

implementation date is suggested. 

New implementation date 31/12/2021 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 

 

Audit title Awarding of Grants Audit year 2017/18 Priority 2 

Recommendation An overarching policy on the provision of financial aid be approved which addresses any potential provision of State Aid. 

Initial management 

response 

Following completion of the review recommended at point 10 above, an overarching policy can be prepared which will set out the broad principles 

to be taken into account when entering into grant arrangements with an economic activity. This will be completed within 3 months of completion 

of recommendation 10. 

Responsible Officer/s Legal, Governance and 

Democratic Services Specialist 

Original implementation 

date 

31/03/2019 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/03/2020 

31/03/2021 

Latest Update During the previous review, the Legal, Governance and Democratic Services Specialist advised that this work is in progress. Draft documentation 

regarding the Subsidy Control regime and compliance has been prepared and a workshop has been held with relevant officers to discuss 

principles/approach. It is anticipated that the documentation will be finalised and presented to CMT by 31/12/21. No further update was provided 

during this review. 

New implementation date 31/12/2021 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 

 

P
age 51



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 5 

 

Audit title Debtors Audit year 2018/19 Priority 2 

Recommendation Procedures be amended to highlight the importance of the existing mitigating controls that address the risk that a separation of duties does not 

exist between the person raising and the person authorising a sales invoice and the risk that authorisation levels for sales invoices are not defined. 

Initial management 

response 

There are an increasing proportion of invoices raised through interfaces from other systems, particularly for rents from the Technology Forge 

system which would complicate the approval process. The Customer Connect programme includes a full review of all processes. This 

recommendation will be considered as part of that review. 

Responsible Officer/s Operational Lead Support 

Services 

Original implementation 

date 

31/03/2019 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/03/2020 

30/06/2021 

30/11/2021 

31/01/2022 

Latest Update The Case Management Team Leader (Support Services) advised that further delays to the service redesign, notably due to the Local Government 

Reform, would suggest that the previously advised due date of 31/01/2022 will not now be met and that a further revision to 31/03/2022 would 

be more realistic. 

New implementation date 31/03/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 

 

Audit title Household Waste Collection Audit year 2019/20 Priority 3 

Recommendation Current terms of reference for the Waste and Recycling Project Board be formulated and subject to periodic review and approval. 

Initial management 

response 

Review at next Project Board meet with input from Simon and Sion. 

Responsible Officer/s Operational Lead for Delivery 

and Commercial Services/ 

Principal Street Scene Officer 

Original implementation 

date 

September 2019 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/03/2021 

30/06/2021 

30/09/2021 

Latest Update The Delivery and Commercial Officer (Delivery and Commercial Services) advised that there will be a review of this situation when more information 

is available about Local Government Reform and the requirements of the national waste consultation. 

New implementation date 30/06/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 

 

P
age 52



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 6 

 

Audit title Contract Management Audit year 2019/20 Priority 1 

Recommendation A guidance procedure be developed to provide responsible officers with a framework for managing and monitoring their contracts. 

Initial management 

response 

Noted that this is the case. Updated guidance procedure to be developed and implemented in line with recommendations 11 and 9. 

Responsible Officer/s Finance Lead Specialist & 

Procurement Specialist 

Original implementation 

date 

31/05/2020 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/12/2020 

31/12/2021 

Latest Update The Procurement Specialist reiterated that work is resuming shortly on the Procurement regulations and guidance should be complete with three 

months of these being issued. 

New implementation date 31/01/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 

 

Audit title Contract Management Audit year 2019/20 Priority 2 

Recommendation The contract management and procedure documents be updated to reflect the new procurement and contract management processes within the 

Council. 

Initial management 

response 

Noted and agreed. There is conflicting policy information which is leading to poor practice. Currently liaising with Strategy Specialist. 

Responsible Officer/s Procurement Specialist Original implementation 

date 

31/12/2020 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/05/2021 

31/10/2021 

Latest Update The Procurement Specialist reiterated that it is to be realised within three months of the updated Procurement Procedure Rules. 

New implementation date 31/01/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 

 

P
age 53



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 7 

 

Audit title Contract Management Audit year 2019/20 Priority 2 

Recommendation A standard format for all contract files be developed including a contract risk register. 

Initial management 

response 

Noted and agreed. Although there are some template documents the portfolio needs to be increased and included in the training. 

Responsible Officer/s Procurement Specialist Original implementation 

date 

31/05/2020 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/12/2020 

31/05/2021 

31/10/2021 

Latest Update The Procurement Specialist indicated that that there has been a request for documentation and a pack is being trialled. Evidence was provided as 

to the progress of this recommendation. A new implementation date of 31/03/2022 is suggested. 

New implementation date 31/03/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 

 

Audit title Contract Management Audit year 2019/20 Priority 3 

Recommendation All projects be identified prior to the start of the new financial year. 

Initial management 

response 

Finance directive, but with improved contracts register this can feed in and hopefully make the process more accurate. 

Responsible Officer/s Finance Lead Specialist with 

Procurement Specialist 

Original implementation 

date 

31/03/2020 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/12/2020 

Latest Update The Procurement Specialist reiterated that the new implementation date still stands. 

New implementation date 28/02/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 

 

P
age 54



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 8 

 

Audit title Main Accounting Systems Audit year 2019/20 Priority 3 

Recommendation A mechanism be developed and implemented that routinely captures budget holder feedback of the support provided by Finance staff in order to 

maintain and further improve the process. 

Initial management 

response 

The implementation of a new budget monitoring approach moving towards a business partnering approach was introduced from Q1 2020/21. 

Feedback will be gathered from Q2 2020/21 onwards both from budget holders and the finance team. Budget monitoring process will evolve during 

the remainder of the financial year.  

Responsible Officer/s Finance Lead Specialist Original implementation 

date 

30/09/2020 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/05/2021 

30/09/2021 

Latest Update The Finance Lead Specialist stated that training, consultation and feedback was received during Q1/Q2 of 2021/22 but no further development is 

planned due to additional pressures around implementation of LGR. 

New implementation date N/A Status Considered but not 

Implemented 

Implementation has been considered but will not 

now be implemented. 

 

Audit title Leisure Services Audit year 2019/20 Priority 3 

Recommendation A risk register for third party contracts be developed to reduce the risk of non-compliance of contract monitoring, as stated within the Contract 

Management Policy. 

Initial management 

response 

Risk Register to be created for this contract. 

Responsible Officer/s Operational Lead Delivery and 

Commercial Services 

Original implementation 

date 

01/09/2020 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

30/06/2021 

Latest Update The Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services had previously advised that the recommendation remained on track to meet its 

implementation date. No update was provided for this review. 

New implementation date 01/01/22 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 
 

 
 

P
age 55



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 9 

 

Audit title Insurance Audit year 2020/21 Priority 3 

Recommendation The Annual Renewal of Insurance Contract Procedure be updated. 

Initial management 

response 

Accepted, work will be undertaken in the summer to update policy and procedures. 

Responsible Officer/s Finance Specialist and Deputy 

S151 Officer 

Original implementation 

date 

30/09/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

- 

Latest Update The Finance Specialist and Deputy S151 Officer advised that the process will be reviewed and updated as the annual renewal process is carried out 

over the next three to six months. 

New implementation date 31/03/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date will not been met. 

 
 

Audit title Creditor Payments Audit year 2020/21 Priority 3 

Recommendation A detailed Financial Scheme of Delegation table be included in the Financial Procedures. 

Initial management 

response 

Authorisation limits are currently set within the Integra system so when POs are raised they are sent to the authoriser with the relevant limit. We 

are currently developing a self-serve SharePoint page incorporating easy to use guidance and access to a Crystal Report detailing all authorisers 

and their limits. The finance procedures will be updated to reference the information on SharePoint. 

Responsible Officer/s Specialist (Finance), Finance 

Lead Specialist 

Original implementation 

date 

30/06/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

30/09/2021 

Latest Update The Specialist (Finance) advised that this recommendation relates to the introduction of the Finance self-service page on the Intranet and is awaiting 

a timeline for implementation from the IT department. 

New implementation date 31/12/2021 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 

 

P
age 56



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 10 

 

Audit title Creditor Payments Audit year 2020/21 Priority 3 

Recommendation The Financial Procedures document be updated to include references to the Government's Prompt Payment Code and any other regulations 

relating to the prompt settlement of invoices. 

Initial management 

response 

A link to the Government’s Prompt Payment Code will be added to the Finance self-serve SharePoint page, again with reference to this added into 

the finance procedure rules. 

Responsible Officer/s Specialist (Finance), Finance 

Lead Specialist 

Original implementation 

date 

30/06/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

30/09/2021 

Latest Update The Specialist (Finance) advised that this recommendation relates to the introduction of the Finance self-service page on the Intranet and is awaiting 

a timeline for implementation from the IT department. 

New implementation date 31/12/2021 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 
 

 

Audit title Disabled Facilities Grants Audit year 2020/21 Priority 3 

Recommendation The Disabled Facilities Grant Policy be reviewed in accordance with its stated review cycle. 

Initial management 

response 

The Disabled Facilities Grant Policy will be reviewed in 2021 to 2022. This will include a consultation period before the revised Policy goes through 

the relevant approval process. 

Responsible Officer/s Amanda Pharaoh (Specialist – 

Housing) 

Original implementation 

date 

31/03/2022 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

 

Latest Update The Specialist – Housing reconfirmed that the recommendation remains on target to meet the original implementation date. 

New implementation date  Status Outstanding The recommendations remains on track to meet its 

original implementation date. 

 

P
age 57



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 11 

 

Audit title Disabled Facilities Grants Audit year 2020/21 Priority 3 

Recommendation The Disabled Facilities Grant Policy be enhanced to include: its link to Council priorities; and more explicit service standards. 

Initial management 

response 

The Disabled Facilities Grant Policy will be reviewed in 2021 to 2022. This will include a consultation period before the revised Policy goes through 

the relevant approval process. 

Responsible Officer/s Amanda Pharaoh (Specialist – 

Housing) 

Original implementation 

date 

31/03/2022 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

 

Latest Update The Specialist – Housing reconfirmed that the recommendation remains on target to meet the original implementation date. 

New implementation date  Status Outstanding The recommendations remains on track to meet its 

original implementation date. 

 

Audit title NNDR Audit year 2020/21 Priority 2 

Recommendation A review of resources be undertaken and an action plan be developed to address the backlog of work and to ensure that there are adequate 

resources going forward. 

Initial management 

response 

A detailed analysis of workload and performance rates over the last 18 months is currently being prepared which will be used to form the basis of 

any recommendations to produce an action plan and increase resources to reduce the current backlog. Considerations are currently being made 

to extend an existing temporary resource, and employ further short term assistance to focus on the backlog clearance. 

Responsible Officer/s Operational Lead – Case 

Management 

Original implementation 

date 

30/06/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/03/2022 

Latest Update The Operational Lead – Case Management advised that the NNDR temporary resource arrangement has now come to an end as the NNDR backlog 

has now been cleared, although the additional temporary COVID post remains in place until August 2022. The recommendation remains on track 

to meet the revised implementation date. 

New implementation date 31/03/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 
 

 

P
age 58



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 12 

 

Audit title Council Tax Audit year 2020/21 Priority 2 

Recommendation A review of resources be undertaken and an action plan be developed to address the backlog of work and to ensure that there are adequate 

resources going forward. 

Initial management 

response 

A detailed analysis of workload and performance rates over the last 18 months is currently being prepared which will be used to form the basis of 

any recommendations to produce an action plan and increase resources to reduce the current backlog. Considerations are currently being made 

to extend an existing temporary resource, and employ further short term assistance to focus on the backlog clearance. 

Responsible Officer/s Operational Lead – Case 

Management 

Original implementation 

date 

30/06/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

31/03/2022 

Latest Update The Operational Lead – Case Management advised that the existing Case Management temporary resource is to be extended until December 2021. 

The additional temporary COVID post is extended for a further 12 months to August 2022. The backlog has reduced significantly, from four months 

at its peak to one month. The recommendation remains on track to meet the revised implementation date. 

New implementation date 31/03/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date has not been met. 
 

 

Audit title Lake Services Audit year 2020/21 Priority 2 

Recommendation Invoiced amounts for encroachments be properly determined using accurate encroachment dimensions. Agreements be updated accordingly and 

invoices raised at correct rates, be they residential or commercial. This proper determination of invoiced amounts be effected more economically 

via a phased approach, on a case by case basis, rather than a full lake survey. 

Initial management 

response 

The Council’s leadership team are currently looking at digital prioritisation and Operational Lead for Delivery and Commercial services to feed this 

into process to stress the need for the new upgraded system. 

Responsible Officer/s Operational Lead for Delivery 

and Commercial Services 

Original implementation 

date 

31/03/2022 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

 

Latest Update The Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services had previously advised that the recommendation remained on track to meet its 

implementation date. No update was provided for this review. 

New implementation date  Status Outstanding The original implementation date has not yet arrived. 

 

P
age 59



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 13 

 

Audit title Asset Management Audit year 2020/21 Priority 2 

Recommendation A set of procedure notes be prepared which cover all aspects of fixed asset management including the following: accounting and depreciation; 

maintenance and repairs; security and insurance; investment and budgeting; verification and audit; valuation and impairment cycles by asset class; 

and asset management systems used. 

Initial management 

response 

Agreed. A multi-disciplinary group has meet to discuss the practicality of this. Initially the procedure notes will concentrate on the higher-value 

assets, with some assets prepared later (e.g. museum collection). 

Responsible Officer/s Finance Lead Specialist 

supported by IT Shared 

Service Manager and 

Operational Lead for Delivery 

and Commercial Services 

Original implementation 

date 

31/12/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

3-1/03/2022 

Latest Update The Finance Lead Specialist stated that Officers have met and agreed the process and some elements of the task are completed. Additional requests 

related to LGR may reduce the resources available to fully conclude this recommendation and it is now more likely to be completed by the end of 

the financial year. 

New implementation date 31/03/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date will not be met. 

11. Contract Management 

Audit title Contract Management Audit year 2021/22 Priority 2 

Recommendation Contract Procedure Rules be followed for each procurement exercise unless a Request For Exemption From The Contract Procedure Rules Form 

has been properly completed and approved. 

Initial management 

response 

Instruction to be issued to Assets and Commercial team to adhere to exemption and waiver procedures if appointing single contractor for the 

works. Waiver/ exemption to be signed off prior to works order being placed. 

Responsible Officer/s Operational Lead for Delivery 

and Commercial Services 

Original implementation 

date 

31/08/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

 

Latest Update The Operational Lead for Delivery and Commercial Services did not provide an update for this review. 

New implementation date  Status Outstanding The original implementation date has passed. 

 

P
age 60



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 14 

 

Audit title Contract Management Audit year 2021/22 Priority 2 

Recommendation Paragraph 5 of Article 14 to the Constitution be followed in that contracts over £60,000 be under seal. Paragraph 25.1 of the Contract Procedure 

Rules be followed in that contracts over £10,000 be in writing. Paragraph 25.4.8 be followed in that contracts over £60,000 shall include a 

consideration of the need for liquidated damages. 

Initial management 

response 

Instruction to be issued to Assets and Commercial team to adhere to Contract procedure rules and no works to commence on site without contract 

being in place. 

Responsible Officer/s Operational Lead for Delivery 

and Commercial Services 

Original implementation 

date 

31/08/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

 

Latest Update The Operational Lead for Delivery and Commercial Services did not provide an update for this review. 

New implementation date  Status Outstanding The original implementation date has passed. 

12. Procurement 

Audit title Procurement Audit year 2021/22 Priority 2 

Recommendation In compliance with the Local Government (Transparency Requirements) (England) Regulations 2015, procurement information be published on a 

quarterly basis. In line with a recommendation of the Local Government Transparency Code 2015, consideration be given to publishing this data at 

least monthly. 

Initial management 

response 

The Specialist-Performance, Innovation and Commissioning will look at the process for publication with the Caseworker for Freedom of Information. 

URL links will be tested and the information will be published on a quarterly basis. Monthly publication has been considered, but may be 

unachievable due to LGR workload issues. 

Responsible Officer/s Specialist –Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Original implementation 

date 

31/12/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

- 

Latest Update The Specialist –Performance, Innovation and Commissioning advised that In line with Local Government (Transparency Requirements) (England) 

Regulations 2015 procurement information will be published on the Council website. Work will continue with the Caseworker for Freedom of 

Information, Business Process Analysts and Web Development Team. URL links will be tested and the information will be published on a quarterly 

basis in readiness for the start of 2022/23 financial year. 

New implementation date 01/04/2022 Status Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target 

date will not be met. 

 

P
age 61



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 15 

 

Audit title Procurement Audit year 2021/22 Priority 2 

Recommendation Contract Procedure Rules be followed for each procurement exercise unless a Request For Exemption From The Contract Procedure Rules form 

has been properly completed and approved. 

Initial management 

response 

A new Exemption system is being developed which provides alerts to those involved in the process. This will be a form that will be accessible to all 

who are involved in the procurement process and will be saved centrally. Due to the previous issues we have had with SharePoint, we are looking 

to do this through Integra. Alerts can be raised to those in the process and therefore can be tracked properly. 

Responsible Officer/s Procurement Specialist Original implementation 

date 

31/12/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

 

Latest Update The Procurement Specialist advised that this is still on track. Changes to the Constitution are being implemented on the test form and it is hoped 

to go live in November with the Integra form 

New implementation date  Status Outstanding The original implementation date has not yet arrived. 

 

Audit title Procurement Audit year 2021/22 Priority 2 

Recommendation Request For Exemption From The Contract Procedure Rules forms be held in a single location visible to all Officers who would need access. Only 

one form be used to evidence all required authorisations. 

Initial management 

response 

A new Exemption system is being developed which provides alerts to those involved in the process. This will be a form that will be accessible to all 

who are involved in the procurement process and will be saved centrally. Due to the previous issues we have had with SharePoint, we are looking 

to do this through Integra. Alerts can be raised to those in the process and therefore can be tracked properly. 

Responsible Officer/s Procurement Specialist Original implementation 

date 

31/12/2021 Revised implementation 

date(s) 

 

Latest Update The Procurement Specialist advised that this is still on track. Changes to the Constitution are being implemented on the test form and it is hoped 

to go live in November with the Integra form 

New implementation date  Status Outstanding The original implementation date has not yet arrived. 

 

P
age 62



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 16 

 

Audit title Procurement Audit year 2021/22 Priority 3 

Recommendation In line with a recommendation of the Local Government Transparency Code 2015, the 'Performance information URL' data field be published. 

Initial management 

response 

There is currently some confusion as to what the URL is supposed to link to and where to gain that information. This has been looked at by the 

Procurement Specialist, Legal Specialist and Specialist Performance, Innovation and Commissioning. It has been decided that the effort required to 

implement this recommendation outweighs the benefits to the public of including this field in the Contracts Register. 

Responsible Officer/s Procurement Specialist/ 

Specialist Performance 

Innovation and 

Commissioning/Specialist 

Legal 

Original implementation 

date 

N/A Revised implementation 

date(s) 

 

Latest Update N/A 

New implementation date  Status Considered but not 

Implemented 

Implementation has been considered but will not 

now be implemented. 

  P
age 63



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 17 

 

13. The following recommendations have been implemented, or have been superseded where indicated. 

Audit Title Recommendation Priority Responsible 

Officer 

Due Date 

Asset Management Assets, which are not subject to a valuation exercise and depreciation, such as 

Held for Sale, Investment Properties and Heritage Assets, be subject to quarterly 

reconciliations. The reconciliation should also consider the Assets under 

Construction account. 

2 Specialist (Finance) 14/12/2021 

Asset Management A formal annual asset verification program be implemented and documented 

whereby all assets, which are not captured by valuation and impairment reviews, 

are subject to verification. 

2 Finance Lead Specialist 

supported by IT Shared 

Service Manager and 

Operational Lead for 

Delivery and 

Commercial Services 

31/12/2021 

Bereavement Services Existing procedures be amended to include a document date, owner and review 

period. A full suite of procedures be developed, maintained and tested, sufficient 

to facilitate effective succession planning. 

2 Kayleigh Stockton and 

Bereavement Specialist 

31/12/2021 

Bereavement Services An overall schedule be maintained within Bereavement Services to properly plan 

and execute periodic site visits to each cemetery and graveyard, to inform any 

additional identified maintenance work, and to serve as further confirmation of 

the completion of the identified work. 

2 Vicky McDonald/ 

Bereavement Services 

Specialist 

01/12/2021 

Cyber Security A risk analysis be undertaken of the impact potential cyber threats may have on 

the Authority which should evaluate both technical and behavioural risk, cover 

those aspects of ICT delivery contained in the NCSC/CESG 10 steps to Cyber 

Security and include on-going consideration of security alerts issued by recognised 

cyber security authorities (superseded). 

2 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

30/10/2021 

Cyber Security Once in place, the cyber security incident plans and procedures be periodically 

tested, for example during testing/rehearsal of the corporate business continuity 

arrangements. The Audit Committee be made aware of the contents and 

requirements of the policy, procedures and response plans (superseded). 

2 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

30/10/2021 

P
age 64



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 18 

 

Audit Title Recommendation Priority Responsible 

Officer 

Due Date 

Cyber Security A cyber security incident response plan be produced identifying the various types 

of action required to address known threats detailed in the cyber risk analysis, 

referenced to detailed procedures dealing with the different actions required to 

the diverse types of security threat to which the Council may be subject. The 

arrangements for investigation of cyber incidents be supported by detailed 

forensic readiness procedures in order to preserve evidence to assist with the 

investigation and resolution of incidents and lessons learnt recorded 

(superseded). 

2 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

30/10/2021 

Data Protection Compliance It be ensured that all staff complete the GDPR E-learning so that compliance can 

be evidenced and assurance gained that all staff have adequate GDPR awareness 

(superseded). 

2 Performance, 

Innovation and 

Commissioning 

Specialist 

31/12/2021 

Disabled Facilities Grants A review of the Constitution be completed to clarify procurement rules applicable 

to DFGs. 

2 Lead Specialist – Legal 

Governance, 

Democracy 

(Monitoring Officer) 

31/10/2021 

Empty Homes The Empty Homes Strategy definition of an empty home be reconsidered to better 

align with the work performed by the Empty Homes Officer. 

2 Principal Specialist 

(People) 

14/10/2021 

Procurement Section 3 of the Contract Procedure Rules and template Request For Exemption 

From The Contract Procedure Rules forms be aligned to provide clarity as to which 

Officers are required to be consulted and to approve requests for exemptions 

from the Rules. 

2 Lead Specialist – Legal 

Governance, 

Democracy 

(Monitoring Officer) 

30/11/2021 

Debtors The requirement for the existing overall review of the Period-end Tasks 

spreadsheets by the Finance Lead Specialist, or a delegate, be assessed, with a 

view to retaining a practical balance between ongoing workloads versus any 

potential weakness in control that the lack of such a review may expose. The 

Period-end Tasks template be updated accordingly. 

3 Finance Specialist 

(Systems and Capital) 

30/09/2021 

P
age 65



 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 19 

 

Audit Title Recommendation Priority Responsible 

Officer 

Due Date 

Disabled Facilities Grants The Disabled Facilities Grant Procedure be updated to reflect the current 

structure and responsibilities. 

3 David Bradley 

(Specialist – Housing 

Standards) 

31/03/2022 

Disabled Facilities Grants Applicants be required to confirm in writing their understanding that for any 

works to be carried out the two contracting parties are the applicant and the 

contractor. 

3 David Bradley 

(Specialist – Housing 

Standards) 

31/03/2022 

Payroll Only up-to-date payroll-related policies and guidance be published on the 

Council's website. A specific review date and document owner be stated within 

each document. 

3 Human Resources 

Specialist 

31/12/2021 

 P
age 66



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 8 December 2021 

2021/22 Accounting Polices 

 

Portfolio:   Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder 

Report from:  Section 151 Officer 

Report Author: Claire Read – Finance Specialist 

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: n/a 

Links to Council Plan Priorities: Good governance arrangements link to the Council’s 
achievements of its Council Plan priorities and objectives.  

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

1.1 This report presents the proposed accounting policies to be adopted for the 2021/22 
financial year and to be used in the preparation of the statement of Accounts for the 
financial year ending 31st March 2022. These are prepared in line with the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accounting’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the UK 2021/22 (the Code). Adopting the proposed policies 
will support timely production of a high quality set of annual accounts. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

(1) approves the accounting policies at Appendix 1 for the 2021/22 financial 
year to be used in the preparation of the Statement of Accounts for the 
financial year ending 31 March 2022. 

(2) Note the forthcoming changes to lease accounting as detailed in 
Appendix 2. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 As part of its statement of accounts, the Council needs to disclose the accounting 
policies it has applied to all material balances and transactions. There is little discretion 
to the Council as the proper accounting practices, that all local authorities follow, are 
set down in the Code. 

3.2 The 2021/22 CIPFA Code of practice is not expected to have any changes for 
accounting polices compared to 2020/21. So appendix 1 has only been updated for 
date changes. 

3.3 CIPFA have delayed the  introduction of IFRS 16 Leases  until the 1st April 2022, which 
means that 2022/23 Accounts will be the first accounts that will need to be prepared in 
line with this standard. . However when we produce 2021/22 Statement of accounts 
we will need to disclose in Note 2: Accounting Standards that have been issued but 
not yet adopted and other issues, the likely impact on the accounts. Therefore we are 

Page 67

Item No.8



taking this opportunity to provide some information on the changes and the work that 
is being undertaken to access the impact. This is shown in Appendix 2 to the report 

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 2021-22 Accounting Polices 

2 IFRS 16 Lease Accounting Changes for 2022-23 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 All Local Authorities are consulted as part of CIPFA’s preparation of the code. 

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 No alternative options are proposed, the Council has no circumstances that would 
justify a material departure from the code. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 The polices in Appendix 1 underpin the Council’s reporting on its financial performance 
and position. There is little discretion to depart from the policies set down by the Code. 

Human Resources 

7.2 This report has no direct human resources implications 

Legal 

7.3 The Code constitutes ‘proper accounting practices’ to be followed by a Local Authority 
under the terms of section 21 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

7.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No   

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
2021/22 Accounting Policies are in line with statutory guidance and have no direct 
HSEE implications. 

7.6 Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts. n/a 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No  

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: The 
2021/22 Accounting Policies are in line with statutory guidance and have no direct 
equality and diversity implications 

7.9 Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts 

 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

The Council reports its financial 
performance and position on the 
basis of accounting policies that 
materially depart from the Code. 

Material errors are 
included in the draft 
statement of accounts and 
may be qualified. 

Officers review the Code 
annually and Committee 
adopt the updated 
policies. 

Contact Officers 

Claire Read, Finance Specialist, 01539 793152, Claire.Read@southlakeland.gov.uk  

Page 68

mailto:Claire.Read@southlakeland.gov.uk


Background Documents Available 

 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

2020/21 Statement of Accounts https://tinyurl.com/vtst3ez4  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Section 151 Officer 24.11.2021 29.11.2021 

Monitoring Officer 29.11.2021  29.11.2021  

CMT 24.11.2021 26.11.2021 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist N/A 

Human Resources Lead Specialist N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 08/12/2021 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 69

https://tinyurl.com/vtst3ez4


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70



 
Appendix 1 

 
The purpose of this appendix is to set out the accounting policies to be used for 
preparation of the 2020/21/22 statement of accounts. 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The purpose of this section is to explain the basis for the recognition, measurement and 
disclosure of transactions and other events in the accounts of South Lakeland District 
Council. Where individual transactions and other events are not covered by these policies 
they are accounted for in accordance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice identified below. 
 
The accounting policies are the main principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices 
that specify how these transactions and other events are reflected in the financial 
statements of the Council.   
 
The accounts follow the appropriate accounting standards as required by the CIPFA Code 
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21/22 (The 
Code). The Code constitutes a “proper accounting practice” under the terms of Section 21 
(2) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The Code is based on approved international 
accounting standards, except where these conflict with specific accounting or legislative 
requirements, so that the Council’s accounts present a true and fair view of the financial 
position and transactions of the authority.  
 
The basic accounting convention adopted is historic cost, modified by the revaluation of 
certain categories of tangible non-current assets and financial assets. 
 
Unless otherwise stated the convention used in this document is to round amounts to the 
nearest thousand pounds and throughout the statement all credit balances are shown with 
parentheses e.g. (1,234). 
 
The Accounting Policies that follow are presented in an order that, as far as possible, 
corresponds with the index to the notes to the accounts. A full index of Policies follows. 
 
GENERAL PRINCIPLES 
Policy 1  Fundamental Accounting Concepts 
Policy 2  Estimation and Prior Year Errors 
Policy 3 Post Balance Sheet Events 
 
OTHER 
Policy 4  Revenue and Expenditure Recognition 
Policy 5  VAT 
 
MOVEMENT IN RESERVES 
Policy 6 Reserves 
 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
Policy 7 Employee Benefits 
Policy 8 External Interest 
Policy 9 Revenue Grants and Contributions  

Page 71



 
Policy 10 Charges to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure  
  Statement for the Use of Non-current Assets 
Policy 11 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 
 
BALANCE SHEET 
Policy 12 Fair Value Measurement 
Policy 13  Property, Plant and Equipment 
Policy 14 Intangible Assets 
Policy 15 Non-Current Asset Disposal 
Policy 16 Heritage Assets 
Policy 17 Investment Properties 
Policy 18  Definition of Capital Expenditure 
Policy 19 Capital Grants and Contributions 
Policy 20  Leases 
Policy 21 Financial Assets 
Policy 22 Financial Liabilities 
Policy 23 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Policy 24 Bad Debts 
Policy 25 Provisions 
Policy 26 Contingent Liabilities 
Policy 27 Contingent Assets 
 
COLLECTION FUND 
Policy 28 Local Taxation and BIDs 
 
 
1. FUNDAMENTAL ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS 
 
a) Underlying Assumptions 
 
Accruals 
The financial statements, other than the cash flow information, are prepared on an accruals 
basis.  This means that expenditure and income are recognised in the accounts in the 
period in which they are incurred or earned, not as money is paid or received.  
 
Going Concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Council will 
continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Transfers of services under 
combinations of public sector bodies (such as local government reorganisation) do not 
negate the presumption of going concern. 
 
b) Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Information 
 
Understandability 
These accounts are based on accounting concepts, treatments and terminology, which 
require reasonable knowledge of accounting and local government.  However, all 

Page 72



 
reasonable efforts have been made to use plain language and where technical terms are 
unavoidable they have been explained as they occur. 
 
Relevance 
The accounts have been prepared with the objective of providing information about the 
Council’s financial performance and position that is useful to the reader in assessing the 
stewardship of public funds and for making future economic decisions. 
 
Materiality 
The Code permits the concept of materiality to be used in the preparation of the accounts. 
Omissions or mis-statements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, 
influence the decisions or assessments of users made on the basis of the financial 
statements. Materiality depends on the nature or size of the omission or mis-statement 
judged in the surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the item, or a combination 
of both, could be the determining factor.  
 
Faithful Representation 
The financial information is complete, neutral and free from error in that it: 

• has been prepared so as to reflect the reality or substance of the transaction and 
activities underlying them, rather than their formal legal character; 

• represents faithfully the transactions and events it purports to or could reasonably 
be expected to represent; 

• is free from deliberate or systemic bias; 
• is free from material error; 
• is complete within the bounds of materiality and cost. 

 
Comparability 
The financial statements have been prepared to allow comparison of the Council’s financial 
position over time. The Council reports financial performance in segments consistent with 
the internal management structure. 
 
Verifiable 
Information used to prepare the accounts can be verified. Where estimates have been 
used, the relevant assumptions underlying the estimation technique will be disclosed. 
 
Timely 
The statutory timeframe for preparation of the accounts will be adhered to. 
 
Primacy of Legislative Requirements 
Local Authorities derive their powers from statute and their financial and accounting 
framework is closely controlled by primary and secondary legislation.  It is a fundamental 
principle of local authority accounting that, where specific legislative requirements and 
accounting principles conflict, legislative requirements as shown in Appendix B to the Code 
shall apply. To satisfy the twin demands of accounting regulations and legislation, Local 
Authority accounts include a reconciling statement to disclose how legislation has had an 
impact on the general fund and other reserves (the Movement in Reserves Statement and 
supporting note). 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



 
2. ESTIMATION AND PRIOR YEAR ERRORS 
 
In order to prepare the annual accounts by the specified deadline, it has been necessary 
to use estimation methods in relation to some transactions and events. The Council has 
applied the same methods this year as in previous years. 
 
The estimation techniques that have been used are, in the Council’s view, appropriate and 
consistently applied.  Should the effect of a change to an estimation technique be material, 
a description of the change and, if practicable, the effect on the results for the current period 
and future years would be separately disclosed. 
 
Where errors have occurred in relation to previous years’ recognition, measurement, 
presentation, or disclosure of elements of financial statements, they are corrected 
retrospectively where material and disclosed in the notes to the statements. 
 
3. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, 
that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of 
Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 
 

•  Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date, 
these are then adjusted in the Accounts and disclosures.  

 
• Those where conditions arose after the Balance Sheet date. No adjustments are 

made in the Accounts but where it is considered the events would have a material 
effect then details are disclosed in a note.  

 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation are not reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts. 
 
4. REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE RECOGNITION 
 
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance 
obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer, and is 
measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation. 
 
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the 
following year, that income is deferred. 
 
Where the Council is acting as an agent of another organisation, the amounts collected for 
that organisation are excluded from revenue. 
 
The main sources of revenue for the Council are 
• Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision 

of goods, is recognised when the Authority transfers the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority. 

• Revenue from Council Tax and Business Rates is measured at the full amount 
receivable (net of impairment losses) as they are non-contractual, non-exchange 
transactions. Revenue from non-exchange transactions shall be recognised when it 

Page 74



 
is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the authority, and the amount of the revenue can be measured 
reliably. 

• Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for 
the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the 
contract. 

 
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions 
of sale have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract. 
 
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. Significant terms 
include 30 days for most services provided and 21 days for statutory licences.  
 
In relation to expenditure 
• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a 

gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, and the value is 
material, they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet. 

• Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) 
are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when 
payments are made.  

 
Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or 
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where 
debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to 
revenue for the income that might not be collected. 
 
5. VALUE ADDED TAX (VAT) 
 
Value Added Tax is included within the accounts only to the extent that it is irrecoverable 
and therefore charged to revenue or capital expenditure as appropriate. VAT receivable is 
excluded from income. 
 
6. RESERVES 
 
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes, 
contingencies and cash flow management.  Reserves are created by appropriating 
amounts out of the General Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
When expenditure is incurred it is charged to the service revenue account in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is appropriated back into 
the General Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge 
against council tax for the expenditure.  
 
A list of reserves for specific purposes, and an explanation of their use, is included in the 
notes to the Accounting Statements.  
 
Capital Reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets and 
retirement benefits. These are not available for use by the Council for revenue purposes, 
and some can only be used for specific statutory purposes. These reserves are explained 
in the relevant notes to the Accounting Statements. 

Page 75



 
 
7. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
During Employment 
Short-term benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They 
include salaries, paid annual leave, sick leave and non-monetary benefits for current 
employees. They are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which 
employees render service to the Council.  
 
An accrual is made at the end of each year for the cost of holiday entitlement and flexi-time 
balances not taken at the year-end. The accrual is based on the salary rates for the year 
in which it will be taken. The accrual is charged to the cost of services, but then reversed 
out in the Movement in Reserves Statement, so that benefits are charged to revenue in the 
year in which the holiday or flexi-time is taken. 
 
 
Termination Benefits 
These are benefits payable as a result of a decision taken by the Council to terminate an 
employee’s employment before the normal retirement date, or as a result of an employee’s 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy. They are charged on an accruals basis to the 
relevant service in the period when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer of benefits 
made to the employee or when the criteria for recognising a provision to cover such costs 
are met, whichever is the earliest.  
 
Where termination benefits involve pension enhancements, statutory provisions require 
the amount charged to the General Fund to be the amount paid in the year and not that 
calculated in accordance with relevant accounting standards. The Movement in Reserves 
Statement therefore shows entries in and out of the Pensions Reserve to bring the 
treatment into line with the accruals requirements of Accounting Standards. 
 
Retirement Benefits 
Employees of the Council are members of Cumbria County Pension Fund, part of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme.  
 
The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme: 

• The liabilities of the Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme attributable to the 
Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected 
unit method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation 
to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about 
mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc., and projections of estimated earnings 
for current employees 

• Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based 
on the indicative rate of return on AA rated corporate bonds.  

• The assets of the Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme attributable to the 
Council are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value: 

- quoted securities at current bid price 
- unquoted securities by professional estimate 
- unitised securities at current bid price 
- property at market value 

 

Page 76



 
The change in the net pension’s liability is analysed into the following components: 
 
Component Detail Accounting Treatment 
Service Costs   
Current service cost Increase in the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation resulting 
from employee service in the 
current period including interest on 
the current service cost. 

Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement for appropriate 
service 

Past service cost / 
gains 

Change in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation for 
service in prior periods resulting 
from a plan amendment or 
curtailment and any gain or loss on 
settlement. 

Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement, Other 
Comprehensive Income  and 
Expenditure 

Net interest on the net 
defined benefit 
liability(asset) 

Change during the period in the net 
defined liability (asset) that arises 
from the passage of time. 

Financing and Investment 
Income and  Expenditure 
in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 

Other administration 
costs 

Other costs of scheme 
administration 

Debited to other operating 
expenditure 

Re-measurements   
Other contributions to 
the Pension Fund 
including Gains/losses 
on 
settlements and 
curtailments 

Result of actions to relieve Council 
of liabilities or events that reduce 
expected future service or accrual 
of benefits of employees 

Accounted for in the Pensions 
Reserve and as part of Other 
Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure. 

Re-measurements  
(return on plan assets, 
actuarial gains and 
losses) 

Return on Plan assets not included 
in net interest. Changes in net 
pensions liability arising because 
events have not coincided with 
assumptions made at last actuarial 
valuation or changes to actuaries’ 
assumptions split between 
demographic and financial 
assumptions 

Accounted for in the Pensions 
Reserve and as part of Other 
Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure. 

Contributions   
Contributions paid to 
the Cumbria Local 
Government Pension 
Scheme 

Cash paid as employer’s 
contributions to the pension fund. 

Not accounted for as an 
expense in Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure 
Statement but charged against 
General Fund through 
Movement in Reserves 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to 
be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund in the year, not the 
amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in 
Reserves Statement this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions 
Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits, and replace them 
with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and any amounts payable to the fund but 
unpaid at the year-end. 
 
Any prepayments into the pension fund will be treated as a reduction to the pension liability. 
 

Page 77



 
Discretionary Benefits 
The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits 
in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award 
to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award, and 
accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 

   
8. EXTERNAL INTEREST 
 
Interest payments on external borrowings (Public Works Loans Board and other bodies) 
are fully accrued in order that each year bears the costs of interest related to its actual 
external borrowing.  External interest income is credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement over the period to which it relates. 
 
9. REVENUE GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
Government grants and contributions are accounted for on an accruals basis. Specific 
revenue grants and contributions are matched with the service expenditure to which they 
relate in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement unless there are 
conditions that have not been met. In such cases the income is credited to Receipts in 
Advance until the conditions are met. Once conditions are met the grant is transferred to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where there are no conditions outstanding, but expenditure has not been incurred, the 
grant is transferred to an earmarked reserve until the expenditure is incurred. It is then 
transferred to the General Fund Balance through the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Grants to cover general expenditure e.g. Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Rural 
Services Delivery Grant are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement within the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line.  
 
Repayments of Grants and Contributions are shown as a revision of an accounting 
estimate, and are set-off against the previous entries in the accounts. 
 
Community Infrastructure levy 
The Council has elected to charge and collect the planning charge known as a community 
infrastructure levy (CIL). The levy is charged on new builds (chargeable developments) 
with planning consent. The income from the levy will be used to fund a number of 
infrastructure projects, including transport, flood defences and schools, to support the 
development of the area. 
The CIL is received without outstanding conditions; it is therefore recognised at the 
commencement date of the chargeable development, in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, in accordance with the accounting policy for government grants 
and contributions set out above. CIL charges will be largely used to fund capital 
expenditure. 
 
10. CHARGES TO THE COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE   
STATEMENT FOR THE USE OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
Service revenue accounts, support services and trading accounts are debited or credited 
with the following amounts to record the real cost of holding non-current assets during the 
year: 

Page 78



 
• Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service 
• Impairment losses attributable to the clear consumption of economic benefits on 

tangible non-current assets used by the service and other losses where there are 
no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which they can be written-
off 

• Amortisation of intangible non-current assets attributable to the service. 
 
The Council is not required to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation, impairment losses 
or amortisations.  However, it is required to make an annual Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) to contribute towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement (equal to an 
amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Authority in accordance with 
statutory guidance). Depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are therefore 
replaced by MRP in the Movements in Reserves Statement, by way of an adjusting 
transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account for the difference between the two. 
 
11. REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE 
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions, 
but does not result in the creation of non-current assets owned by the Council (REFCUS), 
has been charged as expenditure to the relevant service revenue account in the year. 
Examples include disabled facilities grants on private houses.   
 
Where the Council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from capital 
resources, a transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement through the Movement 
in Reserves Statement, so there is no impact on the level of the Council Tax.  
 
12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 
 
Where asset and liability values on the balance sheet reflect their current value, these will 
be measured at Fair Value unless a different measurement basis is specified in the Code. 
This is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a 
liability, in an orderly transaction, between market participants, at the measurement date. 
The fair value measurement assumes that the transactions to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place wither: 
 

a) In the principle market for the asset or liability, or 
b) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset 

or liability 
 
Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is 
measured or disclosed in the authority’s financial statements are categorised within the fair 
value hierarchy, as follows: 
 

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the authority can access as the measurement date 
 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 
 
Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 

Page 79



 
 
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected 
to be used during more than one financial year are classified as property, plant and 
equipment 
 
Recognition and Valuation 
After initial recognition in the accounts at cost, non-current assets are valued on the basis 
required by International Standards and recommended by CIPFA and the Royal Institute 
of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  
 
Assets are carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 
 

Operational Land and Buildings – current value or depreciated replacement cost (DRC) 
for specialist assets where there is no active market.   
Vehicles, Plant and Equipment – depreciated historic cost. 
Infrastructure assets and assets under construction – depreciated historic cost  
Community assets – historic cost.  
 

Componentisation 
Where a property, plant and equipment assets have major components whose cost are 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item, then the components are recognised, 
valued and depreciated separately. 
 
 
Revaluations 
Revaluations of non-current assets are being carried out as part of a rolling programme 
over a four-year cycle. However, in addition material changes to asset valuations will be 
adjusted in the interim period as they occur, for example where there is enhancement 
expenditure in the year or as a result of an impairment review. Although a rolling 
programme is used, the Council’s valuers will consider the carrying amounts of all land and 
building assets at the balance sheet date for the potential of material misstatement. 
Revaluations of non-current assets also take place when an asset is classified as Held for 
Sale. 
 
Any gains on revaluation will be credited to the Revaluation Reserve, unless it reverses a 
previous loss on the same asset that was charged to service expenditure. In that event the 
equivalent gain will be credited back to where the charge was made in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Losses on valuation will be debited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, unless it can be set against any previous gains in Revaluation Reserve for that 
asset. 
 
Impairment 
All categories of non-current assets or material individual assets are reviewed each year 
for evidence of reductions in value. 
 

Page 80



 
Where there is a material reduction in recoverable amount, the loss is reflected through an 
impairment charge to the service accounts, unless there is a revaluation surplus in the 
revaluation reserve for that asset, in which case it will be set off against that surplus.   
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided for on all non-current assets with a finite useful life with the 
exception of Investment Properties, some Heritage Assets, Assets Under Construction and 
Assets Held for Sale.  Where depreciation is provided for, assets are generally depreciated 
using the “straight line” method on the opening balance. Details of the relevant periods are 
shown in the Property, Plant and Equipment note to the accounts. The depreciation periods 
are reviewed each year. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, where an event occurs in year that creates a material 
difference between the opening and closing valuation of an asset, a different approach 
may be used to provide a fair estimate of the value of using the asset in the year. This 
would base the depreciation charge on a value judged to best represent the year in 
question overall. This will only be done where it has a material impact on the depreciation 
charge and the details will be made explicit within the notes to the accounts. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated. An amount equal to the difference between current 
value depreciation and that which would have been charged on a historical cost basis, is 
transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Derecognition 
Property, Plant and Equipment is derecognised on disposal or when it has no future 
economic or social benefit. 
 
The gain or loss from derecognition is the net of its disposal proceeds, if any, and its 
carrying amount and is included in the Other Operating Expenditure in the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services. Where part of an asset is being replaced or restored, the 
carrying amount of the existing part is derecognised and replaced with the recognised 
amount for the new part. Where the carrying amount of the existing part is difficult to 
identify, estimates based on the cost of the new part are used to establish the amount. 
 
14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
Expenditure on assets that do not have physical substance, but are identifiable and 
controlled by the Council (e.g. software licences), is capitalised when it will bring benefits 
to the Council for more than one financial year. The asset is normally held at historical cost, 
less any accumulated amortisation (depreciation) and impairment loss, unless there is an 
active market in which case fair value will apply.  
 
The amortisation (depreciation) cost is charged to the relevant service account over the 
economic life to reflect the pattern of consumption of benefits. Where an intangible asset 
has an indefinite life no amortisation (depreciation) is applied. In line with tangible assets, 
the values of intangible assets (if in use) are reviewed periodically, and impairment, 
disposal and useful life policies are also applied and reviewed.  
 
 
 
 

Page 81



 
15. NON-CURRENT ASSET DISPOSAL 
 
Held for Sale 
Assets held for sale must be available for and in a physical condition appropriate for 
immediate sale, all approvals must be received or granted and their needs to be an 
expectation that they will be sold within one year. In most cases this will be when the 
Council approves its sale and marketing.  
 
When an asset is classified as for sale, it is immediately revalued in its pre-reclassification 
asset class. It is then reclassified and shown on the Balance Sheet at the lower of this 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. When the asset is sold any gain or loss is shown 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains are only recognised up 
to the value of any losses previously posted to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  
 
Receipts 
Receipts from disposals are credited to Other Operating Expenditure in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 
Amounts in excess of £10,000 are accounted for as Capital Receipts. 
 
The balance of receipts, after taking account of costs of disposal, is credited to a Capital 
Receipts Reserve and can only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce 
the Council’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement). Gains or 
losses on disposals are not a charge against Council Tax as amounts are provided for 
under separate capital financing arrangements. Amounts are appropriated from the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 
 
16. HERITAGE ASSETS 
 
Heritage Assets are those that are: 

• held and maintained principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture 
and/or  

• preserved in trust for future generations because of their cultural, environmental or 
historical associations  

 
They include both tangible and intangible assets. Where the values of these items are 
individually and/or collectively immaterial they are included in the Balance Sheet at a 
nominal value, and reference is made to them in the notes to the Accounting Statements. 
 
With the exception of the relaxations shown below, Heritage Assets are recognised and 
measured in accordance with the policy on Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
Land and Buildings 
Where valuation methods cannot be applied due to the nature of the asset, for example 
Kendal Castle, a nil value has been used. No impairment or depreciation is therefore 
applicable in these cases. 
 
Collections 
The disparate collections held in various locations within the Council are reported in the 
Balance Sheet at valuation. This is estimated using the annual insurance value. When 

Page 82



 
acquisitions are made they are initially recognised at cost, whereas donations will be 
recognised at valuation by reference to market information.  
 
17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 
Assets held and managed purely for rental income or capital appreciation are held as 
Investment Properties. The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to 
facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale. 
 
Investment Properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently are revalued 
annually and held at fair value. Annual revenue income and expenditure are reflected in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement within Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure.  
 
18. DEFINITION OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 
All expenditure on the acquisition, construction, replacement or restoration of a tangible 
non-current asset has been capitalised and classified as property, plant, equipment, 
heritage asset or investment property, where it is probable that future economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and where the cost can 
be measured reliably. 
 
This will also include subsequent expenditure except where this only maintains the asset’s 
potential to deliver the level of service anticipated when the asset was acquired. In this 
case, the expenditure will be treated as revenue and will be charged to the service account. 
 
Where a component of an asset is replaced or restored the amount in the accounts relating 
to the old component is de-recognised. Major overhaul or replacement expenditure can 
also be capitalised if it relates to a non-current asset that has previously been depreciated. 
 
A non-current asset is initially recognised at its cost, which is its purchase price plus any 
costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended use.  Directly 
attributable costs are the labour costs of own employees (e.g. site workers, in-house 
architects and surveyors) arising directly from the construction or acquisition of the specific 
asset, the incremental costs to the Council that would have been avoided only if the 
particular non-current asset had not been constructed or acquired. 
 
Costs will be ineligible to the extent that they relate to activity that takes place before the 
intention to acquire or construct a particular non-current asset has been confirmed.  
Examples include project appraisals and feasibility studies. 
 
The Council has adopted an aggregate de-minimis level of £10,000 for expenditure on 
capital schemes; if expenditure in a single financial year is less than £10,000 it will still be 
capitalised if this is part of an ongoing scheme which in total is £10,000 or more. 
Expenditure on schemes below this level is charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year it is incurred. 
 
19. CAPITAL GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS  
 
Capital grants and contributions received for the purposes of financing capital expenditure 
are credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis, unless there are 

Page 83



 
conditions that have not been met. In this case, the income is credited to Capital Grants 
Receipts in Advance until the conditions are met. It is then transferred to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
When there are no conditions outstanding and the related expenditure to be financed from 
that grant has been incurred, the grant is transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account 
and reported through the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Where there are no conditions outstanding but the related expenditure has not been 
incurred the grant is transferred to Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve and reported in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When the expenditure is incurred the grant is 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account with appropriate reporting in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. 
 
Repayments of Grants and Contributions are shown as a revision of an accounting 
estimate and set off against the previous entries in the accounts. Repayment is regarded 
as capital expenditure and transfers are made between the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and the Capital Adjustment Account with the transfer being 
reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
20. LEASES 
 
Finance Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from 
the lessor to the lessee. The Council currently has no material finance leases. 
 
Operating Leases 
Rentals payable are charged directly to Service costs in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. This generally means they 
are charged when they become payable. 
 
Rents received are credited to Service costs in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as they are due. 
 
 
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
The classification of financial assets is determined by the cash flow and business model 
characteristics of the assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 
 
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

• financial assets at amortised cost,  
• financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), and  
• financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL).  

 
The authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. 
Financial Assets are therefore classified as amortised cost, except for those whose 
contractual payments are not solely payment of principal and interest (i.e. where the cash 
flows do not take the form of a basic debt instrument). 
 
 

Page 84



 
Financial Assets at Amortised Cost  
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised when the Council becomes 
party to the contractual provision of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade 
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered and initially are measured 
at fair value. 
 
After initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.  
 
For most of the loans that the Council has made, the amount included in the Balance 
Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable, and interest credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan 
agreement. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or when the 
asset has been transferred and the Council has transferred substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership or has not retained control of the asset. 
 
The Council has made loans to voluntary organisations and other bodies at less than 
market rates (soft loans). When soft loans are made, a loss is recorded in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the present value of the interest 
that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost 
than the outstanding principal.  
 
Interest is credited at a marginally higher effective rate of interest than the rate receivable 
from the voluntary organisations, with the difference serving to increase the amortised 
cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet. Statutory provisions require that the impact of soft 
loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest receivable for the financial year – the 
reconciliation of amounts debited and credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the net gain required against the General Fund Balance is 
managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income  
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are those 
held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest.  
 
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss  
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are those that are not 
otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. 
This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the short term.  
 
Legislation requires that any changes in the fair value of financial assets charged to the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Service is to be reversed out to through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement to the Unusable Reserves.  
 

Page 85



 
Expected Credit Loss Model   
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the Council recognises a 
loss allowance representing expected credit losses on the financial instrument.  
 
The Code requires that local authorities shall not recognise a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses on a financial asset where the counterparty for a financial asset is central 
government or a local authority for which relevant statutory provisions prevent default. 
 
The Council adopts the simplified approach to impairment, in accordance with the Code, 
and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, contract assets and lease 
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial 
assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 
losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, and otherwise at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses. 
 
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition, expected 
credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the net 
present value of all the contractual cash flows that are due to the Council in accordance 
with the contract for the instrument and the net present value of all the cash flows that the 
Council expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Any 
adjustment is recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Service as an 
impairment gain or loss.  
 
22. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  
 
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Council becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or 
services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has 
been extinguished – that is, the obligation has been discharged or cancelled or has expired.  
 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the amortised 
cost of the financial liability.  
 
Annual charges to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest 
payable are based on the carrying amount (balance carried forward) of the liability, 
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the borrowings 
that the Council has, this means that the amount included in the Balance Sheet is the 
outstanding principal repayable, and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year in the loan agreement. 
Accounting for debt re-structuring or early settlement will be in accordance with the Code 
and relevant statute. 
 
23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents include: 

• petty cash 
• amounts held in instant access accounts 
• the consolidated payments and income accounts with the Council’s main bankers 

Page 86



 
 
24. BAD DEBTS 
 
The Council continually reviews its debts as part of its monitoring process taking account 
of past recovery rates and any relevant advice from external bodies. Provision is made for 
impairment of debts, which for most services is calculated as 25% of all debts between 6 
months and one year old, 50% of all debts between 1 and 2 years old and 100% of all 
debts over two years old.   
 
Separate amounts are calculated for Council Tax, NNDR, Housing Rents and Benefits. 
These reflect increasing levels of provision dependent on the stage of recovery, with 
anything over two years being fully provided for.  
 
25. PROVISIONS 
 
The Council makes general provisions for significant liabilities or losses, which are likely or 
certain to be incurred and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
For example the Council may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the 
requirement to make a settlement or pay compensation. 
 
Provisions are charged to the appropriate service in the year that the Council becomes 
aware of the obligation, based on the best estimate of the amount that might be paid. When 
payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision set up in the Balance 
Sheet. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each financial year and where it is apparent 
that it is no longer needed or the amount needs to be changed, then amounts are either 
credited back to revenue or additional sums charged to revenue to increase the provision. 
 
Details of each provision are included in Notes to the Accounting Statements. 
 
26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
Where there is a possible obligation to make a payment, but the amount and timing is not 
certain, no entry is required to be made in the accounts.  However, for each class of 
contingent liability which the Council has the following commentary has been included in 
the notes to the Accounting Statements: 

• the nature of the contingency 
• a brief description 
• an estimate of the financial effect (where appropriate)  
• an indication of the issues relating to the amount and level of certainty of any 

payment  
 
 
27. CONTINGENT ASSETS 
 
Contingent assets occur where a possible asset arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the Council. No entry is required to be made in the accounts.   
However, for each class of contingent asset which the Council has, the following 
information has been included in the notes to the Accounting Statements: 

• a commentary on the nature of the contingency 
• a brief description 
• an estimate of the financial effect (where appropriate) 

Page 87



 
• an indication of the issues relating to the amount and level of certainty of any receipt. 

 
28. LOCAL TAXATION AND BIDs 
 
The Council is a billing authority for the district, collecting Council Tax and Business Rates 
on behalf of itself, the County Council (including fire service), Cumbria Police and Crime 
Commissioner and Central Government. Under statute these transactions are managed 
through the ‘Collection Fund’. In line with agency accounting, the Council only recognises 
its own share of income and expenditure and the Collection Fund balance sheet. 
 
Statute sets out the income and expenditure to be charged against the General Fund in 
the year; this will equal the approved Council Tax precept and budgeted level of retained 
business rates, including shares of prior year surpluses or deficits. The income recognised 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is on an accrued basis and so 
includes the Council’s share of any in year surplus or deficit. Any difference to the statutory 
amounts will be reversed out to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account, through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The Council also collects the ‘BID levy’ from ratepayers within the Kendal and Ulverston 
Business Improvement Districts. This is on an agency basis and so these amounts are 
excluded from the Council’s income and expenditure. 
 

Page 88



 

Appendix 2 
 
The purpose of this appendix is to set out the changes introduced by IFRS 16 Leases for 
the 2022/23 accounts 

 
The introduction of IFRS 16 Leases for Local Authorities has been delayed by The 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) and Local Authority 
(Scotland) Accounts Advisor Committee (LASSAC) until the financial year 2022/23, 
bringing it in line with the Governments Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB) to 
establish a new effective date of 1 April 2022. 
 
IFRS 16 details the accounting and disclosure requirements for leases, which is defined in 
the standard and adapted for public sector adoption as: 
 
“A contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time” 
 
The main changes are as follows: 
 

1. The removal from the previous definition of the words “for consideration”, therefore 
we now need to consider all leases for a peppercorn or nil consideration.  
 

2. Where the Council is the lessee, we lease an asset in, any leases over 364 days 
will be classed as a finance lease and will need to go on to the balance sheet as a 
right of use asset with a corresponding lease liability.  

 
3. For properties on a finance lease, we will need to add them to the annual property 

valuation exercise for the Statement of Accounts 

 
4. There are a number of exemptions to 2., but where these are applied we still need 

to keep records for audit purposes and to inform the new lease disclosure notes. 

 
The impact of these changes are: 
 

- We have currently identified over 40 Peppercorn or nil consideration leases to 
consider. 
 

- The Council currently has no leases that meet the current criteria for finance leases 
but the change in rules will mean that current leases will likely change to finance 
leases. 

 
- We have identified that we need to collate over 50 data points on each lease to 

make the determination and carryout the necessary accounting for the leases. A 
template has been produced to assist with the data collection exercise and this will 
form the basis of a register of leases in to be held by finance and updated regularly 
throughout the year. 

 
- Finance leases introduce new debt on to the balance sheet in the form of a lease 

liability. As per the Finance Procedure Rules all debt needs to be signed off by the 
Chief Financial Officer, therefore updates to the Finance Procedure Rules have 

Page 89



 

been proposed in the Review of Financial Procedure Rules report also on this 
agenda. 

 
- The addition of finance leases on to our balance sheet will affect the Prudential and 

Treasury Management indicators on debt. These need to be set by Council prior to 
the start of the finance year to which they will apply. As a result we need to 
understand what the likely lease liability for 2022/23 will be before 1st April 2022 so 
that we can ensure the Council has set the correct Operational Limit and Authorised 
Limit for borrowing or it could affect our ability to borrow in 2022/23.  

 
- New policies and procedures for leasing need to be created to ensure that we 

comply with IFRS 16 and provide a workable process for the Council’s officers. This 
is currently being identified and worked up and will be presented to an Audit 
committee meeting in 2022. 

 
Members of the finance team are currently working on ensuring the Council complies with 
these upcoming changes to leases and a data gathering exercise is being launched in 
December alongside training to council officers in general and targeted at those that deal 
with leasing in assets. 
 
Work is also ongoing with the property services team on leases where the Council is the 
Lessor, which is where the council lease property assets out.  
 
The scale of this change means that there is a significant risk of the 2022/23 statement of 
accounts being materially misstated as a result of the application of leasing standard. 
Therefore external assistance and guidance is being considered to help ensure we comply 
completely with the requirements of IFRS 16. We have identified an underspend on 
external audit fees against budget arising from the receipt of a one off grant this year to 
help us fund this support. 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee: 8 December 2021 

Council: 14 December 2021 

Decision to Opt-in to the National Scheme for Audit 
Appointments 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Section 151 Officer 

Report Author: Helen Smith – Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

Wards:  (All Wards) 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

Links to Council Plan Priorities: This report has no direct links to Council Plan Priorities: 
opt-in to the national scheme may prevent the requirement to independently appoint auditors, 
which would potentially require diversion of resources from delivery of Council Plan Priorities. 

Working across boundaries –N/A 

Delivering a balanced community –N/A 

A fairer South Lakeland –N/A 

Addressing the climate emergency –N/A 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

1.1 This report will ensure the efficient appointment of external auditors, if required, for the 
period covering the accounts from 1 April 2023. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

 (1) recommend to Council that the Council accepts Public Sector Audit 
Appointments’ invitation to opt into the sector-led option for the appointment of 
external auditors to principal local government and police bodies for five 
financial years from 1 April 2023. 

2.2 It is recommended that Council:- 

 (1) accept Public Sector Audit Appointments’ invitation to opt into the sector-led 
option for the appointment of external auditors to principal local government 
and police bodies for five financial years from 1 April 2023. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The current auditor appointment arrangements cover the period up to and including 
the audit of the 2022/23 accounts. The Council opted into the ‘appointing person’ 
national auditor appointment arrangements established by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments (PSAA) for the period covering the accounts for 2018/19 to 2022/23. 

Page 91

Item No.9



3.2 PSAA is now undertaking a procurement for the next appointing period, covering audits 
for 2023/24 to 2027/28. During autumn 2021 all local government bodies need to make 
important decisions about their external audit arrangements from 2023/24. They have 
options to arrange their own procurement and make the appointment themselves or in 
conjunction with other bodies, or they can join and take advantage of the national 
collective scheme administered by PSAA. 

3.3 Under the Local Government Audit & Accountability Act 2014 (“the Act”), the Council 
is required to appoint an auditor to audit its accounts for each financial year. The 
Council has three options; 

a) To appoint its own auditor, which requires it to follow the procedure set out in 
the Act. 

b) To act jointly with other authorities to procure an auditor following the 
procedures in the Act. 

c) To opt into the national auditor appointment scheme administered by a body 
designated by the Secretary of State as the ‘appointing person’. The body 
currently designated for this role is Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited 
(PSAA). 

In order to opt into the national scheme, a council must make a decision at a meeting 
of the Full Council. 

3.4 It is expected that, as a result of Local Government Reorganisation, this Council will 
cease to exist from 31 March 2023 and therefore will not need to appoint an external 
auditor for 2022/23 onwards.  The decision for external audit for the proposed 
Westmorland and Furness Council will need to be appointed by the new Council, once 
created.  However, it is advised that all councils undergoing reorganisation opt-in under 
this invitation to ensure continuity of external audit cover if, for some reason, the 
implementation of the new unitary authorities is delayed. 

The Appointed Auditor 

3.5 The auditor appointed at the end of the procurement process will undertake the 
statutory audit of accounts and Best Value assessment of the Council in each financial 
year, in accordance with all relevant codes of practice and guidance. The appointed 
auditor is also responsible for investigating questions raised by electors and has 
powers and responsibilities in relation to Public Interest Reports and statutory 
recommendations. 

3.6 The auditor must act independently of the Council and the main purpose of the 
procurement legislation is to ensure that the appointed auditor is sufficiently qualified 
and independent. The auditor must be registered to undertake local audits by the 
Financial Reporting Council (FRC) and employ authorised Key Audit Partners to 
oversee the work. As the report below sets out, there is a currently a shortage of 
registered firms and Key Audit Partners.  Auditors are regulated by the FRC, which will 
be replaced by a new body with wider powers, the Audit, Reporting and Governance 
Authority (ARGA) during the course of the next audit contract. 

3.7 Councils therefore have very limited influence over the nature of the audit services 
they are procuring, the nature and quality of which are determined or overseen by third 
parties. 

 Appointment by the Council itself or jointly 

3.8 The Council may elect to appoint its own external auditor under the Act, which would 
require the Council to; 

a) Establish an independent auditor panel to make a stand-alone appointment. 
The auditor panel would need to be set up by the council itself, and the 

Page 92



members of the panel must be wholly or a majority of independent members 
as defined by the Act. Independent members for this purpose are independent 
appointees, excluding current and former elected members (or officers) and 
their close families and friends. This means that elected members would not 
have a majority input to assessing bids and choosing to which audit firm to 
award a contract for the Council’s external audit. 

b) Manage the contract for its duration, overseen by the Auditor Panel. 

 Alternatively, the Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a 
joint auditor panel. Again, this would need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of 
independent appointees. Further legal advice would be required on the exact 
constitution of such a panel having regard to the obligations of each council under the 
Act and the Council would need to liaise with other local authorities to assess the 
appetite for such an arrangement. 

 The national auditor appointment scheme 

3.9 PSAA is specified as the ‘appointing person’ for principal local government under the 
provisions of the Act and the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. PSAA 
let five-year audit services contracts in 2017 for the first appointing period, covering 
audits of the accounts from 2018/19 to 2022/23. It is now undertaking the work needed 
to invite eligible bodies to opt in for the next appointing period, from the 2023/24 audit 
onwards, and to complete a procurement for audit services. PSAA is a not-for-profit 
organisation whose costs are around 4% of the scheme with any surplus distributed 
back to scheme members. 

3.10 In summary the national opt-in scheme provides the following: 

a) the appointment of a suitably qualified audit firm to conduct audits for each of 
the five financial years commencing 1 April 2023; 

b) appointing the same auditor to other opted-in bodies that are involved in formal 
collaboration or joint working initiatives to the extent this is possible with other 
constraints; 

c) managing the procurement process to ensure both quality and price criteria are 
satisfied. PSAA has sought views from the sector to help inform its detailed 
procurement strategy; 

d) ensuring suitable independence of the auditors from the bodies they audit and 
managing any potential conflicts as they arise during the appointment period; 

e) minimising the scheme management costs and returning any surpluses to 
scheme members; 

f) consulting with authorities on auditor appointments, giving the Council the 
opportunity to influence which auditor is appointed; 

g) consulting with authorities on the scale of audit fees and ensuring these reflect 
scale, complexity, and audit risk; and 

h) ongoing contract and performance management of the contracts once these 
have been let. 

Pressures in the current local audit market and delays in issuing opinions 

3.11 Much has changed in the local audit market since audit contracts were last awarded 
in 2017. At that time the audit market was relatively stable, there had been few changes 
in audit requirements, and local audit fees had been reducing over a long period. 98% 
of those bodies eligible opted into the national scheme and attracted very competitive 
bids from audit firms. The resulting audit contracts took effect from 1 April 2018. 

Page 93



3.12 During 2018 a series of financial crises and failures in the private sector led to 
questioning about the role of auditors and the focus and value of their work. Four 
independent reviews were commissioned by Government: Sir John Kingman’s review 
of the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), the audit regulator; the Competition and 
Markets Authority review of the audit market; Sir Donald Brydon’s review of the quality 
and effectiveness of audit; and Sir Tony Redmond’s review of local authority financial 
reporting and external audit. The recommendations are now under consideration by 
Government, with the clear implication that significant reforms will follow. A new audit 
regulator (ARGA) is to be established, and arrangements for system leadership in local 
audit are to be introduced. Further change will follow as other recommendations are 
implemented. 

3.13 The Kingman review has led to an urgent drive for the FRC to deliver rapid, measurable 
improvements in audit quality. This has created a major pressure for audit firms to 
ensure full compliance with regulatory requirements and expectations in every audit 
they undertake. By the time firms were conducting 2018/19 local audits during 2019, 
the measures they were putting in place to respond to a more focused regulator were 
clearly visible. To deliver the necessary improvements in audit quality, firms were 
requiring their audit teams to undertake additional work to gain deeper levels of 
assurance. However, additional work requires more time, posing a threat to the firms’ 
ability to complete all their audits by the target date for publication of audited accounts. 
Delayed opinions are not the only consequence of the FRC’s drive to improve audit 
quality. Additional audit work must also be paid for. As a result, many more fee 
variation claims have been needed than in prior years. 

3.14 This situation has been accentuated by growing auditor recruitment and retention 
challenges, the complexity of local government financial statements and increasing 
levels of technical challenges as bodies explore innovative ways of developing new or 
enhanced income streams to help fund services for local people. These challenges 
have increased in subsequent audit years, with Covid-19 creating further significant 
pressure for finance and audit teams. 

3.15 None of these problems is unique to local government audit. Similar challenges have 
played out in other sectors, where increased fees and disappointing responses to 
tender invitations have been experienced during the past two years. 

 The invitation 

3.16 PSAA is now inviting the Council to opt in for the second appointing period, for 2023/24 
to 2027/28, along with all other eligible authorities. Based on the level of opt-ins it will 
enter into contracts with appropriately qualified audit firms and appoint a suitable firm 
to be the Council’s auditor.  

The next audit procurement 

3.17 The prices submitted by bidders through the procurement will be the key determinant 
of the value of audit fees paid by opted-in bodies. PSAA will: 

a) seek to encourage realistic fee levels and to benefit from the economies of 
scale associated with procuring on behalf of a significant number of bodies; 

b) continue to pool scheme costs and charge fees to opted-in bodies in 
accordance with the published fee scale as amended following consultations 
with scheme members and other interested parties (pooling means that 
everyone within the scheme will benefit from the prices secured via a 
competitive procurement process – a key tenet of the national collective 
scheme); 

c) continue to minimise its own costs, around 4% of scheme costs, and as a not-
for-profit company will return any surplus funds to scheme members. In 2019 it 

Page 94



returned a total £3.5m to relevant bodies and in 2021 a further £5.6m was 
returned. 

 

3.18 PSAA will seek to encourage market sustainability in its procurement. Firms will be 
able to bid for a variety of differently sized contracts so that they can match their 
available resources and risk appetite to the contract for which they bid. They will be 
required to meet appropriate quality standards and to reflect realistic market prices in 
their tenders, informed by the scale fees and the supporting information provided about 
each audit. Where regulatory changes are in train which affect the amount of audit 
work suppliers must undertake, firms will be informed as to which developments should 
be priced into their bids. 

3.19 The scope of a local audit is fixed. It is determined by the Code of Audit Practice 
(currently published by the National Audit Office), the format of the financial statements 
(specified by CIPFA/LASAAC) and the application of auditing standards regulated by 
the FRC. These factors apply to all local audits irrespective of whether an eligible body 
decides to opt into PSAA’s national scheme or chooses to make its own separate 
arrangements. The requirements are mandatory; they shape the work auditors 
undertake and have a bearing on the actual fees required. 

3.20 There are currently nine audit providers eligible to audit local authorities and other 
relevant bodies under local audit legislation. This means that a local procurement 
exercise would seek tenders from the same firms as the national procurement 
exercise, subject to the need to manage any local independence issues. Local firms 
cannot be invited to bid. Local procurements must deliver the same audit scope and 
requirements as a national procurement, reflecting the auditor’s statutory 
responsibilities. 

 Assessment of options  

3.21 If the Council did not opt in, and there was a delay in the creation of the new unitary 
authorities beyond 1 April 2023, there would be a need to establish an independent 
auditor panel to make a stand-alone appointment. The auditor panel would need to be 
set up by the Council itself, and the members of the panel must be wholly or a majority 
of independent members as defined by the Act. Independent members for this purpose 
are independent appointees, excluding current and former elected members (or 
officers) and their close families and friends. This means that elected members would 
not have a majority input to assessing bids and choosing to which audit firm to award 
a contract for the Council’s external audit. 

3.22 Alternatively, the Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a 
joint auditor panel. Again, this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of 
independent appointees. Further legal advice would be required on the exact 
constitution of such a panel having regard to the obligations of each Council under the 
Act and the Council would need to liaise with other local authorities to assess the 
appetite for such an arrangement. 

3.23 These would be more resource-intensive processes to implement for the Council, and 
without the bulk buying power of the sector-led procurement would be likely to result 
in a more costly service. It would also be more difficult to manage quality and 
independence requirements through a local appointment process. The Council is 
unable to influence the scope of the audit and the regulatory regime inhibits the 
Council’s ability to affect quality. 

3.24 Opting-into the national offer provides the appointment of an independent auditor with 
limited administrative cost to the Council. By joining the scheme, the Council would be 

Page 95



acting with other councils to optimise the opportunity to influence the market that a 
national procurement provides. 

 

3.25 Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 requires that a 
decision to opt in must be made by a meeting of the Council (meeting as a whole).  
The Council then needs to respond formally to PSAA’s invitation in the form specified 
by PSAA by the close of the opt-in period (11 March 2022).  PSAA will commence the 
formal procurement process in early February 2022. It expects to award contracts in 
August 2022 and will then consult with authorities on the appointment of auditors so 
that it can make appointments by the statutory deadline of 31 December 2022. 

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

None 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 Cumbria Chief Finance Officers have considered the advice from PSAA that all existing 
Councils should consider opt-in to this exercise as a contingency against delay in 
creating the new unitary authorities for Cumbria. 

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 There are no practical alternative options. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 It is likely that current external audit fee levels will increase when the current contracts 
end. It is clear that the scope of audit has increased, requiring more audit work. There 
are also concerns about capacity and sustainability in the local (external) audit market.  
Opting into a national scheme provides maximum opportunity to ensure fees are as 
realistic as possible, while ensuring the quality of audit is maintained, by entering into 
a large-scale collective procurement arrangement.  If the national scheme is not used, 
additional resource would be needed to establish an auditor panel and conduct a local 
procurement.  Until a procurement exercise is completed, it is not possible to state 
what additional funds may be required for audit fees from 2023/24. 

Human Resources 

7.2 This report has no direct human resource implications. 

Legal 

7.3 The relevant legislation is the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the 
subordinate Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. Under the provisions 
the Council is obliged to: 

- appoint a local auditor to audit its accounts for a financial year not later than 31 
December in the preceding year 

- follow the process contained therein 

- allocate the appointment as a function of Council 

Through the Act and the Regulations, the Secretary of State has appointed PSAA as 
the appointing person for the purposes of the audit function. Through the proposal to 
accept Public Sector Audit Appointments’ invitation to opt into the sector-led option for 
the appointment of external auditors, the Council will be meeting its legal requirement 
with regards to the appointment of a local auditor as a result of the above legal 
framework. 

Page 96



The process detailed within the report that will be taken by PSAA to appoint the 
provider will comply with the procurement requirements and is therefore considered a 
compliant route of appointment in procurement terms. 

7.3.1 The continuity of the arrangements for external audit is a matter that will be raised at 
the inaugural Shadow Authority meeting. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

7.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No    

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: the 
proposals are a contingency proposal to ensure continuity of cover for external audit: 
there are no direct health and sustainability implications arising from the report. 

7.6 Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts 

 Positive Neutral Negative Unknown 

Environment 
and Health 

Greenhouse gases 
emissions 

   X 

 Air Quality    X 

 Biodiversity    X 

 Impacts of Climate 
Change 

   X 

 Reduced or zero 
requirement for energy, 
building space, materials 
or travel 

   X 

 Active Travel    X 

Economy and 
Culture 

Inclusive and sustainable 
development 

   X 

 Jobs and levels of pay    X 

 Healthier high streets    X 

 Culture, creativity and 
heritage 

   X 

Housing and 
Communities 

Standard of housing    X 

 Access to housing    X 

 Crime    X 

 Social connectedness    X 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No    

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: the 
proposals are a contingency proposal to ensure continuity of cover for external audit: 
there are no direct equality implications arising from the report. 

7.9 Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts 

 

Page 97



Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X” 

Age P  0 X N  

Disability P  0 X N  

Gender reassignment (transgender) P  0 X N  

Marriage & civil partnership P  0 X N  

Pregnancy & maternity P  0 X N  

Race/ethnicity P  0 X N  

Religion or belief P  0 X N  

Sex/gender P  0 X N  

Sexual orientation P  0 X N  

Armed forces families P  0 X N  

Rurality P  0 X N  

Socio-economic disadvantage P  0 X N  

 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

That the Council fails to appoint 

an auditor in accordance with the 

requirements and timing 

specified in local audit legislation 

Reputational damage and 

additional costs to carry out 

separate exercise 

To opt-in to the sector-led 

approach through PSAA 

That the Council fails to achieve 

value for money in the appointing 

process 

Additional expenses 

incurred 

To opt-in to the sector-led 

approach through PSAA 

Contact Officers 

Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer), 01539 793147, 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

None 
 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Section 151 Officer 26/11/2021 Report from the S151 
Officer 

Monitoring Officer 26/11/2021 29/11/2021 

CMT 26/11/2021 (email) 29/11/2021 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist N/A 

Human Resources Lead Specialist N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Page 98



Circulated to Date sent 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 08/12/2021 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council 14/12/2021 

 

 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



South Lakeland District Council 
Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 8 December 2021 
Review of Financial Procedure Rules 

 
Portfolio:   Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder 
Report from:  Section 151 Officer 
Report Author: Claire Read  – Finance Specialist, Helen Smith Finance Lead Specialist 

(Section 151 Officer) 
Wards:  (All Wards); 
Forward Plan: Not applicable 
Links to Council Plan Priorities: Good governance arrangements link to the Council’s 
achievements of its Council Plan priorities and objectives. 
 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 
1.1 This report is presented to enable Audit Committee to consider the results of a review 

of Financial Procedure Rules. It includes recommendations to clarify existing rules and 
introduce new rules 

2.0 Recommendation 
2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

(1) consider and refers to Council for approval the recommended 
amendments to the Finance Procedure Rules contained within this 
report. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 
3.1 The Audit Committee Work Programme for 2020/21 includes a review of the Council’s 

Constitution. This review concentrates on the Financial Procedure Rules which have 
a direct impact on the financial controls of the Council. It also feeds into the Monitoring 
Officers review of the Constitution. 

3.2  The review has identified four areas that require further clarification or updating they 
are: 

3.2.1 Useable Earmarked Reserves – update 10.9 to clarify that the transfer limit is for the 
year not the transfer. As below: 
10.9  Following consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, the responsible 

Operational or Specialist Lead shall be entitled to transfer budgets from any 
one service to a reserve or from a reserve to a service up to a maximum limit 
of £60,000 per transfer per annum providing the use or contribution is for the 
purpose for which the reserve was established. The Cabinet shall be entitled 
to transfer budgets to and from any reserve up to a limit of £100,000 per transfer 
providing the use or contribution is for the purpose for which the reserve was 
established. Beyond these limits, approval to transfers can only be given by full 
Council. 

Page 101

Item No.10



3.2.2 Updates to 22. External Arrangements (partnerships, External Funding Arrangements 
and Work for Third Parties) are included in the review of the local code elsewhere on 
the agenda. If implemented this will result in changes here but we are still developing 
these. 

3.2.3 Investments, Borrowings, Leasing and Trust Funds – update 24.7 for new leasing 
requirements  
24.7  The Chief Finance Officer shall seek and accept tenders for leasing facilities 

for the acquisition of assets where this is an appropriate method of financing 
subject to consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder(s) and Director(s). 
Operational and Specialist Leads, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer 
or their deputy must determine whether leasing is the most appropriate method 
of financing an asset before going out to procurement and this must be signed 
off by the Chief Finance Officer before procurement commences, as entering 
into a lease is considered debt financing 

24.8 The Chief Finance Officer will maintain a register of all leases into the 
organisation. It is the responsibility of Operational and Specialist Leads to 
provide the Chief Finance Officer with the necessary information to ensure this 
is comprehensive and up-to-date. 

3.2.4 Insurances – update to section 30, to update rules for settling claims 
30.1  The Chief Finance Officer shall effect all insurance cover, where appropriate 

by competitive tendering, and negotiate and settle all claims in consultation 
with appropriate Operational or Specialist Lead and the Monitoring Officer 
where necessary.  

30.2  The process for the insurers settling claims will be agreed with the Monitoring 
Officer and the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with appropriate 
Operational or Specialist Lead, will approve settlement of claims under 
£10,000 and where claims exceed £10,000 the Chief Finance Officer will also 
need to agree the settlement. 

30.3 Operational and Specialist Leads shall notify the Chief Finance Officer 
immediately of all new risks, properties or vehicles which may require to be 
insured and of any alterations affecting existing insurances.  

30.43  Operational and Specialists Leads shall forthwith notify the Chief Finance 
Officer in writing of any loss, liability or damage or any event likely to lead to 
any claim against the Council.  

30.54  All appropriate employees of the Council shall be included in a suitable fidelity 
guarantee insurance.  

30.65  The Chief Finance Officer shall annually, or at such other period as is 
considered necessary, review the level of risk and external insurance in 
consultation with the appropriate Operational or Specialist Lead. 

3.2.5 Following final approval by Council the above sections of the Financial Procedure 
Rules will be updated in the Council’s Constitution. 

 
4.0 Consultation 
4.1 The Chief Financial Officer and the Monitoring Officer have been consulted on these 

proposals. The Constitutional Working Group have also received the draft report and 
any comments will be reported to the meeting. 

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 It is good practice to regularly review the Constitution. The recommended changes 

give a balance between operational efficiency and strong internal control  

Page 102



6.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
6.1 This report has no direct financial implications. The proposals clarify existing rules. 
Human Resources 
6.2 This report has no direct human resources implications 
Legal 
6.3 The Constitution is a living document and the changes are considered to be required 

to clarify roles and responsibilities and address new requirements.  
Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 
6.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment?  
6.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 

update of the finance and contract procedure rules have no direct HSEE implications 
6.6 Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts: N/A 
Equality and Diversity 
6.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No    
6.8 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: The 

update of the finance and contract procedure rules have no direct equality and 
diversity implications 

6.9 Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts: N/A 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

Failure to review Constitution 

 

 

Failure to have effective 
delegations to officers in place 

Potential failings in the 
internal controls contained 
within the Constitution 

Potential Delays in 
Decision Making 

A thorough review and 
assessment based on 
external guidance 

Contact Officers 
Claire Read, Finance Specialist, 01539 793152, Claire.Read@southlakeland.gov.uk 
Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist, 01539 793147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk  
Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Council’s Constitution https://tinyurl.com/87jat8au  

Tracking Information 
Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 
Section 151 Officer 23/11/2021 *** (to be completed by 

S.151 Officer or Deputy) 
Monitoring Officer 23/11/2021 23/11/2021  
CMT 23/11/2021 *** (report author to 

include date approved by 
CMT) 

 

Page 103

mailto:Claire.Read@southlakeland.gov.uk
mailto:h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk
https://tinyurl.com/87jat8au


Circulated to Date sent 
Lead Specialist N/A 
Human Resources Lead Specialist N/A 
Communications Team N/A 
Leader N/A 
Committee Chairman N/A 
Portfolio Holder N/A 
Ward Councillor(s) N/A 
Committee 08/12/2021 
Executive (Cabinet) N/A 
Council N/A 

 

Page 104



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 8 December 2021 

Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Section 151 Officer 

Report Author: Helen Smith – Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

Links to Council Plan Priorities:  

Working across boundaries – Officers work nationally to identify and combat fraud and other 
economic crimes. 

Delivering a balanced community –N/A 

A fairer South Lakeland – Deterring and identifying fraud will help provide a fairer South 
Lakeland 

Addressing the climate emergency –N/A 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

1.1 This report presents the results of the Audit Committee’s annual review of the Council’s 
Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and provides statistical data on cases where 
sources of information indicated that fraudulent activity might be occurring. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

(1) note the review of the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 
(Appendix 1) and the Anti-Money Laundering Policy (Appendix 3);  

(2) request Council approve the Counter Fraud Strategy 2021-2024 and the 
-Tax Evasion Policy Procedures and Reporting Arrangements; 

(3) note the review against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the 
Risk of Fraud and Corruption Counter-Fraud Assessment Tool and 
Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 2020 Checklist; and  

(4) note the anti-fraud activity. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Audit Committee Work Programme for 2021/22 includes an annual review of the 
Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy.  This policy links very closely with the 
Whistleblowing Policy, which is normally reviewed biennially and will be reported to the 
next meeting of Audit Committee.   

3.2 There are a large number of bodies involved in anti-fraud activity. Officers monitor 
surveys and recommended good practice from many sources including: 

Page 105

Item No.11



 the Cabinet Office, who run the National Fraud Initiative(NFI),  

 the National Crime Agency,  

 the Counter Fraud Centre, run by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA)  

 the Institution of Revenues, Rating and Valuation (IRRV), 

 Department of Work and Pensions (DWP)/Single Fraud Investigation Service 
(SFIS), 

 National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) 

 Lancashire fraud manager group. 

Policies and Procedures 

3.3 The Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy (Appendix 1) forms part of the 
Council’s Policy Framework. The last review of the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and 
Corruption Policy was by Audit Committee in September 2019 with minor 
amendments made to reflect new job titles and roles arising from Phase 1 of 
Customer Connect.  No further amendments are proposed. 

3.4 In June 2019 the Government published its first Economic Crime Plan and included 
fraud and corruption in the definition: “economic crime refers to a broad category of 
activity involving money, finance or assets, the purpose of which is to unlawfully 
obtain a profit or advantage for the perpetrator or cause loss to others.” It includes 
criminal activity which: 

 • allows criminals to benefit from the proceeds of their crimes or fund further 
criminality 

 • damages the UK financial system and harms the interests of legitimate business 

 • undermines the integrity of the UK’s position as an international financial centre 

 • poses a risk to the UK’s prosperity, national security and reputation 

 However, the terms ‘fraud’ and ‘corruption’ have been retained while recognising that 
they are part of a wider agenda.  

3.5 CIPFA produced a new Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption in October 2014.  Guidance notes on the implementation of the code were 
published in December 2014 and a Counter-Fraud Assessment Tool was been 
produced and is included at Appendix 4.   

3.6 The Council’s Fraud Specialist prepared fraud and corruption risk assessments with 
operational managers and action plans for all Council services.  These risk 
assessments was used to inform the production of a draft Counter Fraud Strategy, 
incorporating an action plan, which was approved by Audit Committee in December 
2017.  This strategy has now been updated to reflect new job roles and completion of 
tasks and is attached at Appendix 2.   

3.7 The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on 
the Payer) Regulations 2017 (MLR 2017) came into force on 26 June 2017 and 
implement the EU’s 4th Directive on Money Laundering.  They improve upon and plug 
certain gaps in the Money Laundering Regulations 2007 and the Transfer of Funds 
(Information on the Payer) Regulations 2007 which they replace.  Councils now are 
obliged to adopt a more risk-based approach towards anti-money laundering.  The 
Anti-Money Laundering Policy (Appendix 3) was approved by Audit Committee in 
December 2017 and was updated in September 2019 for new job roles and titles.  No 
further amendments are proposed. 

Page 106



New Policy: Tax Evasion 

3.8 Part 3 of the Criminal Finances Act 2017 took effect on the 30 September 2017. It 
created two corporate offences, one relating to the evasion of UK tax and one 
relating to the evasion of foreign tax. The legislation is very widely drawn and can 
apply to the evasion of any tax, including indirect and employment taxes, anywhere in 
the world. Any UK business, be it a UK corporate or a foreign corporate doing 
business in the UK, will be within the scope of both offences, including Local 
Authorities. The corporate entity will have a strict liability under criminal law for failing 
to prevent the facilitation of tax evasion by one of its ‘associates’. An ‘associated 
person’ includes: 

a) An employee of the corporate entity; 

b) An agent of the corporate entity; 

c) Any other 'person' (individual or corporate) who performs services for or on 
behalf of the corporate entity including contractors, subcontractors, 
suppliers, and other parties in the supply chain etc. 

3.9 If the corporate entity fails to prevent its employees, workers, agents, or service 
providers facilitating tax evasion, the corporate entity can face prosecution and could 
lead to: 

i) An unlimited fine; 

ii) Public record of the conviction; 

iii) Significant reputational damage and adverse publicity. 

3.10 This legislation is very similar to the Bribery Act 2010, where a corporate offence 
exists when a corporate entity has failed to prevent bribery.  The corporate entity can 
defend its position, if it can prove that ‘reasonable prevention procedures’ are in 
place. Following the Act coming into effect, the Government provided guidance 
suggesting six guiding principles can form a defence, namely: 

1) Risk assessment; 

2) Proportionality of risk-based prevention procedures; 

3) Top level commitment; 

4) Due diligence; 

5) Communication (including training); 

6) Monitoring and review 

3.11 The Council has controls in place within its processes and systems to prevent and 
identify tax evasion. In addition, Internal Audit periodically undertake audits of areas 
which are at risk of tax evasion. There is no suggestion that the Council tolerates tax 
evasion, or that staff have engaged in such behaviour; however, in recent times the 
corporate criminal offence of facilitating tax evasion has featured more highly on the 
agenda of corporate entities, including Local Authorities, as HMRC have stated they 
have started investigating offences (believed to be in the private sector). Therefore, 
to strengthen the Council’s defence, and in line with best practice advise and other 
Local Authorities agreeing a formal policy, work has been carried out to assess the 
risk to the Council and formalise the Council’s stance in a formal policy (Appendix 
4).  If Audit Committee agree the draft policy it should be referred to Council for full 
approval: although not explicitly part of the Budget and Policy Framework it is of 
similar importance as the other fraud policies which are part of the Budget and Policy 
Framework. 

Page 107



 Assessment 

3.12 The Local Government counter fraud and corruption strategy, Fighting Fraud & 
Corruption Locally, has been updated in 2020 and sets out a strategy for the 2020s.  
The report builds on earlier versions of Fighting Fraud Locally and developments 
such as the Serious and Organised Crime Strategy and the UK Anti-Corruption Plan.  
By using the strategy local authorities will: 

a. develop and maintain a culture in which fraud and corruption are 
unacceptable 

b. understand the harm that fraud can do in the community 

c. understand their fraud risk 

d. prevent fraud more effectively 

e. use technology to improve their response 

f. share information and resources more effectively 

g. better detect fraud loss 

h. bring fraudsters to account more quickly and efficiently 

i. improve the recovery of losses 

j. protect those at risk. 

 The report acknowledges that local authorities have made significant progress in 
tackling fraud by acknowledging and understanding the risks they face and by 
collaborating, making more use of technology and information sharing to prevent 
fraud.  The report highlights the changing ways in which fraudsters target existing 
areas of vulnerability.  Fraud prevention rather than just fraud detection will need to 
become an increasingly important part of the overall strategic response of councils to 
fraud. 

  Activity 

3.13 The Council employs a corporate specialist for anti-fraud who works closely with both 
revenues and benefits staff and finance staff in tackling fraud.  This corporate role has 
also been involved in raising the profile of anti-fraud and corruption in the authority.  
This has included attending team meetings, briefing operational managers and 
reviewing policies and practices across the Council to ensure consistency of practice.  
Fraud risk assessments have been prepared, which helps to direct her activity to key 
risk areas and has helped change procedures to reduce opportunity for fraud.  
Compulsory fraud awareness training has been introduced for all new staff as part of 
the corporate induction process. 

3.14 The policy requires a central log to be kept of all reported cases of fraud and 
whistleblowing by the Finance Lead Specialist, which will be reported periodically to 
the Audit Committee.  The attached analysis in Appendix 6 summarises the work 
undertaken and the outcome of investigations excluding National Fraud Initiative “NFI” 
investigations.  The Council is also working with South Lakes Housing to review all 
applications for Right-to-Buy as this has been identified nationally as an area of high 
risk and high value.  

3.15 The National Fraud Initiative matches electronic data within and between public and 
private sector bodies to prevent and detect fraud.  This includes police authorities, 
local probation boards, fire and rescue authorities as well as local councils and a 
number of private sector bodies.  There are now two separate NFI matching 
exercises: one is a biannual process including benefits, housing, licensing, employee 
and insurance data which required the submission of data in October 2020.  The 

Page 108



second exercise concerns Council Tax single person discounts and the electoral 
register which is conducted biannually when there is no full NFI exercise at the same 
time that the electoral register is finalised in December.  The Council’s Fraud 
Specialist leads on both the submission of data and the processing of matches for 
the NFI. 

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 

2 Counter Fraud Strategy 2021-2024 

3 Anti-Money Laundering Policy  

4 Anti-Tax Evasion Policy Procedures and Reporting Arrangements 

5 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption Counter-Fraud Assessment Tool 

6 Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 2020 Checklist 

7 Fraud activity (to follow) 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 Officers have reviewed best practice relating to anti-bribery, fraud and corruption.   

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 It is good practice to have an Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy, Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy and Anti-Tax Evasion policies. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 This report has no direct financial implications.  Effective anti-fraud procedures 
minimise the likelihood of financial losses through fraud. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no direct human resources implications of this report. 

Legal 

7.3 There is a criminal offence of failing to prevent bribery under the Bribery Act 2010 and 
if convicted an organisation can be liable to an unlimited fine. Therefore the review of 
this policy and compliance has an important role in minimising the risks to the Council 
arising from this legislation. 

7.3.1 As set out in paragraphs 3.8 to 3.11, Part 3 of the Criminal Finances Act 2017 took 
effect on the 30 September 2017. It created two corporate offences, one relating to the 
evasion of UK tax and one relating to the evasion of foreign tax. The legislation is very 
widely drawn and can apply to the evasion of any tax, including indirect and 
employment taxes, anywhere in the world. Any UK business, be it a UK corporate or a 
foreign corporate doing business in the UK, will be within the scope of both offences, 
including Local Authorities. The corporate entity will have a strict liability under criminal 
law for failing to prevent the facilitation of tax evasion by one of its ‘associates’.  

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

7.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No    

Page 109



7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
review of the anti-fraud policy has no direct HSEE implications. 

7.6 Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts 

 Positive Neutral Negative Unknown 

Environment 
and Health 

Greenhouse gases 
emissions 

   X 

 Air Quality    X 

 Biodiversity    X 

 Impacts of Climate 
Change 

   X 

 Reduced or zero 
requirement for energy, 
building space, materials 
or travel 

   X 

 Active Travel    X 

Economy and 
Culture 

Inclusive and sustainable 
development 

   X 

 Jobs and levels of pay    X 

 Healthier high streets    X 

 Culture, creativity and 
heritage 

   X 

Housing and 
Communities 

Standard of housing    X 

 Access to housing    X 

 Crime    X 

 Social connectedness    X 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No    

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: The 
review of the anti-fraud policy has no direct Equality and Diversity implications. 

7.9 Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts 

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X” 

Age P  0 X N  

Disability P  0 X N  

Gender reassignment (transgender) P  0 X N  

Marriage & civil partnership P  0 X N  

Pregnancy & maternity P  0 X N  

Race/ethnicity P  0 X N  

Religion or belief P  0 X N  

Page 110



Sex/gender P  0 X N  

Sexual orientation P  0 X N  

Armed forces families P  0 X N  

Rurality P  0 X N  

Socio-economic disadvantage P  0 X N  

 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

Failure to have an Anti-Fraud 
and Corruption Policy in place. 

There will be no high level 
direction to the way in 
which fraudulent or corrupt 
acts are reported, 
investigated or dealt with. 

 

Fraud and corruption will 
not be detected resulting 
in significant losses in 
council finances and bad 
publicity. 

 

Lack of procedures to 
prevent bribery may lead 
to prosecution  

A policy that clearly 
reflects the Council’s 
stance on fraud and 
corruption which acts as a 
deterrent to potential 
fraudsters. 

A policy that clearly 
defines responsibilities 
and the introduction of 
monitoring arrangements 
to highlight high risk areas. 

A policy that clearly 
defines bribery and 
defines responsibilities for 
ensuring ‘adequate 
procedures’ to prevent 
bribery. 

Failure to have effective Anti-
fraud monitoring in place 

Fraud and corruption will 
not be detected resulting 
in significant losses in 
Council finances and bad 
publicity 

A Policy that clearly 
identifies responsibilities 
and monitoring 
arrangements to highlight 
high risk areas. 

Failure to have effective Anti-Tax 

Evasion Policy Procedures and 

Reporting Arrangements in place 

Failure to prevent the 

facilitation of tax evasion 

by an associated person 

could lead to the Council 

facing criminal sanctions 

including an unlimited fine 

and associated 

reputational damage. 

The Council has policies, 

processes and controls in 

place to prevent and 

identify tax evasion by an 

associated person. 

Contact Officers 

Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist, 01539 793147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Page 111



Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Fighting Fraud and Corruption 

Locally 

A strategy for the 2020s 

A reponse to economic crime and 

fraud 

FFCL - Strategy for the 2020s.pdf (local.gov.uk) 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Section 151 Officer 29/11/2021 Report of the S151 Officer 

Monitoring Officer 29/11/2021 30/11/2021 

CMT 29/11/2021 (Email) 30/11/2021 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist N/A 

Human Resources Lead Specialist 29/11/2021 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 08/12/2021 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council 14/12/2021 

 

Page 112

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/FFCL%20-%20Strategy%20for%20the%202020s.pdf


Appendix 1 

 

 

 
 

 

South Lakeland District Council 

Anti-bribery fraud and corruption policy 

Contents 

Policy document ................................................................................................................ 2 

1 Introduction ................................................................................................................. 2 

2 Overview .................................................................................................................... 3 

3 Corporate framework and culture ................................................................................ 4 

4 Prevention and responsibilities .................................................................................... 5 

4.1 Council employees ................................................................................................... 5 

4.2 Members ............................................................................................................. 7 

4.3 Internal Control Systems ...................................................................................... 7 

4.4 Combining with others to prevent and fight fraud.................................................. 8 

5 Reporting, detection and investigation......................................................................... 9 

6 Training and awareness ............................................................................................ 11 

7 Deterrence ................................................................................................................ 12 

8 Review ..................................................................................................................... 12 

9 Conclusions .............................................................................................................. 12 
 

Page 113



2 

 

 

 

Policy document 
 

1 Introduction 
 

1.1 Fraud is one of the fastest growing areas of crime in modern society and residents of 

South Lakeland are entitled to expect that their public funds are secure and handled 

honestly and conduct its affairs with integrity and honesty. South Lakeland District 

Council has a good record in preventing and identifying fraud but cannot afford to be 

complacent. Fraud diverts money away from front line public services and prevention 

and detection of fraud is the responsibility of all staff. South Lakeland District Council 

has a duty to ensure that it safeguards the public money that it is responsible for. In 

carrying out its functions and responsibilities, the Council wishes to promote a culture 

of openness and fairness and expects all those who work and with the Council to 

adopt the highest standards of propriety and accountability. 

1.2 The Council is committed to eliminating all forms of bribery, fraud and corruption by 

having adequate prevention measures in place. All suspicions of bribery, fraud or 

corrupt practise will be investigated and there will be no distinction made in 

investigation and action between those that generate financial benefits and those that 

do not. Any investigation will not compromise the Council’s commitment to Equal 

Opportunities or the requirements of the Human Rights Act. The Council advocates 

strict adherence to its anti-fraud framework. The Council will not tolerate bribery,  

fraud or corruption by its employees, councillors, suppliers, contractors or partners. 

This Policy is intended to provide a clear statement of intent and responsibilities for: 

a) Preventing bribery, fraud and corruption and 

b) The investigation, reporting and handling of alleged irregularities 

This Policy outlines the Council’s commitment to eliminating fraud and corruption, 

whilst creating an anti-fraud culture and maintaining high ethical standards so as to 

protect public money. 

1.3 The Policy is based on a series of comprehensive and inter-related procedures, 

designed to prevent, detect and deter fraud and to take effective action against any 

attempted or actual fraudulent act affecting the Council. These procedures will keep 

pace with any future developments in both preventative and detection techniques 

regarding fraudulent or corrupt activity that may affect the Council’s operations. The 

Policy also satisfies the legislative requirements of having effective arrangements for 

tackling fraud and conforms to professional guidance laid down in the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). 

Page 114



3 

 

 

 

2 Overview 
 

The Council is required to maintain an effective internal audit of its activities, with a 

key role to monitor the effectiveness of internal controls operating within the Council. 

The Internal Audit function is currently provided by TIAA Ltd. 

For ease of understanding this policy is separated into four areas as below 

 Corporate Framework and Culture 

 Prevention and Responsibilities 

 Reporting, Detection and Investigation 

 Awareness and Deterrence 

Fraud is defined in the Fraud Act 2006 as: 

 “the intentional distortion of financial statements or other records by persons 
internal or external to the organisation which is carried out to mislead or 
misrepresent” 

The Fraud Act also sets out a general offence of fraud as follows: 

 “A dishonest act where a perpetrator intends to make a gain for themselves or 
cause loss to another” 

The offence of fraud is defined in three classes. 

 False representation 

 Failing to disclose information 

 Abuse of position 

Corruption is described as “the offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an 

inducement or reward which may influence the action of any person”. 

Under the 2010 Bribery Act, a bribe is 
 

 “An inducement or a reward offered, promised or provided to gain personal, 
commercial, regulatory or contractual advantage” 

There are four criminal offences created by the Bribery Act 2010: 
 

 Bribery of another person (section 1) to induce or reward them to perform a 
function improperly 

 

 Requesting or accepting a bribe (section 2) as a reward for performing a function 
improperly 

 

 Bribing a foreign official (section 6) to gain a business advantage 
 

 Failing to prevent bribery (section 7) 

Page 115



4 

 

 

 

Bribery may not always be monetary and may include gifts or hospitality. The last 

offence is a corporate offence which places responsibility on the Council to put in 

place adequate procedures to prevent bribery. 

Anyone found guilty of an offence under sections 1, 2, or 6 is liable: 

 On conviction in a magistrates court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of 12 

months or to a fine not exceeding £5000 or both 

 On conviction in a crown court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of ten 

years, or to an unlimited fine, or both. 

Organisations found guilty of an offence under section 7 are liable to an unlimited 

fine. 

It is irrelevant whether the request is made directly or through a third party or whether 
the advantage is for the benefit of the person performing the function or for the benefit 
of another person. Employees should always be aware of the possibility they         
may be targeted for attempted bribery. 

 

NOTE: Throughout this policy the term “Fraud” is used generically and 
includes bribery and corruption and this policy covers all of the above. 

 

In addition to the above, the Council also expects the residents of South Lakeland to 
be honest in their dealings with the authority. 

 

3 Corporate framework and culture 

3.1 The prevention and detection of fraud and the protection of public money are 
responsibilities of everyone, both internal and external to the organisation. The 
Council expects that Members and officers at all levels will lead by example in 
ensuring adherence to legal requirement, contracts procedure rules, financial 
procedure rules, codes of conduct and best practice. They are positively encouraged 
to raise any concerns regarding fraud, immaterial of seniority or status in the 
knowledge that any such concerns wherever possible, will be treated in confidence. 

 

3.2 This policy should be read in conjunction with a range of interrelated policies which 
provide a corporate framework to counter fraudulent activity. 

 
 Codes of Conduct for Members and officers [Part 5 of the Constitution of the 

Council] 
 

 A Register of Interests 
 

 Registers of Gifts and Hospitality 
 

 Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules [Part 4 of the 
Constitution of the Council] 

 
 Accounting procedures and records including general procedures for receiving 

income 
 

 Sound internal control systems 

Page 116



5 

 

 

 

 Effective internal audit, currently provided by TIAA Ltd 
 

 Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
 

 Disciplinary Procedure 
 

 Criminal Acts Procedure 
 

 Fraud Investigation Procedures and Guidelines 
 

 Whistleblowing Policy 
 

 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) Procedure 
 

 Training 
 

3.3 The Council believes that the maintenance of a culture of honesty and openness is a 
key element in tackling fraud. The Codes of Conduct for Members and Staff are 
based on the Nolan Principles of Standards in Public Life, these being 

 

 Selflessness 
 

 Integrity 
 

 Objectivity 
 

 Accountability 
 

 Openness 
 

 Honesty 
 

 Leadership 
 

The overall culture supports intolerance stance towards fraud, bribery and corruption. 
Failure to uphold these Codes will be considered as detrimental to the aims of the 
Council and will lead to the appropriate action being taken against those concerned. 

 

4 Prevention and responsibilities 

The Council recognises that incidences of fraud and corruption are costly, both in 
terms of reputational risk and financial losses. The prevention of fraud is therefore a 
key objective of the authority and respective roles and responsibilities are outlined 
below. 

 

4.1 Council employees 

 

4.1.1 A key preventative measure in dealing with fraud is to take effective steps at the 
recruitment stage. These will be to establish, as far as possible, the previous record  
of potential staff, in terms of their honesty and integrity. In this regard, temporary, 
casual and agency staff should be treated in the same manner as permanent officers. 

Page 117



6 

 

 

 

4.1.2 Staff recruitment will be undertaken in accordance with the Council's policies for 
Recruitment and Selection. Whenever possible, written references should be 
obtained regarding the known honesty and integrity of potential members of staff, 
before formal employment offers are made. 

 

4.1.3 For all appointments to posts where the employee will: 
 

 have access to corporate computer systems or 
 

 be required to order goods or authorise invoices or 
 

 be required to handle cash or cheques or 
 

 negotiate contracts for the supply of goods or services 
 

or for any other post which the responsible Director considers appropriate, the 
Council will seek a declaration from applicants that they have not been involved in 
false claims for Housing Benefit and/or Council Tax Discounts. The declaration will 
be sought in respect of successful applications and with their agreement. This 
process will be made clear in recruitment packs. Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) checks are undertaken for employees deemed to be working in appropriate 
roles. 

 

4.1.4 All staff must abide by the Council's Code of Conduct for Officers, which sets out 
requirements on personal conduct. All professional staff are expected to follow the 
codes of conduct laid down by their respective professional institute or trades body. 

 

4.1.5 The Council recognises that staff are often the first line of defence in preventing  
fraud. The Financial Procedure Rules place responsibility for fraud prevention on all 
employees and all employees of the Council have a duty to assist with an 
investigation. They are expected to conduct themselves in ways which are beyond 
reproach, above suspicion and fully accountable. Employees are expected to be 
aware of the possibility that fraud, corruption and theft may exist in the workplace and 
be able to share their concerns with appropriate officers. 

 

4.1.6 The Council has in place disciplinary procedures for all employees and these will be 
used to facilitate a thorough investigation of any allegations of improper behaviour by 
employees. Those found to have committed any acts of misconduct will face 
disciplinary action. Where criminal activity is suspected or found, the matter will be 
referred to the police for investigation and possible prosecution, in accordance with 
the Criminal Acts Procedure. In addition, the Council will pursue recovery for any 
financial loss. 

 

4.1.7 Under the Council's Constitution, staff must be aware of the disclosure of financial 
interests in contracts relating to the Council, or the non-acceptance of any fees, gifts, 
hospitality or any other rewards, other than their proper remuneration. These 
requirements are set out in Part 5 of the Constitution of the Council. 

 

4.1.8 The Council is required to comply with legislation relating to money laundering and 
there is a separate Anti-Money Laundering policy. There is a legal requirement for 
employees to report any financial transactions which could be indicative or criminal 
action to the Section 151 Officer, the Finance Lead Specialist. 

Page 118



7 

 

 

 

4.2 Members 

 

4.2.1 As elected representatives, all Members of the Council have a duty to the residents 
of South Lakeland to protect the Council and public money from any acts of fraud. 
This is done through this policy and through the regulations below. 

 

4.2.2 Members are required to operate within: 
 

 Member Code of Conduct 
 

 Sections 94-96 of the Local Government Act 1972 
 

 Sections 27-34 of the Localism Act 2011 
 

 Part 5 of the Constitution of the Council 
 

4.2.3 These matters and other guidance are specifically brought to the attention of new 
Members at induction courses. They include rules on the declaration of disclosable 
financial and other registerable interests. 

 

4.2.4 Members will face appropriate action under this policy if they are found to have been 
involved in theft, fraud or corruption against the Authority. Action will be taken in 
addition to, or instead of criminal proceedings, depending on the circumstances of 
each individual case but in a consistent manner. 

 

4.2.5 After approving an Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, Members will be expected to 
play an important role through leading by example and being seen to support it. 

 

4.2.6 The Council has in place an Overview and Scrutiny process. Its remit includes the 
review of decisions and actions undertaken by the Council. Any matter arising from 
this process, in which fraud is suspected, can be referred to the Council’s internal 
auditors for independent investigation. 

 

4.2.7 The Council has a Standards Committee, which sets and monitors standards of 
conduct to and examines issues of potential misconduct by Members. 

 

4.3 Internal Control Systems 

 

4.3.1 The Council has Financial and Contract Procedure Rules, Accounting Procedures 
and various rules and codes of conduct in place. Staff are required to comply with 
this best practice when dealing with the Council's affairs. 

 

4.3.2 The Finance Lead Specialist has a statutory responsibility under Section 151 of the 
Local Government Act 1972, to ensure proper arrangements are made for the 
Council's financial affairs. “Proper administration” encompasses all aspects of local 
authority financial management. 

 

4.3.3 In addition, under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Council is required 
to maintain an adequate and effective internal audit of its financial records and 
systems of internal control. 

4.3.4 The Council's aim is to have sound financial systems and procedures, which 
incorporate efficient and effective internal controls. Effective role separation will 
guarantee decisions made are seen to be based upon impartial advice and ensure 

Page 119



8 

 

 

 

that no single individual has complete authority over one transaction. Directors and 
Operational Leads / Lead Specialists are responsible for maintaining effective 
internal controls including the prevention and detection of fraud and other illegal 
acts. The Council’s internal auditors will monitor and report upon these controls. 

 

4.4 Combining with others to prevent and fight fraud 

 

4.4.1 The Council acknowledges that it cannot afford to work in isolation and must liaise 

with other organisations. There are a variety of arrangements in place and these will 

continue to be developed, which facilitate the regular exchange of information 

between the Council and other local authorities and agencies, for the purpose of 

preventing and detecting fraud. These involve national, regional and local networks of 

investigators such as internal auditors, fraud investigators etc. All liaisons are subject 

to observance of Data Protection legislation and due regard to the proper handling of 

confidential information. 

4.4.2 The Council operates to the standards previously set out in the Verification 

Framework (VF) in line with central government initiatives to reduce fraud and error in 

Housing Benefits and Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 

4.4.3 South Lakeland District Council is a member of the National Anti-Fraud Network 

(NAFN) which is a not-for-profit organisation which supports its members in  

protecting the public interest. Key benefits include the gathering of information in full 

compliance with the law from a wide range of information providers in response to 

allegations of fraud and on-going investigations and acting as a hub for the collection, 

collation and circulation of intelligence alerts. 

4.4.4 The Council also undertakes specific initiatives to detect fraud. Examples include 
 

 Data matching both internally and with the Cabinet Office. This is recognised as 

an important tool in the prevention and detection of fraud, and is used by all 

other local authorities. The Audit Commission drew up a Code of Data Matching 

Practice for its National Fraud Initiative (NFI), which is recognised by the 

Information Commissioner as complying with Data Protection legislation. The 

Council contributes to this bi-annual National Fraud Initiative led by the Cabinet 

Office and involves comparing computer records held by one body against other 

computer records held by the same or another body to see how far they match. 

This is usually personal information and computerised data matching allows 

potentially fraudulent claims and payments to be identified. No assumption can 

be made as to whether there is fraud, error or other explanation until an 

investigation is carried out. 

 Data matching via the Housing Benefit Matching Service (HBMS)which identifies 

irregularities in claims for Housing Benefit. 

4.4.5 The Council has also introduced a Benefit Fraud Hotline, to allow members of the 

public to report individuals who are suspected of abusing the benefits system. 

Page 120



9 

 

 

 

5 Reporting, detection and investigation 
 

5.1 It is the responsibility of Directors and Operational Leads/Lead Specialist to 

maintain good control systems and ensure that all staff complies with these 

systems. 

5.2 The Council’s internal auditor, currently TIAA Ltd, has a planned programme to 

undertake a cyclical programme of audits to test for fraud and corruption, based on a 

risk assessment model. This includes liaison with external audit when considering the 

programme of audits. 

5.3 Despite the best efforts of managers and auditors, many frauds are discovered by the 

vigilance of staff or a member of the public and there are procedures in place to 

enable such information to be properly dealt with. In addition, members of the public 

may wish to raise concerns relating to areas of local authority responsibility. In such 

cases there is a requirement within the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules for staff 

to: 

 Report actual or suspected instances of fraud to the Director concerned who 
shall immediately notify the Finance Lead Specialist who shall take such steps 
as he considers necessary by way of investigation 

 The Finance Lead Specialist will consult with the Legal, Governance and 
Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) who will decide whether to 
involve the Police in matters of serious fraud and inform the Leader of the 
Council or appropriate Chairman accordingly. 

5.4 There is a dedicated Verification team responsible for conducting evidence checks in 

line with Verification Framework procedures, the Housing Benefit (General) 

Regulations and the Council Tax Benefit (General) Regulations. 

Evidence checks will include: 

 Identity 

 Residency and rent 

 Household composition 

 Earnings, employed and self- employed 

 Benefits 

 Income 

 Capital 

The Team will also report any allegations of fraud to the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer 

who will carry out initial enquiries and assess the claim for suitability for referral to the 

Department for Works and Pensions investigations team. Risk assessment will be 

undertaken to direct cases to the resources deemed to be the highest risk in terms of 

loss to the public purse. Separate guidelines and Codes of Practice for the 

prosecution of offenders are in place, including a Code of Conduct for Fraud 

investigators and practices for the treatment and questioning of persons and tape 

recording of interviews. 

5.5 Money laundering is the practice whereby criminals attempt to “clean” the proceeds 

of criminal activity by passing it through a legitimate institution. All staff who receive 

Page 121



10 

 

 

 

cash as part of their duties will be vigilant for any unusual transactions that might 

indicate that an attempt is being made to launder money. As an additional safeguard 

receipt of notes, coins or travellers’ cheques will not be accepted over £5,000 for any 

one transaction. Note: A separate Anti-Money Laundering policy refers. 

5.6 Reporting suspected irregularities is essential to the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy 

and ensures: 

 consistent treatment of information regarding fraud and corruption 

 proper investigation by an experienced team 

 the optimum protection of the Council's interests 

Although this document specifically refers to bribery, fraud and corruption, it equally 

applies to any forms of malpractice that can reduce public confidence in the Council 

and its services and may also include acts committed outside of official duties but 

which impact upon the Council’s trust in the individual concerned. As part of the 

culture, the Council will provide clear routes by which concerns can be raised by both 

Members and officers and those outside who are providing using or paying for public 

services. Staff will report any irregularities to the Operational Lead/Lead Specialist 

concerned who will refer all cases to the Head of Internal Audit and to his/her 

director. The Operational Lead/Lead Specialist and the Finance Lead Specialist  will 

determine if an investigation is necessary. The Finance Lead Specialist  will consult 

with the Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) who 

will decide whether to involve the Police in cases where an offence is suspected and 

inform the Leader of the Council or the appropriate Chairman accordingly. Every 

concern raised will be centrally and formally recorded through the Head of Internal 

Audit. Details of all concerns will be periodically reported to the Audit Committee. 

5.7 Depending on the nature and anticipated extent of the allegations, the Finance 

Lead Specialist may involve the Council’s internal auditor who work closely with: 

 Departmental Management 

 Human Resources Group 

 Legal Services 

 Other agencies, such as the Police 

This is to ensure that all allegations and evidence are properly investigated and 

reported upon, and that where appropriate, recoveries are made for the Council. 

5.8 The Council's Whistleblowing Policy provides a clear path for individuals to raise 

concerns of malpractice in any aspect of the Council’s work, without the fear of 

recrimination or victimisation. The Council will take appropriate action to protect any 

individual who has raised a concern in good faith. The Policy deals with the reporting 

of fraud or alleged fraud through formal channels. The Policy also covers making 

disclosures to external bodies if there is an unsatisfactory outcome to a disclosure 

made internally. 

The Fraud Hotline phone facility (01539 793294) is available to staff, suppliers and 

members of the public for raising whistleblowing concerns. All calls will be specifically 

logged, treated confidentially and investigated through the most appropriate means. 

Page 122



11 

 

 

 

5.9 For employees that are suspected of fraud a full investigation under the Council’s 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure will take place. If the individual is found guilty of 

any wrongdoing this could ultimately lead to action taking place including dismissal. It 

should be noted that an allegation does not mean that person or company is guilty of 

any wrong-doing and so they will not be treated as such until the case is proven. 

5.10 Where financial misconduct is discovered relating to employees or Members, or grant 

aided voluntary organisations, the matter may be referred to the Police in accordance 

with the Criminal Acts Procedure. Such decisions are a matter for the Legal, 

Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) in consultation with 

the Finance Lead Specialist and the Director concerned. Referral to the Police will 

not necessarily prohibit action under the disciplinary procedure. 

5.11 The Council's External Auditor, Grant Thornton, also has powers to independently 

investigate bribery fraud and corruption. 

6 Training and awareness 
 

6.1 The Council recognises that the success and credibility of this policy will depend 

largely on how effectively it is communicated throughout the organisation and 

beyond. To this end, appropriate action will be taken to raise awareness levels and 

details of the Policy will be provided to all Members and all staff and be included on 

induction programmes. The Policy will also be shown on the Council’s website and 

be available on the Intranet. 

6.2 The Council supports the concept of induction training, particularly for officers 

involved in internal control systems, to ensure that their responsibilities and duties in 

this respect are regularly highlighted and reinforced. 

6.3 The officers involved in the review of internal control systems and investigative work 

should be properly and regularly trained. Those involved with fraud investigation will 

be required to hold a relevant Counter Fraud qualification and during the course of 

the investigation, the following actions will be taken 

 A fraud log will be maintained, detailing every action taken during the 
investigation, including dates and times that each action undertaken was carried 
out 

 As much documentary evidence as possible will be obtained before any 
interviews are conducted 

 All evidence will be obtained lawfully, properly recorded and retained securely in 
accordance with the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) and the 
Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 

 Fact finding interviews will be conducted during the course of the investigation. If 
at any time during these interviews it becomes clear that a criminal offence may 
have occurred, the fact finding interview will be ended and the interviewee will be 
formally cautioned. The interviewee will then be formally interviewed under 
caution in accordance with PACE. 

6.4 It is the responsibility of Operational Leads/Lead Specialist to communicate the 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy to their staff and to promote a greater 

awareness of fraud within their services. 

Page 123



12 

 

 

 

7 Deterrence 
 

7.1 There are a number of ways in which we seek to deter a bribe or potential fraudsters 

from committing or attempting fraudulent or corrupt acts, whether they are inside or 

outside of the Council, and these include: 

 publicising the fact the Council is firmly set against fraud and corruption and 
states this at every appropriate opportunity, e.g. statements in contracts, on 
claim forms, on the Council’s website and in publicity literature both internal and 
external. 

 acting robustly and decisively when fraud and corruption is suspected and 
proven, to deter others from committing offences against the Authority, e.g. the 
termination of contracts, the dismissal and/or prosecution of offenders 

 taking action to effect the maximum recoveries for the Council, e.g. through 
agreement, court action, penalties, insurance, superannuation etc 

 having sound internal control systems, that still allow for innovation and 
calculated risk, but at the same time minimising the opportunity for fraud and 
corruption. 

8 Review 
 

8.1 This policy will be reviewed at appropriate times in response to procedural and legal 

changes. 

9 Conclusions 
 

9.1 The Council has in place a robust network of systems and procedures to assist it in 

the fight against fraud and corruption and pledges to take all action necessary to 

identify such cases. It is determined that these arrangements will keep pace with any 

future developments in both preventative and detection techniques regarding 

fraudulent or corrupt activity that may affect its operation or related responsibilities. 

To this end, the Council maintains a continuous overview of such arrangements. 

 

9.2 The Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy provides a comprehensive framework 

for preventing and tackling fraudulent and corrupt acts against the authority. The 

approval of the Policy by the full Council demonstrates a commitment to protecting 

public funds and minimising losses to fraud and corruption. Having made this 

commitment, it is imperative that Directors and Assistant Directors put in place 

arrangements for disseminating the Policy and promoting fraud awareness, 

throughout their services. 

 

September 2019: reviewed December 2021 

Page 124



Appendix 2 

Counter Fraud Strategy 2021-2024 

Introduction 

1. South Lakeland District Council has a zero tolerance of fraud and corruption. This is 
confirmed in the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and this Strategy sets out 
the approach being taken to deliver the policy aims and objectives. 

2. Minimising fraud and irregularity is essential, never more so than in times of austerity, 
to ensure that resources intended to provide essential services to South Lakeland 
communities are used for that purpose. Fraud committed against the Council is a 
theft of taxpayers’ money, can cause reputational damage and a loss of confidence 
amongst the public or stakeholders and have an adverse effect on staff morale.  

3. Through effective counter-measures the Council can reduce the risk of error, loss 
and fraud. These include arrangements to acknowledge, deter, prevent, detect, 
investigate and prosecute wrongdoing. 

4. Minimising fraud and irregularity is everyone’s business. Whilst specialist staff have a 
key role, the Council expects the highest standards of probity, propriety and conduct 
from all Members, employees and contractors. This includes a requirement to act 
lawfully and to comply at all times with the Council’s policies and procedures and 
relevant legislation and regulations. 

5. Minimising fraud and irregularity is a continual process. Whilst practical 
arrangements will evolve over time to reflect changes internal and external to the 
organisation, there is a constant need for vigilance and appropriate action to address 
risks. Change arising from financial pressures; growth of alternative models to 
commissioning and service delivery; and continued development of collaborative, 
integrated and joint working require the approach to be regularly reviewed and 
refreshed.  

6. Minimising fraud and irregularity can be complex. The legislative and policy 
framework in relation to counter fraud is extensive including but not limited to; 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 
2013, Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, the Bribery Act 2010 and Money Laundering, 
Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 
2017. This is in addition to the Council Constitution and Codes of Conduct that are 
based on a wide range of other legislation. 

7. To deliver successfully against the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and 
given the scale and pace of change within the organisation the Council’s approach 
and key priorities for the next three years is confirmed in this Strategy. 

Definition 

8. Throughout this document the term fraud and irregularity has been used to refer to 
acts of corruption, fraud, bribery, money laundering, wrongdoing, loss and error. 

Objectives 

9. The key aim of the Counter Fraud Strategy is to ensure that public funds entrusted to 
the Council are protected against fraud and loss. To do these the key objectives of 
this strategy are: 

Acknowledge 

 

Continue development of the ‘anti-fraud’ culture which 
highlights the Council’s zero tolerance of fraud, corruption 
and theft, defines roles and responsibilities and actively 
engages everyone including service users, the public, 
Members, staff, schools, contractors and partners. 

Deter 

Page 125



Appendix 2 

Prevent 

 

Provide a centralised best practice counter fraud service in 
Finance which: 

 Proactively detects error, loss, fraud, corruption and 
theft; 

 Investigates suspected or detected fraud, corruption and 
theft; 

 Enables the Council to apply appropriate sanctions and 
recover losses wherever possible; 

 Works in effective collaboration with services across the 
Council and with partners to support counter fraud 
activity; and 

 Drives action to inform policy, system and control 
improvements, thereby reducing the Council’s exposure 
to fraudulent activity. 

Detect 

 

Investigate 

 

Pursue 

 

10. The effectiveness of this strategy will be subject to annual review, by the Finance 
Lead Specialist, Fraud Specialist, Internal Audit Manager, Section 151 Officer and 
the Audit Committee. 

Scope 

11. This Strategy and associated policies apply to the activities of all Council employees 
and Members. The Council has chosen to extend this Strategy so that it also applies 
to Council engagement with consultants, contractors, suppliers, Council funded 
voluntary bodies and individuals, partners and any other external agencies.  When 
contracting, or working in partnership, with the Council, organisations and individuals 
will be expected to comply with this Strategy and any policies that sit under it. 

Policy Framework for Preventing Fraud and Irregularity 

12. This Strategy is part of the Council’s overall Counter-Fraud Policy Framework and 
should be read in conjunction with the Constitution, Financial Regulations, Human 
Resources Policies, Codes of Conduct for Members and Officers and other related 
policies and procedures. 

13. The Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee include the review of effectiveness 
of anti-fraud and corruption arrangements throughout the Council. To support the 
Audit Committee in this role the Finance Lead Specialist and s151 Officer reports 
annually on the policy framework and in particular the level of fraud detected. The 
Committee, within its Terms of Reference oversee changes to the Counter-Fraud 
Policy Framework. 

14. The key documents comprising the Counter Fraud Policy Framework are: 

a) Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy: identifies a number of key principles 
outlining the overall approach to combating fraudulent activity against the 
Council. 

b) Counter Fraud Strategy: sets out priorities, objectives and actions to respond to 
identified fraud risks. 

c) Whistleblowing Policy: Explains how members, employees, agency staff, 
contractors and members of the public can raise concerns about suspected fraud 
and other malpractice in a confidential manner. 

d) Anti-Money Laundering Policy: Defines the responsibilities of officers in respect of 
the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, Terrorism Act 2000 and the Money Laundering 
Regulations 2017. 

Page 126



Appendix 2 

e) Anti-Tax Evasion Policy Procedures and Reporting Arrangements: Explains how 
officers and others can ensure the Council correctly implements tax 
requirements. 

f) Corporate complaints process: Provides guidance for Council officers to deal with 
complaints within agreed standards. Complaints can be one way in which 
individuals submit concerns and allegations regarding fraud and irregularity. 

g) Guidance on Surveillance under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000: Provides guidance for Council officers on carrying out surveillance.  

h) Fraud Risk Assessment: Sets out the fraud risks facing the Council based on 
events which have occurred, intelligence of events occurring elsewhere and 
issues which may represent a potential future threat. 

Roles and Responsibilities 

15. Leadership for the delivery of the Counter Fraud Strategy resides with the Finance 
Lead Specialist (s151 Officer). 

16. Governance of the strategy and delivery of key responsibilities resides with the 
Finance Lead Specialist (s151 Officer) through the Fraud Specialist (who reports to 
the Operational Lead – People, Welfare and Income Maximisation. Service areas 
also contribute to the delivery of the strategy, including but not limited to the teams 
delivering revenues and benefits services, development control services and public 
protection services as these teams lead the prevention and detection of error, 
irregularity and fraud in their areas of responsibility. 

17. Expert, corporate support in addressing fraud and irregularity risks is provided by the 
Fraud Specialist, Procurement team, ICT, Legal, Governance and Democracy Team 
and Performance, Innovation and Commissioning team. 

18. The Chief Executive, all Directors, Operational Leads/Lead Specialists, managers 
and staff have a responsibly for remaining aware of the risks of fraud and irregularity, 
for obtaining assurance that these are being appropriately addressed and for raising 
risks or issues with senior management and internal audit. 

19. Member roles and responsibilities in relation to the prevention of fraud and corruption 
are discharged through the Audit Committee in conjunction with Standards 
Committee and Executive. These roles are detailed within the Council’s Anti-Bribery, 
Fraud and Corruption Policy and the Council’s Constitution. 

Approach to Countering Fraud 

20. A dedicated and specialist resource within the Finance Section develops and 
coordinates the Council’s overall approach to protecting its assets and finances from 
fraud, corruption, bribery and loss. Work is focused within each of the key elements 
of acknowledge, deter, prevent, detect, investigate and recover. 

21. Fraud by its very nature is hidden, and conducted in such a manner that fraudulent 
acts are actively concealed. It is therefore vital to maintain a strong anti-fraud culture, 
and advocate a zero tolerance approach. This not only provides a deterrent to 
potential fraudsters, but also encourages an environment where individuals feel 
comfortable coming forward to raise concerns. 

Page 127



Appendix 2 

 

22. This Strategy is informed by the Council’s objectives and has incorporated guidance 
and best practice on combating fraud within local government, devised from a 
number of different sources including: 

• Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally – The Local Government Fraud 
Strategy 

• Protecting the Public Purse 

• CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 

23. Nationally recognised fraud and ecomonic crime risks reported across the sector and 
which this Strategy seeks to assure and address are: 

 Property transactions 

 Employees 

 Contracts, Commissioning and Procurement, including mandate fraud 

 Right to Buy (in conjunction with South Lakes Housing) 

 Insurance 

 Third party grants etc 

 Council Tax Reduction 

 Business Rate reliefs 

 Cyber fraud 

 Tax evasion 

Culture 

24.  The Council is committed to the highest ethical standards of corporate and personal 
conduct. The three fundamental public service values of accountability, probity and 
openness and a strong anti-fraud culture are a key element of the defence against 
fraud, corruption and bribery. Codes of Conduct, policies and procedures promoted 
across the Council are consistent with the ‘Seven Principles of Public Life’ put 
forward by the Nolan Committee and The Council expects all staff, including 
contractors and Members to make themselves aware of and follow these principles. 
Further information can be found at http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/ 

Deterrence 

25. The Council develops and promotes a strong counter fraud culture. Finance and 
other services work with Performance and Organisational Development and 
Communications to raise staff and public awareness which include the following: 

• Prominent publication and communication of the Council’s zero tolerance 
stance against fraud and the overall strategy for combating it. 

• Making clear to staff and residents how and to who they can report concerns. 

Robust 
Framework

Developing a 
robust counter-

fraud and bribery 
framework

Making an 
Impact

Developing a 
strong anti-fraud 
and corruption 

culture

Delivering 
Change

Proactive 
prevention and 

detection

Page 128

http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/


Appendix 2 

• Delivering a fraud awareness programme including workshops and training, 
to ensure the profile of fraud risk remains high in particular amongst Council 
staff and Members but also contractors and partners. 

• Publicising the results of pro-active work and the Council’s success in 
identifying and taking strong action against fraudsters. 

Prevention 

26. Prevention is often the best and most efficient way to tackle fraud and prevent losses 
to the Council. This requires a robust control environment. Wherever appropriate and 
cost effective to apply, the Council will design and implement controls to prevent 
fraud and irregularity. Internal Audit will continue to work with managers and core 
services including Legal, Governance and Democracy, Performance, Innovation and 
Commissioning and Finance to ensure new and existing systems, procedures and 
policy initiatives consider fraud risks. 

27. As part of its annual Internal Audit plan and in particular the pro-active counter fraud 
work the Internal Audit Section reviews those areas of activity deemed to be at 
greater risk to fraud and corruption and works with management to recommend 
suitable, preventative controls and confirm these are implemented as planned. 

Detection 

28. Finance maintain a centralised log of all fraud and irregularity referrals received 
within the organisation. The log helps to assess those areas within the Council that 
are most vulnerable to the risk of fraud. This enables a Council wide fraud profile to 
be created which informs audit work aimed at detecting existing and new types of 
fraudulent activity. This knowledge also informs and helps direct the allocation of staff 
resources across the audit team ensuring a flexible approach is maintained and 
sufficient coverage is obtained across both the reactive and proactive counter fraud 
programmes as well as wider planned audit work. 

29. A range of actions are already in place in relation to the detection of fraud, irregularity 
and loss: 

• All staff are expected to comply consistently and routinely with internal 
controls designed to bring data anomalies and other indicators of fraud to the 
attention of management. As with preventative controls, the Council’s Internal 
Audit Section reviews the adequacy of fraud detection controls in key systems 
and makes recommendations for weaknesses to be addressed. 

• The Council participates fully in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and 
remains open to participation in other relevant national or regional 
opportunities to detect fraud through data-matching exercises. 

• Internal Audit carries out targeted, analytical reviews of key systems and 
services to identify indicators of fraudulent activity. 

• The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy is prominently publicised to encourage 
staff, Members, contractors and partners to raise any genuine suspicions they 
may have. Services across the Council participate in national and regional 
counter-fraud networks and take prompt action to review the relevance to the 
Council of alerts or issues shared across these groups. 

30. Changes and developments in the Council’s internal systems and procedures may 
adversely impact upon the established controls to prevent fraud. The impact on the 
fraud risk in changing systems and procedures will be evaluated through timely 
liaison between the business and Internal Audit to help minimise the exposure to risk. 

Investigate 

Page 129



Appendix 2 

31. Where there are genuine grounds to suspect fraud, irregularity or corruption, the 
Council is committed to ensuring that all cases are investigated promptly, effectively 
and fully.  

32. All matters involving suspected criminal activity are referred to the Police at the 
earliest opportunity. The referral decision will be taken by the Legal, Governance and 
Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) or her nominated representatives. 

33. In support of the Council’s zero tolerance stance, there shall be a general 
presumption that the Council will request prosecute offenders in all cases of fraud, 
corruption, bribery and theft.  The Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead 
Specialist (Monitoring Officer) will develop an Enforcement Policy to be applied on a 
case by case basis. Where the Police or Crown Prosecution Service decide not to 
charge offenders, the Council will consider bringing private prosecution, to be 
considered on a case by case basis. 

34. The Fraud Specialist regularly liaises with colleagues from Legal Services regarding 
casework.  Where fraud or corrupt acts have been committed by an employee of the 
Council colleagues from Human Resources will be involved. In such circumstances it 
may be decided not to pursue matters further until any external investigations and/or 
enforcement action are concluded. 

Recovery of Losses Incurred 

35. A crucial element of the Council’s response to tackling fraud is seeking financial 
redress. The recovery of defrauded monies is an important part of the Strategy and 
where it is practical, action will be taken to recover the loss from the individual or 
organisation concerned. Where criminality has been proven then the Proceeds of 
Crime Act 2002 may where appropriate be used to recover funds. Other methods of 
recovery may include, but are not confined to: 

• civil proceedings; 

• unlawful profit orders and compensation orders; 

• bankruptcy if it is believed the individual has a poor history of paying; and 

• recovery from future salary payments. 

Fraud Awareness and Training 

36. During the period covered by this Strategy, work will be undertaken based on the 
fraud risk assessment and other indicators to identify where further opportunities and 
requirements for counter fraud training may be appropriate.  Consideration will be 
given to a range of media including e-learning, workshops, newsletters, intranet and 
cascade of key messages. The effectiveness of training and other fraud awareness 
activities will be evaluated to inform future planning. 

37. The Fraud Specialist and Human Resources will establish a training plan to enhance 
employees’ ability to deliver the Strategy. The specific content of the training will be 
subject to review as part of the Annual Fraud Report, but its key components are 
likely to include the following: 

• Requirement for key staff, particularly line managers, to complete a periodic 
fraud awareness survey. 

• Qualification training for staff responsible for the investigation of suspected 
fraud. 

• Targeted training for key staff likely to use the Fraud Response Plan, when 
developed. 

Page 130



Appendix 2 

• Targeted training on audit software and tools for key staff likely to participate 
in data matching exercises. 

Joint and Collaborative Working 

38. Fraud does not always fit neatly within the boundaries of the Council or district. Given 
the range of partnerships and collaborative work and the benefits of working with 
colleagues across the public and private sector, the Council actively seeks to work in 
conjunction with others. 

39. Key agencies for data sharing include but are not limited to the following: 

 Cumbria and other Police 

 Cabinet Office, DCLG and other Government Departments 

 Other Local Authorities within Cumbria and beyond 

 National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) 

 Technical Networks including CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre, LAIOG, 
TEICCAF 

 Credit reference agencies and insurers 
 

40. Arrangements are in place and continue to be developed to encourage both joint and 
collaborative working involving the exchange of information and intelligence between 
the Council and other agencies on national and local fraud and corruption activity in 
relation to local authorities. Any such exchange of information is undertaken in 
accordance with the principles contained in the Data Protection Act 1998 and the 
Information Commissioner’s Office Code of Practice of Data Sharing. Where 
appropriate, the Council will participate in national or regional initiatives designed to 
prevent and detect fraud, such as data matching. 

Delivery of the Strategy 

41. The Council’s overall approach and key priorities for Counter Fraud 2020 are: 

 

Priority/Action Required Who Target Date 

Acknowledge: acknowledging and understanding the risks 

 Assessing and understanding fraud 

 Committing to support and resources for tackling fraud 

 Maintaining a robust anti-fraud response 

Prepare and publish Anti-Fraud Strategy Finance Lead 
Specialist 

This document 

Annual review and updating of policy framework 

Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy 

Whistleblowing Policy 

Finance Lead 
Specialist 

Annual report to 
Audit Committee 

Update Fraud Response Plan Finance Lead 
Specialist 

April 2022 

Produce Enforcement Policy Legal, Governance 
and Democracy 
Lead Specialist 
(Monitoring Officer) 

April 2022 

Page 131



Appendix 2 

Annual review of Fraud Risk Assessments Operational 
Leads/Lead 
Specialists with 
Fraud Specialist. 

Annual as part of 
Service Plan 
process 

Compile annual Audit Committee Fraud report Finance Lead 
Specialist 

Annual to Audit 
Committee 

Deterrence and Prevention: Deferring and Preventing Fraud 

 Making better use of information and technology 

 Enhancing fraud controls and processes 

 Developing an effective anti-fraud culture 

Publicity for policy framework, strategy, training 
opportunities, on-line resources and successful 
prosecutions 

Fraud Specialist Ongoing 

Design and implement a periodic fraud awareness 
programme to complement existing induction 
training for officers 

Fraud 
Specialistand 
Organisational 
Development 
Officer 

Ongoing 

Develop existing identification/validation tools Fraud Specialist Ongoing 

Work with colleagues in other authorities to 
enhance data sharing 

Fraud Specialist Ongoing 

Review the preventative controls in key Council 
systems 

Internal Audit Preparing and 
delivering Internal 
Audit Plan 

Implement agreed actions to strengthen internal 
controls 

Operational 
Leads/Service 
Leads, Monitored 
by Internal Audit 
recommendation 
monitoring to Audit 
Committee 

Deadlines agreed 
in individual audit 
reports 

Ensure consistent compliance with established 
controls to prevent fraud 

Operational 
Leads/Service 
Leads,, reviewed 
by Internal Audit 

Ongoing 

Consider the implications for counter fraud controls 
in new and changing systems and procedures, 
including Customer Connect 

Operational 
Leads/Service 
Leads, in 
conjunction with 
s151 Officer and 
Internal Audit 

Ongoing, before 
introduction of 
new systems or 
procedures 

Participation in fraud awareness surveys Fraud Specialist By individual 
deadlines 

Maintain and develop relationships with partners Fraud Specialist Ongoing 

Page 132



Appendix 2 

Detect, Investigate and Pursue: Completion of reactive and proactive work, punishing fraud 
and recovering losses 

 Effective triage and investigation of referrals 

 Targeted pro-active counter-fraud work 

 Prioritising fraud recovery and actions to punish fraudsters 

 Joint and collaborative working across the Council, other local authorities, agencies 
and the Police 

Raise fraud and corruption concerns promptly 
through the Whistleblowing Policy with a line 
manager/senior manager or Fraud Specialist 

All staff, Members, 
contractors and 
partners 

Ongoing 

Triage and investigate reactive referrals received Fraud Specialist 
with s151 Officer 

Within 2 working 
days of receipt of 
referral 

Decision to refer to the Police for investigation Monitoring Officer  

Co-ordination and completion of National Fraud 
Initiative 

Fraud Specialist In accordance 
with statutory 
deadlines 

Data matching / mining Finance Lead 
Specialist, Fraud 
Specialist 

Ongoing 

Ensure compliance will General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) and other information 
governance and security requirements 

Finance Lead 
Specialist and 
Performance, 
Innovation and 
Commissioning 
Specialist 

 

Implement programme of wider pro-active counter 
fraud exercises 

Finance Lead 
Specialist, Fraud 
Specialist 

Ongoing 

Work jointly and collaboratively with partners on 
key areas. 

Operational 
Leads/Service 
Leads, Finance 
Lead Specialist, 
Fraud Specialist 

Ongoing 

 

42. The Fraud Specialist will continue to assess all referrals it receives in a timely 
manner and investigate as appropriate in accordance with the Anti-Bribery, Fraud 
and Corruption Policy, working with colleagues in ICT and Legal as well as service 
managers to address concerns identified.  

43. Pro-active counter fraud work will be developed in line with priorities identified from 
national research and the Council’s fraud risk assessment. Resources will be 
targeted at areas considered to be of high risk to the Council. We will liaise with 
management regarding opportunities for joint and collaborative working with partners 
both internally and externally to enhance the quality of intelligence and data matching 
techniques. 

44. The work undertaken by the Fraud Specialist and Internal Audit will provide 
management with recommendations and actions to improve the effectiveness of 
internal controls to help prevent and deter future instances of fraud and irregularity. 

Page 133



Appendix 2 

Measuring Success 

45. Progress against the priorities and plans identified within this Strategy will be 
reported annually to Audit Committee as part of the Annual Fraud Report. 

 

December 2021         v1.1 

Page 134



Appendix 3 
 

 
 

 

South Lakeland District Council 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy 
 

Contents 

1 Introduction ................................................................................................................. 2 

2 Scope of the policy ..................................................................................................... 2 

3 What is money laundering? ......................................................................................... 2 

4 Legislation .................................................................................................................. 3 

5 Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the 

Payer) Regulations 2017 (MLR 2017)  

6 Nominated officer ....................................................................................................... 3 

7 Possible signs of money laundering ............................................................................ 4 

8 High value cash transactions ...................................................................................... 4 

9 Client identification procedures ....................................................................................... 4 

10 Suspicious activity reporting ........................................................................................ 5 

11 Record keeping procedures ............................................................................................ 6 

12 Conclusion .................................................................................................................. 6 

13 Review ....................................................................................................................... 6 

Page 135



2 

 

 

 

1 Introduction 
 

1.1 The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on 

the Payer) Regulations 2017 (MLR 2017) came into force in June 2017 and, for any 

offences committed after 26 June 2017, replace the Money Laundering Regulations 

2007. The 2017 Regulations impact on certain areas of local authority business and 

require local authorities to establish internal procedures to prevent the use of their 

services for money laundering. 

2 Scope of the policy 
 

2.1 This Policy applies to all officers (including agency staff) and elected members of the 

Council and aims to maintain the high standards of conduct which currently exist 

within the Council by preventing criminal activity through money laundering. The 

Policy sets out the procedures which must be followed to enable the Council to 

comply with its legal obligations. Within this policy the term employees refers to all 

employees and elected members. 

2.2 Failure by an employee to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy may lead 

to disciplinary action being taken against them. Any disciplinary action will be dealt 

with in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Policy. 

2.3 Directors and managers must ensure that all employees are aware of this policy. 

3 What is money laundering? 
 

3.1 Money laundering is the process by which criminally obtained money or other assets 

are exchanged for clean money or assets with no obvious link to their criminal 

origins. It also covers money, however come by, which is used to fund terrorism. 

3.2 Money laundering can take many forms such as: 

 Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring criminal property or removing it 

from the UK. 

 Entering into or becoming concerned in an arrangement which you know or 

suspect facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by 

or on behalf of another person. 

 Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 

 Investing the proceeds of crime into other financial products or the acquisition of 

property/assets. 

 Tipping off a person(s) who is or is suspected of being involved in money 

laundering in such a way as to reduce the likelihood of or prejudice an 

investigation. 

Although the term ‘money laundering’ is generally used to describe activities of 

organised crime, for most people it will involve a suspicion that someone they know, 

or know of, is benefiting financially from dishonest activities. 

3.3 Potentially any member of staff could be caught by the money laundering provisions 

if they suspect money laundering and either become involved in it in some way 

and/or do nothing about it. Failure to report money laundering is an offence. 

Page 136



3 

 

 

 

3.4 Whilst the risk to the Council of contravening the legislation is low, it is extremely 

important that all employees are familiar with their legal responsibilities: serious 

criminal sanctions may be imposed for breaches of the legislation. 

4 Legislation 
 

4.1 The main UK legislation covering anti-money laundering and terrorist financing is: 

 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by the Serious Organised Crime and 

Police Act 2005) 

 Terrorism Act 2000 (as amended by the Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 

2001) 

5 Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer 

of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 2017 

(MLR 2017)  

OVERVIEW OF OBLIGATIONS ON THE COUNCIL 

5.1 The main requirements of the legislation are: 

 To appoint a money laundering reporting officer 

 Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances 

 Implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering 

 Maintain record keeping procedures 

5.2 Providing the Council does not undertake activities regulated under the Financial 

Services and Markets Act 2000, the offences of failure to disclose and tipping off do 

not apply. However, the Council and its employees and Members remain subject to 

the remainder of the offences and the full provisions of the Terrorism Act 2000. 

5.3 The Terrorism Act 2000 made it an offence of money laundering to become 

concerned in an arrangement relating to the retention or control of property likely to 

be used for the purposes of terrorism, or resulting from acts of terrorism. 

5.4 Potentially very heavy penalties (unlimited fines and imprisonment of up to fourteen 

years) can be handed down to those who are convicted of one of the offences above. 

6 Nominated officer 
 

6.1 The regulations require the Council to appoint a Nominated Officer, sometimes 

known as Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”) who is responsible for: 

 Receiving internal suspicious transaction reports (also known as disclosures) 

from within the Council. 

 Deciding whether these should be reported to the National Crime Agency. 

 If appropriate, making such reports to the National Crime Agency. 

6.2 The Officer nominated as MLRO to receive disclosures about money laundering 

activity within the Council is the Section 151 Officer, the Finance Lead Specialist. 

She can be contacted at h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 01539 

Page 137

mailto:h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk


4 

 

 

 

793147. In the absence of the MLRO, the Financial Specialist (Deputy S151 Officer) 

the authorised deputy (contact details: Claire.read@southlakeland.gov.uk or 01539 

793152). 

7 Possible signs of money laundering 
 

7.1 It is not possible to give a definitive list of ways in which to spot money laundering but 

facts which tend to suggest that something “odd” is happening may be sufficient for a 

reasonable suspicion of money laundering to arise. 

7.2 The following are the types of risk factors which may, either alone or cumulatively 

with other factors, suggest the possibility of money laundering activity: 

 A new customer with no previous history with the Council; 

 A secretive customer: for example one who refuses to provide requested 

information without a reasonable explanation; 

 Concerns about the honesty, integrity or identity of a customer; 

 Illogical third party transactions: for example unnecessary routing or receipt of 

funds from third parties or through third party accounts; 

 Involvement of an unconnected third party without logical reason or explanation; 

 Payment of a substantial sum in cash; 

 Overpayments by a customer; 

 Absence of an obvious legitimate source of the funds; 

 Movement of funds to and from overseas, particularly to and from a higher risk 

country; 

 Where, without reasonable explanation, the size, nature and frequency of 

transactions or instructions is out of line with normal expectations; 

 Cancellation or reversal of an earlier transaction. 

8 High value cash transactions 
 

8.1 If the customer wishes to make cash payment, or a series of cash payments of 

£1,000 or more must consult with the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer (01539 793249) 

and ask for, and inspect, identification before accepting payment It is best practice to 

insist on payment by cheque or electronically from a UK clearing bank. 

9 Client identification procedures 
 

9.1 The Council will put in place procedures to identify customers when Council land or 

property is being sold. The procedures will require the Council to: 

 Identify customers and verify their identity on the basis of documents from a 

reliable and approved source. 

 Identify where applicable the beneficial owner (see below) and take adequate 

measures on a risk sensitive basis to verify their identity. 

 Maintain records of all checks. 

“Beneficial owners” are the individuals who ultimately own or control have a legal 

interest in the asset or the person on whose behalf a transaction or activity is being 

conducted. 

Page 138

mailto:Claire.read@southlakeland.gov.uk


5 

 

 

 

9.2 If satisfactory evidence of a customer’s identity at the outset cannot be obtained, then 

the business transaction can NOT proceed any further. 

9.3 All personal data collected must be kept in accordance with the Data Protection Act. 

10 Suspicious activity reporting 
 

10.1 The MLRO is required to make reports to the National Crime Agency where s/he 

knows or suspects or has reasonable grounds for knowing or suspecting that a 

person is engaged in money laundering or terrorist financing. 

10.2 Any staff in the Council who know, suspect or have reasonable grounds for knowing 

or suspecting that a person is engaged in money laundering or terrorist financing 

must report such matters to the nominated officer (MLRO) as soon as possible. On 

receipt of a report, it is for the nominated officer to decide whether a suspicious 

activity report needs to be made to the National Crime Agency. 

10.3 Suspicion has its ordinary meaning, and a report should be made if a member of 

staff/the MLRO thinks that there is a possibility, which is more than fanciful, that a 

person is or has been engaged in money laundering or terrorist financing. 

10.4 The report to the MLRO should be within “hours” of the information/suspicion coming 

to your attention, not weeks or months later. Should you not do so then you may be 

liable to prosecution. 

10.5 The report should give as much information as possible: e.g. 

 Full details of the people involved (including yourself) i.e. name, date of birth, 

address, company names, direct partnerships, phone numbers etc. 

 Full details of the type of transaction and the nature of their/your involvement. 

 The date of the money-laundering activity, including whether the transactions 

have happened, are ongoing or are imminent. 

 Where they took/taking place. 

 How they were/are being undertaken. 

 The (likely) amount of money/assets involved. 

 Why you are suspicious. 

10.6 Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions 

he/she may give you. You must not make any further enquiries into the matter 

yourself. 

10.7 At no time and under no circumstances should you voice any suspicion to the 

person(s) whom you suspect of money laundering otherwise you may commit a 

criminal offence of “tipping off” (section 333 of the 2002 Act), if knowing a disclosure 

has been made to the MLRO, you make a disclosure to someone else which is likely 

to prejudice any investigation which may be conducted. The offence of “tipping off” 

carries a possible sentence of imprisonment (maximum five years), a fine, or both.  

Do not, therefore, make any reference on a client file to a report having been made to 

the MLRO – should the client exercise their right to see the file, then such a note will 

obviously tip them off to the report having been made and may render you liable to 

prosecution. The MLRO will keep the appropriate records in a confidential manner. 

Page 139



6 

 

 

 

11 Record keeping procedures 
 

11.1 Each unit of the Council conducting relevant business must maintain records of: 

 Client identification evidence obtained; and 

 Details of all relevant business transactions carried out for clients for at least six 

years. This is so that they may be used as evidence in any subsequent 

investigation by the authorities into money laundering and also to demonstrate 

the Council’s compliance with the regulations. 

11.2 The precise nature of the records is not prescribed by law. However, they must be 

capable of providing an audit trail during any subsequent investigation, for example 

distinguishing the client and the relevant transaction and recording in what form any 

funds were received or paid. In practice, the business units of the Council will be 

routinely making records of work carried out for clients in the course of normal 

business and these should suffice in this regard. 

12 Conclusion 
 

12.1 The Money Laundering legislation is complex. This policy has been written as a 

safeguard and to enable the Council to meet its legal obligations. 

13 Review 
 

13.1 This policy will be reviewed bi-annually. 

Revised September 2019 Reviewed December 2021 

Page 140



Appendix 4 

South Lakeland District Council 

Anti-Tax Evasion Policy Procedures and Reporting Arrangements 

1. Introduction 
1.1. In the light of Criminal Finances Act 2017, the Council has adopted a statement of our 

corporate value on anti-tax evasion. It is our policy to conduct all of our business dealings in 

an honest and ethical manner. The value statement governs all our business dealings and 

the conduct of all persons or organisations who are appointed to act on our behalf. 

1.2. We request all our officers and all who have, or seek to have, a business relationship with 

the council, to familiarise themselves with this anti-tax evasion policy statement and to act at 

all times in a way which is consistent with our anti-tax evasion policy and procedures. 

1.3. The council has a zero tolerance approach to all forms of tax evasion, whether under UK law 

or under the law of any foreign country. 

1.4. Officers and associates of the council must not undertake any transactions which: 

1.4.1. Cause the council to commit a tax evasion offence. 

1.4.2. Facilitate a tax evasion offence by a third party who is not an associate of the council. 

1.5. We are committed professionally, fairly and with integrity in all our business dealings and 

relationships wherever we operate and implementing and enforcing effective systems to 

counter tax evasion facilitation. 

1.6. At all times, business should be conducted in a manner such that the opportunity for, and 

incidence of, tax evasion is prevented. 

2. Scope of the Policy 
2.1. This policy applies to all persons working for the council or on our behalf in any capacity, 

including employees at all levels, directors, officers and associates (as defined below), 

including but not limited to agency workers, seconded workers, volunteers, interns, 

contractors, external consultants, third-party representatives and business partners, 

sponsors or any other person associated with us, wherever located. 

2.2. This policy is adopted by the council. It may be varied or withdrawn at any time, in the 

council’s absolute discretion. Officers in leadership positions are responsible for ensuring 

those reporting to them understand and comply with this policy. 

3. What is the facilitation of tax evasion? 
3.1. For the purpose of this policy: 

3.1.1. Associates includes officers or an agent of the council who is acting in the capacity of 

an agent, or any person who performs services for and on behalf of the council who is 

acting in the capacity of a person or business performing such services. 

3.1.2. Tax Evasion means an offence of cheating the public revenue or fraudulently evading 

UK tax, and is a criminal offence. The offence requires an element of fraud, which 

means there must be deliberate action, or omission with dishonest intent. 

3.1.3. Foreign Tax Evasion means evading tax in a foreign country, provided that the 

conduct is an offence in that country and would be a criminal offence if committed in the 

UK. As with tax evasion¸ the element of fraud means there must be deliberate action, 

or omission with dishonest intent. 

3.1.4. Tax Evasion Facilitation means being knowingly concerned in, or taking steps with a 

view to, the fraudulent evasion of tax (whether UK tax or tax in a foreign country) by 

another person, or aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring the commission of that 

offence. Tax evasion facilitation is a criminal offence, where it is done deliberately and 

dishonestly. 

Page 141



Appendix 4 

3.1.5. Tax evasion is not the same as tax avoidance or tax planning. Tax evasion involves 

deliberate and dishonest conduct. Tax avoidance is not illegal and involves taking steps, 

within the law, to minimise tax payable (or maximise tax reliefs). 

3.6 Tax means all forms of UK taxation, including but not limited to corporation tax, income tax 

(including IR35 assessments), value added tax, stamp duty, stamp duty land tax, national 

insurance contributions (and their equivalents in any non-UK jurisdiction) and includes duty 

and any other form of taxation (however described). 

4. What officers must do and not do 

4.1. Officers and Associates must at all times adhere to the council’s anti-tax evasion value 

statement and must ensure that they read, understand and comply with this policy.   

 

Specifically, staff and associates must not knowingly do anything that helps someone 

else evade tax. 

 

4.2. It is not acceptable for officers and associates to: 

▪ Engage in any form of facilitating Tax Evasion or Foreign Tax Evasion. 

▪ Aid, abet, counsel or procure the commission of a Tax Evasion offence or Foreign Tax 

Evasion offence by another person. 

▪ Fail to promptly report any request or demand from any third party to facilitate the 

fraudulent Evasion of Tax by another person, in accordance with this policy; or 

▪ Engage in any other activity that might lead to a breach of this policy; or 

▪ Threaten or retaliate against another individual who has refused to commit a Tax Evasion 

offence or a Foreign Tax Evasion offence or who has raised concerns under this policy. 

▪ An offence under the law of any part of the UK consisting of being knowingly concerned in, 

or taking steps with a view to, the fraudulent evasion of tax. 

5. Prevention through vigilance 
5.1. There is not an exhaustive list of Tax Evasion opportunities. At a more general level, the best 

defence against Tax Evasion and facilitation of Tax Evasion remains the vigilance of our 

officers and the adoption of a common sense approach supported by our clear 

whistleblowing procedure as set out in section 6. In applying common sense, officers must 

be aware of the following: 

▪ Is there anything unusual about the manner in which an associate of the council is 

conducting their relationship with the third party (usually a customer)? 

▪ Is there anything unusual about the customer’s or associate’s conduct or behaviour at the 

dealership? 

▪ Are there unusual payment methods? 

5.2. High risk factors are listed below: 

▪ Private banking. 

▪ Anonymous transactions (which may include cash). 

▪ Non face-to-face business relationships or transactions. 

▪ Payment received from unknown or associated third parties. 

▪ The business relationship is conducted in unusual circumstances. 

▪ Non-resident customers. 

▪ Legal persons or arrangements that are personal asset holding vehicles. 

▪ Companies that have nominee shareholders or shares in bearer form. 

▪ Businesses that are cash intensive. 

▪ The ownership structure of the company appears unusual or excessively complex. 

▪ Countries identified by credible sources as not having adequate anti-money laundering 

and counter-terrorism financing approaches. 

▪ Countries subject to sanctions, embargoes, or similar measures issued by, for example, 

the UN 

Page 142



Appendix 4 

▪ Countries identified by credible sources as providing support for terrorist activities, or that 

have designated terrorist organisations operating within their country 

5.3. Unusual payment methods and unusual conduct of third parties with council associates can 

be indicative that a transaction may not be as it seems – please refer to the councils ‘Anti-

money Laundering Policy’ for further guidance on unusual payment methods and unusual 

conduct. Likewise, the council procedures outlined in the aforementioned policy for 

identifying the customer are also an important part of the councils’ policy against tax evasion. 

6. How to raise a concern – Whistleblowing Procedure 
6.1. The council maintains a policy of “stand up, speak up” in relation to any concerns. Officers 

are encouraged to raise concerns about any issue or suspicion of Tax Evasion or Foreign 

Tax Evasion as soon as possible. If there is any suspicion of any intention that a team 

member or Associate or third party is attempting to, or committing Tax Evasion or Foreign 

Tax Evasion, the details of the parties and the transaction must be reported to the below 

persons, using the confidential form at Appendix A, who will report the circumstances to HM 

Revenue & Customs (HMRC). 

6.2. Any queries or suspicions should be directed to the following: 

▪ Linda Fisher, Lead Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist ( Monitoring Officer) 

▪ Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer)  

7. What happens if an officer prefers not to report their suspicions? 
7.1. This should never happen. If there is any suspicion of any intention to evade tax and the 

transaction if nevertheless finalised, the council can be criminally prosecuted, subject to a 

large fine and be publically named and shamed. 

 

  

Page 143



Appendix 4 

Appendix A  

Confidential: Report of Tax Evasion Activity 
Report to the Lead Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist (Monitoring Officer) or Finance 

Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

From: _____________________________ [Name and role description] 

Team: _____________________________ 

Email: _____________________________ 

Urgent: Yes/No     Date by which response needed: _____________ 

Details of suspected offence: 

Name(s) and address(es) of person(s) involved: 

[If a company/public body please include details of nature of business, please supply as many 

details as possible] 

Nature, value and timing of activity involved: 

[Please include full details eg what, when, where, how. Continue on a separate sheet if 

necessary] 

Nature of suspicions regarding such activity: 

[Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary] 

Has any investigation been undertaken (as far as you are aware)? [Delete as appropriate] Yes / No 

If yes, please include details below: 

Have you discussed your suspicions with anyone else?[Delete as appropriate]Yes / No 

If yes, please specify below, explaining why such discussion was necessary: 

Please set out below any other information you feel is relevant: 

Signed: _____________________________ Dated: ___________________ 

Please do not discuss the content of this report with anyone you believe to be involved in the 

suspected tax evasion activity described. 

Page 144



REVIEW OF ANTI-FRAUD POLICY – APPENDIX 5 

PURPOSE OF APPENDIX 

1 The purpose of this Appendix is to show the results of the Council’s review against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing 
the Risk of Fraud and Corruption: Counter Fraud Assessment. 

Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

A. Acknowledge responsibility 
 
The governing body should acknowledge its responsibility for ensuring that the risks associated with fraud and corruption are managed effectively across 
all parts of the organisation 

A1. The organisation’s 
leadership team acknowledge 
the threats of fraud and 
corruption and the harm they 
can cause to the organisation, 
its aims and objectives and to 
service users. 

Leaders taking the initiative: 
Public statements, spoken or written 
Current (i.e. in the last year) 
Frequency (how often is counter fraud on 

the agenda?) 
Specific (e.g. naming particular types of 

fraud, identifying the harm of fraud) 

Reports: Annual report to Audit Committee 
on content of Anti-Fraud policy, number of 
cases, amounts recovered 

Newsletters: Desktop News 

Press Articles: prosecutions e.g. benefit 
fraud, right to buy fraud 

Met   

A2. The organisation’s 
leadership team acknowledge 
the importance of a culture 
that is resilient to the threats of 
fraud and corruption and 
aligns to the principles of good 
governance. 

Own code of governance (has 
CIPFA/SOLACE Addendum and updated 
guidance note (2012) been taken 
account of 

Local codes of conduct/ethical behaviour 

Evidence of awareness/training/ 
guidance to reinforce ethical behaviour 
being supported/promoted by leaders 

Local Code of Governance updated 
December 2013 for CIPFA/SOLACE 
addendum & guidance note 

Code of Conduct for Employees / Code of 
Conduct for Members (do not use term anti-
corruption but make reference to 7 principles 
and stress need to avoid conflict of interest 
or acting to gain personal advantage). 

Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 

Personal Qualities Framework – included in 
all annual assessments for staff 

Met   

A3.  The governing body 
acknowledges its responsibility 
for ensuring the management 
of its fraud and corruption risks 
and will be accountable for the 
actions it takes through its 
governance reports. 

Statement in Annual Governance Report 

Framework to manage fraud risks e.g. 
nomination of lead officer, delegated 
powers, budget. 

 

Statement included in Annual Governance 
Report from 2014/15. 

Anti-fraud and corruption policy, lead officer 
identified, resources identified. 

Met   

P
age 145



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

A4. The governing body sets a 
specific goal of ensuring and 
maintaining its resilience to 
fraud and corruption and 
explores opportunities for 
financial savings from 
enhanced fraud detection and 
prevention. 

Goals/objectives, perhaps in the counter 
fraud strategy 

Goal is linked to risks, appropriate for 
organisation. E.g. specific to a particular 
fraud risk, include ‘resilience to fraud’ 

Consideration of opportunities for 
savings. Recognise that greater with 
some fraud risks than others 

Aims set out in Counter Fraud Strategy Met   

B. Identify risks 
Fraud risk identification is essential to understand specific exposures to risk, changing patterns in fraud and corruption threats and the potential 
consequences to the organisation and its service users. 

B1. Fraud risks are routinely 
considered as part of the 
organisation’s risk 
management arrangements. 

Does your organisation’s risk 
management policy include reference to 
risks arising from fraud and corruption 
and guidance on how the risks should be 
assessed? 

Are fraud risk assessments undertaken 
for significant new operations or changes 
to processes? 

Risk management policy updated April 2016 

Detailed specific fraud & corruption risk 
assessments completed summer 2016 and 
reviewed annually as part of service planning 
process. 

Met   

B2.  The organisation 
identifies the risks of 
corruption and the importance 
of behaving with integrity in its 
governance framework 

Does your organisation’s 
guidance/statement on good governance 
values, behaviours, codes of conduct 
include explicit reference to counter fraud 
and avoidance of corruption? 

Are training & awareness sessions 
undertaken to support the adoption of 
good ethical conduct by both staff and 
members of the governing body? 

Code of Conduct for Employees includes 
explicit reference to counter fraud, anti-
bribery and avoidance of corruption. 

Code of Conduct for Members includes 
explicit reference to seven general principles 
of conduct. 

Good ethical conduct is discussed as part of 
the Personal Qualities Framework in annual 
performance assessments conducted for all 
employees 

All newly elected members are required to 
attend training on the requirements of the 
Code of Conduct and the Member/Employee 
Protocol; this is a joint session with staff 

Met   

P
age 146



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

B3. The organisation uses 
published estimates of fraud 
loss, and where appropriate its 
own measurement exercises, 
to aid its evaluation of fraud 
risk exposures. 

Does your organisation identify 
appropriate fraud loss estimates that are 
appropriate for its sector or fraud risk 
types?  Do you use these to inform its 
fraud risk assessment? 

Does your organisation use published 
fraud loss data as a comparator for its 
own experience of fraud and to help 
quantify value of fraud prevention. 

Annual review of anti-fraud and corruption 
activity to Audit Committee includes 
assessment of fraud loss. 

Protecting the Public Purse exercise 
organised previously by the Audit 
Commission published fraud loss data for 
comparator councils: this is reported to Audit 
Committee and used internally to help 
identify areas for additional scrutiny e.g. 
Right to Buy fraud 

Results of National Fraud Initiative used to 
guide activity. 

Met   

B4. The organisation 
evaluates the harm to its aims 
and objectives and services 
users that different fraud risks 
can cause. 

As part of a fraud risk assessment it is 
made clear where the harm caused by 
fraud lies. 

Fraud risk assessments complete Met   

C. Develop a strategy 
An organisation needs a counter fraud strategy setting out its approach to managing its risks and identifying responsibilities for action. 

C1.  The governing body 
formally adopts a counter 
fraud and corruption strategy 
to address the identified risks 
and align with the 
organisation’s acknowledged 
responsibilities and goals. 

 Strategy approved by Audit Committee 
September 2017 

 

 

Met   

C2.  The strategy includes the 
organisation’s use of joint 
working or partnership 
approaches to managing its 
risks, where appropriate.  

 

C3.  The strategy includes 
clear identification of 
responsibility and 
accountability for delivery of 
the strategy and for providing 
oversight. 

 

P
age 147



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

D.  Provide resources 
The organisation should make arrangements for appropriate resources to support the corporate fraud strategy. 

D1. An annual assessment of 
whether the level of resource 
invested to counter fraud and 
corruption is proportionate for 
the level of risk 

Assessment is: 

 Evidenced 

 Relates to strategy & risk 

 Covers all resource forms 

 Capacity and capability 

 Agreed by accountable officer 

 Ideally, supported by analysis 

Review of anti-fraud and corruption activity 
includes summary of activity. 

Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer post approved 
April 2015: recruitment May 2015: 
commencement in post June 2015. 

 

Met   

D2.  The organisation utilises 
an appropriate mix of 
experienced and skilled staff, 
including access to counter 
fraud staff with professional 
accreditation. 

Look for: 

 Capability – trained staff for 
investigation work 

 Capability – access to specialist 
skills e.g. financial investigation 

 Capability – audit, data 
analysis, risk management, 
training & presentation delivery 

 Capability – awareness of risks 

Met   

D3.  The organisation grants 
counter fraud staff unhindered 
access to its employees, 
information and other 
resources as required for 
investigation purposes. 

Policies are in place to ensure that 
investigation staff are able to access the 
required information and staff to conduct 
the investigation.  Protocols are in place 
to ensure that such access is 
proportionate and necessary. 

Access rights are in place covering 
outsourced activities, shared services 
and partnership arrangements so that an 
investigator is able to conduct 
appropriate enquiries. 

Policies include access to info 

Access proportionate & necessary: process 
requires consent of Assistant Director 
(Resources) or deputy 

Council’s Standard Terms and Conditions of 
Contract require access to be granted to 
investigator to conduct appropriate enquiries. 

Met   

D4.  The organisation has 
protocols in place to facilitate 
joint working and data and 
intelligence sharing to support 
counter fraud activity. 

What does the organisation have in 
place? 

 Contracting arrangements 

 Resourcing agreements 

 Collaborative work 

 Handling requests for 
assistance 

Policies include access to info 

Access proportionate & necessary: process 
requires consent of Assistant Director 
(Resources) or deputy 

Council’s Standard Terms and Conditions of 
Contract require access to be granted to 
investigator to conduct appropriate enquiries. 

Met   

P
age 148



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

E. Take action 
The organisation should put in place the policies and procedures to support the counter fraud and corruption strategy and take action to prevent, detect 
and investigate fraud. 

E1.  The organisation has put 
in place a policy framework 
which supports the 
implementation of the counter 
fraud strategy.  As a minimum 
the framework includes: 

 A counter fraud policy 

 A whistleblowing 
policy 

 An anti-money 
laundering policy 

 An anti-bribery policy 

 An anti-corruption 
policy 

 A gifts and hospitality 
policy and register 

 A pecuniary interest 
and conflicts of 
interest policy and 
register 

 Codes of conduct 
and ethics 

 An information 
security policy 

 A cyber security 
policy 

Does the organisation have 
arrangements in place to ensure that all 
appropriate staff are aware of the 
policies and understand their 
responsibilities under the policy? 

Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 
approved by Audit Committee and Council 
December 2015, reviewed annually  

Whistleblowing Policy approved HR 
Committee July 2013; reviewed Audit 
Committee annually 

Anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policy 
includes expanded elements on bribery 
following Internal audit recommendations 
March 2015. 

Code of Conduct for Employees includes 
policy for gifts and hospitability: register 
maintained by Monitoring Officer.  Annual 
report produced. 

Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted 
Members of the Authority includes 
instructions on pecuniary interests and 
conflicts of interest: register published on 
website 

Code of Conduct for Employees and 
Members include ethics.  For staff: Personal 
Qualities Framework 

Information Governance Framework 
approved 2015: also Data Protection Policy 
& Data Breach Notification Protocol 2017 
also Data Sharing Protocol, Records 
Retention Policy, Records Disposal Protocol 

Cyber security policy included in Information 
Security Policy 

Met   

P
age 149



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

E2.  Plans and operations are 
aligned to the strategy and 
contribute to the achievement 
of the organisation’s overall 
goal of maintaining resilience 
to fraud and corruption. 

The effectiveness of the organisation’s 
performance over the year is reviewed 
and an evaluation of its contribution to 
improving the organisations’ overall 
resilience is found to be favourable. 

 

Annual report to Audit Committee on Anti-
fraud and corruption policy and activity 

Met   

E3. Making effective use of 
national or sectoral initiatives 
to detect fraud or prevent 
fraud, such as data matching 
or intelligence sharing. 

The organisation takes part in initiatives 
that will help it detect or prevent fraud. 

Council participates in NFI exercises: all 
matches are checked and followed up as 
required 

Annual report to Audit Committee on anti-
fraud and corruption activity includes update 
on NFI progress. 

Met   

E4. Providing for independent 
assurance over fraud risk 
management, strategy and 
activities. 

Results of internal audit or consultants 
reports and any recommendations are 
reported to the audit committee. 

Internal audit report Counter Fraud 
Measures March 2015 

Reasonable assurance 

Reported Audit Committee April 2015 

Met   

E5. There is a report to the 
governing body at least 
annually on performance 
against the counter fraud 
strategy and the effectiveness 
of the strategy from the lead 
person(s) designated in the in 
strategy.  Conclusions are 
featured in the annual 
governance report. 

 Annual report to Audit Committee on Anti-
bribery, fraud and corruption reviews 
effectiveness of the policy. 

Any amendments to the Anti-bribery, fraud 
and corruption policy are reported to Council 
for approval. 

 

Met   

 

P
age 150



Appendix 6 

Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 

2020 Checklist 

A local authority is self-regulating in respect of counter fraud. It should aim to show that it undertakes realistic self-assessment and has 

identified and understands the major risks. It should acknowledge the problems and put in place plans which can demonstrate that it is taking 

action with visible outcomes. It should aim to create a transparent process and report the results to the corporate management team and those 

charged with governance. 

This national checklist has been used to measure the Council’s counter fraud and corruption culture and response. 
 

Yes No N/A Comment 

The local authority has made a proper 
assessment of its fraud and corruption risks, has 
an action plan to deal with them and regularly 
reports to its senior Board and its members. 

√ 
  

Risk assessments completed 2016, reviewed annually as part of 
service planning process, actions identified for each risk. 

The local authority has undertaken a fraud risk 
assessment against the risks and has also 
undertaken horizon scanning of future potential 
fraud and corruption risks.  This assessment 
includes the understanding of the harm that fraud 
may do in the community. 

√ 
  

Additional risk identified around Codi-19 grants (fraud 
considerations incorporated into form and content of applications) 
and RTB sales (partnership working set up with South Lakes 
Housing to review applications). 
 

There is an annual report to the audit committee, 
or equivalent detailed assessment, to compare 
against Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 
(FFCL) 2020and this checklist. 

√ 
  

This report 

The relevant portfolio holder has been briefed on 
the fraud risks and mitigation 

√   This report 

The audit committee supports counter fraud work 
and challenges the level of activity to ensure it is 
appropriate in terms of fraud risk and resources 

√   This report 

P
age 151



Appendix 6 

 
Yes No N/A Comment 

There is a counter fraud and corruption strategy 
applying to all aspects of the local authority’s 
business which has been communicated. 

√ 
  

Approved Audit Committee in September 2017 

The local authority has arrangements in place that 
are designed to promote and ensure probity and 
propriety in the conduct of its business. 

√ 
   

The risks of fraud and corruption are specifically 
considered in the local authority’s overall risk 
management process. 

√ 
   

Counter fraud staff are consulted to fraud-proof 
new policies, strategies and initiatives across 
departments and this is reported upon to 
committee. 

√ 
  

Chief Finance Officer consulted on new policies, strategies and 
initiatives, where more detailed consideration is required the 
Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer is consulted. 

Successful cases of proven fraud/corruption are 
routinely publicised to raise awareness. 

√ 
  

Press coverage of fraud cases. 
 

The local authority has put in place arrangements 
to prevent and detect fraud and corruption and a 
mechanism for ensuring that this is effective and 
is reported to committee. 

√ 
  

Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer in conjunction with Finance Lead 
Specialist annual report to Audit Committee 

The local authority has put in place arrangements 
for monitoring compliance with standards of 
conduct across the local authority covering: 

√ 
  

Annual reports to Standards Committee or Audit Committee 

– codes of conduct including behaviour for 
counter fraud, anti-bribery and corruption 

    

– register of interests 
    

– register of gifts and hospitality. 
    

P
age 152



Appendix 6 

 
Yes No N/A Comment 

The local authority undertakes recruitment vetting 
of staff prior to employment by risk assessing 
posts and undertaking the checks recommended 
in FFCL 2020 to prevent potentially dishonest 
employees from being appointed. 

√ 
   

Members and staff are aware of the need to make 
appropriate disclosures of gifts, hospitality and 
business. This is checked by auditors and 
reported to committee. 

√ 
  

Members and staff aware of need to make disclosures, reported to 
committee but not checked by auditors on a recurring basis: last 
internal audit review was 2020 and found a reasonable level of 
assurance.  The recommendations of the audit report have all been 
accepted and implemented. 

There is a programme of work to ensure a strong 
counter fraud culture across all departments and 
delivery agents led by counter fraud experts. 

√ 
  

Fraud risk assessments prepared for all services reviewed as part 
of annual service planning process; standing invitation for Fraud 
Specialist to attend team meetings, compulsory fraud awareness 
training for all new staff from September 2016. 

There is an independent and up-to-date whistle-
blowing policy which is monitored for take-up and 
can show that suspicions have been acted upon 
without internal pressure. 

√ 
  

Whistle-blowing policy approved 2013; reviewed biannually by 
Audit Committee. 

Contractors and third parties sign up to the 
whistle-blowing policy and there is evidence of 
this. There should be no discrimination against 
whistle-blowers. 

√ 
  

Included in procurement documents 

Fraud resources are assessed proportionately to 
the risk the local authority faces and are 
adequately resourced. 

√ 
  

Fraud resources are directed towards the areas with the greatest 
risks based on the fraud risk assessments. 

There is an annual fraud plan which is agreed by 
committee and reflects resources mapped to risks 
and arrangements for reporting outcomes. This 
plan covers all areas of the local authority’s 
business and includes activities undertaken by 
contractors and third parties or voluntary sector 
activities. 

√ 
  

Three-year plan included in the Counter Fraud Strategy, to be 
monitored by Audit Committee annually 

P
age 153



Appendix 6 

 
Yes No N/A Comment 

Statistics are kept and reported by the fraud team 
which cover all areas of activity and outcomes. 

√ 
  

This report 

Fraud officers have unfettered access to premises 
and documents for the purposes of counter fraud 
investigation. 

√ 
  

Also included in the Council’s standard terms and conditions for 
procurements. 

There is a programme to publicise fraud and 
corruption cases internally and externally which is 
positive and endorsed by the council’s 
communication team. 

√ 
  

Fraud cases routinely reported in local press and on Council 
website. 

All allegations of fraud and corruption are risk 
assessed. 

√ 
   

The fraud and corruption response plan covers all 
areas of counter fraud work: 

√ 
  

Plan approved 2017, actions monitored regularly 

– prevention 
    

– detection 
    

– investigation 
    

– sanctions 
    

– redress. 
    

The fraud response plan is linked to the audit plan 
and is communicated to senior management and 
members. 

√ 
  

Fraud risk assessment help inform the preparation of the internal 
audit plan 

Asset recovery and civil recovery is considered in 
all cases. 

√ 
  

Also prosecution and penalties within the benefits system 

There is a zero tolerance approach to fraud and 
corruption that is defined and monitored and 
which is always reported to committee. 

√ 
  

This report 

There is a programme of proactive counter fraud 
work which covers risks identified in assessment. 

√ 
  

Based on actions arising from fraud risk assessments. 

P
age 154



Appendix 6 

 
Yes No N/A Comment 

The counter fraud team works jointly with other 
enforcement agencies and encourages a 
corporate approach and co-location of 
enforcement activity 

√ 
  

Particularly with DWP staff on benefits work but also work with 
Police and HMRC. 

The local authority shares data across its own 
departments and between other enforcement 
agencies. 

√ 
  

Working mainly with Lancashire and North West authorities in data 
sharing.  Used resources of the National Anti-Fraud Network 
(NAFN) in obtaining data for cross-matching. 

Prevention measures and projects are undertaken 
using data analytics where possible. 

√ 
  

Mainly focussed on revenues & benefits, recent work on right-to-
buy applications from South Lakes Housing  

The counter fraud team has registered with the 
Knowledge Hub so it has access to directories 
and other tools 

    

The counter fraud team has access to the FFCL 
regional network. 

√    

There are professionally trained and accredited 
staff for counter fraud work. If auditors undertake 
counter fraud work they too must be trained in this 
area.  

√ 
  

Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer professionally qualified in counter-
fraud. 

The counter fraud team has adequate knowledge 
in all areas of the local authority or is trained in 
these areas. 

√ 
  

Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer professionally qualified in counter-
fraud and has prepared fraud risk assessments to gain 
understanding of risks in other areas of the local authority. 

The counter fraud team has access (through 
partnership/other local authorities/or funds to buy 
in) to specialist staff for: 

√ 
   

– surveillance 
    

– computer forensics 
    

– asset recovery 
    

– financial investigations. 
    

P
age 155



Appendix 6 

 
Yes No N/A Comment 

Weaknesses revealed by instances of proven 
fraud and corruption are scrutinised carefully and 
fed back to departments to fraud proof systems. 

√ 
  

Majority of cases relate to claims for benefits and reliefs: systems 
are constantly reviewed to learn from any identified frauds. 

 

P
age 156



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

08 December 2021 

Risk Management Update 

 

Portfolio:   Councillor Jonathan Brook - Leader of the Council 

Report from:  Dan Hudson – Strategy Lead Specialist 

Report Author: John Davies – Case Management Support Services 

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

It is expected that Audit Committee will be updated with the Strategic Risk Register, 
including the continuous and active management of the risks. This report is provided 
in line with Audit Committee Work Programme. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee note the Strategic Risk Register in 
appendix 1 of this report 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 Risk Management is a vital organisational control and is a key part of the Council’s 
governance arrangements. The Council has a continuous focus on risk management 
in terms of prioritisation of activity towards service delivery and also responses to the 
Covid-19 Pandemic.  

3.2 The Strategic Risk Register contains all those risks above and below the line of risk 
tolerance.  

3.3 Risk Owners attend Audit Committee to support discussion and queries on the risks 
and their mitigations. 

3.4 All risks above the line of tolerance have mitigations listed. These mitigations are 
designed to reduce the risks in terms of likelihood or impact or both.  

3.5 The aim of mitigations is to reduce a risk from the current position on the risk matrix to 
the target position.   

3.6 A risk should reach its target position by the target date. For a risk to be managed on 
schedule the mitigations must be implemented by their due dates. Not completing 
mitigations on time places a risk in exception.  

3.7 Risks are highlighted with exception status as part of quarterly performance reporting 
arrangements. A risk is only removed from the register (archived) if there is no longer 
any risk. Please see the Risk Register at appendix 1. 

3.8 Audit Committee of 23 April 2015, Item AUD/55 required sight of the full register to 
satisfy the committee that strategic risks are being managed.  

Page 157

Item No.12



3.9 Following a review of the Strategic Risks for Quarter 4 2019/20 it was found that 65% 
of risks were above appetite. This significant change was due to the pressures brought 
about by Covid-19. The review for Quarter 2 2021/22 shows that improvement 
continues - now with a significantly reduced 19% of risks positioned above appetite. 
Risks above appetite are reviewed at least on a quarterly basis. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 The Strategic Risk Register is reviewed by Corporate Management Team each quarter 
as part of quarterly performance monitoring and reporting arrangements and the 
review informs this report. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 No alternative options – the Audit Committee requires that risk management 
arrangements are effective. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 Risk management arrangements underpin the achievement of all priorities. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 There are no financial or resource implications in updating Audit Committee on recent 
risk activity.  However, many of the risks identified relate to financial issues and are 
considered as part of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan, budget preparation 
and monitoring process.  

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no human resource implications in updating Audit Committee on risk activity. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no legal implications in updating Audit Committee on recent risk activity. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No 

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: Risk 
management arrangements underpin Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 
objectives. Therefore there is no requirement to carry out a Health, Social, Economic 
and Environmental Assessment. 

7.6 Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: None 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No 

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: Risk 
management underpins equality and diversity objectives and therefore there is no 
requirement to carry out an Equality Impact Assessment. 

7.9 Summary of equality and diversity impacts: None 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

That actions to mitigate the 
strategic risks are not met 

The risks are not reduced 
or increase and impact on 

Risk mitigations are 
monitored as part of 
quarterly performance 

Page 158



Risk Consequence Controls required 

the Council’s delivery 
against budgets/services 

monitoring arrangements 
and appropriate action 
taken to reduce risks. 

That risks are not captured or 
kept under review 

Risks are not up to date or 
monitored leading to 
impact on service delivery 

Risks are reviewed each 
quarter by Corporate 
Management Team as 
part of quarterly 
performance reporting 
arrangements. 

Contact Officers 

John Davies, Case Management Officer, 01539 733333, rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk  

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Strategic Risks Register Quarter 2 2021/22 

 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Previous Audit Committee Risk 
Management Update reports  

Previous Audit Committee reports on SLDC Website 

 

Previous Cabinet Council Plan 
Performance Monitoring reports 
with Strategic Risks Register 

Previous Cabinet reports on SLDC Website 

 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Legal Services 02/11/21 18/11/21  

Section 151 Officer 02/11/21 25/11/21 

Monitoring Officer 02/11/21 18/11/21 

CMT 25/11/21 25/11/21 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist 02/11/21 

Human Resources Lead Specialist 02/11/21 

Communications Team 02/11/21 

Leader 26/11/21 

Committee Chairman 26/11/21 

Portfolio Holder 26/11/21 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 08/12/21 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 159

mailto:rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=135
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=121


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 160



1 

 

Appendix 1 
Strategic Risks Register – Quarter 2 2021/22 

 
 

 
Introduction 
 
Risk Management is an essential element of corporate governance arrangements. The process of risk management allows the Council to identify, prioritise and mitigate risks which may have a negative effect on services. 
This is an important and underpinning process which ensures good value for money and also continuity of services.  
 
Risks are recognised as essential management information and so contribute towards decision making. This document lists all those risks which are considered as strategic in nature – in other words those risks that could 
have a wide impact or require senior management control. 
 
This Strategic Risks Register is reviewed and updated every quarter by Corporate Management Team. Risks above the line of ‘risk appetite’ are a priority and so are reviewed every quarter – whilst those below risk appetite 
are reviewed once a year. 
 
Strategic risks are by their very nature problematic and so can remain on the register for significant periods of time. 
 
Page 2 explains the Risk Matrix with Likelihood, Impact and green/blue zones. 

 
Page 3 contains the ‘Heat Map’ which shows the distribution of risk on the matrix – providing an ‘at a glance’ view of all risks. 
 
Page 4 contains the Strategic Risk Register 

 
 

 
 

P
age 161



2 

 

How to understand the Risk Matrix: 
 
This register contains the full and complete list of the Council’s Strategic Risks. Each risk is plotted on a risk matrix to show the degree of likelihood and impact. The greater the likelihood and impact the higher the priority 
for management. Those risks which lay above the line of ‘risk appetite’ can be seen in the blue zone of the matrix. These risks are a priority for management and are reviewed every quarter. Risks below the risk appetite, in 
the green zone, are a lower priority and so are reviewed on an annual basis. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

High 

    

Medium 

  

x 
 

Low 

 

x 
  

Very Low 

    

 

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical 

 
Impact 

Risks positioned in the blue zone of the risk matrix are above ‘risk 
appetite’ (high priority) and require quarterly mitigation and 
management. Mitigation updates are listed for these risks.  
 
Risks positioned in the green zone of the risk matrix are below 
‘risk appetite’ (lower priority) and require an annual review in 
Quarter Four. 
 

P
age 162



3 

 

Risk ‘Heat Map’ - showing the current position of all risks in this report 

 
This matrix provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks which are positioned in the blue zone and so are above the line of risk appetite.  
 
Commentary: Following a review of the Strategic Risks for Quarter 4 2019/20 it was found that 65% of risks were above appetite. This significant change was due to the pressures brought about by Covid-19. The review this 
Quarter 2 2021/22 shows that improvement continues - now with a significantly reduced 19% of risks positioned above appetite.  These above appetite risks are reviewed at least on a quarterly basis. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

High (4)         

Medium (3) 22   5, 6, 21   

Low (2)   7 
4, 9, 13, 
14, 15, 

19, 20, 23 
  

Very Low (1)     8 16, 17 

  

Negligible (1) Marginal (2) Serious (3) Critical (4) 

  

Impact 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 163



4 

 

Strategic Risk Register 
 

The ‘Heat Map’ on the previous page shows the position of each risk on the matrix in terms of likelihood and impact  

 

Risk 
No. Name Description 

Risk 
Appetite 

Review 
frequency Mitigations History of improvement 

Officer 
Owner 

Portfolio 
Owner 

1 Income targets are not 
met due to ineffective 
debt collection  

Archived Archived Archived   Archived during Q1 2016/17 Finance Lead 
Specialist 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

2 Contracts do not 
deliver the standards 
of performance 
required within the 
contract fee agreed 

Archived. (New risk around contracts 
identified Q4 2019/20 - see Risk no. 23.) 

Archived Archived   Archived during Q4 2018/19 Finance Lead 
Specialist 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

3 Business Continuity  Archived Archived Archived   Archived during Q1 2018/19 Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

4 Affordable housing 
targets are not met. 

The Council will need to enable new 
housing particularly through private sector 
development. This is influenced by New 
Homes Bonus and Local Government 
Financing. During Covid-19 pandemic a 
temporary redcuction in completions is 
expected - it is likely that the 2025 target 
will be met. 

Below Annually   Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED.  
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  retained on the 
register to allow regular monitoring.  
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  review indicates that 
housing performance is on track. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  review indicates 
housing is likely to achieve the 2025 target. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED 

Director of 
Customer 
and 
Commercial 
Services 

Housing 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 164



5 

 

5 Impact of the Welfare 
Reform on 
communities, Council 
operations and 
resources 

The Council mitigates as far as possible 
against both the impacts of welfare 
reform on communities and also on 
Council operations and resources. Welfare 
reform results in significant changes to 
taxes and benefits - impacting on low-
income tenants and social landlords. With 
transfer to Universal Credit widely 
reported impacts on claimants across 
England. Central Government monitor 
impacts and make adjustments. The 
current risk position is proportionate for 
South Lakeland. The Council has in place 
many mitigations to reduce poverty and to 
alleviate against universal credit impacts. 
This risk has increased due to the Covid-19 
Pandemic and mitigations have been 
expanded to cover Covid-19 impacts. 
Addressing impact within the district 
requires a multi-agency approach. 

Above Quarterly The Council communicates regularly with 
DWP and CAB.  
Discretionary Housing Payment.  
Council Tax Reduction Scheme.  
Temporary Council Tax COVID -19 Hardship 
Fund. 
Council Tax Discretionary Relief Scheme. 
Building Financial Resilience Group - 
partnership working to reduce poverty.  
Further funding to be provided to CA To 
increase access to services for those 
residents who are experiencing financial and 
employment difficulties because of Covid-19 
and the Government restrictions imposed as 
a reaction to it. To ensure those people can 
access the service funding provided to a 
project to pilot a dedicated webchat advice 
service. 
Employed additional resource to administer 
the increase in HB/CTRS claims as a result of 
COVID-19. 
Addressing need within communities via a 
range of mitigations, for example Covid 
response grants, support to the Voluntary 
sector, work of the multi-agency  Community 
Resilience Group. 

Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - risk retained whilst 
potential for impacts. 
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - measures to reduce 
poverty and alleviate against impacts now listed. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED -  risk increased due to 
Covid-19 pandemic impacts and greater dependency on Universal 
Credit. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED further 
mitigations added. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk 
- community impacts are being monitored. Q2 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED whilsts claimant numbers increased. Q3 
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED from Q2. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED: 
Likelihood improved due to Covid response.  
05/08/21 Interim review at request of Audit Committee: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED – ‘Risk Name’ and ‘Risk Description’ 
clarified to better reflect impact on both council operations and 
resources as well as community. Further examples of existing 
mitigations now added with note on multi-agency approach 
across the district. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED Risk 
review indicates no change. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Health, 
Wellbeing 
and 
Poverty 
Alleviation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

6 Medium Term 
Financial Planning – 
delivery of a balanced 
budget 

Current and future years proposed budget 
reductions (expenditure and income) are 
not achieved. Future year’s budget 
reductions (expenditure or income) are 
not identified. Significant existing income 
sources are not protected or effectively 
managed. Income from Central 
Government is reduced above the current 
assumptions. NDR income assumptions 
are not achieved. Other key factors are 
Spending Review, Business Rates 
Retention, Fair Funding Review and Local 
Government Finance Settlement. The 
Coronavirus pandemic presents significant 
income and expenditure challenges. 
08/09/21: there are a number of changes 
to the level of MTFP risk. 
1. The projected deficits (and therefore 
savings targets) has reduced due to 
assumptions around the delay in the local 
government finance reform. 
2. There is increased uncertainty around 
existing costs and income due to the 
continuing impact of Covid-19 and the 
potential future impacts of local 

Above Quarterly MTFP assumptions reviewed, updated and 
reported on quarterly basis. Options to 
resolve issues are provided to Cabinet each 
quarter. MTFP review during July 2020 - 
completed. 08/09/21: A working group of all 
council Chief Finance Officers from Cumbria 
now discuss weekly the potential impact of 
LGR and review risks. 

Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk description 
updated. 
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk description 
further updated. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED  -  risk increased due to 
challenges of Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED - mitigations reviewed. 06/08/20: Review indictates 
no change to risk at this time - the MTFP review is completed. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED since recent review. Q3 
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED 
in terms of both likelihood and impact due to financial support 
from government and therefore reduced budget pressure for 
future years. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - 
additional mitigations around LGR included and risk description 
updated. 

Finance Lead 
Specialist 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 165



6 

 

government reform 
3. There is a need to review projects and 
therefore budgets and capital programme 
for deliverability of schemes before LGR 
4. There is likely to be a significant request 
for resources to fund the transition costs 
of LGR 

7 Information 
Management is not 
effective 

The Council is required to have effective 
information governance procedures. It will 
be necessary to manage corporate 
information by implementing processes, 
roles and controls - including GDPR and 
the Data Protection and Information 
Security Policies. 

Below Annually Managers are appropriately trained. 
Requirements in Job Descriptions and 
appraisals. Internal Audit findings acted on in 
a timely manner. Internal communication 
regarding policies and protocols. Review and 
monitoring of arrangements. Information 
Governance (IG) Framework in place. 
Continuous focus on new starters and 
improvement to existing procedures. 

Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation due dates 
updated re Information Governance Board Highlights Report 
14/12/17. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION IMPROVED  - risk reduced via 
internal communications, improved access to information, 
processes and data protocols. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED additional mitigations added. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

8 The infrastructure 
required to deliver the 
Council Plan priorities 
is not provided. 

Infrastructure is required to support 
businesses and housing objectives. The 
Council implements the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to fund 
infrastructure. Protocols for CIL 
Governance and Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan. The impacts of Storm Desmond may 
have implications for future flood 
resilience measures and infrastructure.  

Below Annually Annual update of Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
- completed. 
Development of protocols for CIL Governance 
- completed. 
CIL Review proposed as part of Development 
Management Policies process - viability study 
completed. 

Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION IMPROVED -  risk reduced due to 
greater certainty meeting infrastructure requirements. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED 

Strategy 
Lead 
Specialist 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

9 Essential strategic 
partnerships required 
to deliver the Council 
Plan do not operate 
effectively.  

Robust agreements are needed to 
continue to work with our identifide 
partners following the decision to 
reorganise local government in Cumbria.      
This will require new strategic 
partnerships to be formed with groups to 
ensure South Lakeland communities 
continue to gain maximum benefit in the 
new unitary councils. This risk continues 
to apply to all strategic partnerships - eg 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), LDNPA 
and existing sovereign councils up until 
April 2023 and beyond. The risk is not 
specific to any one initiative or approach 
from partners, rather their strategic 
direction and policies and correlation with 
South Lakeland's  Council Plan and the 
policies of  Central Government. 

Below Quarterly Monitor resource and cost in line with SLDC's 
Portfolio planning as agreed at Cabinet Away 
Day 06/09/21. This will enable the Council's 
existing and future priorities to be embedded 
in the new unitary council. 

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - SLDC continues to 
improve collaborative working including Morecambe Bay Health 
partners. The Morecambe Bay Three Authority partnerships 
continues to develop within the North West and Government. 
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - due to improved 
relationships across Morecambe Bay including local authority, 
health partners, Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), County 
Council, National Parks, Town and Parish Councils and CALC. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED -  due to recent 
devolution discussions and potential for local government 
reorganisation. Increased tensions felt between two tiers of 
government in Cumbria - all other partnerships remain positive. 
Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - Morecambe Bay 
partnership in specific areas is strong. Covid-19 response is good 
example of partneship working. 'Recovery/devolution' 
information from central Government may lead to increased 
tensions for all tiers of local government in Cumbria. Q2 2020/21: 
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - Q1 commentary remains relevant. 
Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED from Quarter 1 
position.  Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q1 2021/22: 
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - intelligence suggests decision is 
imminent on LGR. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - risk 
review shows improvement to likelihood score 2 with current 
mitigations - risk below appetite.  

Chief 
Executive 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 166



7 

 

10 Procurement 
compliance with new 
legislation  

Archived Archived Archived   Archived during Q1 2016/17 Strategy 
Lead 
Specialist 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

11 Planning for the future 
of the major contracts 
and workload 
implications for 
support services 

Archived Archived Archived   Archived during Q1 2016/17 Strategy 
Lead 
Specialist 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

12 Health and Safety 
management of 
contracts 

Archived Archived Archived   Archived during Q4 2018/19 Chief 
Executive 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

13 Impact of new projects 
and initiatives on 
existing Council Plan 
priorities 

There is a risk that new projects and 
initiatives take the resources required by 
other projects and initiatives currently in 
the programme.  

Below Quarterly Potential new projects and initiatives are 
subject to a pre-assessment to measure 
priority. The Commissioning Strategy will 
provide a robust basis for the evaluation of 
business cases for new projects. Council Plan 
priorities have been reviewed in latest 
version of Council Plan Feb 2021. 
Commissioning Strategy being worked into 
full practice. Response to Covid pandemic 
still necessitates redirection of resources.  

Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - likelihood reduced via 
controls and prioritisation against Strategic Projects Log. 
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED -  increase in likelihood 
and impact due to recovery needs for Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 
2020/21: RISK POSITION INCREASED -  increase in likelihood with 
further awareness response/recovery needs. 06/08/20: Review 
indictates no change to risk. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED due to response and 
recovery needs. Mitigation added re Council Plan priorities. Q3 
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED and additional mitigations added. Q1 
2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED: Likelihood improved -  taken 
steps through strategic project log meeting to pause and or 
reshedule projects and have greater awareness of how new 
initiatives will impact the existing programme.  05/08/21 Interim 
review at request of Audit Committee: RISK POSITION IMPROVED 
- improved one place for likelihood due to continued adherence 
to mitigating measures. Risk now below appetite. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 167



8 

 

14 Unintended impacts of 
efficiencies and 
service changes 

New efficiencies and changes brought 
about by one service or organisation can 
have unintended negative impacts on 
another service – especially if proposals 
are not consulted on until to late in the 
process. Impacts can increase cost of 
running services. This risk is  influenced by 
Risk 15 Customer Connect Programme. 

Below Quarterly Managed via operational and budgeting 
processes.  
Promote early discussions on potential 
change with external parties. 
Customer Connect Programme. 

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk remains 
unchanged during organisational change. 
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - description updated. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - unchanged due to 
Covid-19 emergency response and recovery. Q1 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED due to Covid-19. 06/08/20: Review 
indictates no change to risk due to Covid and budget challenges. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED during period of 
organisational change and adaptation to Covid-19. Q3 2020/21: 
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
IMPROVED likelihood reduced to a score of 2, risk now below 
appetite. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

15 Customer Connect 
Programme 

Customer Connect requires a significant 
change to ways of working. Challenges for 
the programme include scope and 
ambition, staff resources and capacity, 
skills and workforce planning, buy in from 
customers and training and development 
for staff and Councillors. Programme 
Board manages risks via the Customer 
Connect Risk Log. The Covid-19 pandemic 
increases risk to the next phase of the 
programme. 

Below Quarterly Managed via the Programme Board - 
resources identified year 1 and 2. Programme 
Risk Log shared with Audit Committee each 
qurater.  New mitigations as a result of 
Covid-19 have been identified and are to be 
included for Q1. Final reporting on 
Programme for January / February 2021.  

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation progress 
updated. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - reduced in likelihood, 
Programme financial benefits realised and advancements to new 
ways of working. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk. 
Programme Management arrangements are resumed. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation added re 
final reporting on Programme. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED - however risk improvement expected by March 
2021. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - risk review 
indicates impact has reduced to score 3 due to programme 
moving to completion and reporting - risk now below appetite 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

16 Waste Collection – 
Reversing Manoeuvres 

Management of waste collection vehicle 
manoeuvres on recycling and waste 
collection rounds. Practical and 
technological safety precautions in place: 
waste collection round risk assessments 
and safe systems of work. All drivers and 
crews trained. All rounds monitored to 
ensure safe systems are adhered to. 
Vehicles have advanced technologies e.g. 
reversing CCTV and sophisticated radar for 
safe manoeuvres. 

Below Annually Safe System of Work, inspections and risk 
reducing technologies. 
Reviewed vehicle movements including 
reversing - findings implemented. 
Lane End Policy mitigates against hazardous 
vehicle manouvers. New reversing aid 
installed to assist safer vehicle manoeuvers.  

Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - target position met due 
to completed mitigations.  
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - new mitigation ‘Lane 
End Policy’ added. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED 

Director of 
Customer 
and 
Commercial 
Services 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

17 Cyber Security 
incident 

High profile cyber security breaches across 
the World and the UK. The Council has 
effective security in place - however 
threats are becoming ever more 
sophisticated. Cyber-attacks can cross 
international boundaries and be initiated 
by organised criminals, individuals or 
states. Terrorists are conducting low-level 
attacks and aspire to more significant acts. 

Below Annually Cyber security mitigations within the ICT Risk 
Register. 
Review of Insurance. 
Security updates, virus software updates and 
industry best practice.Business Continuity 
arrangements strengthened. Further training 
for all staff has been made available and 
accessible to all - during September 2020 re 
cyber security awareness. 

Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - insurance mitigation 
added. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation added 
around further training for staff. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 168



9 

 

18 Potential reduction in 
income from the 
disposal of recyclable 
materials as a 
consequence of 
market changes 

China is now receiving only very low 
contaminated recycled waste. As a 
consequence there will be very large 
quantities of UK and international waste 
that cannot be sent to China. Without an 
alternative outlet the value of this waste 
will fall significantly. The Council's waste 
collection approach avoids contamination 
and so may be less affected. This 
advantage is confrimed in a recent APSE 
report. However income provided from 
waste recycling is significant and the 
market is currently volatile. 

Archived Annually Legally compliant, waste recycling processes 
minimising contamination. 
Maintain high profile message to residents to 
avoid contamination of recyclables. 
Budgeting mitigations in place. 

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED - escalation from operational level to 
Strategic Risks Register. 
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to the lowered 
market value of waste. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk remains the 
same as market remains volatile. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
ARCHIVED - risk now fully managed via mitigations. 

Director of 
Customer 
and 
Commercial 
Services 

Climate 
Action and 
Biodiversity 
Portfolio 
Holder 

19 Business Continuity: 
Flu Pandemic - Loss of 
people, skills and 
supply chain 
disruption 

Flu Pandemic is listed alongside the top 
risks in the Cumbria Community Risk 
Register. Covid-19 global pandemic: the 
Council is following Government 
guidelines and working with Cumbria Local 
Resilience Forum to safeguard the public. 
The Council has implemented 
unprecedented Business Continuity 
arrangements to maintain all essential 
services - and also to undertake activities 
outside its normal remit. Business 
Continuity is key for meeting statutory 
obligations and mitigations are in place 
within strategic and operational plans. 
This risk has increased due to the Covid-19 
Pandemic. 

Below Quarterly Refer to and implement National/PHE advice 
and guidance.  
Coordinate with and support comprehensive 
CLRF response and business continuity 
arrangemnents.  
Have regard to mitigations identified within 
the Cumbria Flu Pandemic Plan. 
Organisational and CLRF debriefs. New 
mitigations as a result of Covid-19 have been 
identified and are to be included for Q1. 
Focus on maintaining services during second 
and third wave. 

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED - escalation to the Strategic Risk 
Register. 
27/09/18: Mitigations updated, BCM audit result ‘Substantial 
Assurance’. 
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED - due to unprecedented 
global Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
IMPROVED - likelihood of impacts are reduced with resilient 
arrangements in place. Note possibility of second pandemic 
wave. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to emerging 
second wave and ongoing pressures. Mitigations added re 
maintaining services. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
during second wave and restrictions. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED during national restrictions. Q1 2021/22: RISK 
POSITION IMPROVED - Likelihood improved due to the current 
decrease in Covid infections, risk position below appetite. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

20 Capacity for Business 
as Usual during the 
transition to the new 
organisational model. 

Risk that vacancies are not filled for roles 
which are essential for running the 
organisation and meeting the health and 
welfare needs of the public.  Potential 
impact on business whilst moving through 
transition to learn new processes, 
behaviours etc. 

Below Quarterly Transition Planning to maintain BAU. 
Culture Change, Learning & Skill development 
planning to maintain skills and knowledge. 
Use of temporay resources to maintain 
critical posts. 
During transition extra temporary resources 
have been put in place. Review required 
approaching end of temporary resources. 

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - time of organisational 
change. 
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED  
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to response and 
recovery activity for Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED due to Covid-19. 06/08/20: Review 
indictates no change to risk. Use of temporary resources to 
mitigate. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED since recent review. 
Mitigation added re additional temporary resources during 
transition. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED, additional mitigation 
added. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - further work 
has progressed to programme outstanding Transition work and 
associated resources. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - 
risk review indicates likelihood has improved to score 2 due to 
moving to Customer Connect programme completion and 
reporting - risk now below appetite. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

P
age 169



10 

 

21 Accountable Body for 
large value schemes 

The Council acting as ‘Accountable Body’ 
for large value grant aided schemes. The 
Council acts as “the bank” for grant 
monies - making payments to scheme 
deliverers. Robust governance, project 
appraisal, decision making - and clarity 
over responsibilities and accountabilities 
will manage and mitigate risks. Lack of 
adequate governance arrangements could 
lead to a reduction, suspension, 
withholding or repayment of grant. The 
current capital programme contains 
£5.3M of ERDF flood scheme with a 
further £2.3M of Coastal Communities 
Fund, the Cross-a-Moor junction 
improvement scheme and Cumbria Choice 
Based Lettings. 

Above Quarterly Robust governance, decisions and clarity on 
responsibilities and accountabilities. 
Partnership Agreement between partners 
and Council as Accountable Body. Indemnify 
re legal claims. 
Monitoring process re potential weaknesses / 
risks towards corrective action. Each material 
scheme to be in Operational Risk Registers 
and monitored. 
Audit to ensure evidence in line with 
document retention. Local grant recipients 
retain original evidence. 
Regular reporting for accountable body 
projects to Corporate Management Team. 

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED 
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - reporting mitigation 
added. 
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to Covid-19 
response and recovery activities. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED due to Covid-19 - delivery timescales may be 
affected. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk.  Q2 
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to uncertainty about 
timetable. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to 
uncertainties around timetable. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED whilst some projects completeing funding 
agreements. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED previous 
commentary is still valid. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED - review indicates that risk remains the same. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

22 Strategic documents 
may no longer meet 
post pandemic needs. 

Strategic documents include for example 
the Local Plan and Council Plan. Change in 
circumstance increases uncertainty in 
what the Local Plan needs to address. 
New statistics show population increase 
with implications for affordable housing 
delivery and the Housing Strategy.  This 
risk is due to the Covid-19 Pandemic. 

Below Quarterly Continue to monitor socio economic and 
demographic indicators. 
Make greater use of electronic 
communications. 
Continue to engage closely with stakeholders 
and relevant delivery partners. Reviewed 
Council Plan priorities were adopted 
February 2021. Local Plan is in review and 
will take account of post Covid situation. 

Q4 2019/20: RISK IDENTIFIED - due to Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 
2020/21:  RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk remains unchanged 
during Covid-19. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk. 
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - however the Council 
Plan review is underway and this will reflect Covid-19 needs. Q3 
2020/21: RISK POSITION IMPROVED due to greater awareness 
and understanding of impacts and how strategies may need to 
adapt. Revised Council Plan to be considered by Council in Feb 
2021. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION IMPROVED likelihood reduced 
to a score of 1. 

Director of 
Strategy, 
Innovation 
and 
Resources 

Leader 
and 
Promoting 
South 
Lakeland 
and 
Innovation 
Portfolio 
Holder 

23 Significant Contracts There is a potential risk for service 
provision due to the economic impacts of 
Covid-19. There is also the potential for 
budget implications. 

Below Quarterly Communication with Governemt regarding 
support for providers. Maintaining close 
contact with providers. Services opened in 
July with expansion of activities for 
September. Mitigations in place. 

Q4 2019/20: RISK IDENTIFIED - due to Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 
2020/21:  RISK POSITION UNCHANGED -  risk remains unchanged 
during Covid-19.      05/08/20: Although services have opened 
this review indicates no change to risk due to uncertainty over 
future pandemic waves and restrictions. Q2 2020/21: RISK 
POSITION UNCHANGED - due to increasing restrictions and 
increased Covid-19 cases. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION 
UNCHANGED due to second pandemic wave and tiered 
restrictions. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION IMPROVED likelihood 
reduced with roadmap to recovery. 

Director of 
Customer 
and 
Commercial 
Services 

Deputy 
Leader & 
Finance 
and Assets 
Portfolio 
Holder 

 

P
age 170



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 8 December 2021 

Audit Committee Risk Register 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Section 151 Officer 

Report Author: Helen Smith – Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

Wards:  (All Wards) 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

Links to Council Plan Priorities: The Audit Committee is part of the system of Corporate 
Governance to ensure proper arrangements are in place to ensure the effective delivery of all 
Council Plan Priorities. 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

1.1 This report is presented to Audit Committee to facilitate the ongoing review of the Audit 
Committee Risk Register. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee reviews and notes the updated Audit 
Committee Risk Register. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Risk Register was last reviewed on 22 April 2021 and has been brought back 
before the Committee with that meeting’s recommendations included.  

Appendix 1 shows the risks previously identified for the Audit Committee and those 
which have been archived. These risks have been reviewed and archived during the 
period the Committee has existed.  These will continue to be reviewed annually. 

3.2 The Committee at its meeting in April 2021 considered its three current risks:   

3.2.1 RISK AC 1: The challenge from the committee is limited due to inexperience. 
The current likelihood was Very Low following completion of induction training 
by all Committee members.  

3.2.2 RISK AC 2: This risk regards the ability of the Council to carry out its statutory 
requirements effectively due to limited resources as a result of the level of 
funding of local government.  This risk is linked to the strategic risk around the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.  The likelihood of this risk had been reduced to 
reflect the Council’s robust financial planning process including the 
identification and delivery of savings.  However, the risks had increased as 
the current financial situation remains uncertain with the impact of Covid-19, 
delays to the expected implementation of 75% retention of business rates 
(now confirmed as cancelled), the results of the fair funding review and 
uncertainty about the timing and content of the next Local Government 
Finance Settlement.  

Page 171

Item No.13



3.2.3 RISK AC 14: The effectiveness of the Audit Committee is limited due to the 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  This includes the risk arising from the long 
gap between meetings of the Audit Committee (from December 2019 to 
September 2020), the risk arising from virtual meetings and the risk of 
reduced support to the Committee due to increased service demands 
elsewhere in the organisation.  

No changes are proposed to these risks or the archived risks. 

3.3 A new risk is proposed around the impact of Local Government Reorganisation and 
the potential redirection of resources.  This reflects delays to the submission of reports 
to this Committee due to diversion of resources elsewhere. 

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Audit Committee Risk Register. 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 The Audit Committee risk register is considered by Audit Committee twice per year. 

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 No alternative options – risks should be reviewed and managed. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 There are no direct financial implications of this report. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no direct staffing resources. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

7.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No    

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
review of Audit Committee risks is a corporate governance issue and has no direct 
health, social, economic or environmental impacts. 

7.6 Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts 

 Positive Neutral Negative Unknown 

Environment 
and Health 

Greenhouse gases 
emissions 

   X 

 Air Quality    X 

 Biodiversity    X 

 Impacts of Climate 
Change 

   X 

 Reduced or zero 
requirement for energy, 
building space, materials 
or travel 

   X 

Page 172



 Active Travel    X 

Economy and 
Culture 

Inclusive and sustainable 
development 

   X 

 Jobs and levels of pay    X 

 Healthier high streets    X 

 Culture, creativity and 
heritage 

   X 

Housing and 
Communities 

Standard of housing    X 

 Access to housing    X 

 Crime    X 

 Social connectedness    X 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No    

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: The 
review of Audit Committee risks is a corporate governance issue and has no direct 
equality or diversity impacts. 

7.9 Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts 

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X” 

Age P  0 X N  

Disability P  0 X N  

Gender reassignment (transgender) P  0 X N  

Marriage & civil partnership P  0 X N  

Pregnancy & maternity P  0 X N  

Race/ethnicity P  0 X N  

Religion or belief P  0 X N  

Sex/gender P  0 X N  

Sexual orientation P  0 X N  

Armed forces families P  0 X N  

Rurality P  0 X N  

Socio-economic disadvantage P  0 X N  

 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

No significant risks associated 

with this report 

  

Contact Officers 

Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist, 01539 793147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Page 173



Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

None 
 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Section 151 Officer 29/11/2021 Report of S151 Officer 

Monitoring Officer 29/11/2021 29/11/2021  

CMT N/A N/A 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist N/A 

Human Resources Lead Specialist N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 08/12/2021 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 174



1 

 

Appendix 1 

Audit Committee Risk Register 

 

Report Author: Helen Smith 

Generated on: 29.11.2021  Audit Committee 

The Risk matrix shows how risks are prioritised: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

High 

    

Medium 

    

Low 

    

Very Low 

    

 

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical 

 
Impact 

Priority risks which 
require mitigating 
controls and 

quarterly review 

Low priority risks 
which require annual 

review 

P
age 175



2 

Audit Committee Risks: 2020/21 Risk Register/162015  

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 1 The challenge from the committee is limited  due to inexperience   

Risk Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest Note 

Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be archived as is no 
longer relevant. The Audit Committee of the 23/07/15 decided that this risk should 
be re-instated as 2 new members were added to the Committee at the 20 May 
2015 Annual Council. In April 2016 the likelihood was reduced reflecting the 
experience and training of the existing Committee members. 

Update July 2018: Four new Committee members: Proposed likelihood increased 
from Very Low to Low. 

Update July 2019: Three new Committee members: no change proposed 

Update Dec 2019: Propose reducing likelihood to very low following completion of 
induction training by all committee members.  

Update Sept 21: No change proposed 

  

Actions to 
control this 
risk 

Provide suitable development 
opportunities to prepare 
Members to make an effective 
contribution. 

Action 

completed? 
Commenced Due Date 

 Throughout 

2020/21 Actioned Helen Smith   

 

Risk No. & Title 

RISK AC 2 Audit Committee ineffective due to limited resources following Government changes to the funding of local 
government. 

Local authorities continue to face unprecedented challenges, relating to the pressures of austerity and central government 
funding reductions, and demographic and technological change. 

  

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 4 December 2014 added this risk. In April 2016 the risk was amended to 
concentrate on the impact of funding cuts on the ability of the Council to meet its statutory 
requirements.  This risk links to the Medium Term Financial Plan strategic risk.  The latest Medium 
Term Financial Plan will be considered by Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet and Council 
during 2017. 

In July 2017 the likelihood was reduced from medium to low.Council approved the Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2018/19 – 2022/23 in July 2017. Budget updates during November 2017 – February 
2018 will include updates to the MTFP projections. 

July 2018: Proposed no change to assessment. 

  

P
age 176



3 

Dec 2018: Proposed no change to assessment.  Draft Budget report to Cabinet 28 November 2018 
identifies future deficits, Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement due 6 December 2018, 
Fairer Funding review and proposals for 75% business rate retention ongoing. 

July 2019: Proposed no change to assessment: Medium Term Financial Plan identifies potential 
slippage in Fairer Funding review 

Dec 2019: No change in assessment: Fairer Funding review now confirmed delay from April 2020 to 
April 2021: potential change depending on result of General Election result. 

Sept 2020: No change in assessment: Covid-19 increased budget pressures, government funding 
changes delayed.  Updated MTFP approved by Council 30 June 2020. 

March 2021: No change in assessment: Covid-19 increased budget pressures, government funding 
changes delayed.  Updated Budgets and MTFP projections approved by Council 23 Feb 21. 

Dec 2021: No change in assessment: Covid-19 budget pressures largely mitigated to date with 
additional grant, government funding changes delayed.  Updated Budgets and MTFP projects to be 
reported to Council 14 Dec 2021 

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

Quarterly monitoring of 
MTFP financial model & 
risks 

Action 

completed? Ongoing  Due Date 
Ongoing: 
see MTFP 

Actioned Helen Smith    

 

Risk No. & Title 

RISK AC 14: The effectiveness of the Audit Committee is limited due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  This includes 
the risk arising from the long gap between meetings of the Audit Committee (from December 2019 to September 2020), the 
risk arising from virtual meetings and the risk of reduced support to the Committee due to increased service demands 
elsewhere in the organisation. 

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note 

New risk Sept 2020: No change in assessment: Covid-19 increased budget pressures, 
government funding changes delayed.  Updated MTFP approved by Council 30 June 2020. 

April 2021: February 2021 meeting cancelled due to work pressure of officers.   

Dec 2021: Delays in completion of reports for Audit Committee  

Actions to 
control this 
risk 

 
Action 
completed? Ongoing  Due Date Sept 2021 Actioned Helen Smith  

 

P
age 177



4 

Risk No. & Title 
RISK AC 15: The effectiveness of the Audit Committee is limited due to the resource implications of implementation of LGR 
in Cumbria and the risk of reduced support to the Committee due to increased service demands elsewhere in the 
organisation. 

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note New risk: Dec 2021: Delays in completion of reports for Audit Committee  

Actions to 
control this 
risk 

 
Action 
completed? Ongoing  Due Date March 2023 Actioned Helen Smith  

 

Archived as agreed by previous Audit Committees 

Listed in order of Risk No. & Title 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 3 The Council fail to meet the tighter timescales for the preparation of final accounts from 2017/18 onwards. 

Risk Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note 

The new deadlines will require the accounts for 2017/18 to be prepared and authorised 

by the Chief Finance Officer by the end of May 2018 and audited by the end of July 2018 
which gives one month less for both the preparation and audit of the accounts.  For 
2016/17 the accounts were completed and checked by the end of May 2017.  

An unqualified audit opinion was issued in September 2017 in relation to the 2016/17 
accounts and no material errors were identified. 

July 2018: Accounts prepared and published by 31 May 2018. Audit ongoing at time of 
report preparation. 

Dec 2018: Proposed no change to assessment: preparation of Accounts is a complex 
process, requiring significant skilled & experienced staff.  New reporting standards for 
2018/19 accounts. 

July 2019: Accounts for 2018/19 produced by deadline.  Propose archive this risk. 

Actions to 
control this risk 

Review the 2018/19 closedown 
Action 
completed? 

Ongoing Due Date 
Audit Committee 
July 2019 Actioned Helen Smith 

 

P
age 178



5 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 4 The Council fails to appoint external auditors in accordance with statutory requirements. 

Risk Priority 
Li

ke
lih

o
o

d
     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest Note 

The Council have until December 2017 to make an appointment for external auditors 
when the current arrangements come to an end.  Previous appointments were made by 
the Audit Commission nationally and are currently overseen by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd on behalf of the Secretary of State.  The Council has joined the Sector 
Led body procurement exercise.  This reduces the likelihood of failing to properly appoint 
an external auditor in accordance with statutory requirements through an Audit Panel. 

PSAA Ltd have consulted the Council on the proposed appointment of auditor, this will be 
confirmed in December 2017. 

December 2017: Proposed that risk likelihood reduced from low to very low 

Archived: following December 2017 meeting. 

Actions to 
control this risk 

Review the progress of the proposed 
sector-led procurement exercise 

Action 

completed? 
Ongoing Due Date 

During 

2016/17 Actioned 
Shelagh 
McGregor 

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 5 Insufficient support/ backup provided to the committee   

Risk Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

  X  

Impact 
 

Latest Note Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be archived as is no longer relevant    

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 6 The challenge from the committee is ineffective due to inexperience   

Risk Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note 

Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be archived as is no longer relevant. 
The Audit Committee of the 23/07 decided that this risk should be re-instated as 2 new members 
were added to the Committee at the 20 May 2015 Annual Council. This is included as a new risk 
below the line of tolerance. 

  

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 7 Officers do not recognise the importance of the Audit Committee   

P
age 179



6 

Risk Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest Note Audit Committee of 10/02/11 decided to archive this risk    

 
Risk No. & Title RISK AC 8 Members do not recognise the importance of Audit Committee   

Risk Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note Audit Committee of 10/02/11 decided to archive this risk    

 

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 9 Perception that the Committee is too critical   

Risk Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

 X   

    

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note Audit Committee of 10/02/11 decided to archive this risk    

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 10 Insufficient capacity from Members to make the Committee effective   

Risk Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note Audit Committee of 18/07/13 decided to archive this risk    

P
age 180



7 

   

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 11 Significant changes to the membership In one year   

Risk Priority 
Li

ke
lih

o
o

d
     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest Note Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be archived as is no longer relevant    

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 12 Lack of indicators or measurable outcomes to enable the committee to demonstrate progress and contribution.   

Risk Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest Note Audit Committee of 18/07/13 decided to archive this risk    

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 13 The priority Significant Issues identified by Internal Audit are not addressed   

Risk Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note Audit Committee of 4 December 2015 decided to archive this risk.    

 

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 182



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 8 December 2021 

Review of Local Code of Governance and 
Governance Update 

 

Portfolio:  Customer and Locality Services Portfolio Holder, Finance and Assets 
Portfolio Holder 

Report from:  Section 151 Officer 

Report Author: Helen Smith – Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

Links to Council Plan Priorities:  Good governance arrangements link to the Council’s 
achievements of its Council Plan priorities and objectives. 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success 

1.1 This report is presented to show the results of the review of the Council’s Local Code 
of Governance and to update on the progress in implementing the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS) action plan. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

(1) Notes the review of the Local Code of Governance and associated 
documents; and 

 (2) Approves the proposed Partnership Guidelines at Appendix 3 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 Local authorities should have in place an effective system of internal control (SIC).  
For South Lakeland District Council the key features of the SIC are described within 
the Local Code of Governance. 

3.2 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Council is required to review 
the effectiveness of the SIC annually and to report this through an Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS). This is done alongside the statement of accounts and 
must be prepared in accordance with proper practices. 

3.3  CIPFA published a revised version of their governance framework for local 
authorities, ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)’. 
This constitutes proper practice and is to be applied for financial years from April 
2016 onwards. This slightly re-arranged the previous framework moving from 6 
principles to 7 in line with CIPFA’s broader ‘International Framework: Good 
Governance in the Public Sector (2014)’. 

Page 183

Item No.14



Local Code Review 

3.4  The Local Code approved in December 2018 and Annual Governance Statement 
were prepared under the new framework and included recommendations from the 
Council’s internal auditor’s review of the Local Code in 2017/18.  The Code was last 
reviewed in April 2021 and updated to include emphasis on the inclusion of ethics in 
consideration of the organisation’s values and to add a new requirement C14 to 
ensure the Council fully complies with the requirements of the CIPFA FM Code.  No 
further amendments are proposed to the Local Code (Appendix 1). 

3.5 There have been several recent reviews of financial governance and general 
governance including the publication of CIPFA Bulletin 06: Application of the Good 
Governance Framework 2020/21, the introduction of the CIPFA Financial 
Management Code, the CIPFA review of financial reporting in the pandemic and the 
Grant Thornton publication of Lessons from recent Public Interest Reports 2021.  
These have identified new areas of good practice and highlighted the need to review 
any changes to arrangements as a result of Covid-19.  These were incorporated into 
the full review of the Local Code and its application as part of the preparation of the 
Annual Governance Statement.  This review has been updated at Appendix 5.  

3.6 CIPFA introduced a Financial Management Code (FM Code) in 2019 with the 
intention it would be introduced from 2020/21.  The FM Code is intended to improve 
the financial resilience of organisations by embedding enhanced standards of 
financial management.  With the impact of Covid-19 and the additional pressures 
2020/21 became a shadow year with full implementation from April 2021.  There are 
clear links between the FM Code and the Governance Framework, particularly 
around focus on achieving sustainable outcomes.  The AGS for 2020/21 included the 
overall conclusion of an assessment of the organisation’s compliance with the 
principles of the FM Code.  A summary of the requirements and an assessment of 
the Council’s position is included at Appendix 4 to this report.  Where there are 
outstanding matters or areas of improvement, these are included in the AGS action 
plan. 

3.7 Appendix 5 shows the CIPFA principles, sub-principles, example behaviours and 
actions that demonstrate good governance in practice and examples from the CIPFA 
guidance with the Local Code reference for each.  This has been revised, in line with 
an internal audit recommendation that the mapping of the Guidance behaviours and 
actions that demonstrate good governance in practice be mapped only to sub-
principles in the Local Code that pertain to the same principle to which the behaviour 
and action relate.  A self-assessment has been carried out (where 1=inadequate and 
4 = fully met).  Where the self-assessment score is lower than 4 then an action is 
included in the Annual Governance Statement Action Plan.  The AGS action plan is 
included with the AGS in the Council’s published accounts and reviewed by external 
audit.  The 2020/21 AGS action plan has been reviewed and the progress to date is 
reported in Appendix 6. 

3.8 The latest review of at Appendix 5 shows an increase in scores with 50% of tasks 
graded 2 now graded 3 or higher: 

Assessment Score April 2021 Dec 2021 

2 8 4 

3 41 37 

4 176 184 

N/A 2 2 

Total  227 227 

Page 184



  

3.9 There are 4 tasks where the assessment is graded 2.  They are: 

Ref and  Latest Action Plan Comment 

A22: ensure that professional advice 
on legal and financial matters is 
available and recorded well in 
advance of decision making and 
used appropriately when decisions 
have significant legal or financial 
implications. 

Operational risk identified in Audit Committee 
April 2021. Urgent need for adequate legal 
case management system.  
 

B13: to ensure committee decisions 
are fully documented through the 
use of appropriate report templates, 
agenda submission processes and 
minutes; 

The timely publication of agendas and minutes 
for all committees are published on the 
Council's website and can be inspected at the 
Council's offices, always adhering to legislative 
requirements. Officers undergo report writing 
training and have access to the SharePoint 
area which provides advice and guidance on 
decision making and report writing. Training as 
referenced above and Governance and 
Accountability Working Group seeks to embed 
this across all Council areas, recognising there 
needs to be further training on the timely 
submission of reports and correct processes to 
be followed.   

Further training and further communication of 
what is required. Council wide engagement 
needed. 

E8: consider career structures for 
members and officers to encourage 
participation and development 

Ensuring personal, organisational and system 
wide development through shared learning, 
including lessons learnt from governance 
weaknesses both internal and external. 

Overtaken by LGR proposals / implementation 

E8: consider career structures for 
members and officers to encourage 
participation and development 

Taking steps to consider the leadership’s own 
effectiveness and ensuring leaders are open to 
constructive feedback from peer review and 
inspections. 

Overtaken by LGR proposals / implementation 

 

3.10 The 2020/21 identified the Council’s partnership governance arrangements are now 
out-of-date, not effective and are not being followed.  Officers have reviewed 
arrangements elsewhere for management and monitoring of partnerships and have 
prepared draft Partnership Guidance and checklists, attached at Appendix 3.      

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Local Code of Governance 2021 

2 Internal Control Environment 2021 

Page 185



Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

3 Partnerships Guidance 2021 

4 Assessment of CIPFA FM Code implementation 2020/21 

5 Annual Governance Statement and Local Code review 2020/21  

6 AGS Action Plan update 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 Officers have reviewed the existing Local Code of Governance and the CIPFA 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework (2016). 

6.0 Alternative Options 

6.1 Audit Committee can alter the detail of the Local Code of Governance, however this 
should ensure any amendments comply with best practice and the legislative 
framework. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 This report has no direct financial implications.  The Financial Procedures Rules and 
other elements the System of Internal Control ensure the use of the Council’s financial 
resources represent value for money. 

Human Resources 

7.2 This report has no direct human resource implications.  Human Resources policies 
and the Council’s organisational development are consistent with the principles within 
the Local Code of Governance. 

Legal 

7.3 Governance is a key part of the Monitoring officer and Legal Services role and we are 
currently reviewing the Lawyers in Local Government Governance Toolkit.  Reports 
will be brought to the Audit Committee and the work carried out will be discussed at 
the newly established Governance and Accountability Officer working Group. This 
group seeks to ensure that Governance is embedded across the organisation. The 
Local Code of Governance gives a framework to ensure the Council acts lawfully at 
all times. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

7.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No 

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
update of the Local Code of Governance has no direct HSEE implications 

7.6 Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts 

 Positive Neutral Negative Unknown 

Environment 
and Health 

Greenhouse gases 
emissions 

   X 

 Air Quality    X 

 Biodiversity    X 

 Impacts of Climate 
Change 

   X 

Page 186



 Reduced or zero 
requirement for energy, 
building space, materials 
or travel 

   X 

 Active Travel    X 

Economy and 
Culture 

Inclusive and sustainable 
development 

   X 

 Jobs and levels of pay    X 

 Healthier high streets    X 

 Culture, creativity and 
heritage 

   X 

Housing and 
Communities 

Standard of housing    X 

 Access to housing    X 

 Crime    X 

 Social connectedness    X 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No    

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: The 
update of the Local Code of Governance has no direct HSEE implications *** 

7.9 Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts 

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X” 

Age P  0 X N  

Disability P  0 X N  

Gender reassignment (transgender) P  0 X N  

Marriage & civil partnership P  0 X N  

Pregnancy & maternity P  0 X N  

Race/ethnicity P  0 x N  

Religion or belief P  0 X N  

Sex/gender P  0 X N  

Sexual orientation P  0 X N  

Armed forces families P  0 X N  

Rurality P  0 X N  

Socio-economic disadvantage P  0 X N  

 

Page 187



Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

Weaknesses identified in the 
Annual Governance Statement 
action plan are not addressed 
adequately  

Non-compliance with Local 
Code of Governance with 
possible loss of public 
confidence about the way 
the Council conducts its 
business.  

Regular monitoring 
schedule so that Members 
and senior officers can 
monitor progress in 
addressing the 
weaknesses identified.  

Local Code prepared that is not 
in line with proper practice  

Potential gaps in system of 
internal control  

Regular review of Local 
Code; annual review of 
effectiveness based on 
CIPFA framework.  

Contact Officers 

Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist, 01539 793147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk  

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

International Framework: Good 
Governance in the Public Sector 
IFAC/CIPFA  

https://tinyurl.com/w7k7znb 
 
  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Section 151 Officer 30/11/2021 Report of S151 Officer 

Monitoring Officer 30/11/2021 30/11/2021 

CMT N/A N/A 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist N/A 

Human Resources Lead Specialist N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 08/12/2021 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 188

https://tinyurl.com/w7k7znb


 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council 

Local Code of Governance 

December 2021 

Contents 

 

1.0 Introduction ....................................................................................................... 2 

2.0 The Council commits itself to the following principles: ..................................... 3 

Principle A - Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to 
ethical values, and respecting the rule of law ................................................... 3 

Principle B - Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement ..................................................................................................... 5 

Principle C - Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, 
and environmental benefits .............................................................................. 6 

Principle D - Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended outcomes ............................................................ 7 

Principle E Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals within it ............................................................. 9 

Principle F - Managing risks and performance through robust internal control 
and strong public financial management ........................................................ 10 

Principle G - Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and 
audit to deliver effective accountability ........................................................... 12 

3.1 Annual Review of Corporate Governance .................................................... 14 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

Appendix 1 

Page 189

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


2 

 

 

 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 

This Local Code of Governance has been developed from a framework document produced 
by The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Society of 
Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (SOLACE). The CIPFA/SOLACE 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) defines governance 
as follows: 

“Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended 
outcomes for stakeholders are defined and achieved. 

To deliver good governance in the public sector, both governing bodies and individuals 
working for public sector entities must try to achieve their entity’s objectives while acting in 
the public interest at all times. 

Acting in the public interest implies primary consideration of the benefits for society, which 
should result in positive outcomes for service users and other stakeholders.” 

The framework contains seven principles. These are as follows: 

Principle A – Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, 
and respecting the rule of law 

Principle B –  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

Principle C – Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits 

Principle D – Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes 

Principle E – Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and 
the individuals within it 

Principle F – Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 
public financial management 

Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 
effective accountability 

The Council is committed to these principles and has adopted them into its Local Code. The 
remainder of this document sets out the local arrangements that support the achievement of 
these principles. The Council will review the effectiveness of these arrangements against 
the Framework on an annual basis. 

Page 190



3 

 

 

 

 

2.0 The Council commits itself to the following 
principles: 

Principle A - Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong 
commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law 

Local government organisations are accountable not only for how much they spend, but  
also for how they use the resources under their stewardship. This includes accountability for 
outputs, both positive and negative, and for the outcomes they have achieved. In addition, 
they have an overarching responsibility to serve the public interest in adhering to the 
requirements of legislation and government policies. It is essential that, as a whole, they can 
demonstrate the appropriateness of all their actions across all activities and have 
mechanisms in place to encourage and enforce adherence to ethical values and to respect 
the rule of law. 

In pursuance of this principle we will: 

A1. make a Chief Executive (or equivalent) responsible and accountable to the authority for 
all aspects of operational management; 

A2. make a senior officer (the Section 151 Officer) responsible to the authority for ensuring 
that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, for keeping proper financial 
records and accounts, and for maintaining an effective system of internal financial 
control; 

A3. appoint a professionally qualified and experienced Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 
Officer), who will lead the promotion and delivery of good financial management, 
safeguarding public money and ensuring appropriate, economic, efficient and effective 
use of funds, together with professional accountability for finance staff throughout the 
Council with regard to CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in 
Local Government (2016); 

A4. make a senior officer (the Monitoring Officer) responsible to the authority for ensuring 
that agreed procedures are followed and that all applicable statutes, regulations and 
other relevant statements of good practice are complied with. 

A5. develop and maintain shared values including leadership values and ethics both for the 
Council and its staff reflecting public expectations about the conduct and behaviour of 
individuals and groups within and associated with the Council; 

A6. use the Council’s shared values to act as a guide for decision making and as a basis for 
developing positive and trusting relationships within the Council; 

Page 191



4 

 

 

 

A7. develop and adopt formal codes of conduct defining standards of personal behaviour; 

A8. develop and maintain an effective standards committee that acts as the main means to 
raise awareness and take the lead in ensuring high standards of conduct are firmly 
embedded within the local culture; 

A9. put in place arrangements to ensure that members and staff of the Council are not 
influenced by prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest in dealing with different stakeholders 
and put in place appropriate processes to ensure that they continue to operate in 
practice; 

A10. put in place arrangements to ensure that procedures and operations are designed in 
conformity with appropriate ethical standards, and to monitor their continuing 
compliance in practice; 

A11. ensure that systems and processes for financial administration and control, protection 
of the Authority’s resources and assets, are designed in conformity with appropriate 
ethical standards; and are subject to monitoring of their effectiveness; 

A12. put in place arrangements so that conflicts of interest on behalf of members and 
employees can be avoided and put in place appropriate processes to ensure that they 
continue to operate in practice; 

A13. put in place effective transparent and accessible arrangements for dealing with 
complaints; 

A14. actively recognise the limits of lawful activity placed on the Council by the ultra vires 
doctrine but also strive to utilise the Council’s powers to the full benefit of our 
communities; 

A15. observe all specific legislative requirements placed upon the Council as well as the 
requirements of general law, and in particular integrate the key principles of 
administrative law – rationality, legality and natural justice into the Council’s procedures 
and decision making; 

A16. put in place effective systems to protect the rights of staff. Ensure that policies for 
whistle blowing which are accessible to staff and those contracting with the authority, 
and arrangements for the support of whistle blowers, are in place; 

A17. put in place effective anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policies that comply with the 
Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (CIPFA, 2014); 

A18. use a statement of business conduct to make its expectations clear to partners and 
external providers of services; 

A19. provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and opportunities for 
members and officers to update their knowledge on a regular basis: 

 

Page 192



5 

 

 

A20. assess the skills required by members and officers and make arrangements to agree a 
development plan to develop those skills and address any training gaps, to enable roles 
to be carried out effectively; 

A21. determine a scheme of delegated and reserved powers within the constitution and 
ensure that it is monitored and updated when required; 

A22. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and recorded 
well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions have 
significant legal or financial implications. 

Principle B - Ensuring openness and comprehensive 
stakeholder engagement 

Local government is run for the public good, organisations therefore should ensure 
openness in their activities. Clear, trusted channels of communication and consultation 
should be used to engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, such as individual 
citizens and service users, as well as institutional stakeholders. 

In pursuance of this principle we will: 

B1. develop protocols to ensure effective communication between members and officers in 
their respective roles; 

B2. develop protocols to ensure that the leader and chief executive negotiate their 
respective roles early in their relationship and that a shared understanding of roles and 
objectives is maintained; 

B3. ensure that the Council’s vision, values, strategic plans, priorities and targets are 
developed through robust mechanisms, and in consultation with the local community 
and other key stakeholders, and that they are clearly articulated and disseminated; 

B4. in pursuing partnerships, agree a set of values against which decision making and 
actions can be judged in line with and having referred to the Partnership Register and 
Guidance; 

B5. develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence for 
decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which decisions 
are based; 

B6. put in place effective arrangements designed to encourage individuals from all sections 
of the community to engage with, contribute to and participate in the work of the 
authority; 

B7. make clear to ourselves, all staff and the community, to whom we are accountable and 
for what; 

B8. consider those institutional stakeholders to whom we are accountable and assess the 
effectiveness of the relationships and any changes required: 

Page 193



6 

 

 

 

B9.  establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and other 
stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they operate 
effectively; 

B10. put in place arrangements to enable the authority to engage with all sections of the 
community effectively. These arrangements will recognise that different sections of the 
community have different priorities and establish explicit processes for dealing with 
these competing demands; 

B11. develop and maintain a clear policy on how staff and their representatives are consulted 
and involved in decision making; 

B12. to put in place measures to ensure freedom of information requests and transparency 
requirements are adhered to, including publication through the Council’s website; 

B13. to ensure committee decisions are fully documented through the use of appropriate 
report templates, agenda submission processes and minutes; 

B14. publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities and 
achievements, its financial position and performance; 

B15. promote the use of technology to enhance efficiency and quality of service; 

B16. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and recorded 
well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions have 
significant legal or financial implications; 

B17. when working in partnership, ensure that there is a clear statement setting out the 
purpose of the partnership and the outputs to be achieved. 

Principle C - Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable 
economic, social, and environmental benefits 

The long-term nature and impact of many of local government’s responsibilities mean that it 
should define and plan outcomes and that these should be sustainable. Decisions should 
further the organisation’s purpose, contribute to intended benefits and outcomes, and 
remain within the limits of authority and resources. Input from all groups of stakeholders, 
including citizens, service users, and institutional stakeholders, is vital to the success of 
this process and in balancing competing demands when determining priorities for the finite 
resources available. 

In pursuance of this principle we will: 

C1. make a clear statement of the authority’s purpose and vision and use it as a basis for 
corporate and service planning. and shaping the Council Plan; 

C2. review on a regular basis the authority’s vision for the local area and its impact in the 
authority’s governance arrangements; 

Page 194



7 

 

 

C3. when working in partnership, ensure that there is a clear statement setting out the 
purpose of the partnership and the outputs to be achieved; 

C4. develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages constructive 
challenge and enhances the authority’s performance overall; 

C5. produce an annual report on scrutiny function activity; 

C6. ensure performance, financial and non-financial, is reported to senior management and 
Members including action plans where necessary; 

C7. link service plans to agreed measures and targets within the Council plan; 

C8. ensure strategic investment decisions are managed through the capital budgeting 
process and Medium Term Financial Plan linked to the Council Plan, including the 
economic, social and environmental impacts; 

C9. ensure committee reports are shared with senior management and portfolio holders as 
part of the pre agenda submission process; 

C10. ensure that the Council’s vision, values, strategic plans, priorities and targets are 
developed through robust mechanisms, and in consultation with the local community and 
other key stakeholders, and that they are clearly articulated and disseminated; 

C11. ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the authority, with 
members and managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of their 
job; 

C12. put arrangements in place to capture and manage risks corporately; 

C13. develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence for 
decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which decisions are 
based. 

C14. ensure the Council fully complies with the requirements of the CIPFA Financial Management 
Code (CIPFA FM Code). 

Principle D - Determining the interventions necessary to 
optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes 

Local government achieves its intended outcomes by providing a mixture of legal, 
regulatory, and practical interventions (courses of action). Determining the right mix of these 
courses of action is a critically important strategic choice that local government has to make 
to ensure intended outcomes are achieved. They need robust decision-making mechanisms 
to ensure that their defined outcomes can be achieved in a way that provides the best 
trade-off between the various types of resource inputs while still enabling effective and 
efficient operations. Decisions made need to be reviewed frequently to ensure that 
achievement of outcomes is optimised. 

  

Page 195



8 

 

 

In pursuance of this principle we will: 

D1. decide how the quality of service for users is to be measured and ensure that the 
information needed to review service quality effectively and regularly is available; 

D2. decide how value for money is to be measured and ensure that we have the information 
needed to review value for money and performance effectively; measure the 
environmental impact of policies, plans and decisions; 

D3. produce timely, accurate and impartial financial information for decision making, enabling 
the Authority to meet its objectives and providing effective stewardship and value for 
money; 

D4. ensure that effective mechanisms exist to monitor service delivery; 

D5. ensure that those making decisions are provided with information that is fit for the purpose – 
relevant, timely and gives clear explanations of technical issues and their implications; 

D6. produce clear, timely, complete and accurate information for budget holders and senior 
officers relating to the budgetary and financial performance of the Council; 

D7. establish a medium term business and financial planning process in order to deliver a 
financial strategy ensuring sustainable finances, a robust annual budget process 
ensuring financial balance and an adequate monitoring process; all of which are subject 
to regular review; 

D8. when working in partnership ensure that appropriate governance arrangements are in 
place that include responsibilities and arrangements for managing risk for each 
counterparty; 

D9. agree annually a calendar of meetings to be used as the basis for forward planning of 
decision making; 

D10. to ensure committee decisions are fully documented through the use of appropriate 
report templates, agenda submission processes and minutes; 

D11. develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence for 
decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which decisions are 
based; 

D12. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and other 
stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they operate 
effectively; 

D13. ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the authority, with 
members and managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of their 
job; 

D14. Consider social value when preparing service plans, considering procurement and 
commissioning and monitoring performance. 

Page 196



9 

 

 

Principle E Developing the entity’s capacity, including the 
capability of its leadership and the individuals within it 

Local government needs appropriate structures and leadership, as well as people with the 
right skills, appropriate qualifications and mindset, to operate efficiently and effectively and 
achieve intended outcomes within the specified periods. A local government organisation 
must ensure that it has both the capacity to fulfil its own mandate and to make certain that 
there are policies in place to guarantee that its management has the operational capacity 
for the organisation as a whole. 

Because both individuals and the environment in which an organisation operates will 
change over time, there will be a continuous need to develop its capacity as well as the 
skills and experience of individual staff members. Leadership in local government is 
strengthened by the participation of people with many different types of backgrounds, 
reflecting the structure and diversity of communities. 

In pursuance of this principle we will: 

E1. publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities and 
achievements, its financial position and performance; 

E2. assess the skills required by members and officers and make arrangements to agree a 
development plan to develop those skills and address any training gaps, to enable roles 
to be carried out effectively; 

E3. embed financial competencies within all appropriate person specifications and 
appraisals; 

E4. ensure that Councillor’s roles and responsibilities for monitoring financial/budgetary 
performance are clear; and they are provided with and have access to adequate 
financial skills and training to assist in discharging these responsibilities; 

E5. develop skills on a continuing basis to improve performance, including the ability to 
scrutinise and challenge and to recognise when outside expert advice is needed, in line 
with the member development strategy; 

E6. provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and opportunities for 
members and officers to update their knowledge on a regular basis; 

E7. ensure that the statutory officers have the skills, resources and support necessary to 
perform effectively in their roles and that these roles are properly understood 
throughout the authority; 

E8. consider career structures for members and officers to encourage participation and 
development; 

E9. manage the strategic Human Resource Management and Organisational Development 
needs of the organisation through relevant policies and accreditation; 

E10. promote the use of technology to enhance efficiency and quality of service; 

Page 197



10 

 

 

 

E11. ensure members and officers are aware of corporate guidance around partnership 
working through annual partnership review; 

E12. decide how value for money is to be measured and ensure that we have the information 
needed to review value for money and performance effectively; measure the 
environmental impact; 

E13. when working in partnership, ensure that appropriate governance arrangements are in 
place that make clear the financial controls, data sharing, audit and scrutiny 
arrangements; 

E14. develop protocols to ensure effective communication between members and officers in 
their respective roles; 

E15. develop protocols to ensure that the leader and chief executive negotiate their respective 
roles early in their relationship and that a shared understanding of roles and objectives is 
maintained; 

E16. determine a scheme of delegated and reserved powers within the constitution and 
ensure that it is monitored and updated when required; 

E17. ensure effective internal control arrangements exist for sound financial management 
systems and processes; 

E18. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and 
other stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they operate 
effectively; 

Principle F - Managing risks and performance through 
robust internal control and strong public financial 
management 

Local government needs to ensure that the organisations and governance structures that it 
oversees have implemented, and can sustain, an effective performance management 
system that facilitates effective and efficient delivery of planned services. Risk management 
and internal control are important and integral parts of a performance management system 
and are crucial to the achievement of outcomes. Risk should be considered and addressed 
as part of all decision making activities. 

A strong system of financial management is essential for the implementation of policies and 
the achievement of intended outcomes, as it will enforce financial discipline, strategic 
allocation of resources, efficient service delivery and accountability. 

It is also essential that a culture and structure for scrutiny are in place as a key part of 
accountable decision making, policy making and review. A positive working culture that 
accepts, promotes and encourages constructive challenge is critical to successful scrutiny 
and successful service delivery. Importantly, this culture does not happen automatically, it 

Page 198



11 

 

 

requires repeated public commitment from those in authority. 

In pursuance of this principle we will: 

F1. maintain a prudential financial framework, balance commitments with available 
resources; and monitor income and expenditure levels to ensure this balance is 
achieved; 

F2. ensure compliance with the CIPFA codes regarding a Prudential Framework for Capital 
Finance and Treasury Management; 

F3. put in place effective arrangements to deal with a failure in service delivery; 

F4. determine a scheme of delegated and reserved powers within the constitution and 
ensure that it is monitored and updated when required; 

F5. require appropriate management accounting, functions and controls to be in place 
within the Council; 

F6. ensure budget calculations are robust and reserves are adequate; 

F7. ensure that effective management arrangements are in place at the top of the 
organisation; 

F8. ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the authority, with 
members and managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of their 
job; 

F9. ensure effective internal control arrangements exist for sound financial management 
systems and processes; 

F10. review the scope of the Chief Finance Officer’s (Section 151 Officer’s) non financial 
areas of responsibility to ensure financial matters are not compromised; 

F11. provide the Financial Services with the resources, expertise and systems necessary to 
perform its role effectively within the Council; 

F12. on an annual basis, publish an annual report giving information on the authority’s vision, 
strategy, plans and financial statements as well as information about the outcomes, 
achievements and the satisfaction of service users in the previous period; 

F13. set out clear financial and contract procedure rules, kept under review as part of the 
overall Constitution of the Council; 

F14. put arrangements in place for sharing, gathering and storing data and ensuring data 
quality; 

F15. put arrangements in place to capture and manage risks corporately; 

F16. when working in partnership, ensure that appropriate governance arrangements are in 
place that make clear the financial controls, data sharing, audit and scrutiny 
arrangements; 

Page 199



12 

 

 

 

F17. ensure performance, financial and non-financial, is reported to senior management and 
Members including action plans where necessary; 

F18. to ensure committee decisions are fully documented through the use of appropriate 
report templates, agenda submission processes and minutes; 

F19. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and recorded 
well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions have 
significant legal or financial implications; 

F20. develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages constructive 
challenge and enhances the authority’s performance overall; 

F21. ensure that systems and processes for financial administration and control, protection 
of the Authority’s resources and assets, are designed in conformity with appropriate 
ethical standards; and are subject to monitoring of their effectiveness; 

F22. ensure an effective internal audit function is resourced and maintained and complies 
with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); 

F23. put in place effective anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policies that comply with the 
Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (CIPFA, 2014); 

F24. require our arrangements for financial and internal control and management of risk to 
be formally addressed within the annual governance reports; 

F25. ensure audit committee complies with Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local 
Authorities and Police (CIPFA, 2018). 

Principle G - Implementing good practices in transparency, 
reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability 

Accountability is about ensuring that those making decisions and delivering services are 
answerable for them. Effective accountability is concerned not only with reporting on actions 
completed, but also ensuring that stakeholders are able to understand and respond as the 
organisation plans and carries out its activities in a transparent manner. Both external and 
internal audit contribute to effective accountability. 

In pursuance of this principle we will: 

G1. set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the Council’s 
executive committee and the members individually and the authority’s approach 
towards putting this into practice; 

G2. set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the Council’s 
other committees and members and senior officers; 

G3. set out the terms and conditions for remuneration of members and officers and publish 

Page 200



13 

 

 

an Annual Pay policy statement in accordance with the requirements of the Localism 
Act 2011; 

G4. ensure an effective internal audit function is resourced and maintained and complies 
with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); 

G5. develop and maintain effective arrangements for determining the remuneration of senior 
staff; 

G6. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and recorded 
well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions have 
significant legal or financial implications; 

G7. enable the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) to bring influence to bear on all 
material decisions and provide advice on the levels of reserves and balances to be 
retained; 

G8. require our arrangements for financial and internal control and management of risk to 
be formally addressed within the annual governance reports; 

G9. ensure that the authority as a whole is open and accessible to the community, service 
users and staff and make a commitment to openness and transparency in all our 
dealings, including partnerships subject only to the need to preserve confidentiality in 
those specific circumstances where it is proper and appropriate to do so; 

G10. develop and maintain an effective audit committee which is independent of the 
executive and scrutiny functions; 

G11. enable the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) to have direct access to the 
Council’s Audit Committee and External Auditor; 

G12. ensure audit committee complies with Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local 
Authorities and Police (CIPFA, 2018); 

G13. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and other 
stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they operate 
effectively; 

G14. publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities and 
achievements, its financial position and performance; 

G15. produce timely, accurate and impartial financial information for decision making, enabling 
the Authority to meet its objectives and providing effective stewardship and value for 
money; 

G16. produce clear, timely, complete and accurate information for budget holders and senior 
officers relating to the budgetary and financial performance of the Council. 

 

 

Page 201



14 

 

 

3.1 Annual Review of Corporate Governance 

At the end of the year, the Council will produce its Annual Governance Statement which will 
review the effectiveness of the actual system of internal control in place against both the Local 
Code of Governance and the CIPFA best practice framework. The review will draw various 
sources of evidence including: 

 

 detailed self-assessment against the CIPFA best practice examples 

 the Internal Audit annual opinion, 

 relevant reports from External Audit, 

 year end reports from Scrutiny, Audit and Standards committees 

 assurances from senior management and significant partners 

As part of its governance role, the Audit Committee will oversee this review on behalf of the 
Council. 

Page 202



Framework for the Internal Control Environment Appendix 2

Internal Control Framework

High Level Strategies and Controls

  Council Plan

  South Lakeland Local Plan

  Community Engagement Strategy Annual Governance Statement

  Commissioning Framework

  Council Constitution:

o   Financial Procedure Rules Overview and Scrutiny Committee

o   Code of Conduct for Members & Officers   Monitors residual risk and management

Performance and Risk Management   Monitors risk profile

  Performance Management Framework   Receives risk monitoring reports

  Partnership Protocols and Agreements 

  Service/Delivery/Activity Plans

  Project management process Monitoring Officer

  Risk management & registers

Controls over Finance

  Medium Term Financial Plan Section 151 Officer 

  Revenue & Capital Budgets

  Financial Management Reporting

  Procurement Strategy

Controls over Behaviour

  Local Code of Governance

  Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy

  Anti-Money Laundering Policy

  Anti-Tax Evasion Policy

  Information Governance Framework 

  Freedom of Information Policy

  Health and Safety Policy Draft Annual Governance Statement

  Surveillance Guidance

  Human Resources Policies

o   Whistleblowing Policy

  Customer Access Policy

  Equality and Diversity

  Accessibility Policy

  Data Protection Policy   Governance best practice reviewed

Controls over Assets

  Corporate Property Strategy

  Land and Property Management Plans

 Project appraisal

Performance Management Internal Audit External Audit

  Internal Control environment reviewed 

by Finance, Strategy, Performance, 

Innovation and Commissioning and Human 

Resources, Internal Audit

Independent review by Audit Committee 

Review by Governance and 

Accountability officer group

  Monitors compliance with Constitution, 

standards and legislation

  Monitors compliance with 

internal/external financial regulatory 

framework

  Performance Indicators & Performance 

Plan

  published with the Statement of 

Accounts 

  approved by Leader and Chief 

Executive

  Periodic progress 

 Risk based plan

 Annual plan

 Annual letter

 Audit opinion

 Value for Money 

 Embedded system

 Operates throughout 

 Internal & external 

 Action orientated

 National/local KPI’s 

 Internal Audit’s 

opinion expressed in 

reports to audit 

committee

 Operates under 

terms of reference

 Rolling strategic & 

annual plans, 

Member approved

 Reports by 

inspectors

 Post 

implementation 

reviews of projects

Other sources of 

assurance

Assurance by 

Managers

 Fraud reports and  Operational   Strategic 

 Embedded in 

 Effectiveness 

 Control & risk self-

assessment 

questionnaires 

completed with 

feedback from senior 

Managers

Risk Management

P
age 203



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 204



Appendix 3 

South Lakeland District Council 

Draft Partnerships Guidance 2021 

1. Introduction 
1.1. Partnership working is fundamental to a modern public sector. Now more than ever as 

funding is squeezed and more and more is asked of us, we need to work with others to get 
the best from our diminishing resources. 

1.2. Embarking on a partnership needs careful planning – it should support our strategic 
objectives, make sound business sense and have the appropriate ‘checks and balances’ in 
place to ensure the interests and assets of the Council are safeguarded. 

1.3. This guidance is designed to help managers think through the necessary steps and issues 
associated with creating a successful partnership and put in place the necessary frameworks 
to ensure our objectives are met and our efforts are not duplicated. 

1.4. Partnership working is not an easy fix – it is important that sufficient resource is put into 
building the case for a partnership and establishing its operation. 

1.5. There are a number of benefits to partnership working including: 

• Improving communication between staff and managers 
• Better information sharing 
• Easier access to services for users 
• More integrated approach to the delivery of services for users 
• Bringing together different knowledge and skills to address complex problems 
• Greater efficiency or value for money in the use of resources 
• Improving recruitment, retention and morale 
• Additional capacity to plan and develop services 
• Pooling expertise and resources to shape better services 
• Achieving improved outcomes through developing new service models not 

achievable by a single agency 
• Benchmarking may highlight partnership working as the preferred course of action 

for a service, and form part of the business case for creating a new partnership. It 
may also highlight examples of best practice and / or provide valuable information 
into obstacles which other local authorities have encountered, along with 
preventative or conciliatory measures. 

1.6. Although partnership working has its advantages, it is not always a successful form of 
working. Problems that can arise include a lack of understanding between partners, or a lack 
of focus on the objectives or results of the partnership. 

1.7. Unsuccessful partnerships are typically characterised by: 

• A history of conflict among key interests 
• One partner manipulates or dominates 
• Lack of clear purpose 
• Unrealistic goals 
• Differences of philosophy and ways of working 
• Lack of communication 
• Unequal and unacceptable balance of power and control 
• Key interests missing from the partnership 
• Hidden agendas 
• Financial and time commitments outweigh the potential benefits 

Page 205



Appendix 3 

1.8. Before establishing or joining a partnership, due consideration should be given to whether 
this form of working is right for the prospective members and whether or not the time, 
resources and efforts required to overcome barriers, such as those listed above, are 
available.  The Commissioning Framework should be used to inform this review and include 
consideration of: 

1.8.1. Are there other methods of working which may serve the public better and thus 
negate the need for a partnership?  

1.8.2. Could another delivery approach provide a more successful service or reduce 
cost and resource input?  

1.8.3. What are the methods of other local and near neighbour authorities;  

Findings may determine a more suitable course of action, or highlight cases where 
partnership working is unsuitable for a particular service. 

1.9. Does the work involved in maintaining a partnership justifies the added benefits, if any, that 
are received? In short, consider whether the partnership will add value. 

1.10. If there is not enough support for the business case, whether there is insufficient supporting 
evidence or buy in from senior officers / members, do not proceed. Look into alternative 
approaches – for example joining an existing partnership. 

2. Establishing and reviewing partnerships 
2.1. Establishing Partnerships 

2.1.1. There are three main phases to the establishment of a partnership:- 

• Feasibility – making the case for the arrangement and convincing partners to 
join. 

• Entering into the partnerships – creating the formalities of partnership 
working. 

• Ensuring the partnership works once created – making governance, 
administrative, financial and operational arrangements work in practice. 

2.1.2. You should complete the attached template either during or after the initial 
feasibility phase and table it for consideration at Corporate Management Team 
(CMT). A copy should also be forwarded to the Finance Lead Specialist to enter onto 
the system for future retention. 

2.1.3. The setting up of a new partnership is a project in itself and should be planned, 
following the corporate project management documentation which will cover many 
of the issues in the template. 

2.2. Reviewing existing partnerships 

2.2.1. The template should be used to undertake a full three-yearly review (by 31st March 
each year) and an annual check, by the relevant Operational Lead or Lead Specialist, 
of all “significant partnerships” and at appropriate & relevant points for other 
partnerships. Following a review of the partnership, an improvement plan should be 
developed, if appropriate and approved/monitored by the relevant Board. A 
significant partnership is defined as those which; 

• We estimate the total contribution of resources from the Council, over three 
years, will be over £150,000; and/or 

• We estimate the combined “turnover” of the partnership over three years 
will be greater than £500,000; and/or 

Page 206



Appendix 3 

• The aims/objectives of the partnership are central to the delivery of any 
aspect of the Council and its Plans; 

• The aims/objectives of the partnership are considered to be of political 
significance by the responsible Director. 

2.2.2. Where a partnership is a sub-group of another partnership, this will not be deemed 
to be a significant partnership in its own right. 

3. What is a Partnership? 
3.1. For the purposes of this exercise, a partnership can be any arrangement between two or 

more bodies (public or private) which come together for their mutual benefit and that of the 
community. 

3.2. It could be a traditional way of joint working between Local Authorities such as a Joint 
Committee or it could be a new entity such as a company with partner involvement. It could 
have a charitable element. It could also be simply an informal arrangement such as an officer 
working group.  What the Template is not intended to cover is a traditional client/contactor 
relationship for the provision of works, goods or services, in effect a contract. 

4. How to use the Template: 
4.1. The Template is intended as a check-list for those running partnership projects. It does not 

provide all of the answers to the questions. Some of these, such as the purpose or the 
proposed outcomes of the partnership may be driven by internal or external factors such as 
Government policy, Council Plan or other targets. Some answers may be gleaned from other 
existing policies and procedures (e.g. procurement or HR rules) and some may be available 
from officers or other bodies with specific expertise (operational, financial, legal etc). 

4.2. The completion of the Template is not an end in itself. The partnership has to be operated in 
accordance with the proposals identified by the answers to the questions. This is the 
responsibility of the Lead Officer of both the partnership and the District Council. 

5. Relationship with Partners’ Existing Structures: 
5.1. Those setting up partnerships need to recognise how the new arrangements will relate to 

existing arrangements. If a new legal entity (e.g. a company, an association) is being created, 
what will its relationship be to the partners – contractual? Grant giving/receiving? Entirely 
independent? 

5.2. If the partnership is not a new legal entity, then it will still be part of the original partner 
organisations in some way (e.g.: a Joint Committee). This relationship needs to be clearly 
understood and managed to maintain accountability and transparency. 

6. Purpose of the guidance 
6.1. The guidance outlines the approach to be applied when considering joining or introducing 

new partnerships, it should also be used for reviewing existing arrangements. It provides a 
basis for examining the key issues that require consideration, to ensure that the Council 
participates in successful partnerships that have robust governance arrangements. The 
Council’s eight partnership standards are: 

6.1.1. Partnerships should have clear objectives that are realistic and measurable and link to 
the achievement of the Council’s corporate objectives. 

6.1.2. There should be clear organisational and staffing arrangements in place, with clear 
accountabilities for those involved in the partnership and clarity with regard to the 
resources committed to it. 

Page 207



Appendix 3 

6.1.3. Partnerships should have robust management and appropriate decision making 
mechanisms in place. They should have a constitution and/or terms of reference and 
defined standards as to the way individuals within partnerships should behave. 

6.1.4. Partnerships should have robust performance management arrangements for 
monitoring and reviewing how successfully targets are being met and sharing review 
findings amongst partners. 

6.1.5. Partnerships should have robust financial arrangements in place, with clear budget 
setting and monitoring procedures and clear financial regulations and schemes of 
delegation. 

6.1.6. Partnerships should have a clear process for identifying, prioritising and managing 
risks.  Business continuity arrangements should also be in place. 

6.1.7. Partnerships should have a transparent process for information sharing within the 
partnership and public engagement arrangements where there is communication with 
service users and the wider public. 

6.1.8. Partnerships should have clear exit arrangements that allow for minimal disruption 
and the reallocation of resources. 

6.2. All officers of the Council are expected to use the guidance for both new and existing 
significant partnerships; this includes completing the checklist at Appendix A. 

7. Clear objectives 
7.1. One of the main reasons that partnerships fail is the lack of clear objectives and plans. The 

Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have: 

• A business plan or strategy in place. 
• Realistic and measurable objectives. 
• Targeted outputs and outcomes. 
• A clear link to the achievement of the Council’s corporate objectives. 

7.2. There should be clear aims and realistic and measurable objectives before a partnership is 
set up and these should be agreed by the partnership at the first meeting. The aims and 
objectives should answer the question ‘what is it intended to achieve?’ and should have a 
clear link to the achievement of the Council’s strategic themes and corporate priorities. 

7.3. The aims and objectives should be set out in the partnership’s terms of reference or 
constitution and the short/medium/long-term outcomes and performance measures in a 
business plan or strategy. 

7.4. Objectives are specific statements that can be measured. For this to take place they should 
be SMART, which means they are: 

Specific   - all objectives should have specific outcomes. 
Measurable - the outcome of an objective should be able to be measured. 
Achievable          - the objective should describe something that can be achieved within 

the timescale and resources set for the project. 
Realistic - objectives should describe something that can actually be done 
Time bound - a timescale should be set for when the objective is to be achieved. 

8. Outputs, inputs and outcomes 
8.1. Once the aims and objectives have been set, partners should turn the objectives into specific 

outcomes. The outcomes should answer the question ‘how will I know when these 
objectives have been achieved, in terms of benefits experienced by the community?’ 

Page 208



Appendix 3 

8.2. Each of the partnership’s outcomes should be able to be measured or monitored. This can 
be achieved by setting specific performance measures or milestones. Performance measures 
can be quantitative or qualitative. Quantitative measures use statistical information whereas 
qualitative measures provide an understanding of people’s experiences, perspectives and 
histories in the context of their personal circumstances or settings and answer ‘what is’, 
‘how’ and ‘why’ questions. 

8.3. Outputs should relate to the outcome and are the activities that will need to take place for 
the objectives to be met. They are usually things that need to be done in order to produce 
the desired result e.g. carry out an awareness campaign or increase the number of 
neighbourhood watch schemes in an area. 

8.4. Inputs are the resources that are available to carry out the work needed in order to achieve 
the objectives. The inputs or resources used to produce the outputs can be financial, 
material or human. 

9. Clear organisational and staffing arrangements 
9.1. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have: 

9.1.1. Clear accountabilities e.g. role of lead officer, Corporate Management Team, 
Managers, elected members, Scrutiny etc. 
9.1.2. Clarity around resources committed to the partnership. 

10. Your Role 
10.1. Firstly, it is very important that you are clear about your role on the partnership/s that you 

are involved with. Where you are the Council’s lead officer for a partnership, you are 
expected to: 

10.1.1. Be a point of contact between the Council and the partnership. 
10.1.2. Assist the partnership work with the Council. 
10.1.3. Facilitate the Council’s input into the partnership. 
10.1.4. Review performance against agreed outcome targets and highlight any issues with 
your Manager. 
10.1.5. Alert relevant Council officers to any issues. 
10.1.6. Facilitate a regular self-assessment of the partnership’s activity and make 
recommendations about any action required. 
10.1.7. Be clear as to the level of decision-making authority that the partnership has and 
whether or not you have such authority from the Council. 

10.2. You also need to be clear about the amount of time you are expected to commit to the 
partnership and ensure that your manager is agreeable to this level of commitment. Staffing 
commitments should not exceed the amount of added value that the partnership can 
deliver. 

11. Corporate Management Team  
11.1. The Council’s Corporate Management Team is responsible for: 

11.1.1. Determining if a partnership is to be considered as a significant partnership 
11.1.2. Risk assessing the Council’s partnerships at a frequency proportionate to the 
partnerships importance. 
11.1.3. Reviewing the benefits and alignment with the corporate plan of individual 
partnerships. 
11.1.4. Ensuring a register of the Council’s significant partnerships is maintained. 
11.1.5. Monitoring the overall impact of partnerships and identifying any action required. 

Page 209



Appendix 3 

11.1.6. Commenting on the viability and strategic fit of any new partnership, and relevance 
of existing partnerships. 
11.1.7. Championing the use of this guidance. 

12. Robust management and appropriate decision making 
12.1. All partnerships should have a governing document such as a constitution, memorandum of 

understanding or terms of reference and operating conventions. The process of agreeing a 
document is in itself an important element of partnership governance; it will help clarify 
roles and relationships and build goodwill and trust. 

12.2. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have: 

• A constitutional or legal framework, which can include terms of reference. 
• Clear codes of conduct. 
• A clear decision making process. 

12.3. Whilst there is no single form of document that will suit the size and scope of all 
partnerships, the main elements that should be considered are: 

12.3.1. Name of the partnership; 
12.3.2. Aims and objectives; 
12.3.3. Timescales (date of establishment, review and end (see exit arrangements)); 
12.3.4. Membership, including status of different members and termination of membership, 
schemes of delegation; 
12.3.5. Powers (statutory responsibilities and decision-making authority); 
12.3.6. Accountability (reporting structures, dealing with complaints and public 
transparency); 
12.3.7. Roles and responsibilities of the Chair and other members, including codes of 
conduct and equalities; 
12.3.8. Income and other resource contributions, including ownership of assets; 
12.3.9. Meetings (frequency, quorum rules, chairing and voting); 
12.3.10. Decision-making processes (scope and timescales); 
12.3.11. Performance management arrangements; 
12.3.12. Amendments to the partnership’s rules; 
12.3.13. A proportionate mechanism for periodic review and change management 
12.3.14. Minutes; and 
12.3.15. Exit strategy. 

12.4. Governing documents should be reviewed at least every three years and amended where 
necessary. 

13. Robust performance management 
13.1. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have: 

13.1.1. Clear milestones, outcomes, performance indicators and delivery dates. 
13.1.2. Arrangements for monitoring and reviewing how successfully targets are being met. 
13.1.3. Arrangements for ensuring that monitoring and review findings are shared and 
disseminated amongst the partners. 
13.1.4. A clear process for addressing poor performance within the partnership. 

13.2. For information on milestones and outcomes please look at section one ‘Clear Objectives’.  
The aims and objectives should be set out in the partnership’s terms of reference or 
constitution and the short/medium/long-term outcomes and performance measures in a 
business plan or strategy. 

Page 210



Appendix 3 

13.3. All partnerships should have robust performance management arrangements in place. 
Partnerships with a more formal workload, more onerous responsibilities and larger 
resources should have more sophisticated arrangements in place. Where possible, 
management arrangements should be aligned with the Council’s own performance 
management arrangements. 

13.4. Partnerships should regularly monitor and evaluate their performance and provide updates 
at partnership meetings. If a partnership is not meeting its targets, or is likely to fail in the 
future, this will need to be flagged via the partnership’s agreed reporting structures and 
should also be discussed with your Director. 

13.5. Performance and progress against milestones should be reported to the council on a regular 
basis. The frequency of reporting will be determined by the scale of the partnership, e.g. 
where significant funding has been contributed, quarterly reporting would be expected. 

13.6. Partnerships should also consider carrying out regular self-assessments to maximise their 
potential and deliver better outcomes. 

14. Robust financial arrangements 
14.1. There is a range of financial issues to consider when setting up a partnership and a number 

of them are covered below.  This section sets out a number of important points, but if in 
doubt please seek advice. 

14.1.1. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have: 
14.1.2. Clarity on resource committed to the partnership. 
14.1.3. Clear budget setting and monitoring procedures in place. 
14.1.4. A budget and performance reporting framework in place. 
14.1.5. Clear financial administration procedures in the form of financial regulations and 
scheme of delegation. 

15. Resources 
15.1. Every partnership needs to be clear about the resources it has available.  Resources can be in 

the form of people, other in kind contributions and/or money. If partners are committing 
funds to the partnership, clear agreements need to be in place setting out how much 
funding will be provided and how under and over spends will be dealt with. 

16. Budgeting 
16.1. Budgeting is a fundamental part of the planning process for any organisation or partnership. 

It links what resources are at your disposal with how you are going to use them to achieve 
your objectives and each year a budget plan should be approved. Where a partnership has 
monetary resources at its disposal it should agree monitoring procedures that are 
appropriate to the level of funding it receives. 

17. Reporting framework 
17.1. Where a partnership is in receipt of monetary resources, the accountable body for the 

funding should provide the partners with regular budget control reports, to enable the 
partners to understand what the financial position is. A named person should be given this 
responsibility. The reporting framework needs to link to the agreement on how under and 
over spends within the partnership would be dealt with if they happened. 

17.2. The accountable body may change depending on where the funding originates. The 
partnership must abide by the accountable body’s financial regulations and must ensure that 
it has obtained the appropriate level of authorisation before payments are made. 

Page 211



Appendix 3 

17.3. The budget reporting framework should be linked to the partnership’s performance 
management framework to ensure that spend is linked to outcomes. 

18. Audit requirements 
18.1. From the outset, the partnership agreement must provide both internal and external 

auditors with rights of access to documentation.  All partners must ensure there is a clear 
audit trail for any payments made, contracts tendered and funding received, which follows 
the appropriate financial / contract regulations and schemes of delegation. 

19. Document retention 
19.1. It will need to be established who is going to be responsible for holding documents and for 

that party to be aware of the legal requirements of retaining documents for various 
statutory and grant body requirement periods. 

20. Grants 
20.1. Grants may form the main funding for partnership arrangements and the terms and 

conditions of those grants must be clear, including who the accountable body is and 
document retention. 

20.2. Grant funded services or projects should have clear exit strategies for when the funding 
ends. 

21. Management of risks 
21.1. Risk management is a key element of corporate governance. It allows you to identify things 

that may go wrong and plan ways to either prevent them happening or minimise their 
impact. Each partnership needs to consider the risks that, if they occurred, would prevent it 
from achieving its objectives. 

21.2. As partnerships carry out work to meet the Council’s objectives, the Council itself faces a risk 
of partnership failure. The Council’s lead officer for a partnership should therefore assess the 
risk of their partnership failing and - where this is a possibility - take action to put mitigating 
controls in place. 

21.3. The Council believes that all partnerships with which it is involved should have: 

21.3.1. A clear process for identifying and recording risks, assessing the potential impact 
and likelihood of risks occurring, prioritising and managing risks. 
21.3.2. A common understanding of the identified risks among all partners in the 
partnership. 
21.3.3. A clear allocation of risks to nominated members of the partnership, including 
responsibility for overseeing the implementation of action plans to mitigate risks. 
21.3.4. Regular review of risks and action plans. 
21.3.5. Appropriate business continuity arrangements in place. 

21.4. The Council’s scoring mechanism for assessing the likelihood of a partnership failing, 
considers whether the following elements of risk management are in place: risk register, 
process for managing risk, mitigation plans, clear risk allocation and exit strategy. 

21.5. The Council’s own risk management processes are set out in its Risk Management Strategy, 
available on the Council’s intranet, together with: 

21.5.1. areas to consider regarding the scope of risk; 
21.5.2. guidelines for assessing the impact and likelihood of risk; and 
21.5.3. templates for risk registers and action plans. 

Page 212



Appendix 3 

21.6. Lead officers can use the Council’s processes as a guide to ensuring that appropriate risk 
management arrangements are established in a partnership, proportionate to its 
significance and scope. 

21.7. Significant risks should be reported to the Council on a regular basis. The frequency of 
reporting will be determined by the scale of the partnership, e.g. where significant funding 
has been contributed, quarterly reporting would be expected. 

22. Information sharing and public engagement arrangements 
22.1. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have: 

22.1.1. A clear and transparent process for sharing information within the partnership. 
22.1.2. A clear data quality trail. 
22.1.3. Communication with service users and the wider public to explain how the 
partnership works and where responsibility and accountability lie. 
22.1.4. A joint complaints procedure or process for ensuring redress can be obtained. 

23. Information sharing 
23.1. There are enormous benefits to sharing information; however, it should always be done 

within the law.  The provisions in the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) should be 
used as a safeguard to protect privacy and confidentiality and not be used to justify 
unnecessary barriers to sharing information.  Various information sharing protocols exist 
across partner organisations in Cumbria and it is important to abide by these where 
applicable. 

23.2. Protocols seek to facilitate the professional and responsible exchange of information. They 
provide guidance on how officers can lawfully and fairly exchange personal, depersonalised 
and non-personal information and set out the principles that must be followed when 
exchanging information. If your partnership exchanges personal information to meet its aims 
you must ensure that a protocol is in place and that the guidance is followed. 

23.3. A protocol should include: 

23.3.1. Parties to the arrangement/protocol signatures 
23.3.2. List of types of information to be shared 
23.3.3. Procedure or a description of how it is going to be shared 
23.3.4. Security 
23.3.5. References to relevant legislation 
23.3.6. Legal considerations and basis for information sharing 
23.3.7. Monitoring and review statement 

23.4. The General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) require that personal information is 
obtained and processed fairly and lawfully; only disclosed in appropriate circumstances; is 
accurate; relevant and not held longer than necessary; and is kept securely. The Information 
Commissioner’s Office has developed a Framework Code of Practice for Sharing Personal 
Information, which can be found at https://ico.org.uk/ 

23.5. Specific protocols may need to be developed for a multi-agency project or initiative which 
may include public and non-public organisations. But public organisations must have a 
signed, written agreement (e.g. SLA or contract) with any private, community, independent, 
voluntary or charitable organisations involved. 

24. Public engagement 

Page 213



Appendix 3 

24.1. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 introduced a new duty to 
involve.  This duty came into force on 1 April 2009 and requires local authorities to take 
those steps they consider appropriate to involve representatives of local persons in the 
exercise of any of their functions, where they consider that it is appropriate to do so. 

24.2. The phrase “representatives of local persons” refers to a mix of ”local persons”, i.e. a 
selection of the individuals, groups or organisations the authority considers likely to be 
affected by, or have an interest in the authority function. In the context of the duty the 
“representative” does not refer to formally elected or nominated members of the 
community, such as councillors. 

24.3. In considering how to fulfil the statutory duty, you should aim to involve representatives of 
local people as much as possible. This should be in relation to routine functions, as well as 
significant one-off decisions. 

24.4. The following three ways of involving should be considered.  You will need to consider 
whether one, two, all three or none of the approaches should be used 

• providing information about the exercise of the particular function; 
• consulting about the exercise of the particular function; and/or 
• involving in another way. 

24.5. In addition to complying with the duty to involve, all partnerships should have a joint 
complaints procedure or process for ensuring redress can be obtained. The procedure 
should be clear and accessible to both partners and the public.  Partnerships need to 
recognise the feedback value of complaints; it should influence decisions about service 
delivery.  Complaints also present an opportunity to engage with the wider public. 

24.6. Partnerships need to take a collective approach to developing an effective complaints 
procedure; this means that they can deal with complaints collaboratively, or quickly and 
efficiently channel the complainant to the appropriate partner’s corporate system. 

25. Exit arrangements 
25.1. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have: 

25.2. An exit strategy that allows for minimal disruption, smooth transition and no nasty surprises. 

25.2.1. Arrangements for the reallocation of resources. 
25.2.2. A process for managing residual liabilities. 
25.2.3. Assessed the impact of ending the partnership. 

25.3. Recognising when a partnership is no longer necessary can be difficult, but is important.  It is 
best to plan for the end of the partnership when the partnership is initially set up.  Exit 
arrangements should be detailed within the partnership’s governing document. 

25.4. The partnership should set out in its governing document the conditions under which a 
partner may leave the partnership and the conditions under which the partnership can be 
brought to a close. When preparing the exit or end conditions you should consider the 
following: 

25.4.1. What should happen to any employees working on behalf of the partnership? 
25.4.2. What will happen to any assets (including monetary contribution) owned by the 
partnership? 
25.4.3. What will happen to any documentation, or information held by the partnership? 
25.4.4. How will a final report (including accounts) of the partnership be presented and to 
whom? 

Page 214



Appendix 3 

25.4.5. Is there a need to consult with stakeholders before withdrawing from or ending the 
partnership? 

25.5. Partnerships should carry out a regular review (preferably annually) of whether it should 
carry on or cease to function. Possible reasons for ceasing include: 

25.5.1. Inability to meet objectives 
25.5.2. Lack of funding 
25.5.3. Lack of commitment from a key partner 
25.5.4. Objectives are met 
25.5.5. The partnership activity no longer supports the Council’s objectives 
25.5.6. One or more partners wish to exit for any of the above reasons. 

25.6. Winding up a partnership that is a company is a specialist task and you will need to take 
advice from Legal Services if this applies. 

25.7. Exiting a partnership can be done at any time, barring any contractual commitments.  If you 
are proposing to exit a partnership this should be discussed with partners and should follow 
any agreed exit arrangements that are in place. Withdrawal may have serious negative 
effects on partners and could undermine future relationships if not handled correctly. 

25.8. The optimal time for a partnership to cease would be at the end of the financial year, as the 
partnership’s plans and budgets likely will be synchronised to this.  A withdrawal will need to 
be planned and it should be borne in mind that a period of notice is considered usual. 

 

Page 215



1 Clear Objectives
Y N N/A

1.1 Are there agreed aims and objectives?
1.2 Do the aims and objectives relate to those of the council?
1.3 Is there a clear published strategy for the partnership?
1.4 Is there a shared action plan to deliver the strategy?

2 Clear organisational and staffing arrangements
Y N N/A

2.1 Was the correct approval sought to initiate the partnership?
2.2 Is your role and responsibilities clearly defined?

2.3
Is there clarity about the functions and decisions that can be delegated and 
to whom?

2.4
Are there arrangements in place for the external scrutiny of partnership 
decisions?

2.5 Do staff employed by the partnership have agreed aims and objectives?

2.6
Is there a policy on recruitment to the partnership? Is it clear whose 
recruitment procedures should be used?

2.7
Are staff supervision arrangements clear and appropriate for partnership 
staff?

2.8
Have staff development procedures (appraisal, training) been clarified for 
partnership staff?

2.9 Is it clear how staff conduct issues will be addressed between partners?

3 Robust management and appropriate decision making
Y N N/A

3.1 Does the partnership have terms of reference or a constitution?
3.2 Is there a code of conduct?
3.3 Are clear and accurate minutes recorded?
3.4 Is there a declaration of interest procedure?

4 Robust performance management
Y N N/A

4.1 Is there an agreed performance management framework?
4.2 Are challenging and SMART targets set year on year?
4.3 Is performance against targets tracked and reported to the partnership?

4.4
Are performance measures in place for the council to monitor its 
involvement in the partnership?

4.5
Are there arrangements in place for the partnership’s progress and 
performance to be reported back to the council on a regular basis?

5 Robust financial arrangements
Y N N/A

5.1 Is it clear where accountability lies for financial matters?

5.2 Is the council’s financial commitment clearly identified in service budgets?

5.3
Is it clear whose standing orders/financial regulations/constitution are to be 
used?

5.4
Is the process for approving spending clear, documented and agreed by 
the partnership?

5.5
Are financial monitoring and reporting arrangements in place within the 
partnership and who manages them?

Good Practice Checklist for new partnerships and 3 yearly reviews

This good practice checklist will help you to assess the health of your partnership.  All of the 
answers should be ‘yes’ and action should be taken where this is not the case. Please only use 
N/A in exceptional cases where there is a special reason for doing so.

Page 216



5.6
Where necessary, are financial monitoring arrangements in place within 
the council in relation to the partnership?

5.7
Is there a means to evidence that objectives are being met in a cost 
effective manner?

5.8 Is the procedure for applying for grants and external funding clear?

5.9
Where resources are jointly purchased or commissioned, is there clarity 
over ownership, responsibilities etc?

6
Have the implications of VAT and other taxation requirements of, and 
differences between, different organisations been considered?

6 Management of risks
Y N N/A

6.1 Does the partnership maintain a risk register and actively manage its risks?

6.2
Are there arrangements in place for the partnership’s significant risks to be 
reported back to the council on a regular basis?

6.3 Has the council undertaken a risk assessment of being in the partnership?

6.4 Are business continuity arrangements in place within the partnership?

7 Information sharing and public engagement arrangements
Y N N/A

7.1 Is an information sharing protocol in place between partners?
7.2 Have data protection issues been addressed?

7.3
Is there clarity on confidentiality within meetings and on handling 
confidential information between partners?

7.4 Does the partnership publicly report its progress?
7.5 Are the partnerships papers available to the public?
7.6 Can the public ask questions at meetings or raise agenda items?
7.7 Is there a complaints and feedback process in place?

7.8
Does the partnership have an action plan to address the GDPR 
requirements?

8 Exit arrangements
Y N N/A

8.1 Does the partnership have an exit strategy in place?

8.2
Where appropriate, have staffing issues been considered in the 
partnerships exit planning?

8.3
Does the exit strategy include a policy on dealing with ongoing income and 
expenditure?

8.4 Is it clear who will own assets once the partnership comes to an end?
8.5 Is it clear who has which liability once the partnership ends?

Page 217



SIGNIFICANT PARTNERSHIPS TEMPLATE FOR NEW PARTNERSHIPS AND THREE YEARLY REVIEWS

2.0 Partners
3.0 SLDC Lead officer
4.0 Contact details
5.0 Partnership lead officer if different to above
6.0 Intended start date & duration
7.0 Governance arrangements
7.1 Rationale:

a) Why does/will this partnership exist?
b) What are its agreed aims?
c) What outcomes will it achieve in the next 3 years?
d) When & how will we assess whether the aims and outcomes have been 
achieved?
e) Where have/will the aims & outcomes be published?
f) Can you identify a better way of serving the public?

7.2 Added value :
a) How does this partnership add value to the council?
b) How does this partnership add value to other partners?
c) How does this partnership add value to the Community?
d) How will this added value be demonstrated to the public?
e) How do you know whether council funds are being well spent?
f) How does the public know that partnership funds are being well spent?

7.3 Governance arrangements:
a) What legal form will/does the partnership take?

Joint Committee of constituent Local Authorities under the Local 
Government Act 1972
Unincorporated Association
Company
Informal Working Arrangement? Give more details 

1.0 Name of Partnership

P
age 218



SIGNIFICANT PARTNERSHIPS TEMPLATE FOR NEW PARTNERSHIPS AND THREE YEARLY REVIEWS

1.0 Name of Partnership

Other? Give more details
b) Is there a charitable element?
c) What is/will the governing instrument(s) be?
d) How will/are policy and strategic decisions made?
e) How are they recorded?
f) Who makes sure that they are acted on?
g) Who scrutinises them?
h) To who are they reported?
i) How is/will the day to day management operate?
j) What representation will the partners have on the Partnership and how it 
operates?

7.4 Setting up a new partnership
a) What approvals will be required from within the partnership to set it up?

Other partners:
b) What external approvals are required?

Government department: 
Other:

c) What communication will there be about setting up the partnership?
With Members? 
RDC Officers: 
The partners: 
The public : 
Others:

d) What are the milestones and timescales for setting up the partnership?
e) Is there a budget for setting up the partnership? If so what are the partners 
contributing? Who will hold the budget?
f) Who is leading on setting up the partnership?

For RDC
For the partners: 

P
age 219



SIGNIFICANT PARTNERSHIPS TEMPLATE FOR NEW PARTNERSHIPS AND THREE YEARLY REVIEWS

1.0 Name of Partnership

g) Who is providing the following support to set up the partnership? (refer to 
internal and external support)

Legal?
Finance?
Case Management?
ICT?
Other? Give more details

h) How is this being financed?
i) Is there anything else the Council needs to have to protect its interests?

8.0 Partnership Objectives
8.1 What is the function and purpose of the partnership?
8.2 What are the key objectives of the partnership?

8.3
What arrangements are in place for developing the key objectives in conjunction 
with a risk assessment?

8.4
What arrangements are in place for agreeing and regularly reviewing the key 
objectives?

8.5 What arrangements are in place for assigning objectives to partners?
9.0 Organisation & Staffing Arrangements
9.1 What is the basis for membership of the partnership?
9.2 Who is on the partnership and who do they represent.

9.3
How will the partnership ensure that membership is sufficiently inclusive and 
meets equalities criteria?

9.4
What rules are there for the status of different members? (e.g. those ‘in 
attendance’)

9.5 How will decisions be taken within the partnership? (scope and timescales)
9.6 List all the partners involved and their contact details

9.7
What arrangements are in place for guiding the conduct of individual members 
of the partnership?

9.8
What processes are in place for resolving disputes that may arise between 
partners?

P
age 220



SIGNIFICANT PARTNERSHIPS TEMPLATE FOR NEW PARTNERSHIPS AND THREE YEARLY REVIEWS

1.0 Name of Partnership

9.9
What processes are in place for resolving complaints effectively? (Clarity over 
responsibility for complaints concerning joint activity will be necessary)

10.0 Management and Decision Making
10.1 What is the structure of the partnership?
10.2 Does it sit within a larger family of partnerships? Provide details.
10.3 What principles or ground rules will govern the partnership?

10.4
What arrangements will be put in place for agenda management and 
administrative support?

10.5
What is the notice and frequency of meeting; quorum rules; chairing 
arrangements; voting arrangements; representation of other members?

10.6 How will declarations of interest be managed?
11.0 Performance Management

11.1
What arrangements are in place for managing and monitoring the performance 
of the partnership?

11.2 How will the partnership review its performance on a quarterly basis?
11.3 What is the frequency of performance reporting to the board
11.4 Are performance targets reviewed
12.0 Financial Arrangements

12.1
How will the partnership be resourced? (Is there a clear budget set (covering 
both income and expenditure) for revenue and capital purposes?)

12.2 What arrangements are in place for monitoring the partnership’s budget?
12.3 How will action be taken where there are major variances in the budget?

12.4
What arrangements are in place to limit the financial liabilities that the 
partnership can incur?

12.5 What financial procedures / controls are in place?

12.6
What mechanisms are in place to review the financial procedures / controls on a 
regular basis?

12.7

Where the partnership must meet specific minimum guidelines in order to 
maintain funding, what arrangements are in place for monitoring how the 
guidelines are met?

P
age 221



SIGNIFICANT PARTNERSHIPS TEMPLATE FOR NEW PARTNERSHIPS AND THREE YEARLY REVIEWS

1.0 Name of Partnership

12.8

Where partnerships have staff and/or other assets and one organisation is 
acting as the host body, what arrangements are in place for clarifying any 
transfer of these?

12.9 Have the VAT arrangements been agreed with Customs and Excise?
What arrangements are in place to investigate allegations of breaches of 
financial conduct, fraud and corruption?

13.0 Risk Management

13.1
What arrangements are in place for assessing and managing the risks 
associated with the partnership?

13.2 Are significant risks routinely reported
13.3 Are risk mitigation processes routinely reviewed
13.4 How does the Council risk assess its membership?
14.0 Information Sharing and Public Engagement
14.1 What information will agencies need to share?
14.2 How will this be done? (Including overcoming any technical or legal barriers)
14.3 Are meetings open to the public
14.4 Mechanisms for publishing minutes
14.5 Protocols for ensuring data Protection / GDPR compliance
15.0 Exit strategy
15.1 What arrangements for dissolution are in place?

15.2
Is there an exit strategy within the partnership agreement including assets, 
liabilities and staffing etc?

15.3 How will legacy contracts (if any) be dealt with?
16.0 Review Programme
16.1 Fundamental review every 3 years
16.2 Date:
16.3 Six monthly reviews in quarter 1 and quarter 3 by Senior Management Team
16.4 Date:

P
age 222



PARTNERSHIP GOVERNANCE IMPROVEMENT PLAN

This template (or something similar) should be used to ensure action is taken to address any necessary improvements or missing elements of the governance arrangements.

NAME OF PARTNERSHIP:
DATE:

Governance area Improvement needed / Intended outcome Action taken Timescale Responsible person / group Notes (including resource 
implications)

P
age 223



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 224



Schedule of CIPFA Financial Management Standards Appendix 4

Yes No N/A Comment

Section 1 The Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer

Leadership A The leadership team is able to demonstrate that the services provided by 

the authority provide value for money

A1 The achievement of value for money is the collective responsibility of elected 

members and senior officers, who together make up an authority’s 

leadership team. Consideration of value for money should be an integral 

feature to the decisions made by the leadership team, especially those 

relating to the allocation of resources or to the delivery of services.

 Responsibility set out in Finance Procedure Rules and 

officer job descriptions

A2 High-level governance and management arrangements exist  Also see Local Code of Governance

A clear governance structure Constitution

Scrutiny arrangements Constitution: Terms of Reference for Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, Audit Committee and Standards 

Committee

Audit arrangements  Terms of Reference for Audit Committee, Internal 

Audit contract; PSAA contract for external audit; 

S151 Officer job description

Clear objectives and strategy based on local need  Council Plan, Commissioning Strategy

Effective service and financial planning   Service plans being reviewed for 2021/22

A3 Robust arrangements surrounding the commitment of expenditure, the 

oversight of contracts with third parties and the management of risk:

Financial regulations  Constitution: Finance Procedure Rules

Procurement regulations  Constitution: Contract Procedure Rules

Contract management arrangements  Constitution: Contract Procedure Rules

Risk management 

A4 Reviewing explicitly the ways in which these services are delivered or by 

comparing the authority’s own services and service performance with those 

of other authorities:

Compliance

P
age 225



Yes No N/A Comment

Compliance

Efficiency reviews 
  Customer Connect: various reviews as part of process

Benchmarking   Not in all services

Peer review   Not in all services

A5 Ways in which the authority could help to ensure that its services are 

effective, in that they are achieving the authority’s objectives and meeting 

the needs of service users: 

Monitoring of performance data   Not in all services

Service reviews   Not in all services

User surveys   Not in all services

External assessments   Not in all services

A6 While equity is a relatively recent addition to the concept of value for 

money, there are nevertheless things that the authority could do to ensure 

that its services are accessible to all those who could benefit from them:

Equality impact assessments  Included in all Committee reports

Engagement with service users 
 Consultation required as part of formal decision 

reports

Engagement with the voluntary sector 
 Consultation required as part of formal decision 

reports

Leadership B The authority complies with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief 

Finance Officer in Local Government

B1 The Chief Finance Officer in a public service organisation is a key member of 

the leadership team, helping it to develop and implement strategy and to 

resource and deliver the organisation’s strategic objectives sustainably and 

in the public interest.

 Finance Lead Specialist member of Leadership Team 

and Corporate Management Team

B2 The Chief Finance Officer must be actively involved in, and able to bring 

influence to bear on, all material business decisions to ensure immediate and 

longer term implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and 

alignment with the organisation’s financial strategy.

 All reports must be signed off by Finance Lead 

Specialist or deputy

P
age 226



Yes No N/A Comment

Compliance

B3 The Chief Finance Officer must lead the promotion and delivery by the whole 

organisation of good financial management so that public money is 

safeguarded at all times and used appropriately, economically, efficiently 

and effectively.

 Finance Lead Specialist championing of financial 

management and sustainability: skills audit: training

The Chief Finance Officer should regularly review the skillsets of elected 

members and all officers with budget/financial management responsibility 

and ensure appropriate support is provided.

B4 The Chief Finance Officer must lead and direct a finance function that is 

resourced to be fit for purpose.

 Finance Lead Specialist, team of finance specialists, 

all compliant with CPD requirements

The Chief Finance Officer should regularly review the skillsets of all finance 

staff with senior budget/financial management responsibility and ensure 

ongoing appropriate support is provided.

The ratio of qualified staff as a proportion of total finance staff ensures that 

the finance function has the necessary financial competence.

B5 The Chief Finance Officer must be professionally qualified and suitably 

experienced. 



The Chief Finance Officer must be able to demonstrate adherence to 

professional CPD requirements on an annual basis

B6 The Chief Finance Officer should promote the highest standards of ethical 

behaviour in the conduct of financial management.

 Finance Lead Specialist personal behaviour: staff 

training and development

Professionally qualified staff should evidence ongoing benchmarking against 

the principles of objectivity, integrity professional behaviour, professional 

competence, dues care and confidentiality.

B7 To enable financially informed decision making:

The Chief Finance Officer should be able to provide the leadership team with 

sound advice on the key principles of local government finance; and

 Finance Lead Specialist member of leadership team: 

advice on financial management and sustainability

The Chief Finance Officer should be able to demonstrate a sound system 

which ensures the authority has access to high standards of technical 

financial advice.

 Finance Lead Specialist member of leadership team: 

advice on financial management and sustainability

Finance Lead Specialist: CIPFA qualified since 1991, 

compliant with CPD requirements: also member of 

the Society of District Council Treasurers executive.

P
age 227



Yes No N/A Comment

Compliance

B8        The chief finance officer should report explicitly on the affordability and risk 

associated with the capital strategy and where appropriate have access to 

specialised advice to enable them to reach their conclusions.

 Finance Lead Specialist and team prepare Capital 

Strategy annually as part of budget setting process: 

includes future capital funding requirements to 

maintain capital assets: report of Finance Lead 

Specialist part of budget setting process

B9 The chief finance officer must establish the reporting and monitoring 

processes, and integrate the treasury management indicators into the 

overall financial planning process

 Monthly budget monitoring: quarterly corporate 

finance update reports to O&S, Cabinet and Council 

includes TM appendix.  Medium Term Financial Plan 

shows how Council Plan will be resourced and 

informs annual budget process

B10 The Chief Finance Officer of Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 

administering authorities satisfies the requirements of the CIPFA Code of 

Practice on Public Sector Pensions Finance Knowledge and Skills (2013 

edition)

 Not applicable

Section 2 Governance and management style

Assurance C The leadership team demonstrates in its actions and behaviours 

responsibility for governance and internal control.

 Annual review as part of preparation of Annual 

Governance Statement: new Governance and 

Accountability Officer working group established

Accountability D The authority applies the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in 

Local Government: Framework (2016)

The Council has adopted a Local Code of Governance, 

reviewed annually by Audit Committee

D1 The authority maintains an effective audit committee  See annual assessment of effectiveness of Audit 

Committee

P
age 228



Yes No N/A Comment

Compliance

D2 The audit committee receives and monitors the implementation of internal 

and external audit recommendations. When threats to the financial 

sustainability of the authority are identified by auditors the audit committee 

should ensure that the recommendations are communicated to the 

leadership team and that the committee are informed of the effectiveness of 

the leadership team’s response.



D3       The authority has a PSIAS conformant internal audit function  Through (TIAA internal audit contractor)

Sustainability E          The Financial Management Style of the authority supports financial 

sustainability

The Council's Finance team are implementing a 

Business Partnering model to support managers in 

monitoring their services on a regular basis and 

ensure they are financially sustainable.

E1 The organisation has an effective framework of financial accountability that 

is clearly understood and applied throughout, from the political leaders, 

elected members to directors, finance officers and front line service 

managers.

 Finance Procedure Rules: Finance training: regular 

monitoring

E2 Finance teams and the organisation they support are actively committed to 

continuous improvement focused on efficient and effective delivery and 

organisational performance.

 Finance Procedure Rules: Finance training: regular 

monitoring

The organisation has an effective framework of financial accountability that 

is clearly understood and applied throughout, from the political leaders, 

elected members to directors, finance officers and front line service 

managers.

E3 Enabling transformation: the finance team have input into strategic and 

operational plans taking into account proactive risk management, clear 

strategic directions and focus-based outcomes



E4 Managers understand they are responsible for delivering services cost 

effectively and are held accountable for doing so.



Financial literacy is diffused throughout the organisation so that decision 

takers understand and manage the financial implications of their decisions.

P
age 229



Yes No N/A Comment

Compliance

E5 The financial management of the authority has been critically evaluated.  Internal audit reviews

Section 3: Long to medium-term financial management

Sustainability F The authority has carried out a credible and transparent Financial Resilience 

Assessment.

 The budget report includes the S151 assurance 

statement on the robustness of reserves and 

estimates: the updated CIPFA resilience statement 

will be reviewed by the Finance Lead Specialist

F1 Financial resilience is tested against best and worst case scenarios which 

cover a wide range of financial demographic and social challenges.

 Within the Medium Term Financial Plan working 

papers

F2 The authority uses independent objective quantitate measures to assess the 

risks to its financial sustainability.

 Use of external advisors, including on external 

funding and business rate income

F3 Decision making by the authority demonstrates a sound understanding of 

the risks associated with its strategic business partners.

 Specific example 2020/21: leisure services partner 

and impact of Covid-19

Sustainability G         The authority understands its prospects for financial sustainability in the 

longer term and has reported this clearly to members

 Medium Term Financial Plan reviewed annually

Standards H The authority complies with the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance 

in Local Authorities

 Reported annually within Treasury Management 

Strategy documents, including quarterly update 

reports and annual report.

Sustainability I The authority has a rolling multi-year Medium Term Financial Plan 

consistent with sustainable service plans

 Approved annually in July, based on previous year 

outturn, monitored and updated as part of budget 

setting process.

I1 The Medium Term Financial Plan should make reference to other 

organisational plans (e.g. workforce planning) and performance measures to 

demonstrate an alignment between service and financial planning.



I2 The authority has benchmarked the performance of its services against 

appropriate comparators.



P
age 230



Yes No N/A Comment

Compliance

I3 To inform the Leadership Team’s decisions the authority has a single 

document tracking progress in the delivery of planned savings over the 

period of the Medium Term Financial Plan.



I4 The authority publishes it plans for the use of reserves over the over the 

period of the Medium Term Financial Plan The level of reserves at 31st 

March in any one year should not be fall below the level previously agreed.

 Reported in quarterly monitoring if required

I5 The authority should demonstrate adherence to the most recent guidance 

on reserves from CIPFA’s Local Authority Accounting Panel



Section 4: The annual budget

Standards J The authority complies with its statutory obligations in respect of the 

budget setting process



Standards K The budget report includes a statement by the Chief Finance Officer on the 

robustness of the estimates and a statement of the adequacy of the 

proposed financial reserves.

 Statement included in budget report to Council

Section 5: Stakeholder engagement and businesses cases

Transparency L The authority has engaged with key stakeholders in developing its long 

term financial strategy, medium term financial plan and annual budget.

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee invited to 

comment on draft MTFP and budget proposals.  

Statutory business rate consultation carried out as 

part of budget setting process.

It was planned that a Public consultation 

methodology be developed for 2022/23 budget 

setting process but this has not happened due to 

additional resource requirements of LGR.

Transparency M The authority uses a documented option appraisal methodology to 

demonstrate the VFM of its decisions

A high-level bid is required for all capital schemes, a 

full business case is requested prior to 

commencement of capital works but the format is 

not mandated.  A business case format will be 

prepared to include the rationale for the project, 

capital and revenue costs, payback period (if 

applicable) and project risks.  All tenders consider 

VFM by considering the quality of service, not just 

the price.

P
age 231



Yes No N/A Comment

Compliance

M1 Option appraisal IFAC/PAIB Project and Investment Appraisal for Sustainable 

Value Creation: Principles in Project and Investment Appraisal 



M3 The accounting treatment of material decisions is considered and 

demonstrated as part of the formal option appraisal process.



Section 6: Monitoring financial performance

Assurance N The leadership team takes action using reports enabling it to identify and 

correct emerging risks to its budget strategy and financial sustainability.

N1 Timely financial and performance information is available to managers via 

the appropriate systems. The systems are engineered to provide relevant 

data at a sufficiently accurate  level. The organisation ensures that 

information is appropriately tailored and streamlined to avoid the risk of 

‘data overload’.

 Staff training is being provided including monthly 

bitesize sessions.

N2 All Financial monitoring reports include:

•The name of the budget holder responsible for the information presented 

•Accruals based financial information  Purchase ordering system produces accruals based 

purchase information,  payroll and income is on cash 

basis.

•Include the approved budget against which monitoring is taking place. 

•A forecast for the remainder of the budget period, 

•Service performance information and   Review being carried out, also recommended by 

external audit in annual audit report.

 is shown, for instance by reconciliations, to be consistent with the aggregate 

position for the authority. 



N3 Financial monitoring reports for high risk budgets are scrutinised by the 

leadership team of the organisation on (as a minimum) monthly basis.



Financial monitoring reports for steady state/low risk budgets are:

•Received by budget holders on a monthly basis

•Received (in aggregate) by the leadership team on a regular basis. 

A high-level bid is required for all capital schemes, a 

full business case is requested prior to 

commencement of capital works but the format is 

not mandated.  A business case format will be 

prepared to include the rationale for the project, 

capital and revenue costs, payback period (if 

applicable) and project risks.  All tenders consider 

VFM by considering the quality of service, not just 

the price.

All revenue and capital budgets reported to 

Corporate management team each month with the 

exception of April annually and shared with 

leadership team

P
age 232



Yes No N/A Comment

Compliance

N4 The authority has arrangements which allow annual service budgets to be 

recalibrated in response to unforeseen developments.

 Virements and supplementary budget estimates as 

set out in constitution

N5 At the financial monitoring period end the leadership team receives a set of 

financial statements with forecast outturn for the year ahead



N6 There are appropriate arrangements in place for reporting and managing the 

financial performance of each of the organisation’s delivery partnerships and 

collaborative arrangements.

 Some monitoring through contract processes, not 

fully consolidated into main finance monitoring 

processes

N7 There are appropriate arrangements in place for the project management 

and cost control of capital projects.

  While there is budget monitoring there has been a 

very significant level of re-profiling of capital 

programme which suggests further work is necessary

Leadership O The leadership team monitors the elements of its balance sheet which 

pose a significant risk to its financial stability

O1 Unplanned and planned use of reserves are reported [quarterly] to the 

management team of the organisation and to Council.

 Reserves monitoring and use of reserves included in 

quarterly corporate finance reports

O2 Management accounts include either a full balance sheet or an appropriate 

level of balance sheet information to meet business needs and evidence of 

monitoring of material items

 Internal monitoring only includes certain balance 

sheet items, mainly around debt. A review of balance 

sheet monitoring to be completed by March 2022

Section 7 External financial reporting

Accountability P The Chief Finance Officer has personal and statutory responsibility for 

ensuring that the statutory accounts produced by the local authority 

complies with the reporting requirements of the Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.

 S151 Officer job description

Accountability Q The presentation of the final outturn figures and variations from budget 

allow the leadership team to make strategic financial decisions.

 Report presented annually in May / June: feeds into 

the preparation and approval of Medium Term 

Financial Plan in July

P
age 233



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 234



Annual Governance Statement and Local Code review 2020/21
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action Plan

„Codes of conduct A7 develop and adopt formal codes of 

conduct defining standards of 

personal behaviour;

Monitoring Officer Constitution includes Member and Officer Codes of 

Conduct, reviewed annually.  Staff personal qualities 

framework  includes "Demonstrates high standards of 

personal and professional conduct and be a role model 

for others".  New personal qualities framework agreed 

during 2018/19

4 4

„„Individual sign off with regard to compliance 

with code

n/a n/a All Managers New annual appraisal process - 'Your Conversation' - 

being launched in 2021. This is supported by monthly 

121 meetings between line managers and team 

members. Values are confirmed, and Behaviours 

workshops are planned for 2021 which will most 

probably lead to an update on the Personal Qualities 

Framework

3 4 Your Conversation launch May 2021. Values 

and Behaviours workshops delivered for 

majority of staff

„„Induction for new members and staff on 

standard of behaviour expected

A19 provide induction programmes 

tailored to individual needs and 

opportunities for members and 

officers to update their knowledge 

on a regular basis;

HR Lead Specialist Induction process in place, with development 

opportunities boosted by recent provision of e-

learning. Also, new Member Development Strategy 

currently going through approval process

3 3 Currently reviewing induction/on boarding 

„„Performance appraisals A20 assess the skills required by 

members and officers and make 

arrangements to agree a 

development plan to develop those 

skills and address any training gaps, 

to enable roles to be carried out 

effectively;

All Managers 121 process underway. New 'appraisal' process being 

launched in May 2021. Skills gap analysis work also 

underway in Spring 2021. Performance Plan process 

introduced in 2020 to address ongoing performance 

and behavioural challenges

4 4

A Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Behaving with integrity Ensuring members take the lead in establishing specific 

standard operating principles or values for the organisation 

and its staff and that they are communicated and 

understood. These should build on the Seven Principles of 

Public Life (the Nolan Principles)

Communicating shared values with members, 

staff, the community and partners

A5 develop and maintain shared values 

including leadership values both for 

the Council and its staff reflecting 

public expectations about the 

conduct and behaviour of individuals 

and groups within and associated 

with the Council;

Corporate Management 

Team

Personal qualities framework sets out leadership 

values for Council and staff

3,4 4 4

„„Decision making practices A6 use the Council’s shared values to act 

as a guide for decision making and as 

a basis for developing positive and 

trusting relationships within the 

Council;

Monitoring Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/councillors-

and-

decisions/councillors/councillor-

code-of-conduct-and-

standards/

4 4

„„Declarations of interests made at meetings A9 put in place arrangements to ensure 

that members and staff of the 

Council are not influenced by 

prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest 

in dealing with different stakeholders 

and put in place appropriate 

processes to ensure that they 

continue to operate in practice;

Monitoring Officer https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?

XXR=0&Year=0&CId=139&MD=

ielistmeetings

4 4

„„Conduct at meetings A5 develop and maintain shared values 

including leadership values both for 

the Council and its staff reflecting 

public expectations about the 

conduct and behaviour of individuals 

and groups within and associated 

with the Council;

Monitoring Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/7573/south-

lakeland-district-council-

constitution-2021.pdf

4 4

„„Shared values guide decision making A6 use the Council’s shared values to act 

as a guide for decision making and as 

a basis for developing positive and 

trusting relationships within the 

Council;

All managers https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/7573/south-

lakeland-district-council-

constitution-2021.pdf

4 4

„„Develop and maintain an effective standards 

committee

A8 develop and maintain an effective 

standards committee that acts as the 

main means to raise awareness and 

take the lead in ensuring high 

standards of conduct are firmly 

embedded within the local culture;

Monitoring Officer meets at least twice a year and meets the 

requirements of the constitution

https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?

CommitteeId=139

4 4

„„Anti-fraud and corruption policies are working 

effectively

A17 put in place effective anti-bribery, 

fraud and corruption policies that 

comply with the Code of Practice on 

Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption (CIPFA, 2014); 

Section 151 Officer Anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policy and 

associated processes reviewed annually & deemed to 

be working effectively.  Audit Committee December 

2021

link to be added when agenda 

published

4 4

Self Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

Ensuring members and officers behave with integrity and 

lead a culture where acting in the public interest is visibly 

and consistently demonstrated thereby protecting the 

reputation of the organisation

Behaving with integrityBehaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Leading by example and using these standard operating 

principles or values as a framework for decision making and 

other actions

Behaving with integrityBehaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Behaving with integrity Demonstrating, communicating and embedding the 

standard operating principles or values through appropriate 

policies and processes which are reviewed on a regular 

basis to ensure that they are operating effectively

Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

A

A

A

Appendix 5

P
age 235



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

A9 put in place arrangements to ensure 

that members and staff of the 

Council are not influenced by 

prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest 

in dealing with different stakeholders 

and put in place appropriate 

processes to ensure that they 

continue to operate in practice;

Monitoring Officer Register of member interest published on website and 

reviewed regularly with members.

4 4

A12 put in place arrangements so that 

conflicts of interest on behalf of 

members and employees can be 

avoided and put in place appropriate 

processes to ensure that they 

continue to operate in practice;

Monitoring Officer Annual report by Monitoring Officer to Standards 

Committee; training given to members and further 

advice offered before sensitive committee meetings

link to be added when agenda 

published

4 4

A9 put in place arrangements to ensure 

that members and staff of the 

Council are not influenced by 

prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest 

in dealing with different stakeholders 

and put in place appropriate 

processes to ensure that they 

continue to operate in practice;

A12 put in place arrangements so that 

conflicts of interest on behalf of 

members and employees can be 

avoided and put in place appropriate 

processes to ensure that they 

continue to operate in practice;

„„Whistleblowing policies are in place and 

protect individuals raising concerns

A16 put in place effective systems to 

protect the rights of staff. Ensure 

that policies for whistle blowing 

which are accessible to staff and 

those contracting with the authority, 

and arrangements for the support of 

whistle blowers, are in place;

Human Resources Lead 

Specialist / Section 151 

Officer

Whistleblowing policy approved by HR Committee, bi-

annual review by Audit Committee

http://sharepoint/sites/hr/Poli

cies%20Procedures%20%20Gui

delines/Approved%20PDF%20S

%20-

%20W/Whistleblowing/2013%

20Whistleblowing.pdf

3 3 No evidence it has been revised since 

2017/18 - review commenced, will be 

reported to Audit Committee in April 2022

„„Whistleblowing policy has been made 

available to members of the public, 

employees, partners and contractors

A16 put in place effective systems to 

protect the rights of staff. Ensure 

that policies for whistle blowing 

which are accessible to staff and 

those contracting with the authority, 

and arrangements for the support of 

whistle blowers, are in place;

Human Resources Lead 

Specialist / Section 151 

Officer

Whistleblowing policy on website: also shared as part 

of tendering pack for prospective contractors.  Bi-

annual review of whistleblowing to Audit Committee 

(not 2018/19, last reported 2017/18)

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/policies-and-plans/

3 3 No evidence it has been revised since 

2017/18 - review commenced, will be 

reported to Audit Committee in April 2022

Complaints policy and examples of responding 

to complaints about behaviour

A13 put in place effective transparent 

and accessible arrangements for 

dealing with complaints;

Monitoring Officer/ 

Customer Services Lead 

Specialist

Complaints Policy on Website https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/policies-and-plans/

4 4

„„Changes/improvements as a result of 

complaints received and acted upon

A13 put in place effective transparent 

and accessible arrangements for 

dealing with complaints;

Monitoring Officer Monitored regularly and reported to Standards 

Committee annually

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=139&MId=4521&Ver=4

4 4

„„Members and officers code of conduct refers 

to a requirement to declare interests

A9 put in place arrangements to ensure 

that members and staff of the 

Council are not influenced by 

prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest 

in dealing with different stakeholders 

and put in place appropriate 

processes to ensure that they 

continue to operate in practice;

Monitoring Officer Included in both member and officers code of conduct https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/councillors-

and-decisions/council-

constitution/

4 4

„„Minutes show declarations of interest were 

sought

A9 put in place arrangements to ensure 

that members and staff of the 

Council are not influenced by 

prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest 

in dealing with different stakeholders 

and put in place appropriate 

processes to ensure that they 

continue to operate in practice;

Monitoring Officer All agendas and minutes show declarations of interest - 

see minute ref CEX/97 as example

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/documents/g4456/Pri

nted%20minutes%20Wednesd

ay%2020-Mar-

2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf

?T=1

4 4

Behaving with integrity Demonstrating, communicating and embedding the 

standard operating principles or values through appropriate 

policies and processes which are reviewed on a regular 

basis to ensure that they are operating effectively

Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

A

„„Up-to-date register of interests (members and 

staff)

„„Up-to-date register of gifts and hospitality Monitoring Officer Annual report by Monitoring Officer to Standards 

Committee for staff

link to be added when agenda 

published

4 4

P
age 236



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

„„Scrutiny of ethical decision making A10 put in place arrangements to ensure 

that procedures and operations are 

designed in conformity with 

appropriate ethical standards, and to 

monitor their continuing compliance 

in practice;

Monitoring Officer Constitution is communicated and training provided 

annually on its contents to officers to ensure they 

adhere to the contents. Decisions, whether they are 

executive or non-executive they receive input from 

Legal Services and the MO. Training on the 

requirements for effective and efficient decision 

making will be provided in 2021 to leadership team 

and wider officers. This to ensure that the workflow 

from CMT to Cabinet and other decision making 

committees is correctly followed and training on the 

Forward Plan will be provided in 2021. 

PURDAH training. Report 

writing guidance page 

http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/SitePages/Report

%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx 

3 4 Engagement with all Services on the 

Constitution and any required changes. 

Establishment of Constitutional Working 

Group with Party Leaders. Training 

Programme 2021/22 on Legal, Governance 

and Democracy for all staff. 

„„Championing ethical compliance at governing 

body level

A10 put in place arrangements to ensure 

that procedures and operations are 

designed in conformity with 

appropriate ethical standards, and to 

monitor their continuing compliance 

in practice;

Monitoring Officer MO underpins personal behaviour with ethical values 

in relation to Code of Conduct Complaints against 

Members, established Standards Committee, following 

procedure and assessing complaints with Independent 

Person. Also advising fairly in relation to declarations 

of interest for both members and officers 

Code of conduct procedure on 

website:-

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/councillors-

and-

decisions/councillors/councillor-

code-of-conduct-and-

standards/ . Register of 

interests:- 

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/councillors-

and-

decisions/councillors/councillor

s-register-of-interests/ 

3 4 Standards Committee regular meeting and 

annual review. Appointment and meetings 

with Independent Person

A Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Demonstrating strong commitment 

to ethical values

Underpinning personal

behaviour with ethical values and ensuring they permeate 

all aspects of the organisation’s culture and operation

Provision of ethical awareness training A5 - not 

explicit in 

code but 

ethical 

awareness 

covered.

develop and maintain shared values 

including leadership values both for 

the Council and its staff reflecting 

public expectations about the 

conduct and behaviour of individuals 

and groups within and associated 

with the Council;

HR Lead Specialist 4 4

A10 put in place arrangements to ensure 

that procedures and operations are 

designed in conformity with 

appropriate ethical standards, and to 

monitor their continuing compliance 

in practice;

HR Lead Specialist Planned programme of HR policy reviews currently 

underway - around 1/3rd completed. 

3 3 More policy updates to HR Committee in July 

2021

A20 assess the skills required by 

members and officers and make 

arrangements to agree a 

development plan to develop those 

skills and address any training gaps, 

to enable roles to be carried out 

effectively;

All managers Report to Council in May regarding Member 

development including ethical behaviour. For officers 

SLDC regularly talk training development needs with 

their line managers. Linked to 'new appraisal' 

approach, skills gap conversations, and Customer 

Connect Transition programme

http://sharepoint/sites/finance

/Final%20Accounts%20202021

/5%20WPS%20Misc%2C%20AG

S%2C%20Cap%2C%20Cash%2C

%20System/AGS/Corporate%2

0Govnce%20Compliance%20wi

th%20Local%20Code/FW%20S

kills%20Gap%20Analysis%20-

%20A%20New%20Approach.m

sg

3 4 new appraisal' approach, skills gap 

conversations, training for all staff

„„Staff appointments policy A10 

includes 

general 

catch all 

around 

ethical 

policies - 

there is a 

recruitme

nt policy 

put in place arrangements to ensure 

that procedures and operations are 

designed in conformity with 

appropriate ethical standards, and to 

monitor their continuing compliance 

in practice;

HR Lead Specialist Completed 4 4

„Procurement policy A9 

includes 

general 

reference 

to avoiding 

influence/

bias with 

reference 

to 

procureme

put in place arrangements to ensure 

that members and staff of the 

Council are not influenced by 

prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest 

in dealing with different stakeholders 

and put in place appropriate 

processes to ensure that they 

continue to operate in practice;

Section 151 

Officer/Procurement 

Specialist

Procurement Policy includes guidance on collusion and 

conflicts of interest. Council meetings start with 

declarations of conflicts of interest. Annual declaration 

of interest form administered by Legal Governance 

include the Procurement Specialist

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/7573/south-

lakeland-district-council-

constitution-2021.pdf

4 4

„„Agreed values in partnership working:

–– Statement of business ethics

communicates commitment to

ethical values to external suppliers

–– Ethical values feature in contracts with 

external service providers

A10 put in place arrangements to ensure 

that procedures and operations are 

designed in conformity with 

appropriate ethical standards, and to 

monitor their continuing compliance 

in practice;

Section 151 Officer All invitations to tender have ask suppliers to declare 

their financial standing and that they conform to 

ethical standards, have not been involved with 

fraudulent activity. Inclusion of the anti-collusion form, 

to reduce the risk of price fixing

Collusion Certificate, ITT part 2

4 4

Developing and maintaining robust policies and procedures 

which place emphasis on agreed ethical values

Demonstrating strong commitment 

to ethical values

Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Ensuring that external providers

of services on behalf of the

organisation are required to act with integrity and in 

compliance with high ethical standards expected by the 

organisation

Demonstrating strong commitment 

to ethical values

Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Seeking to establish, monitor and maintain the 

organisation’s ethical standards and performance

Demonstrating strong commitment 

to ethical values

Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

A

A

A

„Appraisal processes take account of values and 

ethical behaviour

P
age 237



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

A11 ensure that systems and processes 

for financial administration and 

control, protection of the Authority’s 

resources and assets, are designed in 

conformity with appropriate ethical 

standards; and are subject to 

monitoring of their effectiveness;

Section 151 Officer Use of Creditsafe to ensure financial due diligence of a 

supplier and as a tool to identify risks with the supplier 

base

L:\Finance\Accountancy\Procu

rements\Credit checks

4 4

A18 use a statement of business conduct  

to make its expectations clear to 

partners and external providers of 

services;

All Managers Within  invitation to tender, collusion certificate and https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/6758/2016-2019-

procurement-strategy-

2019update-003.pdf

4 4

„„Protocols for partnership working A18 use a statement of business conduct  

to make its expectations clear to 

partners and external providers of 

services;

Section 151 

Officer/Strategy Lead 

Specialist

Although there is a Partnership Register, there appears 

to be no current policy to accompany 

2 3 Partnership Guidance to be considered by 

Audit Committee December 2021 and 

implemented immediately

A14 actively recognise the limits of lawful 

activity placed on the Council by the 

ultra vires doctrine but also strive to 

utilise the Council’s powers to the full 

benefit of our communities;

Monitoring Officer Constitution includes a number of statements where 

the law overarches the requirements of the local 

constitution.

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/councillors-

and-decisions/council-

constitution/

3 3

A15 observe all specific legislative 

requirements placed upon the 

Council as well as the requirements 

of general law, and in particular 

integrate the key principles of 

administrative law – rationality, 

legality and natural justice into the 

Council’s procedures and decision 

making;

Monitoring Officer Legal officers advise officers on points of law and 

through continued development and training. The MO 

and Legal Officers not only apply these principles 

within their department but across the Council and 

when advising Members

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/councillors-

and-decisions/council-

constitution/

3 4 Monitoring Officer have delivered bitesize 

training on a variety of corporate governance 

subjects. These are programmed in until May 

2022.  Programmed business support meeting 

acrross all service areas to provide advice.  

Regular advice is provided in report drafting 

and decision making both within reports and 

at Council meetings.

A14 actively recognise the limits of lawful 

activity placed on the Council by the 

ultra vires doctrine but also strive to 

utilise the Council’s powers to the full 

benefit of our communities;

Monitoring Officer Monitoring Officer reports quarterly to the Corporate 

Management Team on significant legal issues and 

cases of significance. With all case work we advise on  

vires (intra and ultra) doctrine and the MO ensures the 

Council acts within the vires doctrine. 

Examples highlighted within 

Cabinet and Committee 

Reports and CMT Reports. 

(link) 

3 3 Quarterly reports continue and regular input 

on case work and report writing on the 

lawfulness of decision-making. 

A15 observe all specific legislative 

requirements placed upon the 

Council as well as the requirements 

of general law, and in particular 

integrate the key principles of 

administrative law – rationality, 

legality and natural justice into the 

Council’s procedures and decision 

making;

Monitoring Officer/All 

managers

Example of alerting the council to the changes in 

legislation created by Brexit, with regards to 

Procurement regulations 

https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.asp

x?CId=364&MId=5033&Ver=4

4 4

„Constitution A10 put in place arrangements to ensure 

that procedures and operations are 

designed in conformity with 

appropriate ethical standards, and to 

monitor their continuing compliance 

in practice;

Monitoring Officer Code of Conduct, underpins Member ethical standards https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/councillors-

and-

decisions/councillors/councillor-

code-of-conduct-and-

standards/

4 4

A1 make a Chief Executive (or 

equivalent) responsible and 

accountable to the authority for all 

aspects of operational management;

Chief Executive Within the constitution https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/7573/south-

lakeland-district-council-

constitution-2021.pdf

4 4

A3 appoint a professionally qualified and 

experienced Chief Finance Officer 

(Section 151 Officer), who will lead 

the promotion and delivery of good 

financial management, safeguarding 

public money and ensuring 

appropriate, economic, efficient and 

effective use of funds, together with 

professional accountability for 

finance staff throughout the Council 

with regard to CIPFA’s Statement on 

the Role of the Chief Financial Officer 

in Local Government (2016);

Chief Executive Authority adheres to principles of CIPFA statement on 

role of CFO in local government. CFO does not report 

direct to CE so in line with CIPFA guidance, need to set 

out local arrangements: this includes monthly 

meetings with CE and position on Corporate 

Management Team.  Revised role from 1 April 2019.

4 4

A4 make a senior officer (the Monitoring 

Officer) responsible to the authority 

for ensuring that agreed procedures 

are followed and that all applicable 

statutes, regulations and other 

relevant statements of good practice 

are complied with.

Chief Executive In place.  Revised role from 1 April 2019. 4 4

Ensuring that external providers

of services on behalf of the

organisation are required to act with integrity and in 

compliance with high ethical standards expected by the 

organisation

Demonstrating strong commitment 

to ethical values

Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Creating the conditions to ensure that the statutory 

officers, other key post holders and members are able to 

fulfil their responsibilities in accordance with legislative and 

regulatory requirements

Respecting the rule of lawBehaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Ensuring members and staff demonstrate a strong 

commitment to the rule of the law as well as adhering to 

relevant laws and regulations

Respecting the rule of lawBehaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

A

A

A

„Statutory provisions

„Statutory guidance is followed

Job description/specifications

P
age 238



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

A2 make a senior officer (the Section 

151 Officer) responsible to the 

authority for ensuring that 

appropriate advice is given on all 

financial matters, for keeping proper 

financial records and accounts, and 

for maintaining an effective system 

of internal financial control;

Chief Executive In place.  Revised role from 1 April 2019. 4 4

A3 appoint a professionally qualified and 

experienced Chief Finance Officer 

(Section 151 Officer), who will lead 

the promotion and delivery of good 

financial management, safeguarding 

public money and ensuring 

appropriate, economic, efficient and 

effective use of funds, together with 

professional accountability for 

finance staff throughout the Council 

with regard to CIPFA’s Statement on 

the Role of the Chief Financial Officer 

in Local Government (2016);

Chief Executive In place.  Revised role from 1 April 2019. 4 4

Terms of reference/Constitution A21 determine a scheme of delegated 

and reserved powers within the 

constitution and ensure that it is 

monitored and updated when 

required;

Monitoring Officer In place.  Revised roles for officers from 1 April 2019. 4 4

Committee support In place, 

not 

explicitly 

referenced 

in local 

#N/A Monitoring Officer In place.  Revised role from 1 April 2019. 4 4

A Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Respecting the rule of law Striving to optimise the use of the full powers available for 

the benefit of citizens, communities and other stakeholders

Record of legal advice provided by officers A22 ensure that professional advice on 

legal and financial matters is 

available and recorded well in 

advance of decision making and used 

appropriately when decisions have 

significant legal or financial 

implications.

Monitoring Officer Report includes sections for professional advice on 

legal, financial, HR and other areas.  Reports circulated 

to relevant officers, dates of advice recorded in report, 

all reports (except planning committee) considered 

and approved by Corporate Management Team before 

cleared for publication.

http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/_layouts/15/start.

aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Wr

iting%20Guidance.aspx

4 4

Monitoring officer provisions A4 make a senior officer (the Monitoring 

Officer) responsible to the authority 

for ensuring that agreed procedures 

are followed and that all applicable 

statutes, regulations and other 

relevant statements of good practice 

are complied with.

Chief Executive In place. Revised role from 1 April 2019. 4 4

Record of legal advice provided by officers A22 ensure that professional advice on 

legal and financial matters is 

available and recorded well in 

advance of decision making and used 

appropriately when decisions have 

significant legal or financial 

implications.

Monitoring Officer Report includes sections for professional advice on 

legal, financial, HR and other areas.  Reports circulated 

to relevant officers, dates of advice recorded in report, 

all reports (except planning committee) considered 

and approved by Corporate Management Team before 

cleared for publication. However, current legal case 

management system needs addressing

http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/_layouts/15/start.

aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Wr

iting%20Guidance.aspx

2 2 Operational risk identified in Audit 

Committee April 2021. Urgent need for 

adequate legal case management system. 

Statutory provisions Not 

explicit in 

the code, 

would 

need to 

demonstra

#N/A Monitoring Officer All legal officers are trained and comply with CPD to 

ensure they are up to date with statutory changes

3 4 Attendance throughout the year at virtual 

training as requried.

Effective anti-fraud and corruption

policies and procedures

A17 put in place effective anti-bribery, 

fraud and corruption policies that 

comply with the Code of Practice on 

Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption (CIPFA, 2014); 

Section 151 Officer Anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policy and processes 

reviewed annually by Audit Committee

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4473&Ver=4

4 4

Local test of assurance (where

appropriate)

n/a Not applicable for district councils n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Annual report B14 publish an annual report on a timely 

basis to communicate the authority’s 

activities and achievements, its 

financial position and performance;

Strategy Lead Specialist Annual report published May each year https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/annual-report/

4 4

Creating the conditions to ensure that the statutory 

officers, other key post holders and members are able to 

fulfil their responsibilities in accordance with legislative and 

regulatory requirements

Respecting the rule of lawBehaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

Respecting the rule of law Dealing with breaches of legal and regulatory provisions 

effectively

Ensuring corruption and misuse of power are dealt with 

effectively

Respecting the rule of lawBehaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law

OpennessEnsuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Ensuring an open culture through demonstrating, 

documenting and communicating the organisation’s 

commitment to openness

A

A

A

B

Compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the 

Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 

Government (CIPFA, 2016)

P
age 239

http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/annual-report/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/annual-report/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/annual-report/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/annual-report/


CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

Freedom of Information Act publication 

scheme

B13 To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

Monitoring Officer The timely publication of agendas and minutes for all 

committees are published on the Council's website and 

can be inspected at the Council's offices, always 

adhering to legislative requirements. Officers undergo 

report writing training and have access to the 

SharePoint area which provides advice and guidance 

on decision making and report writing. Training as 

referenced above and Governance and Accountability 

Working Group seeks to embed this across all Council 

areas, recognising there needs to be further training 

on the timely submission of reports and correct 

processes to be followed.  

SharePoint report writing area 

and the Committee Services 

webpage with agendas and 

minutes:- 

https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.a

spx?bcr=1

2 2 Further training and further communication 

of what is required. Council wide engagement 

needed. 

Online council tax information B15 promote the use of technology to 

enhance efficiency and quality of 

service;

Section 151 Officer Council tax information included on website.  

Customer Connect will extend access to include access 

to personal accounts during 2019/20

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/council-tax-and-housing-

benefit/council-tax/

4 4

Authority’s goals and values B3 ensure that the Council’s vision, 

values, strategic plans, priorities and 

targets are developed through robust 

mechanisms, and in consultation 

with the local community and other 

key stakeholders, and that they are 

clearly articulated and disseminated;

Chief Executive Council Plan is reviewed annually with a full refresh 

carried out in 2018/19 which included consultation 

with members, key stakeholders etc.

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/documents/s25274/C

ouncil%20Plan.pdf

4 4

Authority website B15 promote the use of technology to 

enhance efficiency and quality of 

service;

Chief Executive Customer Connect programme is designed to increase 

the use of technology to enhance efficiency

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=121&MId=4274&Ver=4

4 4

B Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Openness Making decisions that are open about actions, plans, 

resource use, forecasts, outputs and outcomes. The 

presumption

is for openness. If that is not the case, a justification for the 

reasoning for keeping a decision confidential should be 

provided

Record of decision making and supporting 

materials

B5 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based;

Monitoring Officer Report writing guidance - all details shall be in part 1 

unless meets requirement of part2.  Where possible a 

part 1 report will be produced with a part 2 

report/appendix containing confidential information.

B5 4 4

Decision making protocols B5 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based;

Monitoring Officer Constitution sets out which decisions should be 

administrative decisions and which should be subject 

to formal reporting process (meetings/DED). Guidance 

issued on when and how reports should be produced 

and decisions recorded

http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/_layouts/15/start.

aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Wr

iting%20Guidance.aspx

4 4

Report pro-formas B5 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based;

Monitoring Officer Reports produced using ModGov system - template 

reports used.

http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/_layouts/15/start.

aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Wr

iting%20Guidance.aspx

4 4

B5 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based;

Monitoring Officer

B16 ensure that professional advice on 

legal and financial matters is 

available and recorded well in 

advance of decision making and used 

appropriately when decisions have 

significant legal or financial 

implications;

Monitoring Officer

B5 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based;

Monitoring Officer 4 4

B16 ensure that professional advice on 

legal and financial matters is 

available and recorded well in 

advance of decision making and used 

appropriately when decisions have 

significant legal or financial 

implications;

Monitoring Officer 4 4

4

Minutes of meeting produced by properly trained staff: 

circulated to all staff who were present at meeting for 

agreement before published on website with links 

back to agenda/reports.

http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/_layouts/15/start.

aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Wr

iting%20Guidance.aspx

OpennessEnsuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Ensuring an open culture through demonstrating, 

documenting and communicating the organisation’s 

commitment to openness

B

Record of professional advice in reaching 

decisions

Meeting reports show details of advice given

B Providing clear reasoning and evidence for decisions in both 

public records and explanations to stakeholders and being 

explicit about the criteria, rationale and considerations 

used. In due course, ensuring that the impact and 

consequences of those decisions are clear

OpennessEnsuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Report includes sections for professional advice on 

legal, financial, HR and other areas.  Reports circulated 

to relevant officers, dates of advice recorded in report, 

all reports (except planning committee) considered 

and approved by Corporate Management Team before 

cleared for publication.

http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/_layouts/15/start.

aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Wr

iting%20Guidance.aspx

4

P
age 240

http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/council-tax-and-housing-benefit/council-tax/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/council-tax-and-housing-benefit/council-tax/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/council-tax-and-housing-benefit/council-tax/
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx


CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

B5 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based;

All Managers Building of relationships with portfolio holders. 

Examples SAMP board, Climate Change Action Group

http://sharepoint/sites/climate

emergency/MJ%20Award%20n

ominees/Climate%20Change%

20Action%20Plan%20-

%20Communications%20Plan.d

ocx

3 3 Actions may be dependent on the area of 

work

B16 ensure that professional advice on 

legal and financial matters is 

available and recorded well in 

advance of decision making and used 

appropriately when decisions have 

significant legal or financial 

implications;

Section 151 

Officer/Monitoring Officer

Specific facility within all reports to Council members 

that log the advice sought from legal and finance

3 3 Staff training: reports to be discussed with 

relevant officers in legal and financial services 

with adequate time to prepare sound 

comments and advice.

Agreement on the information that will be 

provided and timescales

B13 To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

Monitoring Officer Report includes sections for professional advice on 

legal, financial, HR and other areas.  Reports circulated 

to relevant officers, dates of advice recorded in report, 

all reports (except planning committee) considered 

and approved by Corporate Management Team before 

cleared for publication.

http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/_layouts/15/start.

aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Wr

iting%20Guidance.aspx

4 4

Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing 

and distributing timely reports is adhered to

B13 To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

Monitoring Officer Timetable agreed, deadlines published as part of 

report writing guidance

http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/_layouts/15/start.

aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Wr

iting%20Guidance.aspx

4 4

Community strategy B6 put in place effective arrangements 

designed to encourage individuals 

from all sections of the community to 

engage with, contribute to and 

participate in the work of the 

authority;

Strategy Lead Specialist Community Engagement Strategy and Consultation 

Strategy.  Consultation through website on all sorts of 

issues (Homeless Strategy, Community Governance 

Review, development of on-line services, Constitution, 

business premises, Kendal market traders & users)

https://cumbria.citizenspace.c

om/consultation_finder/?sort_

on=iconsultable_modifieddate

&sort_order=descending&adva

nced=1&tx=&pc=&st=&au=&in

=&de=.site.south-lakeland-

district-council&ar=

4 4

Use of consultation feedback B3 ensure that the Council’s vision, 

values, strategic plans, priorities and 

targets are developed through robust 

mechanisms, and in consultation 

with the local community and other 

key stakeholders, and that they are 

clearly articulated and disseminated;

Strategy Lead Specialist/All 

managers

Feedback from consultation is included in report 

templates to ensure it is considered in decision 

making.

http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/_layouts/15/start.

aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Wr

iting%20Guidance.aspx

4 4

Citizen survey has been 

done fairly 

recently, 

not explicit 

but 

contained 

within B3

ensure that the Council’s vision, 

values, strategic plans, priorities and 

targets are developed through robust 

mechanisms, and in consultation 

with the local community and other 

key stakeholders, and that they are 

clearly articulated and disseminated;

Strategy Lead Specialist/All 

managers

Various areas where community have been involved 

with decision making  e.g. Kendal Citizens Jury

http://sharepoint/sites/climate

emergency/SitePages/Home.as

px?RootFolder=%2Fsites%2Fcli

mateemergency%2FMJ%20Aw

ard%20nominees%2FKendal%2

0Climate%20Change%20CItize

n%27s%20Jury&FolderCTID=0x

0120007176B78830488E42A5B

526966352FF2D&View=%7BCD

F25EFD%2D82C1%2D42E4%2D

A7EE%2D94B71EEDF151%7D

4 4

B Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Engaging comprehensively with 

institutional stakeholders

Effectively engaging with institutional stakeholders to 

ensure that the purpose, objectives and intended  

outcomes for each stakeholder relationship are clear so 

that outcomes are achieved successfully and sustainably

Community strategy B6 put in place effective arrangements 

designed to encourage individuals 

from all sections of the community to 

engage with, contribute to and 

participate in the work of the 

authority;

Strategy Lead Specialist Community Engagement Strategy, statutory 

consultation with business rate payers

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/have-your-

say/community-engagement/

4 4

B8 consider those institutional 

stakeholders to whom we are 

accountable and assess the 

effectiveness of the relationships and 

any changes required;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgListOutsideBodie

s.aspx?bcr=1

4 4

B12 To put in place measures to ensure 

freedom of information requests and 

transparency requirements are 

adhered to, including publication 

through the Council’s website. 

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/freedom-of-

information/

4 4

Partnership framework B17 when working in partnership, ensure 

that there is a clear statement 

setting out the purpose of the 

partnership and the outputs to be 

achieved.

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-

council/partnerships/

4 4

Partnership protocols B4 in pursuing partnerships, agree a set 

of values against which decision 

making and actions can be judged in 

line with and having referred to the 

Partnership Register and Guidance.

Strategy Lead Specialist A Partnership Register exists but responsibility shifts 

means that it needs a review. Also policy behind it 

need reinstating

2 3 Partnership Guidance to be considered by 

Audit Committee December 2021 and 

implemented immediately

Database of stakeholders with whom

the authority should engage and for what 

purpose and a record of an assessment of the 

effectiveness of any changes

OpennessEnsuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Engaging comprehensively with 

institutional stakeholders

Ensuring that partnerships are based on:

–– trust

–– a shared commitment to change

–– a culture that promotes and accepts challenge among 

partners 

and that the added value of

partnership working is explicit

Developing formal and informal

partnerships to allow for resources to be used more 

efficiently and outcomes achieved more effectively

Engaging comprehensively with 

institutional stakeholders

B

Discussion between members and officers on 

the information needs of members to support 

decision making

B

B

B

Providing clear reasoning and evidence for decisions in both 

public records and explanations to stakeholders and being 

explicit about the criteria, rationale and considerations 

used. In due course, ensuring that the impact and 

consequences of those decisions are clear

OpennessEnsuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Using formal and informal consultation and engagement to 

determine the most appropriate and effective 

interventions/ courses of action

Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

P
age 241

http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx


CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

Record of public consultations B3; In 

place, got 

a 

consultatio

n hub but 

included in 

wider 

provision

ensure that the Council’s vision, 

values, strategic plans, priorities and 

targets are developed through robust 

mechanisms, and in consultation 

with the local community and other 

key stakeholders, and that they are 

clearly articulated and disseminated;

Strategy Lead Specialist Unsure when this was last reviewed https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

3 3 review by March 2022

Partnership framework B17 when working in partnership, ensure 

that there is a clear statement 

setting out the purpose of the 

partnership and the outputs to be 

achieved.

all managers Some work to ensure that this is included in the policy 

for partnership working

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-

council/partnerships/

3 3 Partnership Guidance to be considered by 

Audit Committee December 2021 and 

implemented immediately

B1 develop protocols to ensure effective 

communication between members 

and officers in their respective roles;

Monitoring Officer Protocol exists, but no indication of when last 

reviewed

http://sharepoint/_layouts/15/

start.aspx#/SitePages/Member

%20and%20Officer%20Protoco

l.aspx

3 3 review by March 2022

B6 put in place effective arrangements 

designed to encourage individuals 

from all sections of the community to 

engage with, contribute to and 

participate in the work of the 

authority;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

B10 put in place arrangements to enable 

the authority to engage with all 

sections of the community 

effectively. These arrangements will 

recognise that different sections of 

the community have different 

priorities and establish explicit 

processes for dealing with these 

competing demands;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

B1 develop protocols to ensure effective 

communication between members 

and officers in their respective roles;

Monitoring Officer Protocol exists, but no indication of when last 

reviewed

http://sharepoint/_layouts/15/

start.aspx#/SitePages/Member

%20and%20Officer%20Protoco

l.aspx

3 3 review by March 2022

B6 put in place effective arrangements 

designed to encourage individuals 

from all sections of the community to 

engage with, contribute to and 

participate in the work of the 

authority;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

B10 put in place arrangements to enable 

the authority to engage with all 

sections of the community 

effectively. These arrangements will 

recognise that different sections of 

the community have different 

priorities and establish explicit 

processes for dealing with these 

competing demands;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

Joint strategic needs assessment B3 - 

Council 

plan 

process - 

no major 

formal 

partnershi

ps (eg 

social 

care/healt

ensure that the Council’s vision, 

values, strategic plans, priorities and 

targets are developed through robust 

mechanisms, and in consultation 

with the local community and other 

key stakeholders, and that they are 

clearly articulated and disseminated;

all Managers https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

B1 develop protocols to ensure effective 

communication between members 

and officers in their respective roles;

Monitoring Officer Protocol exists, but no indication of when last 

reviewed

http://sharepoint/_layouts/15/

start.aspx#/SitePages/Member

%20and%20Officer%20Protoco

l.aspx

3 3 review by March 2022

B6 put in place effective arrangements 

designed to encourage individuals 

from all sections of the community to 

engage with, contribute to and 

participate in the work of the 

authority;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

B9 establish clear channels of 

communication with all sections of 

the community and other 

stakeholders and put in place 

monitoring arrangements to ensure 

that they operate effectively;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

Communications strategy

Establishing a clear policy on the type of issues that the 

organisation will meaningfully consult with or involve 

individual citizens, service users and other stakeholders to 

ensure that service (or other) provision is contributing 

towards the achievement of intended outcomes.

Engaging stakeholders effectively, 

including individual citizens and 

service users

Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Encouraging, collecting and evaluating the views and 

experiences of communities, citizens, service users and 

organisations of different backgrounds including reference 

to future needs

Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Engaging stakeholders effectively, 

including individual citizens and 

service users

Ensuring that communication

methods are effective and that members and officers are 

clear about their roles with regard to community 

engagement

B

B

B

B

Implementing effective feedback mechanisms in order to 

demonstrate how their views have been taken into account

Engaging stakeholders effectively, 

including individual citizens and 

service users

Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Communications strategy

Communications strategyEngaging stakeholders effectively, 

including individual citizens and 

service users

Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

P
age 242



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

B10 put in place arrangements to enable 

the authority to engage with all 

sections of the community 

effectively. These arrangements will 

recognise that different sections of 

the community have different 

priorities and establish explicit 

processes for dealing with these 

competing demands;

all Managers https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

B1 develop protocols to ensure effective 

communication between members 

and officers in their respective roles;

Monitoring Officer Protocol exists, but no indication of when last 

reviewed

http://sharepoint/_layouts/15/

start.aspx#/SitePages/Member

%20and%20Officer%20Protoco

l.aspx

3 3 review by March 2022

B6 put in place effective arrangements 

designed to encourage individuals 

from all sections of the community to 

engage with, contribute to and 

participate in the work of the 

authority;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

B9 establish clear channels of 

communication with all sections of 

the community and other 

stakeholders and put in place 

monitoring arrangements to ensure 

that they operate effectively;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

B10 put in place arrangements to enable 

the authority to engage with all 

sections of the community 

effectively. These arrangements will 

recognise that different sections of 

the community have different 

priorities and establish explicit 

processes for dealing with these 

competing demands;

all Managers https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

Reports B13 - 

included in 

committee 

template

To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

Monitoring Officer https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

Joint strategic needs assessment B3 - 

Council 

plan 

process - 

no major 

formal 

partnershi

ps (eg 

social 

care/healt

ensure that the Council’s vision, 

values, strategic plans, priorities and 

targets are developed through robust 

mechanisms, and in consultation 

with the local community and other 

key stakeholders, and that they are 

clearly articulated and disseminated;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/planning-and-

building/south-lakeland-local-

plan/

4 4

C Defining outcomes in 

terms of sustainable 

economic, social, and 

environmental benefits

Defining outcomes Having a clear vision which is an agreed formal statement of 

the organisation’s purpose and intended outcomes 

containing appropriate performance indicators, which 

provides the basis for the organisation’s overall strategy, 

planning and other decisions

Vision used as a basis for corporate and 

service planning

C1 make a clear statement of the 

authority’s purpose and vision and 

use it as a basis for corporate and 

service planning. and shaping the 

Council Plan;

Chief Executive/ Strategy 

Lead Specialist

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/council-plan/

4 4

Community engagement and involvement C10 ensure that the Council’s vision, 

values, strategic plans, priorities and 

targets are developed through robust 

mechanisms, and in consultation 

with the local community and other 

key stakeholders, and that they are 

clearly articulated and disseminated;

Chief Executive https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/council-plan/

4 4

Corporate and service plans C7 Link service plans to agreed 

measures and targets within the 

Council plan;

All Managers Out of date and being replaced by "Plan on a Page" http://sharepoint/sites/policy/

_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SLDC

%20Team%20Service%20Plans

/Forms/AllItems.aspx

3 3 Plan on a Page development delayed by LGR

Community strategy C1 make a clear statement of the 

authority’s purpose and vision and 

use it as a basis for corporate and 

service planning. and shaping the 

Council Plan;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/council-plan/

4 4

Defining outcomesDefining outcomes in 

terms of sustainable 

economic, social, and 

environmental benefits

B

B Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

B

C

Engaging stakeholders effectively, 

including individual citizens and 

service users

Balancing feedback from more active stakeholder groups 

with other stakeholder groups to ensure inclusivity

Processes for dealing with competing 

demands within the community, for example a 

consultation

Implementing effective feedback mechanisms in order to 

demonstrate how their views have been taken into account

Taking account of the interests of future generations of tax 

payers and service users

Engaging stakeholders effectively, 

including individual citizens and 

service users

Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Communications strategyEngaging stakeholders effectively, 

including individual citizens and 

service users

Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement

Specifying the intended impact on, or changes for, 

stakeholders including citizens and service users. It could be 

immediately or over the course of a year or longer

P
age 243



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

C6 ensure performance, financial and 

non-financial, is reported to senior 

management and Members including 

action plans where necessary; 

all Managers http://sharepoint/sites/finance

/Budget%20Setting/Forms/AllIt

ems.aspx?RootFolder=%2Fsites

%2Ffinance%2FBudget%20Setti

ng%2F2022%5F23%20Budget%

20Setting&FolderCTID=0x0120

00480109F51F28BF40A37387C

4DE369E89&View=%7BD91AD

A21%2D309F%2D4064%2D9EB

3%2D7BFAF0CD5B0A%7D

4 4

D3 produce timely, accurate and 

impartial financial information for 

decision making, enabling the 

Authority to meet its objectives and 

providing effective stewardship and 

value for money;

Section 151 Officer http://sharepoint/sites/finance

/Committee%20reports/2020-

21/Council/23.03.21%20Counci

l/Corporate%20Financial%20U

pdate%20March%202021%20fi

nal.docx

4 4

C6 ensure performance, financial and 

non-financial, is reported to senior 

management and Members including 

action plans where necessary; 

all Managers Reports to CMT by Managers http://sharepoint/sites/finance

/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/Com

mittee%20reports/Forms/AllIte

ms.aspx?RootFolder=%2Fsites

%2Ffinance%2FCommittee%20

reports%2F2020%2D21%2FCM

T&FolderCTID=0x01200043B86

0F50FFF8B4F89B263FB28FE12

4F&View=%7B18D8F90B%2D2

60D%2D44A7%2D82D0%2D98

11E8C31309%7D

4 4

D3 produce timely, accurate and 

impartial financial information for 

decision making, enabling the 

Authority to meet its objectives and 

providing effective stewardship and 

value for money;

Section 151 Officer http://sharepoint/sites/finance

/Committee%20reports/2020-

21/Council/23.03.21%20Counci

l/Corporate%20Financial%20U

pdate%20March%202021%20fi

nal.docx

4 4

C11 ensure that risk management is 

embedded into the culture of the 

authority, with members and 

managers at all levels recognising 

that risk management is part of their 

job;

All Managers Although Protocols are in place, they are not always 

applied

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/6974/risk-

management-process-updated-

for-2019-appendix-2.pdf

3 3

C12 put arrangements in place to capture 

and manage risks corporately;

Strategy Lead Specialist Risk Register http://sharepoint/sites/policy/i

ntelligence/_layouts/15/start.a

spx#/Operational%20Risk%20R

egisters/Forms/AllItems.aspx

4 4

An agreed set of quality standard measures for 

each service element and included in service 

plans

C7 Link service plans to agreed 

measures and targets within the 

Council plan;

All Managers Being replaced by  Plan on a Page http://sharepoint/sites/policy/

_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SLDC

%20Team%20Service%20Plans

/Forms/AllItems.aspx

3 3 Plan on a Page development delayed by LGR

Processes for dealing with competing 

demands within the community

C1 Council 

planning 

process 

from 

which 

budget 

and policy 

make a clear statement of the 

authority’s purpose and vision and 

use it as a basis for corporate and 

service planning. and shaping the 

Council Plan;

Section 151 Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/budget-and-

financial-year-reports/

4 4

C Defining outcomes in 

terms of sustainable 

economic, social, and 

environmental benefits

Sustainable economic, social and 

environmental benefits

Considering and balancing the combined economic, social 

and environmental impact of policies, plans and decisions 

when taking decisions about service provision

Capital investment is structured to achieve 

appropriate life spans and adaptability for 

future use or that resources (eg land) are 

spent on optimising social, economic and 

environmental wellbeing:

–– Capital programme

–– Capital investment strategy

C8 ensure strategic investment 

decisions are managed through the 

capital budgeting process and 

Medium Term Financial Plan linked 

to the Council Plan, including the 

economic, social and environmental 

impacts.

Section 151 Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/budget-and-

financial-year-reports/

4 4

Discussion between members and officers on 

the information needs of members to support 

decision making

C9 ensure committee reports are shared 

with senior management and 

portfolio holders as part of the pre 

agenda submission process;

Monitoring Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/budget-and-

financial-year-reports/

4 4

Record of decision making and supporting 

materials

C13 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based.

All Managers https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

Managing service users expectations effectively with regard 

to determining priorities and making the best use of the 

resources available

Defining outcomesDefining outcomes in 

terms of sustainable 

economic, social, and 

environmental benefits

Taking a longer-term view with regard to decision making, 

taking account of risk and acting transparently where there 

are potential conflicts between the organisation’s intended 

outcomes and short-term factors such as the political cycle 

or financial constraints

Sustainable economic, social and 

environmental benefits

Defining outcomes in 

terms of sustainable 

economic, social, and 

environmental benefits

C

C

C

Defining outcomes in 

terms of sustainable 

economic, social, and 

environmental benefits

C Defining outcomes Identifying and managing risks to the achievement of 

outcomes

Performance trends are established and 

reported upon

Risk management protocols

Defining outcomesDefining outcomes in 

terms of sustainable 

economic, social, and 

environmental benefits

Delivering defined outcomes on a sustainable basis within 

the resources that will be available

Regular reports on progress

P
age 244



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

C8 ensure strategic investment 

decisions are managed through the 

capital budgeting process and 

Medium Term Financial Plan linked 

to the Council Plan, including the 

economic, social and environmental 

impacts.

Section 151 Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/fund-

management/

4 4

C13 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based.

Monitoring Officer https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

Protocols for consultation C10 ensure that the Council’s vision, 

values, strategic plans, priorities and 

targets are developed through robust 

mechanisms, and in consultation 

with the local community and other 

key stakeholders, and that they are 

clearly articulated and disseminated;

All Managers https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

C Defining outcomes in 

terms of sustainable 

economic, social, and 

environmental benefits

Sustainable economic, social and 

environmental benefits

Ensuring fair access to services Protocols ensure fair access and statutory 

guidance is followed

C1 make a clear statement of the 

authority’s purpose and vision and 

use it as a basis for corporate and 

service planning. and shaping the 

Council Plan;

Chief Executive https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/equality-and-

diversity/our-equality-

objectives/

4 4

D5 ensure that those making decisions 

are provided with information that is 

fit for the purpose – relevant, timely 

and gives clear explanations of 

technical issues and their 

implications;

All Managers https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

D10 To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

monitoring Officer https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

D11 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based;

All managers https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

D5 ensure that those making decisions 

are provided with information that is 

fit for the purpose – relevant, timely 

and gives clear explanations of 

technical issues and their 

implications;

all managers https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

D10 To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

monitoring Officer https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

D11 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based;

all managers http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/SitePages/Report

%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx

4 4

D5 ensure that those making decisions 

are provided with information that is 

fit for the purpose – relevant, timely 

and gives clear explanations of 

technical issues and their 

implications;

all managers http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/SitePages/Report

%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx

4 4

D10 To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

monitoring Officer https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bc

r=1

4 4

Determining the wider public interest associated with 

balancing conflicting interests between achieving the 

various economic, social and environmental benefits, 

through consultation where possible, in order to ensure 

appropriate trade-offs

Sustainable economic, social and 

environmental benefits

Defining outcomes in 

terms of sustainable 

economic, social, and 

environmental benefits

Determining interventionsDetermining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

C

D

Option appraisals

Ensuring decision makers receive objective and rigorous 

analysis of a variety of options indicating how intended 

outcomes would be achieved and including the risks 

associated with those options. Therefore ensuring best 

value is achieved however services are provided

Record of decision making and supporting 

materials

Discussion between members and officers on 

the information needs of members to support 

decision making

Decision making protocols

P
age 245



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

D11 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based;

all managers https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bc

r=1

4 4

D5 ensure that those making decisions 

are provided with information that is 

fit for the purpose – relevant, timely 

and gives clear explanations of 

technical issues and their 

implications;

all managers https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthVi

ew.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1

4 4

D10 To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

monitoring Officer https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

D11 develop and maintain open and 

effective mechanisms for 

documenting evidence for decisions 

and recording the criteria, rationale 

and considerations on which 

decisions are based;

all managers https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisio

ns.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&

K=0&DR=&V=0

4 4

Considering feedback from citizens and service users when 

making decisions about service improvements or where 

services are no longer required in order to prioritise 

competing demands within limited resources available 

including people, skills, land and assets and bearing in mind 

future impacts

Financial strategy D7 establish a medium term business 

and financial planning process in 

order to deliver a financial strategy 

ensuring sustainable finances, a 

robust annual budget process 

ensuring financial balance and an 

adequate monitoring process; all of 

which are subject to regular review;

Section 151 Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/councillors-

and-decisions/council-

constitution/

4 4

D Determining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

Planning interventions Establishing and implementing robust planning and control 

cycles that cover strategic and operational plans, priorities 

and targets

Calendar of dates for developing and 

submitting plans and reports that are adhered 

to

D9 agree annually a calendar of 

meetings to be used as the basis for 

forward planning of decision making

Monitoring Officer https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthVi

ew.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1

4 4

D Determining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

Planning interventions Engaging with internal and external stakeholders in 

determining how services and other courses of action 

should be planned and delivered

Communication strategy D12 establish clear channels of 

communication with all sections of 

the community and other 

stakeholders and put in place 

monitoring arrangements to ensure 

that they operate effectively;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

Partnership framework D13 ensure that risk management is 

embedded into the culture of the 

authority, with members and 

managers at all levels recognising 

that risk management is part of their 

job;

Chief Executive Specific evidence pertaining to Partnerships difficult to 

find

http://sharepoint/sites/policy/i

ntelligence/_layouts/15/start.a

spx#/SitePages/Risk%20Manag

ement%20Training.aspx

3 3

Risk management protocol D13 ensure that risk management is 

embedded into the culture of the 

authority, with members and 

managers at all levels recognising 

that risk management is part of their 

job;

Strategy Lead Specialist http://sharepoint/sites/policy/i

ntelligence/_layouts/15/start.a

spx#/SitePages/Risk%20Manag

ement%20Training.aspx

4 4

D Determining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

Planning interventions Ensuring arrangements are flexible and agile so that the 

mechanisms for delivering outputs can be adapted to 

changing circumstances

Planning protocols D7 Council 

Plan, 

MTFP and 

performan

ce/finance 

monitoring 

in place to 

assist with 

overall 

planning 

establish a medium term business 

and financial planning process in 

order to deliver a financial strategy 

ensuring sustainable finances, a 

robust annual budget process 

ensuring financial balance and an 

adequate monitoring process; all of 

which are subject to regular review;

Strategy Lead 

Specialist/section 151 

Officer

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/councillors-

and-decisions/council-

constitution/

4 4

D1 decide how the quality of service for 

users is to be measured and ensure 

that the information needed to 

review service quality effectively and 

regularly is available;

all Managers Service Plans being replaced by "Plan on a Page" http://sharepoint/sites/policy/

_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SLDC

%20Team%20Service%20Plans

/Forms/AllItems.aspx

3 3 "Plan on a Page"  development delayed due 

to LGR

Determining interventionsDetermining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

Considering and monitoring risks facing each partner when 

working collaboratively including shared risks

Planning interventionsDetermining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

D

D

Option appraisals

Agreement of information that will be 

provided and timescales

Ensuring decision makers receive objective and rigorous 

analysis of a variety of options indicating how intended 

outcomes would be achieved and including the risks 

associated with those options. Therefore ensuring best 

value is achieved however services are provided

KPIs have been established and approved for 

each service element and included in the 

service plan and are reported upon regularly

Establishing appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs) 

as part of the planning process in order to identify how the 

performance of services and projects is to be measured

Planning interventionsDetermining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

D

P
age 246



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

D6 produce clear, timely, complete and 

accurate information for budget 

holders and senior officers relating to 

the budgetary and financial 

performance of the Council;

section 151 Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/budget-and-

financial-year-reports/

4 4

D Determining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

Planning interventions Ensuring capacity exists to generate the information 

required to review service quality regularly

Reports include detailed performance results 

and highlight areas where corrective action is 

necessary

D6 - not 

explicit in 

local code 

but in 

place; 

performan

ce and 

finance 

reports 

produced 

produce clear, timely, complete and 

accurate information for budget 

holders and senior officers relating to 

the budgetary and financial 

performance of the Council;

Section 151 Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/budget-and-

financial-year-reports/

4 4

D Determining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

Planning interventions Preparing budgets in accordance with organisational 

objectives, strategies and the medium term financial plan

Evidence that budgets, plans and objectives 

are aligned

D7 - mtfp 

process 

aligned to 

Council 

Plan 

process, 

service 

plans also 

aligned to 

priorities.

establish a medium term business 

and financial planning process in 

order to deliver a financial strategy 

ensuring sustainable finances, a 

robust annual budget process 

ensuring financial balance and an 

adequate monitoring process; all of 

which are subject to regular review;

Section 151 Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/budget-and-

financial-year-reports/

4 4

Budget guidance and protocols D6 - 

informatio

n issues, 

budget 

guidance 

not explicit 

in local 

produce clear, timely, complete and 

accurate information for budget 

holders and senior officers relating to 

the budgetary and financial 

performance of the Council;

Section 151 Officer Finance in a nutshell.docx 4 4

Medium term financial plan D7 establish a medium term business 

and financial planning process in 

order to deliver a financial strategy 

ensuring sustainable finances, a 

robust annual budget process 

ensuring financial balance and an 

adequate monitoring process; all of 

which are subject to regular review;

Section 151 Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/budget-and-

financial-year-reports/

4 4

Informing medium and long term resource planning by 

drawing up realistic estimates of revenue and capital 

expenditure aimed at developing a sustainable funding 

strategy; and

Corporate Plans C1 make a clear statement of the 

authority’s purpose and vision and 

use it as a basis for corporate and 

service planning. and shaping the 

Council Plan;

Strategy Lead Specialist Corporate Plan updated annually 4 4

Feedback surveys and exit/decommissioning 

strategies

D7 establish a medium term business 

and financial planning process in 

order to deliver a financial strategy 

ensuring sustainable finances, a 

robust annual budget process 

ensuring financial balance and an 

adequate monitoring process; all of 

which are subject to regular review;

Section 151 Officer Budget strategy part of Medium Term Financial Plan 

which reviews costs and income of up to  5 years 

(revenue) or up to 20 years (asset strategy)

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/budget-and-

financial-year-reports/

4 4

Changes as a result D7 establish a medium term business 

and financial planning process in 

order to deliver a financial strategy 

ensuring sustainable finances, a 

robust annual budget process 

ensuring financial balance and an 

adequate monitoring process; all of 

which are subject to regular review;

Section 151 Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/budget-and-

financial-year-reports/

4 4

D6 produce clear, timely, complete and 

accurate information for budget 

holders and senior officers relating to 

the budgetary and financial 

performance of the Council;

D7 establish a medium term business 

and financial planning process in 

order to deliver a financial strategy 

ensuring sustainable finances, a 

robust annual budget process 

ensuring financial balance and an 

adequate monitoring process; all of 

which are subject to regular review;

Section 151 Officer Budget strategy part of Medium Term Financial Plan 

which reviews costs and income of up to  5 years 

(revenue) or up to 20 years (asset strategy)

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=120&MId=4280&Ver=4

4

Ensuring the medium term financial strategy integrates and 

balances service priorities, affordability and other resource 

constraints

Optimising achievement of intended 

outcomes

Determining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

Determining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

Planning interventionsD

D

KPIs have been established and approved for 

each service element and included in the 

service plan and are reported upon regularly

Establishing appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs) 

as part of the planning process in order to identify how the 

performance of services and projects is to be measured

Planning interventionsDetermining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

D

Informing medium and long term resource planning by 

drawing up realistic estimates of revenue and capital 

expenditure aimed at developing a sustainable funding 

strategy

D Determining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

Optimising achievement of intended 

outcomes

Ensuring the budgeting process is all-inclusive, taking into 

account the full cost of operations over the medium and 

longer term

Budgeting guidance and protocols 4

P
age 247

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=4280&Ver=4
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=4280&Ver=4
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=4280&Ver=4


CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

D Determining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

Optimising achievement of intended 

outcomes

Ensuring the medium term financial strategy sets the 

context for ongoing decisions on significant delivery issues 

or responses to changes in the external environment that 

may arise during the budgetary period in order for 

outcomes to be achieved while optimising resource usage

Financial strategy D7 establish a medium term business 

and financial planning process in 

order to deliver a financial strategy 

ensuring sustainable finances, a 

robust annual budget process 

ensuring financial balance and an 

adequate monitoring process; all of 

which are subject to regular review;

Section 151 Officer MTFP financial projections reviewed quarterly, full 

update annually

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/financial-

planning/

4 4

Service plans demonstrate consideration of 

‘social value’

D14 Consider social value when preparing 

service plans, considering 

procurement and commissioning and 

monitoring performance.

All Managers Method Statements within the Invitation to Tender 

encourage consideration of Social Value. Use of TOMS 

in Tenders over £25k . Often referred to as 

sustainability and Added Value.

L:\Finance\Accountancy\Procu

rements\Procurement 

Toolkit\Toolkit Packs (£2.5k - 

£PCR)\Master Docs\£100k - 

PCR\£100k - PCR Documents

4 4

Achievement of ‘social value’ is monitored and 

reported upon

D14 Consider social value when preparing 

service plans, considering 

procurement and commissioning and 

monitoring performance.

All Managers/Procurement 

Specialist

Use of TOMS to evaluate Social Value within the 

procurement and contract management stages

L:\Finance\Accountancy\Procu

rements\Procurement 

Toolkit\Social Value Portal

4 4

E Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Developing the entity’s capacity Reviewing operations, performance use of assets on a 

regular basis to ensure their continuing effectiveness

Regular reviews of activities, outputs and 

planned outcomes

E12 covers 

general 

VFM 

issues.

decide how value for money is to be 

measured and ensure that we have 

the information needed to review 

value for money and performance 

effectively; measure the 

environmental impact;

Section 151 

Officer/Procurement 

Specialist

Within the tender process, total life costs are 

considered in conjunction with Quality 

L:\Finance\Accountancy\Procu

rements\Procurement 

Toolkit\Toolkit Packs (£2.5k - 

£PCR)\Master Docs\£100k - 

PCR\£100k - PCR Documents

4 4

E Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Developing the entity’s capacity Improving resource use through appropriate application of 

techniques such as benchmarking and other options in 

order to determine how the authority’s resources are 

allocated so that outcomes are achieved effectively and 

efficiently

Utilisation of research and benchmarking 

exercise

E12 covers 

general 

VFM 

issues, 

including 

informatio

n needed 

to support.

decide how value for money is to be 

measured and ensure that we have 

the information needed to review 

value for money and performance 

effectively; measure the 

environmental impact;

All Managers/Procurement 

Specialist

Benchmarking is done as part of Contract 

Management and Review. Individual evidence 

regarding Benchmarking for bringing a service in-house

https://democracy.southlakela

nd.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHom

e.aspx?IId=21452&PlanId=164

&RPID=1002071015

4 4

E Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Developing the entity’s capacity Recognising the benefits of partnerships and collaborative 

working where added value can be achieved

Effective operation of partnerships which 

deliver agreed outcomes

E13 set 

out some 

of the 

control 

issues 

around 

partnershi

p working. 

Pro-

actively 

seeking 

partnershi

when working in partnership, ensure 

that appropriate governance 

arrangements are in place that make 

clear the financial controls, data 

sharing, audit and scrutiny 

arrangements.

Section 151 Officer https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-

council/partnerships/

4 4

Workforce plan E9 manage the strategic Human 

Resource Management and 

Organisational Development needs 

of the organisation through relevant 

policies and accreditation.

HR Lead Specialist Looking to introduce new 'Plan on a Page' to replace 

Service Plans

3 3 Plan on a Page development ongoing

Organisational development

plan

E9 manage the strategic Human 

Resource Management and 

Organisational Development needs 

of the organisation through relevant 

policies and accreditation.

HR Lead Specialist Looking to introduce new 'Plan on a Page' to replace 

Service Plans

3 3 Plan on a Page development ongoing

Job descriptions Member 

skills are 

referenced 

in general 

in section 

E; JDs not 

specifically 

mentioned 

but these 

are done 

for PH's 

(See Cab 

#N/A Monitoring Officer n/a n/a

E14 develop protocols to ensure effective 

communication between members 

and officers in their respective roles;

Chief Executive 3 3

E15 develop protocols to ensure that the 

leader and chief executive negotiate 

their respective roles early in their 

relationship and that a shared 

understanding of roles and objectives 

is maintained;

Monitoring Officer At the appointment of the Cabinet the leader allocates 

areas of responsibility and reports this to Council as 

defined in the Constitution's Scheme of delegation  e.g. 

Annual Council Meeting May 2021. Alignment to 

corporate priorities being improved upon. 

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/7573/south-

lakeland-district-council-

constitution-2021.pdf 

3 3 Keeping this under review, Cabinet away days 

with Leadership Team and clarification of 

Council Priorities and roles and 

responsibilities relating to them. 

Determining the 

interventions necessary 

to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes

E

D Ensuring the achievement of ‘social value’ through service 

planning and commissioning. The Public Services (Social 

Value) Act 2012 states that this is “the additional benefit to 

the community...over and above the direct purchasing of 

goods, services and outcomes”

Optimising achievement of intended 

outcomes

Developing and maintaining

an effective workforce plan to

enhance the strategic allocation

of resources

Developing the entity’s capacityDeveloping the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Chief executive and leader pairings have 

considered how best to establish and maintain 

effective communication

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

Developing protocols to ensure that elected and appointed 

leaders negotiate with each other regarding their 

respective roles early on in the relationship and that a 

shared understanding of roles and objectives is maintained

Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

E

P
age 248

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/finance/financial-planning/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/finance/financial-planning/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/finance/financial-planning/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/finance/financial-planning/


CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

Scheme of delegation reviewed at least 

annually in the light of legal and organisational 

changes

E16 determine a scheme of delegated 

and reserved powers within the 

constitution and ensure that it is 

monitored and updated when 

required;

Monitoring Officer Work is ongoing with all services to ensure that the 

Constitution is clear regarding delegations and decision 

making. The Constitution is now treated as a living 

document which is reviewed regularly and updated. 

Previously this has been on an annual basis. Approx 6 

reports over the past year has amended the 

Constitution and the Council has introduced 

emergency decision making to deal with COVID-19. 

The MO will be bringing forward a programme of work 

for the year to come. 

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/7573/south-

lakeland-district-council-

constitution-2021.pdf

3 3 Second update report to be presented to the 

Leadership Team on the amends to contracts 

and CPR by June 2021. Further update on the 

programme of work to update individual 

service delegations and decision making will 

be programmed in over the next 12 months. 

All to proceed through the Constitutional 

Working Group.   Constitution updated for 

Contract Procedure Rules to streamline 

decision making to make more agile.  Report 

on Property Services delegations to improve 

decision making following consultation wtih 

management team.

Standing orders and financial regulations 

which are reviewed on a regular basis

E17 ensure effective internal control 

arrangements exist for sound 

financial management systems and 

processes;

Section 151 Officer Work is ongoing with all services to ensure that the 

Constitution is clear regarding delegations and decision 

making. The Constitution is now treated as a living 

document which is reviewed regularly and updated. 

Previously this has been on an annual basis. Approx 6 

reports over the past year has amended the 

Constitution and the Council has introduced 

emergency decision making to deal with COVID-19. 

The MO will be bringing forward a programme of work 

for the year to come. 

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/7573/south-

lakeland-district-council-

constitution-2021.pdf

3 4 Second update report to be presented to the 

Leadership Team on the amends to contracts 

and CPR by June 2021. Further update on the 

programme of work to update individual 

service delegations and decision making will 

be programmed in over the next 12 months. 

All to proceed through the Constitutional 

Working Group. 

E14 develop protocols to ensure effective 

communication between members 

and officers in their respective roles;

Communications http://sharepoint/_layouts/15/

start.aspx#/SitePages/Member

%20and%20Officer%20Protoco

l.aspx

4 4

E15 develop protocols to ensure that the 

leader and chief executive negotiate 

their respective roles early in their 

relationship and that a shared 

understanding of roles and objectives 

is maintained;

Chief Executive https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/7573/south-

lakeland-district-council-

constitution-2021.pdf

4 4

E Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

Developing the capabilities of members and senior 

management to achieve effective shared leadership and to 

enable the organisation to respond successfully to changing 

legal and policy demands as well as economic, political and 

environmental changes and risks by:

Access to update courses/ information 

briefings on new legislation

E2 assess the skills required by 

members and officers and make 

arrangements to agree a 

development plan to develop those 

skills and address any training gaps, 

to enable roles to be carried out 

effectively;

HR Lead Specialist Leadership Team development programme with 

external provider will conclude in summer 2021. Team 

Leader programme will start in autumn 2021

3 3 Autumn 2021 sessions commenced with 

Team Leaders

Induction programme E6 provide induction programmes 

tailored to individual needs and 

opportunities for members and 

officers to update their knowledge 

on a regular basis;

HR Lead Specialist 121 process underway. New 'appraisal' process being 

launched in May 2021. Skills gap analysis work also 

underway in Spring 2021. Performance Plan process 

introduced in 2020 to address ongoing performance 

and behavioural challenges

4 4

Personal development plans for members and 

officers

E2 assess the skills required by 

members and officers and make 

arrangements to agree a 

development plan to develop those 

skills and address any training gaps, 

to enable roles to be carried out 

effectively;

HR Lead Specialist Behavioural workshops will help employees define 

behaviours that help us meet this need. New Member 

Development Strategy will support

3 3 Employee workshops in 2021, plus training 

opportunities to support member 

development

E4 ensure that Councillor’s roles and 

responsibilities for monitoring 

financial/budgetary performance are 

clear; and they are provided with and 

have access to adequate financial 

skills and training to assist in 

discharging these responsibilities;

Section 151 Officer http://sharepoint/sites/finance

/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/Share

d%20Documents/Forms/AllIte

ms.aspx?RootFolder=%2Fsites

%2Ffinance%2FShared%20Doc

uments%2FFinance%20training

%2FTraining%202021%2D22&F

olderCTID=0x01200016AFC72B

92A30C448387E0BA67FFBD0E

&View=%7BA673D41B%2DE6E

8%2D41C0%2DB2AE%2D35F55

6F91227%7D

4 4

E5 develop skills on a continuing basis to 

improve performance, including the 

ability to scrutinise and challenge and 

to recognise when outside expert 

advice is needed, in line with the 

member development strategy;

HR Lead Specialist Induction process in place, with development 

opportunities boosted by recent provision of e-

learning. Also, new Member Development Strategy 

currently going through approval process

3 3 Currently reviewing induction/on boarding 

Efficient systems and technology used for 

effective support

E10 is 

catch all 

for better 

use of 

promote the use of technology to 

enhance efficiency and quality of 

service;

ICT Lead Specialist Members are treated like all staff in terms of ICT 

induction and training and are required to sign the 

induction form.

4 4

Clear statement of respective roles and 

responsibilities and how they will be put into 

practice

E

E

E ensuring members and officers have the appropriate skills, 

knowledge, resources and support to fulfil their roles and 

responsibilities and ensuring that they are able to update 

their knowledge on a continuing basis

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Publishing a statement that specifies the types of decisions 

that are delegated and those reserved for the collective 

decision making of the governing body

ensuring members and staff have access to appropriate 

induction tailored to their role and that ongoing training 

and development matching individual and organisational 

requirements is available and encouraged

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

E Ensuring the leader and the chief executive have clearly 

defined and distinctive leadership roles within a structure 

whereby the chief executive leads the authority in 

implementing strategy and managing the delivery of 

services and other outputs set by members and each 

provides a check and a balance for each other’s authority

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

For example, for members this may include 

the ability to:

–– scrutinise and challenge

–– recognise when outside expert advice is 

required

–– promote trust

–– work in partnership

–– lead the organisation

–– act as a community leader

P
age 249



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

E Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

ensuring personal, organisational and system wide 

development through shared learning, including lessons 

learnt from governance weaknesses both internal and 

external

Arrangements for succession planning E8 consider career structures for 

members and officers to encourage 

participation and development;

Chief Executive/All 

managers

2 2 Overtaken by LGR proposals / 

implementation

Residents’ panels E18 establish clear channels of 

communication with all sections of 

the community and other 

stakeholders and put in place 

monitoring arrangements to ensure 

that they operate effectively;

Communications https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

Stakeholder forum terms of reference E18 establish clear channels of 

communication with all sections of 

the community and other 

stakeholders and put in place 

monitoring arrangements to ensure 

that they operate effectively;

Communications https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5665/consultation-

strategy.pdf

4 4

Strategic partnership frameworks E18 establish clear channels of 

communication with all sections of 

the community and other 

stakeholders and put in place 

monitoring arrangements to ensure 

that they operate effectively;

Strategy Lead Specialist More work required on the Strategy behind 

Partnership working

2 3 Partnership Guidance to be considered by 

Audit Committee December 2021 and 

implemented immediately

E2 assess the skills required by 

members and officers and make 

arrangements to agree a 

development plan to develop those 

skills and address any training gaps, 

to enable roles to be carried out 

effectively;

HR Lead Specialist Members covered by Personal Development Plans. 

Officers covered by 'Investing in your Skills' and 'Your 

Conversation' appraisal meetings.

4 4

E8 consider career structures for 

members and officers to encourage 

participation and development;

HR Lead Specialist Under consideration 2 2 Overtaken by LGR proposals / 

implementation

Peer reviews This has 

happened, 

covered in 

more 

general 

terms in 

E7

ensure that the statutory officers 

have the skills, resources and support 

necessary to perform effectively in 

their roles and that these roles are 

properly understood throughout the 

authority;

HR Lead Specialist 4 4

Training and development plan E5 develop skills on a continuing basis to 

improve performance, including the 

ability to scrutinise and challenge and 

to recognise when outside expert 

advice is needed, in line with the 

member development strategy;

HR Lead Specialist Driven via 121s, Your Conversation and Values and 

Behaviours workshop

3 3 Your Conversation launch May 2021. Values 

and Behaviours workshops planned for later 

in 2021

Staff development plans linked to appraisals E2 assess the skills required by 

members and officers and make 

arrangements to agree a 

development plan to develop those 

skills and address any training gaps, 

to enable roles to be carried out 

effectively;

HR Lead Specialist Members covered by Personal Development Plans. 

Officers covered by 'Investing in your Skills' and 'Your 

Conversation' appraisal meetings.

4 4

Implementing appropriate human resource 

policies and ensuring that they are working 

effectively

E9 manage the strategic Human 

Resource Management and 

Organisational Development needs 

of the organisation through relevant 

policies and accreditation.

HR Lead Specialist Planned programme of HR policy reviews currently 

underway - around 1/3rd completed. 

3 3 More policy updates to HR Committee in July 

2021

E Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

Ensuring arrangements are in place to maintain the health 

and wellbeing of the workforce and support individuals in 

maintaining their own physical and mental wellbeing

Human resource policies E9 manage the strategic Human 

Resource Management and 

Organisational Development needs 

of the organisation through relevant 

policies and accreditation.

HR Lead Specialist Planned programme of HR policy reviews currently 

underway - around 1/3rd completed. 

3 3 More policy updates to HR Committee in July 

2021

F8 ensure that risk management is 

embedded into the culture of the 

authority, with members and 

managers at all levels recognising 

that risk management is part of their 

job;

Risk management included as part of Council Plan on 

website - giving priority and status to policy.  All 

committee reports include section on risks

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/council-plan/

E

E

E

Taking steps to consider the leadership’s own effectiveness 

and ensuring leaders are open to constructive feedback 

from peer review and inspections

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Holding staff to account through regular performance 

reviews which take account of training or development 

needs

Reviewing individual member performance on 

a regular basis taking account of their 

attendance and considering any training or 

development needs

F Managing risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Managing risk Recognising that risk management is an integral part of all 

activities and must be considered in all aspects of decision 

making

Risk management protocol

Ensuring that there are structures in place to encourage 

public participation

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

Developing the capability of the 

entity’s leadership and other 

individuals

Developing the entity’s 

capacity, including the 

capability of its 

leadership and the 

individuals within it

4Strategy Lead Specialist 4

P
age 250

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/council-plan/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/council-plan/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/council-plan/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/council-plan/


CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

F15 Put arrangements in place to capture 

and manage risks corporately.

F8 ensure that risk management is 

embedded into the culture of the 

authority, with members and 

managers at all levels recognising 

that risk management is part of their 

job;

Strategy Lead Specialist Risk management policy formally reviewed annually & 

changes approved (with review noted by Audit 

Committee if no changes required)

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4659&Ver=4

4 4

F15 Put arrangements in place to capture 

and manage risks corporately.

Strategy Lead Specialist Risks collated by Performance and Risk Officer as part 

of quarterly performance monitoring process, reported 

on exceptions basis to O&S & Cabinet, reported to 

Audit Committee twice per year

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4474&Ver=4

4 4

F8 ensure that risk management is 

embedded into the culture of the 

authority, with members and 

managers at all levels recognising 

that risk management is part of their 

job;

F15 Put arrangements in place to capture 

and manage risks corporately.

Performance map showing all key activities 

have performance measures

F17 ensure performance, financial and 

non-financial, is reported to senior 

management and Members including 

action plans where necessary; 

Section 151 officer medium Term Financial Planning and budget process: 

supported by Constitution.  

3 3 To be considered as part of Plan on a Page; 

development has been delayed by LGR

Benchmarking information F17 ensure performance, financial and 

non-financial, is reported to senior 

management and Members including 

action plans where necessary; 

All Managers 3 3 To be considered as part of Plan on a Page; 

development has been delayed by LGR

Cost performance (using inputs and outputs) F17 ensure performance, financial and 

non-financial, is reported to senior 

management and Members including 

action plans where necessary; 

Section 151 Officer Regular financial monitoring, reported to O&S, Cabinet 

and Council quarterly.  Reviewed regularly as part of 

internal audit programme

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=364&MId=4569&Ver=4

4 4

Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing 

and distributing timely reports that are 

adhered to

F18 To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

Strategy Lead Specialist Performance management policy reviewed (and 

changes approved if required) annually by Audit 

Committee; monitoring reports produced for O&S and 

Cabinet quarterly. Risk management part of regular 

internal audit programme.

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/council-plan/

4 4

Discussion between members and officers on 

the information needs of members to support 

decision making

F19 ensure that professional advice on 

legal and financial matters is 

available and recorded well in 

advance of decision making and used 

appropriately when decisions have 

significant legal or financial 

implications.

Monitoring Officer / 

Section 151 Officer

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=120&MId=4280&Ver=4

4 4

Publication of agendas and minutes of 

meetings

F18 To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

Monitoring Officer Agendas and minutes published on Council website 4 4

Agreement on the information that will be 

needed and timescales

F19 ensure that professional advice on 

legal and financial matters is 

available and recorded well in 

advance of decision making and used 

appropriately when decisions have 

significant legal or financial 

implications.

Monitoring Officer Report writing guidance to officers http://sharepoint/sites/commi

tteeservices/_layouts/15/start.

aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Wr

iting%20Guidance.aspx

4 4

The role and responsibility for scrutiny has 

been established and is clear

F20 develop and maintain an effective 

scrutiny function which encourages 

constructive challenge and enhances 

the authority’s performance overall;

Monitoring Officer Terns of reference set out in Constitution https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/councillors-

and-decisions/council-

constitution/

4 4

Agenda and minutes of scrutiny meetings F20 develop and maintain an effective 

scrutiny function which encourages 

constructive challenge and enhances 

the authority’s performance overall;

Monitoring Officer Agendas and minutes published on Council website http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.

aspx?ID=364

4 4

Evidence of improvements as a result of 

scrutiny

F20 develop and maintain an effective 

scrutiny function which encourages 

constructive challenge and enhances 

the authority’s performance overall;

Monitoring Officer Annual review of effectiveness http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=364&MId=4506&Ver=4

4 4

Terms of reference F20 develop and maintain an effective 

scrutiny function which encourages 

constructive challenge and enhances 

the authority’s performance overall;

Monitoring Officer

Included in Constitution, reported to O&S Committee 

at first meeting of the municipal year, effectiveness 

reviewed annually

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=364&MId=4343&Ver=4

4 4

Risk management included as part of Council Plan on 

website - giving priority and status to policy.  All 

committee reports include section on risks

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/council-plan/

Monitoring service delivery

effectively including planning,

specification, execution

and independent post

implementation review

Managing performance

Making decisions based on relevant, clear objective analysis 

and advice pointing out the implications and risks inherent 

in the organisation’s financial, social and environmental 

position and outlook

Ensuring an effective scrutiny

or oversight function is in place

which encourages constructive

challenge and debate on

policies and objectives before,

during and after decisions are

made thereby enhancing the

organisation’s performance and

that of any organisation for

which it is responsible

Managing performanceManaging risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Managing performanceManaging risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Managing risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Risk management strategy/ policy formally 

approved and adopted and reviewed and 

updated on a regular basis

F

F

F

F

F

Managing risk

Managing risk

Managing risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Managing risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

F Managing risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Managing risk Recognising that risk management is an integral part of all 

activities and must be considered in all aspects of decision 

making

Risk management protocol 4Strategy Lead Specialist

Strategy Lead Specialist Risk management policy http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4659&Ver=4

4

4

4Risk management protocol

Implementing robust and integrated risk management 

arrangements and ensuring that they are working 

effectively

Ensuring that responsibilities for managing individual risks 

are clearly allocated

P
age 251

http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx
http://sharepoint/committeeservices/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.aspx


CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

Training for members F20 develop and maintain an effective 

scrutiny function which encourages 

constructive challenge and enhances 

the authority’s performance overall;

Monitoring Officer Training provided at least annually for members 3 4 Training provided at least annually fo 

rmembers.  Access to North West Employers 

in place for training and support. 

Membership F20 develop and maintain an effective 

scrutiny function which encourages 

constructive challenge and enhances 

the authority’s performance overall;

Monitoring Officer Membership reviewed at least annually; annual review 

of effectiveness

4 4

F Managing risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Managing performance Providing members and senior management with regular 

reports on service delivery plans and on progress towards 

outcome achievement

Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing 

and distributing timely reports that are 

adhered to

F18 To ensure committee decisions are 

fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, 

agenda submission processes and 

minutes;

Strategy Lead Specialist Overview included in Performance Management 

framework, individual report deadlines reflect 

Calendar of Meetings

3 3

Financial standards, guidance F21 ensure that systems and processes 

for financial administration and 

control, protection of the Authority’s 

resources and assets, are designed in 

conformity with appropriate ethical 

standards; and are subject to 

monitoring of their effectiveness;

Financial regulations and standing orders F21 ensure that systems and processes 

for financial administration and 

control, protection of the Authority’s 

resources and assets, are designed in 

conformity with appropriate ethical 

standards; and are subject to 

monitoring of their effectiveness;

F8 ensure that risk management is 

embedded into the culture of the 

authority, with members and 

managers at all levels recognising 

that risk management is part of their 

job;

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/6974/risk-

management-process-updated-

for-2019-appendix-2.pdf

4 4

F15 Put arrangements in place to capture 

and manage risks corporately.

Strategy Lead Specialist https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/6974/risk-

management-process-updated-

for-2019-appendix-2.pdf

4 4

Audit plan F22 ensure an effective internal audit 

function is resourced and maintained 

and complies with Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS);

Section 151 Officer Contract in place with TIIA for Internal Audit Services 

and reports provided to O & S 

http://sharepoint/sites/finance

/Committee%20reports/2020-

21/Audit%20Committee/April

%202021/AuditCommittee202

122%20WorkProgramme%20Fi

nal.doc

4 4

Audit reports F22 ensure an effective internal audit 

function is resourced and maintained 

and complies with Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS);

Section 151 Officer http://sharepoint/sites/finance

/Committee%20reports/2020-

21/Audit%20Committee/April

%202021/Internal%20Audit%2

0Progress%20Report-

April%202021-

Cover%20Report.docx

4 4

F Managing risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Robust internal control Evaluating and monitoring the authority’s risk management 

and internal control on a regular basis

Risk management strategy/ policy has been 

formally approved and adopted and is 

reviewed and updated on a regular basis

Yes, 

monitored 

through 

audit 

committee

.

#N/A Strategy Lead Specialist Reviewed annually 4 4

Section 151 Officer Included in Constitution https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/6689/south-

lakeland-district-council-

constitution-may-2019.pdf

4

Aligning the risk management strategy and policies on 

internal control with achieving the objectives

Robust internal controlManaging risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Ensuring there is consistency between specification stages 

(such as budgets) and post implementation reporting (eg 

financial statements )

Managing performanceManaging risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Ensuring an effective scrutiny

or oversight function is in place

which encourages constructive

challenge and debate on

policies and objectives before,

during and after decisions are

made thereby enhancing the

organisation’s performance and

that of any organisation for

which it is responsible

Managing performanceManaging risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

F

F

F Risk management strategy

4

P
age 252

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/6689/south-lakeland-district-council-constitution-may-2019.pdf
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/6689/south-lakeland-district-council-constitution-may-2019.pdf
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/6689/south-lakeland-district-council-constitution-may-2019.pdf
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/6689/south-lakeland-district-council-constitution-may-2019.pdf


CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

F Managing risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Robust internal control Ensuring effective counter fraud and anti-corruption 

arrangements are in place

Compliance with the Code of Practice on 

Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 

(CIPFA, 2014)

F23 put in place effective anti-bribery, 

fraud and corruption policies that 

comply with the Code of Practice on 

Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption (CIPFA, 2014); 

Section 151 Officer Counter fraud arrangements reviewed annually by 

audit committee.  Corporate Anti-Fraud officer carries 

out risk assessments, fraud investigations etc

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4473&Ver=4

4 4

Annual governance statement F24 require our arrangements for 

financial and internal control and 

management of risk to be formally 

addressed within the annual 

governance reports;

Effective internal audit service is resourced 

and maintained

F22 ensure an effective internal audit 

function is resourced and maintained 

and complies with Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS);

Audit committee complies with best practice. 

See Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for 

Local Authorities and Police (CIPFA, 2018)

F25 Ensure audit committee complies 

with Audit Committees: Practical 

Guidance for Local Authorities and 

Police (CIPFA, 2018).

Section 151 Officer/ 

Monitoring Officer

Annual review of audit committee in accordance with 

CIPFA guidance

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4474&Ver=4

4 4

Terms of reference F25 Ensure audit committee complies 

with Audit Committees: Practical 

Guidance for Local Authorities and 

Police (CIPFA, 2018).

Section 151 Officer Terns of reference reviewed annual at first meeting of 

municipal year: also reviewed annually as part of 

annual review of audit committee

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4474&Ver=4

4 4

Membership F25 Ensure audit committee complies 

with Audit Committees: Practical 

Guidance for Local Authorities and 

Police (CIPFA, 2018).

Section 151 Officer Membership reviewed at least annually; annual review 

of effectiveness includes review of compliance with 

guidance

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4474&Ver=4

4 4

Training F25 Ensure audit committee complies 

with Audit Committees: Practical 

Guidance for Local Authorities and 

Police (CIPFA, 2018).

Section 151 Officer Annual training for all members of audit committee at 

start of new municipal year, additional ad-hoc training 

as required and for any new members

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/documents/g4250/Pu

blic%20reports%20pack%20W

ednesday%2025-Jul-

2018%2018.30%20Audit%20Co

mmittee.pdf?T=10

4 4

Data management framework and procedures F14 Put arrangements in place for 

sharing, gathering and storing data 

and ensuring data quality. 

Strategy Lead Specialist Information Governance Board, 4 4

Designated data protection officer F14 Put arrangements in place for 

sharing, gathering and storing data 

and ensuring data quality. 

Strategy Lead Specialist Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer 

appointed

4 4

Data protection policies and procedures F14 Put arrangements in place for 

sharing, gathering and storing data 

and ensuring data quality. 

Strategy Lead Specialist Data Protection Policy 4 4

Data sharing agreement F14 Put arrangements in place for 

sharing, gathering and storing data 

and ensuring data quality. 

Strategy Lead Specialist  Policy and agreement in place: 

http://sharepoint/sites/projects/infogov/_layouts/15/

start.aspx#/Key%20Policies/Information%20Sharing

4 4

Data sharing register F14 Put arrangements in place for 

sharing, gathering and storing data 

and ensuring data quality. 

Strategy Lead Specialist The Council’s Information Asset Register is complete 

and has been published on the Council’s SharePoint.

4 4

Data processing agreements F14 Put arrangements in place for 

sharing, gathering and storing data 

and ensuring data quality. 

Strategy Lead Specialist A template Data Processing Agreement has been 

implemented and shared with Procurement Services 

which will accompany all procurement documents 

where it is considered relevant.

4 4

Data quality procedures and reports F14 Put arrangements in place for 

sharing, gathering and storing data 

and ensuring data quality. 

Strategy Lead Specialist 4 4

Data validation procedures F14 Put arrangements in place for 

sharing, gathering and storing data 

and ensuring data quality. 

Strategy Lead Specialist 4 4

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/documents/s24419/I

mplementation%20of%20Gene

ral%20Data%20Protection%20

Regulations%20and%20Data%

20Protection%20Act%202018.

pdf

Data Quality Policy in place, included in regular audit 

programme

Internal audit provided by contractor; compliant with 

PSIAS; recommendations monitored to Audit 

Committee, annual review of effectiveness; private 

meeting between internal audit and audit committee 

annually.  Internal auditor provides annual assurance 

in his annual report to inform the AGS process

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4659&Ver=4

4Section 151 Officer / Head 

of Internal Audit

Ensuring effective arrangements are in place for the safe 

collection, storage, use and sharing of data, including 

processes to safeguard personal data

Managing dataManaging risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Ensuring effective arrangements are in place and operating 

effectively when sharing data with other bodies

Managing dataManaging risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Reviewing and auditing regularly the quality and accuracy of 

data used in decision making and performance monitoring

Managing dataManaging risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Ensuring an audit committee or equivalent group or 

function which is independent of the executive and 

accountable to the governing body: –– provides a further 

source of effective assurance regarding arrangements for 

managing risk and maintaining an effective control 

environment –– that its recommendations are listened to 

and acted upon

Robust internal controlManaging risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Ensuring additional assurance on the overall adequacy and 

effectiveness of the framework of governance, risk 

management and control is provided by the internal auditor

Robust internal controlManaging risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

F

F

F

F

F

4

P
age 253



CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

F Managing risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Strong public financial management Ensuring financial management supports both long term 

achievement of outcomes and short-term financial and 

operational performance

Financial management supports the delivery 

of services and transformational change as 

well as securing good stewardship

Various 

provisions 

in the local 

code, 

overall, 

adhere to 

CIPFA CFO 

statement

#N/A Section 151 Officer Medium Term Financial Planning and budget process: 

supported by Constitution.  During 2018/19 the 

Customer Connect programme is supporting 

transformation change to secure future financial 

stability for the Council

MTFP and budget reports July 

18- Feb 19

4 4

F Managing risks and 

performance through 

robust internal control 

and strong public 

financial management

Strong public financial management Ensuring well-developed financial management is 

integrated at all levels of planning and control, including 

management of financial risks and controls

Budget monitoring reports F17 ensure performance, financial and 

non-financial, is reported to senior 

management and Members including 

action plans where necessary; 

Section 151 Officer Monthly monitoring reports from period 3 onwards 

reported to Corporate Management Team and 

Cabinet, quarterly Corporate Financial Monitoring 

reports for Q2,Q3 and outturn reported to O&S, 

Cabinet & Council (Q1 to be reported for 2019/20 

onwards)

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=121&MId=4467&Ver=4

4 4

Website G13 establish clear channels of 

communication with all sections of 

the community and other 

stakeholders and put in place 

monitoring arrangements to ensure 

that they operate effectively;

Strategy Lead Specialist Contents of website reviewed by Digital Editors during 

2018/19 to increase readability and accessibility e.g. 

MTFP in more accessible format, removal of 

documents/table and replacement with shorter, 

machine readable text where possible and appropriate

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/

4 4

Annual report G14 publish an annual report on a timely 

basis to communicate the authority’s 

activities and achievements, its 

financial position and performance;

Strategy Lead Specialist Annual report produced May annually https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/annual-report/

4 4

G Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

Implementing good practice in 

transparency

Striking a balance between providing the right amount of 

information to satisfy transparency demands and enhance 

public scrutiny while not being too onerous to provide and 

for users to understand

No specific examples provided Judged to 

be in 

place.

#N/A Strategy Lead Specialist Contents of website reviewed by Digital Editors during 

2018/19 to increase readability and accessibility e.g. 

MTFP in more accessible format, removal of 

documents/table and replacement with shorter, 

machine readable text where possible and appropriate

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/have-your-

say/information-and-data/

4 4

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.

aspx?ID=139

4 4

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.

aspx?ID=139

4 4

Annual financial statements G14 publish an annual report on a timely 

basis to communicate the authority’s 

activities and achievements, its 

financial position and performance;

Section 151 Officer Published by statutory deadline https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/finance/budget-and-

financial-year-reports/

4 4

G15 produce timely, accurate and 

impartial financial information for 

decision making, enabling the 

Authority to meet its objectives and 

providing effective stewardship and 

value for money;

Monitoring Officer Reports reviewed by Corporate Management Team 

and Standards Committee

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.

aspx?ID=139

4 4

G16 produce clear, timely, complete and 

accurate information for budget 

holders and senior officers relating to 

the budgetary and financial 

performance of the Council;

Section 151 Officer Accounts reviewed by Corporate Management Team 

and Audit Committee

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4262&Ver=4

4 4

G Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

Implementing good practices in 

reporting

Ensuring robust arrangements for assessing the extent to 

which the principles contained in the Framework have been 

applied and publishing the results on this assessment 

including an action plan for improvement and evidence to 

demonstrate good governance (annual governance 

statement)

Annual governance statement G8 require our arrangements for 

financial and internal control and 

management of risk to be formally 

addressed within the annual 

governance reports;

Section 151 Officer This review, results incorporated into Annual 

Governance Statement (approved by Audit 

Committee); action plan reviewed regularly by Audit 

Committee

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4262&Ver=4

4 4

G Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

Implementing good practices in 

reporting

Ensuring that the Framework is applied to jointly managed 

or shared service organisations as appropriate

Annual governance statement G8 require our arrangements for 

financial and internal control and 

management of risk to be formally 

addressed within the annual 

governance reports;

Section 151 Officer All shared services with other district councils who 

have the similar frameworks and the same 

requirement to follow this guidance and review 

annually

https://democracy.eden.gov.u

k/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=2

64&MId=2432&Ver=4

4 4

Reporting at least annually on performance, value for 

money and the stewardship of its resources

Implementing good practices in 

reporting

Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

G

G

Implementing good practice in 

transparency

Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

Appropriate approvalsEnsuring members and senior management own the resultsImplementing good practices in 

reporting

Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

G

G14Formal annual report which includes key 

points raised by external scrutineers and 

service users’ feedback on service delivery

Covered by annual reports to Standards and Audit 

Committees 

Writing and communicating reports for the public and other 

stakeholders in an understandable style appropriate to the 

intended audience and ensuring that they are easy to 

access and interrogate

Monitoring Officerpublish an annual report on a timely 

basis to communicate the authority’s 

activities and achievements, its 

financial position and performance;

P
age 254

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/annual-report/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/annual-report/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/annual-report/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/council-documents/annual-report/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/have-your-say/information-and-data/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/have-your-say/information-and-data/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/have-your-say/information-and-data/
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) SLDC Mar-21 Dec-21

Prin Principle Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good governance 

in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 

guidance

Local Code 

Ref

Local Code Text Responsible Officer Comments Evidence ref Action PlanSelf Assess-

ment level (1 

low to 4 high)

G Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

Implementing good practices in 

reporting

Ensuring the performance information that accompanies 

the financial statements is prepared on a consistent and 

timely basis and the statements allow for comparison with 

other similar organisations

Format follows best practice In place, 

not 

explicit, 

part of 

audit

#N/A Section 151 Officer Annual Report and Q4 Performance Monitoring used 

as basis for performance information in financial 

statements

4 4

Recommendations have informed positive 

improvement

In place, 

not 

explicit, 

reported 

to audit 

#N/A Section 151 Officer

Compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the 

Role of the Head of Internal Audit (2010)

G4 Part of 

effective 

IA function

ensure an effective internal audit 

function is resourced and maintained 

and complies with Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS);

Section 151 Officer

G Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

Assurance and effective 

accountability

Ensuring an effective internal audit service with direct 

access to members is in place which provides assurance 

with regard to governance arrangements and 

recommendations are acted upon

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards

G4 ensure an effective internal audit 

function is resourced and maintained 

and complies with Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS);

Section 151 Officer Internal audit provided by contractor; compliant with 

PSIAS; recommendations monitored to Audit 

Committee, annual review of effectiveness; private 

meeting between internal audit and audit committee 

annually

http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx

?CId=135&MId=4473&Ver=4

4 4

G11/13 - 

tracking of 

implement

ed audit 

recs

enable the Chief Finance Officer 

(Section 151 Officer) to have direct 

access to the Council’s Audit 

Committee and External Auditor

Chief Executive http://sharepoint/sites/finance

/Committee%20reports/2020-

21/Audit%20Committee/April

%202021/SLDC%20External%2

0Audit%20Committee%20Prog

ress%20report%20-

%20April%202021.pdf

4 4

G13 establish clear channels of 

communication with all sections of 

the community and other 

stakeholders and put in place 

monitoring arrangements to ensure 

that they operate effectively;

Communications https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/your-council/council-

business/council-

documents/annual-report/

4 4

G Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

Assurance and effective 

accountability

Gaining assurance on risks associated with delivering 

services through third parties and that this is evidenced in 

the annual governance statement

Annual governance statement G8 require our arrangements for 

financial and internal control and 

management of risk to be formally 

addressed within the annual 

governance reports;

All managers http://sharepoint/sites/finance

/Committee%20reports/Forms

/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2

Fsites%2Ffinance%2FCommitte

e%20reports%2F2020%2D21%

2FAudit%20Committee%2FApri

l%202021%2FReview%20local

%20code%20of%20governance

&FolderCTID=0x01200043B860

F50FFF8B4F89B263FB28FE124

F&View=%7B18D8F90B%2D26

0D%2D44A7%2D82D0%2D981

1E8C31309%7D

4 4

G Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

Assurance and effective 

accountability

Ensuring that when working in partnership, arrangements 

for accountability are clear and that the need for wider 

public accountability has been recognised and met

Community strategy Partnership Guidance G9 - not 

explicitly a 

communit

y strategy 

but sets 

out 

arrangeme

nts for 

accountabi

lity in 

partnershi

ensure that the authority as a whole 

is open and accessible to the 

community, service users and staff 

and make a commitment to 

openness and transparency in all our 

dealings, including partnerships 

subject only to the need to preserve 

confidentiality in those specific 

circumstances where it is proper and 

appropriate to do so;

Chief Executive Community Strategy not updated on website since 

2012 but aims are superseded by Partnership 

Guidance

https://www.southlakeland.go

v.uk/media/5668/community-

engagement-strategy.pdf

2 3 Partnership Guidance to be considered by 

Audit Committee December 2021 and 

implemented immediately

G Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

Assurance and effective 

accountability

Welcoming peer challenge, reviews and inspections from 

regulatory bodies and implementing recommendations

Recommendations have informed positive 

improvement

G Ensuring that recommendations

for corrective action made by

external audit are acted upon

Assurance and effective 

accountability

Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective 

accountability

4Internal and external audit recommendations reported 

to Audit Committee; implementation reviewed for 

each committee and reported on an exceptions basis.

4http://democracy.southlakelan

d.gov.uk/documents/g4462/Pu

blic%20reports%20pack%20W

ednesday%2005-Dec-

2018%2018.30%20Audit%20Co

mmittee.pdf?T=10

P
age 255

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g4462/Public reports pack Wednesday 05-Dec-2018 18.30 Audit Committee.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g4462/Public reports pack Wednesday 05-Dec-2018 18.30 Audit Committee.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g4462/Public reports pack Wednesday 05-Dec-2018 18.30 Audit Committee.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g4462/Public reports pack Wednesday 05-Dec-2018 18.30 Audit Committee.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g4462/Public reports pack Wednesday 05-Dec-2018 18.30 Audit Committee.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g4462/Public reports pack Wednesday 05-Dec-2018 18.30 Audit Committee.pdf?T=10


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 256



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

1 
 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT ACTIONS  

Local 
Code 
ref 

Local Code Measures Current 
Score  
4 high 
0 low 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

  
Existing Actions (references updated to revised Local Code) 

A6 Use the Council’s shared values to act as a 
guide for decision making and as a basis for 
developing positive and trusting relationships 
within the Council; 

 Monitoirng 
Officer 

31/03/2021 Part 
Complete 
and further 
reports will 
be 
produced in 
2021/2022  

The Review of Local Government Ethical Standards 
was reported to the Standards Committee in April 
2019. The Best practice recommnedations have been 
considered and reported back to the Standards 
Committee in April 2021. This was at the same time 
that the Revised Member Code of Conduct was 
considered. We await further guidance and Legislation 
from the Government relating to some of the Best 
Practice recommendations.   

B9, 
B10 

Overall, several Local Code provisions to 
ensure that the authority as a whole is open 
and accessible to the community, service 
users and its staff and ensure that it has a 
commitment to openness and transparency in 
all its dealings including partnerships subject 
only to the need to preserve confidentiality in 
those specific circumstances where it is proper 
and appropriate.  
 

 Operational 
Lead Support 
Services; 
Performance, 
Innovation and 
Commissioning 
Specialist 

CC 
commenced 
due to 
continue 
over next 12 
months. 

In progress Information governance, data quality and transparency 
will all feature as part of the Customer Connect 
Programme, particularly the implementation of the new 
digital platform. In addition, the new platform will also 
enhance communication with customers, ensure that it 
is easier to access services and gather feedback. 
Update: MyAccount launched May 2021: this formed 
an essential element of managing Covid-19 grant 
schemes. 
Implementation of development management system 
continuing. 
Full staff transition to new systems and processes 
delayed by Covid-19 and diverson of resources to 
LGR. 

D14 Link service plans to agreed measures and 
targets within the Council plan (incuding Social 
Value)  
 

 Strategy Lead 
Specialist; 
Performance, 
Innovation and 
Commissioning 

31/10/2021 On-going Embedding of procurement practices into service 
planning (eg identifying contracts in plans) along with 
wider consideration of social value around delivery 
options. 

P
age 257



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

2 
 

Local 
Code 
ref 

Local Code Measures Current 
Score  
4 high 
0 low 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

Set out clear financial and contract procedure 
rules, kept under review as part of the overall 
Constitution of the Council. 
 

Specialist; 
Finance Lead 
Specialist 

Update: A Commissioning Framework and revised 
Procurement Strategy have been approved including 
social value alongside other relevant policies such as 
climate change and biodiversity. The Commissioning 
Specialist is now in post and is reviewing the current 
activities 

E3 Ensuring appropriate financial skills of Officers 
scored 3 out of 4 with some scope to make 
financial acumen requirements more explicit. 

 Finance Lead 
Specialist / 
Human 
Resources Lead 
Specialist 
 

CC 
commenced 
due to 
continue 
over next  12 
months 

In progress This is a medium term strategic project which also links 
in to Customer Connect. 
Training is being provided to all staff, with the 
programme due to complete in May 2022. 

 
New Actions 

Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law 

- Ensuring members and officers behave with 
integrity and lead a culture where acting in the 
public interest is visibly and consistently 
demonstrated thereby protecting the reputation 
of the organisation: individual sign-off with 
regard to compliance with code 

 All Managers 31/3/2022 In progress New annual appraisal process - 'Your Conversation' - 
being launched in 2021. This is supported by monthly 
121 meetings between line managers and team 
members. Values are confirmed, and Behaviours 
workshops are planned for 2021 which will most 
probably lead to an update on the Personal Qualities 
Framework 

A10 
 
 

Put in place arrangements to ensure that 
procedures and operations are designed in 
conformity with appropriate ethical standards, 
and to monitor their continuing compliance in 
practice; 
 
 

4 Monitoring 
Officer 

31/3/2022 Complete Engagement with all Services on the Constitution and 
any required changes. Establishment of Constitutional 
Working Group with Party Leaders ( first meeting took 
place 07/06/2021).Training Programme 2021/22 on 
Legal, Governance and Democracy for all staff. 

4 Monitoring 
Officer 

31/03/2022 Complete MO underpins personal behaviour with ethical values 
in relation to Code of Conduct Complaints against 
Members, established Standards Committee, following 

P
age 258



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

3 
 

Local 
Code 
ref 

Local Code Measures Current 
Score  
4 high 
0 low 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

procedure and assessing complaints with Independent 
Person.  
Also advising fairly in relation to declarations of interest 
for both members and officers. 
Annual Review completed  
Meetings arranged with the Independent Person as 
required.  
Appointment and meetings with Independent Person 

3 Human 
Resources Lead 
Specialist 

  Planned programme of HR policy reviews currently 
underway - around 1/3rd completed: more policy 
updates to HR Committee in July 2021 

A12 Put in place arrangements so that conflicts of 
interest on behalf of members and employees 
can be avoided and put in place appropriate 
processes to ensure that they continue to 
operate in practice  

4 Monitoring 
Officer 

31/03/2022 Complete Regular training is provided on declaration of interest 
requirements for new members with refresher training 
for all members. 
 
Declaration advice provided at all meetings with 
dispensations in place as required and requested.  
 
Work this year to improve the related party disclosures 
linked to transparency of member support gratns and 
other interests. 
 
Work required relating to raising the profile and 
awareness regarding officer decarations of interest, 
relaunch planned. Plus raising awareness regarding 
processs. Form updated this year.  
 
 

P
age 259



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

4 
 

Local 
Code 
ref 

Local Code Measures Current 
Score  
4 high 
0 low 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

A14 Actively recognise the limits of lawful activity 
placed on the Council by the ultra vires 
doctrine but also strive to utilise the Council’s 
powers to the full benefit of our communities; 

4 Monitoring 
Officer / All 
Managers 

31/03/2021 Complete Monitoring Officer reports quarterly to the Corporate 
Management Team on significant legal issues and 
cases of significance. With all case work we advise on  
vires (intra and ultra) doctrine and the MO ensures the 
Council acts within the vires doctrine. 
Quarterly reports continue, daily  advice and input on 
case work and legal advice provided on reports to 
meetings and decision making. 

A15 Observe all specific legislative requirements 
placed upon the Council as well as the 
requirements of general law, and in particular 
integrate the key principles of administrative 
law – rationality, legality and natural justice into 
the Council’s procedures and decision making; 

4 All Managers  31/03/2021 Complete Legal officers advise officers on points of law and 
through continued development and training. The MO 
and Legal Officers not only apply these principles 
within their department but across the Council and 
when advising Members 

A16 Put in place effective systems to protect the 
rights of staff. Ensure that policies for whistle 
blowing which are accessible to staff and those 
contracting with the authority, and 
arrangements for the support of whistle 
blowers, are in place 

3 Human 
Resources 
Manager / 
Section 151 
Officer 

31/3/2022  Whistleblowing policy last reviewed 2017/18: review 
was due in 2019/20 but has been delayed due to 
pressures of Customer Connect and Covid-19.  
The review has commenced and will be reported to 
Audit Committee in April 2022 

A18 use a statement of business conduct  to make 
its expectations clear to partners and external 
providers of services; 

3 Section 151 
Officer/Strategy 
Lead Specialist 

31/3/2022  Although there is a Partnership Register, there 
appears to be no current policy to accompany 
To do: Development of External Arrangement 
Policy/Strategy/ Guidance 
UPDATE: Partnership Guidenance is being presented 
to Audit Committee at its meeting on 8th December 
2021 for consideration and will be implemented after 
this. 

P
age 260



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

5 
 

Local 
Code 
ref 

Local Code Measures Current 
Score  
4 high 
0 low 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

A19 Induction for new members and staff on 
standard of behaviour expected 

3 HR Lead 
Specialist 

31/12/2021 In progress Aim: provide induction programmes tailored to 
individual needs and opportunities for members and 
officers to update their knowledge on a regular basis. 
Induction process in place, with development 
opportunities boosted by recent provision of e-learning. 
Also, new Member Development Strategy currently 
going through approval process. 

A20 Assess the skills required by members and 
officers and make arrangements to agree a 
development plan to develop those skills and 
address any training gaps, to enable roles to 
be carried out effectively; 

4 All managers 31/10/2021 Complete 'new appraisal' approach, skills gap conversations, and 
Customer Connect Transition programme are 
underway 

A22 ensure that professional advice on legal and 
financial matters is available and recorded well 
in advance of decision making and used 
appropriately when decisions have significant 
legal or financial implications. 

2 Monitoring 
Officer 

31/03/2022 Ongoing  Report includes sections for professional advice on 
legal, financial, HR and other areas.  Reports 
circulated to relevant officers, dates of advice recorded 
in report, all reports (except planning committee) 
considered and approved by Corporate Management 
Team before cleared for publication. However, current 
legal case management system needs addressing. 
Urgent need for adequate legal case management 
system. 
Meetings of Statutory Officers  in place  

Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

B1 Develop protocols to ensure effective 

communication between members and officers 

in their respective roles; 

3 Strategy Lead 
Specialist 

31/03/2022  Protocol exists and is being reviewed. 

P
age 261



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

6 
 

Local 
Code 
ref 

Local Code Measures Current 
Score  
4 high 
0 low 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

B3 Ensure that the Council’s vision, values, 
strategic plans, priorities and targets are 
developed through robust mechanisms, and in 
consultation with the local community and 
other key stakeholders, and that they are 
clearly articulated and disseminated; 

3 Strategy Lead 
Specialist 

31/3/2022  Unsure when this was last reviewed: review by March 
2022 

B4 In pursuing partnerships, agree a set of values 
against which decision making and actions can 
be judged in line with and having referred to 
the Partnership Register and Guidance. 

3 Strategy Lead 
Specialist 

31/3/2022  A Partnership Register exists but responsibility shifts 
means that it needs a review. Also policy behind it 
needs reinstating. 
UPDATE: Partnership Guidenance is being presented 
to Audit Committee at its meeting on 8th December 
2021 for consideration and will be implemented after 
this. 

B5 Develop and maintain open and effective 
mechanisms for documenting evidence for 
decisions and recording the criteria, rationale 
and considerations on which decisions are 
based; 

3 All Managers   Building of relationships with portfolio holders. 
Examples SAMP board, Climate Change Action 
Group.  Actions may be dependent on the area of work 

B13 To ensure committee decisions are fully 
documented through the use of appropriate 
report templates, agenda submission 
processes and minutes; 

2 All Managers 31/10/2021  Further training has been carried out but processes still 
need to be embedded. Council wide engagement 
needed. 
 

B16 Ensure that professional advice on legal and 

financial matters is available and recorded well 

in advance of decision making and used 

appropriately when decisions have significant 

legal or financial implications; 

3 Monitoring 
Officer 

31/03/2022 Ongoing Specific facility within all reports to Council members 
that log the advice sought from legal and finance. 
More training required and further communication of 
how and when advice from legal and finance advice 
should be sought. 
 

P
age 262



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

7 
 

Local 
Code 
ref 

Local Code Measures Current 
Score  
4 high 
0 low 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

B17 When working in partnership, ensure that there 

is a clear statement setting out the purpose of 

the partnership and the outputs to be 

achieved. 

3 All managers 31/03/2022  Reflected in the partnership guidance to be considered 
by Audit Committee December 2021. 

Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits 

C7 Link service plans to agreed measures and 

targets within the Council plan; 

3 All managers 31/10/2021  Out of date and was being replaced by "Plan on a 
Page" but development has been delayed by LGR. 

C11 Ensure that risk management is embedded 

into the culture of the authority, with members 

and managers at all levels recognising that risk 

management is part of their job; 

3 All managers 31/10/2021  Although Protocols are in place, they are not always 
applied 

Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes  

D1 Decide how the quality of service for users is 

to be measured and ensure that the 

information needed to review service quality 

effectively and regularly is available; 

3 All managers 31/10/2021  Service Plans was being replaced by "Plan to Page" 

but development has been delayed by LGR. 

D13 Partnership Framework:  

Ensure that risk management is embedded 

into the culture of the authority, with members 

and managers at all levels recognising that risk 

management is part of their job 

3 All managers 31/12/2021  Reflected in the partnership guidance to be considered 
by Audit Committee December 2021. 

Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it  

E2 assess the skills required by members and 

officers and make arrangements to agree a 

development plan to develop those skills and 

address any training gaps, to enable roles to 

be carried out effectively; 

3 Human 
Resources Lead 
Specialist 

30/11/2022  Leadership Team development programme with 
external provider will conmclude in summer 2021. 
Team Leader programme has started. 
Behavioural workshops have been held with the 
majority of employees to define behaviours that help 
us meet this need.  

P
age 263



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

8 
 

Local 
Code 
ref 

Local Code Measures Current 
Score  
4 high 
0 low 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

E5 Develop skills on a continuing basis to improve 

performance, including the ability to scrutinise 

and challenge and to recognise when outside 

expert advice is needed, in line with the 

member development strategy; 

3 Human 
Resoruces Lead 
Specialist 

31/12/2021  Induction process in place, with development 
opportunities boosted by recent provision of e-learning. 
Also, new Member Development Strategy currently 
going through approval process   
Your Conversation launch May 2021. Values and 
Behaviours workshops undertaken for the majority of 
staff. 

E8 Consider career structures for members and 

officers to encourage participation and 

development 

2 Chief Executive / 
All managers 

31/03/2022  Overtaken by LGR proposals/implementation. 

E9 manage the strategic Human Resource 

Management and Organisational Development 

needs of the organisation through relevant 

policies and accreditation. 

3 Human 
Resources Lead 
Specialist 

31/10/2021  Plan on a Page development has been delayed by 
LGR. 

E14 develop protocols to ensure effective 

communication between members and officers 

in their respective roles; 

3 Chief Executive 30/06/2022  Discussion between Chief Executive and Leader 

E15 develop protocols to ensure that the leader 

and chief executive negotiate their respective 

roles early in their relationship and that a 

shared understanding of roles and objectives 

is maintained; 

3 Monitoring 
Officer 

31/03/2022 Ongoing  Keeping this under review, Cabinet away days with 
Leadership Team and clarification of Council Priorities 
and roles and responsibilites relating to them. 

P
age 264



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

9 
 

Local 
Code 
ref 

Local Code Measures Current 
Score  
4 high 
0 low 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

E16 determine a scheme of delegated and 

reserved powers within the constitution and 

ensure that it is monitored and updated when 

required 

3 Monitoring 
Officer 

31/03/2022 Ongoing  Contract procedure rules within the Consitiution were 
updated to streamline decision making to make it more 
agile. Report on property service deligation to improve 
decision making  to be considered by Cabinet in 
December. 

E17 Ensure effective internal control arrangements 

exist for sound financial management systems 

and processes; 

4 Section 151 
Officer 

30/06/2022  Constitution updated to reflect proposed amendments.  

E18 Establish clear channels of communication 

with all sections of the community and other 

stakeholders and put in place monitoring 

arrangements to ensure that they operate 

effectively; 

3 Strategy Lead 
Specialist 

31/03/2022  Included in parternship guidance. 

Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management 

F17 ensure performance, financial and non-

financial, is reported to senior management 

and Members including action plans where 

necessary; 

3 All managers 31/10/2021  To be considered as part of Plan on a Page, 
development has been delayed by LGR. 

F18 To ensure committee decisions are fully 

documented through the use of appropriate 

report templates, agenda submission 

processes and minutes; 

3 All managers 31/10/2021  Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing and 
distributing timely reports that are adhered to 
Deadlines frequently missed or insufficient time 
allowed for preparation of comments. Training has 
been provided to ensure timely receipt of requests for 
support and advice. 

P
age 265



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

10 
 

Local 
Code 
ref 

Local Code Measures Current 
Score  
4 high 
0 low 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

F20 develop and maintain an effective scrutiny 

function which encourages constructive 

challenge and enhances the authority’s 

performance overall; 

4 Monitoring 
Officer 

31/03/2021 On- Training to be provided at least annually for members 
Access to North West Employers in place for training 
and support 
Evidence of effective scrutiny in the Annual Report 
2020/2021  

Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability 

G9 ensure that the authority as a whole is open 

and accessible to the community, service 

users and staff and make a commitment to 

openness and transparency in all our dealings, 

including partnerships subject only to the need 

to preserve confidentiality in those specific 

circumstances where it is proper and 

appropriate to do so; 

3 Chief Executive 31/3/2022  Not explicitly a community strategy but new 
partnership guidance sets out arrangements for 
accountability in partnerships. 

 

CIPFA FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT CODE ACTIONS  

Fm 
Code 
Ref 

FM Code measure Current 
Status 
Yes /No 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

A: The leadership team is able to demonstrate that the services provided by the authority provide value for money 

A2 High-level governance and management 
arrangements exist: Effective service and 
financial planning 

N All managers 30/09/2021  Plan on a Page development  has been delayed by 
LGR. 

P
age 266



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

11 
 

Fm 
Code 
Ref 

FM Code measure Current 
Status 
Yes /No 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

A4 Reviewing explicitly the ways in which these 
services are delivered or by comparing the 
authority’s own services and service 
performance with those of other authorities: 

 Efficiency reviews 

 Benchmarking 

 Peer Review 

N Section 151 
Officer 

31/03/2022  Linked to Plan on a Page development which has been 
delayed by LGR. 
Impletmentation of LGR has commenced with 
benchmarking and baselining of all services. 
 
 

A5 Ways in which the authority could help to 
ensure that its services are effective, in that 
they are achieving the authority’s objectives 
and meeting the needs of service users: 

 Monitoring of Performance Data 

 Service Reviews 

 User Surveys 

 External assessments 

N All managers 
 
 
Section 151 
Officer 

31/03/2022 
 
 
31/07/2022 

 Plan on a Page development has been delayed by 
LGR.: link to monitoring required 
 
Value for money policy to be prepared alongside 
Procurement Strategy update and Medium Term 
Financial Plan refresh. 

L: The authority has engaged with key stakeholders in developing its long term financial strategy, medium term financial plan and annual budget. 

L The authority has engaged with key 
stakeholders in developing its long term 
financial strategy, medium term financial plan 
and annual budget. 

N Section 151 
Officer 

28/02/2022  Overview and Scrutiny Committee invited to comment 
on draft MTFP and budget proposals.  Statutory 
business rate consultation carried out as part of budget 
setting process. 
It was planned that a public consultation methodology 
to be developed for 2022/23 budget setting process 
but this has not been progressed due to additional 
resporce requirements of LGR. 

M: The authority uses a documented option appraisal methodology to demonstrate the VFM of its decisions 

M1 Option appraisal IFAC/PAIB Project and 
Investment Appraisal for Sustainable Value 
Creation: Principles in Project and Investment 
Appraisal  

N Section 151 
Officer 

31/12/2021  A high-level bid is required for all capital schemes, a 
full business case is requested prior to commencement 
of capital works but the format is not mandated.   

P
age 267



        Appendix 6 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

12 
 

Fm 
Code 
Ref 

FM Code measure Current 
Status 
Yes /No 

Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

M3 The accounting treatment of material decisions 
is considered and demonstrated as part of the 
formal option appraisal process. 

N A business case format will be prepared to include the 
rationale for the project, capital and revenue costs, 
payback period (if applicable) and project risks. 
Procurement Strategy to be approved in    
All tenders consider VFM by considering the quality of 
service, not just the price. 

N: The leadership team takes action using reports enabling it to identify and correct emerging risks to its budget strategy and financial sustainability 

N2 All Financial monitoring reports include: 
•Accruals based financial information 
•Service performance information 

N Chief Finance 
Officer 

  Purchase ordering system produces accruals based 
purchase information,  payroll and income is on cash 
basis.   

N6 There are appropriate arrangements in place 
for reporting and managing the financial 
performance of each of the organisation’s 
delivery partnerships and collaborative 
arrangements. 

N All managers 31/3/2022  Some monitoring through contract processes, not fully 
consolidated into main finance monitoring processes 

N7 There are appropriate arrangements in place 
for the project management and cost control of 
capital projects. 

N All managers 31/3/2022  While there is budget monitoring there has been a very 
significant level of re-profiling of capital programme 
which suggests further work is necessary 

O: The leadership team monitors the elements of its balance sheet which pose a significant risk to its financial stability 

O2 Management accounts include either a full 
balance sheet or an appropriate level of 
balance sheet information to meet business 
needs and evidence of monitoring of material 
items 

N Section 151 
Officer 

31/03/2022  Internal monitoring only includes certain balance sheet 
items, mainly around debt.  Full review of balance 
sheet monitoring to be completed by March 2022. 

 

P
age 268


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Audit Committee 2021/22 Work Programme (December 2021)
	7 Internal Audit Progress Report 2021/22
	South Lakeland District Council-SICA-November 2021-f APPENDIX 1
	South Lakeland DC-Finalised Reports APPENDICES 2a-2d
	South Lakeland DC-Follow Up-November 2021-f(r) APPENDIX 3

	8 2021/22 Accounting Polices
	2021/22 Accounting Polices  - Appendix 1
	Appendix 1
	INTRODUCTION
	Understandability
	These accounts are based on accounting concepts, treatments and terminology, which require reasonable knowledge of accounting and local government.  However, all reasonable efforts have been made to use plain language and where technical terms are una...
	Relevance
	The Code permits the concept of materiality to be used in the preparation of the accounts. Omissions or mis-statements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence the decisions or assessments of users made on the basis...
	Faithful Representation
	Comparability

	Primacy of Legislative Requirements
	Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions, but does not result in the creation of non-current assets owned by the Council (REFCUS), has been charged as expenditure to the relevant service revenue account i...
	Where the Council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from capital resources, a transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement through the Movement...

	Finance Leases
	Operating Leases
	Financial Assets at Amortised Cost
	Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised when the Council becomes party to the contractual provision of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered and initially are m...
	After initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life o...
	For most of the loans that the Council has made, the amount included in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable, and interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the...
	The Council has made loans to voluntary organisations and other bodies at less than market rates (soft loans). When soft loans are made, a loss is recorded in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the present value of the interest tha...
	Interest is credited at a marginally higher effective rate of interest than the rate receivable from the voluntary organisations, with the difference serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet. Statutory provisions require...
	Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
	Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely pa...
	Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss
	Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the pu...
	Expected Credit Loss Model
	For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the Council recogni...
	The Council adopts the simplified approach to impairment, in accordance with the Code, and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financ...


	2021/22 Accounting Polices  - Appendix 2

	9 Decision to Opt-in to the National Scheme for Audit Appointments
	10 Review of Financial Procedure Rules
	Review of Financial Procedure Rules
	1.0 Expected Outcome and Measures of Success
	2.0 Recommendation
	3.0 Background and Proposals
	4.0 Consultation
	5.0 Alternative Options
	6.0 Implications
	Financial, Resources and Procurement
	Human Resources
	Legal
	Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
	Equality and Diversity

	Contact Officers
	Background Documents Available
	Tracking Information


	11 Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity
	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity  - Appendix 1
	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity  - Appendix 2
	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity  - Appendix 3
	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity  - Appendix 4
	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity  - Appendix 5
	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity  - Appendix 6

	12 Risk Management Update
	Risk Management Update  - Appendix 1

	13 Audit Committee Risk Register
	Audit Committee Risk Register  - Appendix 1

	14 Review of Local Code of Governance and Governance Update
	Review of Local Code of Governance and Governance Update  - Appendix 1
	Review of Local Code of Governance and Governance Update  - Appendix 2
	Review of Local Code of Governance and Governance Update  - Appendix 3
	App 3 Partnerships Guidance
	South Lakeland District Council
	Draft Partnerships Guidance 2021
	1. Introduction
	1.1. Partnership working is fundamental to a modern public sector. Now more than ever as funding is squeezed and more and more is asked of us, we need to work with others to get the best from our diminishing resources.
	1.2. Embarking on a partnership needs careful planning – it should support our strategic objectives, make sound business sense and have the appropriate ‘checks and balances’ in place to ensure the interests and assets of the Council are safeguarded.
	1.3. This guidance is designed to help managers think through the necessary steps and issues associated with creating a successful partnership and put in place the necessary frameworks to ensure our objectives are met and our efforts are not duplicated.
	1.4. Partnership working is not an easy fix – it is important that sufficient resource is put into building the case for a partnership and establishing its operation.
	1.5. There are a number of benefits to partnership working including:
	• Improving communication between staff and managers
	• Better information sharing
	• Easier access to services for users
	• More integrated approach to the delivery of services for users
	• Bringing together different knowledge and skills to address complex problems
	• Greater efficiency or value for money in the use of resources
	• Improving recruitment, retention and morale
	• Additional capacity to plan and develop services
	• Pooling expertise and resources to shape better services
	• Achieving improved outcomes through developing new service models not achievable by a single agency
	• Benchmarking may highlight partnership working as the preferred course of action for a service, and form part of the business case for creating a new partnership. It may also highlight examples of best practice and / or provide valuable information ...
	1.6. Although partnership working has its advantages, it is not always a successful form of working. Problems that can arise include a lack of understanding between partners, or a lack of focus on the objectives or results of the partnership.
	1.7. Unsuccessful partnerships are typically characterised by:
	• A history of conflict among key interests
	• One partner manipulates or dominates
	• Lack of clear purpose
	• Unrealistic goals
	• Differences of philosophy and ways of working
	• Lack of communication
	• Unequal and unacceptable balance of power and control
	• Key interests missing from the partnership
	• Hidden agendas
	• Financial and time commitments outweigh the potential benefits
	1.8. Before establishing or joining a partnership, due consideration should be given to whether this form of working is right for the prospective members and whether or not the time, resources and efforts required to overcome barriers, such as those l...
	1.8.1. Are there other methods of working which may serve the public better and thus negate the need for a partnership?
	1.8.2. Could another delivery approach provide a more successful service or reduce cost and resource input?
	1.8.3. What are the methods of other local and near neighbour authorities;
	Findings may determine a more suitable course of action, or highlight cases where partnership working is unsuitable for a particular service.
	1.9. Does the work involved in maintaining a partnership justifies the added benefits, if any, that are received? In short, consider whether the partnership will add value.
	1.10. If there is not enough support for the business case, whether there is insufficient supporting evidence or buy in from senior officers / members, do not proceed. Look into alternative approaches – for example joining an existing partnership.
	2. Establishing and reviewing partnerships
	2.1. Establishing Partnerships

	2.1.1. There are three main phases to the establishment of a partnership:-
	• Feasibility – making the case for the arrangement and convincing partners to join.
	• Entering into the partnerships – creating the formalities of partnership working.
	• Ensuring the partnership works once created – making governance, administrative, financial and operational arrangements work in practice.
	2.1.2. You should complete the attached template either during or after the initial feasibility phase and table it for consideration at Corporate Management Team (CMT). A copy should also be forwarded to the Finance Lead Specialist to enter onto the s...
	2.1.3. The setting up of a new partnership is a project in itself and should be planned, following the corporate project management documentation which will cover many of the issues in the template.
	2.2. Reviewing existing partnerships

	2.2.1. The template should be used to undertake a full three-yearly review (by 31st March each year) and an annual check, by the relevant Operational Lead or Lead Specialist, of all “significant partnerships” and at appropriate & relevant points for o...
	• We estimate the total contribution of resources from the Council, over three years, will be over £150,000; and/or
	• We estimate the combined “turnover” of the partnership over three years will be greater than £500,000; and/or
	• The aims/objectives of the partnership are central to the delivery of any aspect of the Council and its Plans;
	• The aims/objectives of the partnership are considered to be of political significance by the responsible Director.
	2.2.2. Where a partnership is a sub-group of another partnership, this will not be deemed to be a significant partnership in its own right.
	3. What is a Partnership?
	3.1. For the purposes of this exercise, a partnership can be any arrangement between two or more bodies (public or private) which come together for their mutual benefit and that of the community.
	3.2. It could be a traditional way of joint working between Local Authorities such as a Joint Committee or it could be a new entity such as a company with partner involvement. It could have a charitable element. It could also be simply an informal arr...
	4. How to use the Template:
	4.1. The Template is intended as a check-list for those running partnership projects. It does not provide all of the answers to the questions. Some of these, such as the purpose or the proposed outcomes of the partnership may be driven by internal or ...
	4.2. The completion of the Template is not an end in itself. The partnership has to be operated in accordance with the proposals identified by the answers to the questions. This is the responsibility of the Lead Officer of both the partnership and the...
	5. Relationship with Partners’ Existing Structures:
	5.1. Those setting up partnerships need to recognise how the new arrangements will relate to existing arrangements. If a new legal entity (e.g. a company, an association) is being created, what will its relationship be to the partners – contractual? G...
	5.2. If the partnership is not a new legal entity, then it will still be part of the original partner organisations in some way (e.g.: a Joint Committee). This relationship needs to be clearly understood and managed to maintain accountability and tran...
	6. Purpose of the guidance
	6.1. The guidance outlines the approach to be applied when considering joining or introducing new partnerships, it should also be used for reviewing existing arrangements. It provides a basis for examining the key issues that require consideration, to...
	6.1.1. Partnerships should have clear objectives that are realistic and measurable and link to the achievement of the Council’s corporate objectives.
	6.1.2. There should be clear organisational and staffing arrangements in place, with clear accountabilities for those involved in the partnership and clarity with regard to the resources committed to it.
	6.1.3. Partnerships should have robust management and appropriate decision making mechanisms in place. They should have a constitution and/or terms of reference and defined standards as to the way individuals within partnerships should behave.
	6.1.4. Partnerships should have robust performance management arrangements for monitoring and reviewing how successfully targets are being met and sharing review findings amongst partners.
	6.1.5. Partnerships should have robust financial arrangements in place, with clear budget setting and monitoring procedures and clear financial regulations and schemes of delegation.
	6.1.6. Partnerships should have a clear process for identifying, prioritising and managing risks.  Business continuity arrangements should also be in place.
	6.1.7. Partnerships should have a transparent process for information sharing within the partnership and public engagement arrangements where there is communication with service users and the wider public.
	6.1.8. Partnerships should have clear exit arrangements that allow for minimal disruption and the reallocation of resources.
	6.2. All officers of the Council are expected to use the guidance for both new and existing significant partnerships; this includes completing the checklist at Appendix A.
	7. Clear objectives
	7.1. One of the main reasons that partnerships fail is the lack of clear objectives and plans. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have:
	 A business plan or strategy in place.
	 Realistic and measurable objectives.
	 Targeted outputs and outcomes.
	 A clear link to the achievement of the Council’s corporate objectives.
	7.2. There should be clear aims and realistic and measurable objectives before a partnership is set up and these should be agreed by the partnership at the first meeting. The aims and objectives should answer the question ‘what is it intended to achie...
	7.3. The aims and objectives should be set out in the partnership’s terms of reference or constitution and the short/medium/long-term outcomes and performance measures in a business plan or strategy.
	7.4. Objectives are specific statements that can be measured. For this to take place they should be SMART, which means they are:
	Specific   - all objectives should have specific outcomes.
	Measurable - the outcome of an objective should be able to be measured.
	Achievable          - the objective should describe something that can be achieved within the timescale and resources set for the project.
	Realistic - objectives should describe something that can actually be done
	Time bound - a timescale should be set for when the objective is to be achieved.
	8. Outputs, inputs and outcomes
	8.1. Once the aims and objectives have been set, partners should turn the objectives into specific outcomes. The outcomes should answer the question ‘how will I know when these objectives have been achieved, in terms of benefits experienced by the com...
	8.2. Each of the partnership’s outcomes should be able to be measured or monitored. This can be achieved by setting specific performance measures or milestones. Performance measures can be quantitative or qualitative. Quantitative measures use statist...
	8.3. Outputs should relate to the outcome and are the activities that will need to take place for the objectives to be met. They are usually things that need to be done in order to produce the desired result e.g. carry out an awareness campaign or inc...
	8.4. Inputs are the resources that are available to carry out the work needed in order to achieve the objectives. The inputs or resources used to produce the outputs can be financial, material or human.
	9. Clear organisational and staffing arrangements
	9.1. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have:
	9.1.1. Clear accountabilities e.g. role of lead officer, Corporate Management Team, Managers, elected members, Scrutiny etc.
	9.1.2. Clarity around resources committed to the partnership.
	10. Your Role
	10.1. Firstly, it is very important that you are clear about your role on the partnership/s that you are involved with. Where you are the Council’s lead officer for a partnership, you are expected to:
	10.1.1. Be a point of contact between the Council and the partnership.
	10.1.2. Assist the partnership work with the Council.
	10.1.3. Facilitate the Council’s input into the partnership.
	10.1.4. Review performance against agreed outcome targets and highlight any issues with your Manager.
	10.1.5. Alert relevant Council officers to any issues.
	10.1.6. Facilitate a regular self-assessment of the partnership’s activity and make recommendations about any action required.
	10.1.7. Be clear as to the level of decision-making authority that the partnership has and whether or not you have such authority from the Council.
	10.2. You also need to be clear about the amount of time you are expected to commit to the partnership and ensure that your manager is agreeable to this level of commitment. Staffing commitments should not exceed the amount of added value that the par...
	11. Corporate Management Team
	11.1. The Council’s Corporate Management Team is responsible for:
	11.1.1. Determining if a partnership is to be considered as a significant partnership
	11.1.2. Risk assessing the Council’s partnerships at a frequency proportionate to the partnerships importance.
	11.1.3. Reviewing the benefits and alignment with the corporate plan of individual partnerships.
	11.1.4. Ensuring a register of the Council’s significant partnerships is maintained.
	11.1.5. Monitoring the overall impact of partnerships and identifying any action required.
	11.1.6. Commenting on the viability and strategic fit of any new partnership, and relevance of existing partnerships.
	11.1.7. Championing the use of this guidance.
	12. Robust management and appropriate decision making
	12.1. All partnerships should have a governing document such as a constitution, memorandum of understanding or terms of reference and operating conventions. The process of agreeing a document is in itself an important element of partnership governance...
	12.2. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have:
	 A constitutional or legal framework, which can include terms of reference.
	 Clear codes of conduct.
	 A clear decision making process.
	12.3. Whilst there is no single form of document that will suit the size and scope of all partnerships, the main elements that should be considered are:
	12.3.1. Name of the partnership;
	12.3.2. Aims and objectives;
	12.3.3. Timescales (date of establishment, review and end (see exit arrangements));
	12.3.4. Membership, including status of different members and termination of membership, schemes of delegation;
	12.3.5. Powers (statutory responsibilities and decision-making authority);
	12.3.6. Accountability (reporting structures, dealing with complaints and public transparency);
	12.3.7. Roles and responsibilities of the Chair and other members, including codes of conduct and equalities;
	12.3.8. Income and other resource contributions, including ownership of assets;
	12.3.9. Meetings (frequency, quorum rules, chairing and voting);
	12.3.10. Decision-making processes (scope and timescales);
	12.3.11. Performance management arrangements;
	12.3.12. Amendments to the partnership’s rules;
	12.3.13. A proportionate mechanism for periodic review and change management
	12.3.14. Minutes; and
	12.3.15. Exit strategy.
	12.4. Governing documents should be reviewed at least every three years and amended where necessary.
	13. Robust performance management
	13.1. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have:
	13.1.1. Clear milestones, outcomes, performance indicators and delivery dates.
	13.1.2. Arrangements for monitoring and reviewing how successfully targets are being met.
	13.1.3. Arrangements for ensuring that monitoring and review findings are shared and disseminated amongst the partners.
	13.1.4. A clear process for addressing poor performance within the partnership.
	13.2. For information on milestones and outcomes please look at section one ‘Clear Objectives’.  The aims and objectives should be set out in the partnership’s terms of reference or constitution and the short/medium/long-term outcomes and performance ...
	13.3. All partnerships should have robust performance management arrangements in place. Partnerships with a more formal workload, more onerous responsibilities and larger resources should have more sophisticated arrangements in place. Where possible, ...
	13.4. Partnerships should regularly monitor and evaluate their performance and provide updates at partnership meetings. If a partnership is not meeting its targets, or is likely to fail in the future, this will need to be flagged via the partnership’s...
	13.5. Performance and progress against milestones should be reported to the council on a regular basis. The frequency of reporting will be determined by the scale of the partnership, e.g. where significant funding has been contributed, quarterly repor...
	13.6. Partnerships should also consider carrying out regular self-assessments to maximise their potential and deliver better outcomes.
	14. Robust financial arrangements
	14.1. There is a range of financial issues to consider when setting up a partnership and a number of them are covered below.  This section sets out a number of important points, but if in doubt please seek advice.
	14.1.1. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have:
	14.1.2. Clarity on resource committed to the partnership.
	14.1.3. Clear budget setting and monitoring procedures in place.
	14.1.4. A budget and performance reporting framework in place.
	14.1.5. Clear financial administration procedures in the form of financial regulations and scheme of delegation.
	15. Resources
	15.1. Every partnership needs to be clear about the resources it has available.  Resources can be in the form of people, other in kind contributions and/or money. If partners are committing funds to the partnership, clear agreements need to be in plac...
	16. Budgeting
	16.1. Budgeting is a fundamental part of the planning process for any organisation or partnership. It links what resources are at your disposal with how you are going to use them to achieve your objectives and each year a budget plan should be approve...
	17. Reporting framework
	17.1. Where a partnership is in receipt of monetary resources, the accountable body for the funding should provide the partners with regular budget control reports, to enable the partners to understand what the financial position is. A named person sh...
	17.2. The accountable body may change depending on where the funding originates. The partnership must abide by the accountable body’s financial regulations and must ensure that it has obtained the appropriate level of authorisation before payments are...
	17.3. The budget reporting framework should be linked to the partnership’s performance management framework to ensure that spend is linked to outcomes.
	18. Audit requirements
	18.1. From the outset, the partnership agreement must provide both internal and external auditors with rights of access to documentation.  All partners must ensure there is a clear audit trail for any payments made, contracts tendered and funding rece...
	19. Document retention
	19.1. It will need to be established who is going to be responsible for holding documents and for that party to be aware of the legal requirements of retaining documents for various statutory and grant body requirement periods.
	20. Grants
	20.1. Grants may form the main funding for partnership arrangements and the terms and conditions of those grants must be clear, including who the accountable body is and document retention.
	20.2. Grant funded services or projects should have clear exit strategies for when the funding ends.
	21. Management of risks
	21.1. Risk management is a key element of corporate governance. It allows you to identify things that may go wrong and plan ways to either prevent them happening or minimise their impact. Each partnership needs to consider the risks that, if they occu...
	21.2. As partnerships carry out work to meet the Council’s objectives, the Council itself faces a risk of partnership failure. The Council’s lead officer for a partnership should therefore assess the risk of their partnership failing and - where this ...
	21.3. The Council believes that all partnerships with which it is involved should have:
	21.3.1. A clear process for identifying and recording risks, assessing the potential impact and likelihood of risks occurring, prioritising and managing risks.
	21.3.2. A common understanding of the identified risks among all partners in the partnership.
	21.3.3. A clear allocation of risks to nominated members of the partnership, including responsibility for overseeing the implementation of action plans to mitigate risks.
	21.3.4. Regular review of risks and action plans.
	21.3.5. Appropriate business continuity arrangements in place.
	21.4. The Council’s scoring mechanism for assessing the likelihood of a partnership failing, considers whether the following elements of risk management are in place: risk register, process for managing risk, mitigation plans, clear risk allocation an...
	21.5. The Council’s own risk management processes are set out in its Risk Management Strategy, available on the Council’s intranet, together with:
	21.5.1. areas to consider regarding the scope of risk;
	21.5.2. guidelines for assessing the impact and likelihood of risk; and
	21.5.3. templates for risk registers and action plans.
	21.6. Lead officers can use the Council’s processes as a guide to ensuring that appropriate risk management arrangements are established in a partnership, proportionate to its significance and scope.
	21.7. Significant risks should be reported to the Council on a regular basis. The frequency of reporting will be determined by the scale of the partnership, e.g. where significant funding has been contributed, quarterly reporting would be expected.
	22. Information sharing and public engagement arrangements
	22.1. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have:
	22.1.1. A clear and transparent process for sharing information within the partnership.
	22.1.2. A clear data quality trail.
	22.1.3. Communication with service users and the wider public to explain how the partnership works and where responsibility and accountability lie.
	22.1.4. A joint complaints procedure or process for ensuring redress can be obtained.
	23. Information sharing
	23.1. There are enormous benefits to sharing information; however, it should always be done within the law.  The provisions in the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) should be used as a safeguard to protect privacy and confidentiality and not ...
	23.2. Protocols seek to facilitate the professional and responsible exchange of information. They provide guidance on how officers can lawfully and fairly exchange personal, depersonalised and non-personal information and set out the principles that m...
	23.3. A protocol should include:
	23.3.1. Parties to the arrangement/protocol signatures
	23.3.2. List of types of information to be shared
	23.3.3. Procedure or a description of how it is going to be shared
	23.3.4. Security
	23.3.5. References to relevant legislation
	23.3.6. Legal considerations and basis for information sharing
	23.3.7. Monitoring and review statement
	23.4. The General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) require that personal information is obtained and processed fairly and lawfully; only disclosed in appropriate circumstances; is accurate; relevant and not held longer than necessary; and is kept se...
	23.5. Specific protocols may need to be developed for a multi-agency project or initiative which may include public and non-public organisations. But public organisations must have a signed, written agreement (e.g. SLA or contract) with any private, c...
	24. Public engagement
	24.1. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 introduced a new duty to involve.  This duty came into force on 1 April 2009 and requires local authorities to take those steps they consider appropriate to involve representatives o...
	24.2. The phrase “representatives of local persons” refers to a mix of ”local persons”, i.e. a selection of the individuals, groups or organisations the authority considers likely to be affected by, or have an interest in the authority function. In th...
	24.3. In considering how to fulfil the statutory duty, you should aim to involve representatives of local people as much as possible. This should be in relation to routine functions, as well as significant one-off decisions.
	24.4. The following three ways of involving should be considered.  You will need to consider whether one, two, all three or none of the approaches should be used
	• providing information about the exercise of the particular function;
	• consulting about the exercise of the particular function; and/or
	• involving in another way.
	24.5. In addition to complying with the duty to involve, all partnerships should have a joint complaints procedure or process for ensuring redress can be obtained. The procedure should be clear and accessible to both partners and the public.  Partners...
	24.6. Partnerships need to take a collective approach to developing an effective complaints procedure; this means that they can deal with complaints collaboratively, or quickly and efficiently channel the complainant to the appropriate partner’s corpo...
	25. Exit arrangements
	25.1. The Council believes that all partnerships it is involved with should have:
	25.2. An exit strategy that allows for minimal disruption, smooth transition and no nasty surprises.
	25.2.1. Arrangements for the reallocation of resources.
	25.2.2. A process for managing residual liabilities.
	25.2.3. Assessed the impact of ending the partnership.
	25.3. Recognising when a partnership is no longer necessary can be difficult, but is important.  It is best to plan for the end of the partnership when the partnership is initially set up.  Exit arrangements should be detailed within the partnership’s...
	25.4. The partnership should set out in its governing document the conditions under which a partner may leave the partnership and the conditions under which the partnership can be brought to a close. When preparing the exit or end conditions you shoul...
	25.4.1. What should happen to any employees working on behalf of the partnership?
	25.4.2. What will happen to any assets (including monetary contribution) owned by the partnership?
	25.4.3. What will happen to any documentation, or information held by the partnership?
	25.4.4. How will a final report (including accounts) of the partnership be presented and to whom?
	25.4.5. Is there a need to consult with stakeholders before withdrawing from or ending the partnership?
	25.5. Partnerships should carry out a regular review (preferably annually) of whether it should carry on or cease to function. Possible reasons for ceasing include:
	25.5.1. Inability to meet objectives
	25.5.2. Lack of funding
	25.5.3. Lack of commitment from a key partner
	25.5.4. Objectives are met
	25.5.5. The partnership activity no longer supports the Council’s objectives
	25.5.6. One or more partners wish to exit for any of the above reasons.
	25.6. Winding up a partnership that is a company is a specialist task and you will need to take advice from Legal Services if this applies.
	25.7. Exiting a partnership can be done at any time, barring any contractual commitments.  If you are proposing to exit a partnership this should be discussed with partners and should follow any agreed exit arrangements that are in place. Withdrawal m...
	25.8. The optimal time for a partnership to cease would be at the end of the financial year, as the partnership’s plans and budgets likely will be synchronised to this.  A withdrawal will need to be planned and it should be borne in mind that a period...

	App 3 Partnership checklists
	Sheet1
	Sheet2
	Sheet3


	Review of Local Code of Governance and Governance Update  - Appendix 4
	Review of Local Code of Governance and Governance Update  - Appendix 5
	Review of Local Code of Governance and Governance Update  - Appendix 6


